ORDINANCE NO. 20110526-068

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING DELIVERY OF CREDIT AGREEMENTS; AMENDING THE CITY'S ORDINANCE NO. 20050804-039 RELATING TO THE CITY'S AIRPORT SYSTEM REFUNDING REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2005; AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF RELATED AGREEMENTS AND A SECONDARY MARKET INFORMATION CIRCULAR.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF AUSTIN:

PART 1. The council finds that:

- (A) Pursuant to Ordinance No. 20050804-039 (Authorizing Ordinance), the City of Austin (City) previously issued and has outstanding its Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005, issued in four subseries designated "Subseries 2005-1," "Subseries 2005-2," "Subseries 2005-3" and "Subseries 2005-4" (Bonds). The scheduled payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds is insured by a municipal bond insurance policy (Bond Insurance Policy) issued by Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp., formerly known as Financial Security Assurance Inc. (Assured Guaranty).
- (B) The Authorizing Ordinance contains some capitalized terms that are used in this ordinance. Those terms have the same meaning in this ordinance as they do in the Authorizing Ordinance.
- (C) The City previously entered into a Standby Bond Purchase Agreement, dated May 1, 2008 (Dexia Liquidity Facility), between the City and Dexia Credit Local, acting through its New York Branch, to provide liquidity support for the Bonds.
- (D) The Dexia Liquidity Facility will expire on July 1, 2011, and it is therefore necessary to replace the Dexia Liquidity Facility with four direct-pay letters of credit in accordance with the terms of the Authorizing Ordinance, two to be issued by JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (collectively, JPMorgan LOCs), one to be issued by KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch (KBC LOC), and one to be issued by Royal Bank of Canada, acting through its WFC, New York, Branch (Royal Bank LOC and, together with the JPMorgan LOCs and the KBC LOC, the Alternate LOCs).
- (E) One of the JPMorgan LOCs will be delivered for the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds and the other JPMorgan LOC will be delivered for the Subseries 2005-2

Bonds, the KBC LOC will be delivered for the Subscries 2005-3 Bonds, and the Royal Bank LOC will be delivered for the Subscries 2005-4 Bonds.

- (F) The City hereby determines that the JPMorgan LOCs, the KBC LOC and the Royal Bank LOC each constitute a Credit Agreement, a Direct-Pay Credit Facility and a Liquidity Facility for purposes of the Authorizing Ordinance.
- (G) In connection with the delivery of the Alternate LOCs, the city council finds it necessary to authorize the execution and delivery of the following letter of credit and reimbursement agreements: (1) a Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement, dated June 1, 2011 (JPMorgan Reimbursement Agreement), between the City and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (JPMorgan), (2) a Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement, dated June 1, 2011 (KBC Reimbursement Agreement), between the City and KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch (KBC), and (3) a Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement, dated June 1, 2011 (Royal Bank Reimbursement Agreement), between the City and Royal Bank of Canada (Royal Bank), acting through its WFC, New York, Branch (collectively, the Reimbursement Agreements).
- (H) In connection with the delivery of the Alternate LOCs, the city council also finds it necessary to authorize the execution and delivery of the following bank fee agreements: (1) a Bank Fee Agreement, dated June 1, 2011 (JPMorgan Fee Agreement), between the City and JPMorgan, (2) a Bank Fee Agreement, dated June 1, 2011 (KBC Fee Agreement), between the City and KBC and (3) a Bank Fee Agreement, dated June 1, 2011 (Royal Bank Fee Agreement), between the City and Royal Bank, acting through its WFC, New York, Branch.
- (I) In connection with the delivery of the Alternate LOCs, the city council also finds it necessary to authorize the execution and delivery of an Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement, dated June 1, 2011 (Cancellation Agreement), by and among the City, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as paying agent/registrar (Paying Agent/Registrar) and as tender agent (Tender Agent), JPMorgan, KBC, Royal Bank, acting through its WFC, New York, Branch and Assured Guaranty, relating to the Bond Insurance Policy and the Debt Service Reserve Fund Surety Policy.
- (J) In connection with the delivery of the Alternate LOCs, the city council also finds it necessary to authorize the execution and delivery of the Agreement Regarding Insured Swap Transaction, dated June 1, 2011 (Swap Agreement), between the City and Assured Guaranty, relating to the Series 2005 Swap Agreement.

- (K) In connection with the delivery of the Alternate LOCs, the city council also finds it necessary to amend the terms and provisions of the Authorizing Ordinance.
- (L) In connection with the amendments to the Authorizing Ordinance, the city council also finds it necessary to authorize the amendment of the Tender Agency Agreement, dated May 1, 2008, between the City and the Tender Agent, to be effected by the execution and delivery of an Amended and Restated Tender Agency Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2011 (Amended Tender Agency Agreement), between the City and the Tender Agent.
- (M) The Authorizing Ordinance requires the mandatory tender for purchase of the Bonds upon the expiration and replacement of the Dexia Liquidity Facility.
- (N) In connection with the mandatory tender of the Bonds, the city council also finds it necessary to approve and authorize the use of a Secondary Market Information Circular for the remarketing of the Bonds.
- (O) The City is authorized to cause the delivery of the Alternate LOCs and to authorize, execute, and deliver the Reimbursement Agreements pursuant to Chapter 1371, Texas Government Code.

PART 2. <u>AUTHORIZATION</u>.

- (A) The City authorizes, ratifies, and approves the replacement of the Dexia Liquidity Facility with the Alternate LOCs. The Mayor, any designee of the Mayor, the city manager, any designee of the city manager, the chief financial officer of the City, the city clerk, the deputy city clerk, the Aviation Director and the city treasurer (each, an Authorized Officer, and collectively, Authorized Officers) are authorized and directed to take all actions necessary or desirable to effect the delivery of the Alternate LOCs for the Bonds in accordance with the provisions of the Authorizing Ordinance and this ordinance at the times and in the manner as they decide are appropriate.
- (B) The city council authorizes the negotiation, execution, and delivery of (1) the JPMorgan Reimbursement Agreement in substantially the form attached as Exhibit A-1 and (2) the JPMorgan Fee Agreement in substantially the form attached as Exhibit B-1. Each Authorized Officer is authorized to execute and deliver the JPMorgan Reimbursement Agreement and the JPMorgan Fee Agreement, with any changes as may be approved by an Authorized Officer. The execution of the JPMorgan Reimbursement Agreement and the JPMorgan Fee Agreement will be conclusive evidence the City approved each of these documents.

- (C) The city council authorizes the negotiation, execution, and delivery of (1) the KBC Reimbursement Agreement in substantially the form attached as Exhibit A-2 and (2) the KBC Fee Agreement in substantially the form attached as Exhibit B-2. Each Authorized Officer is authorized to execute and deliver the KBC Reimbursement Agreement and the KBC Fee Agreement, with any changes as may be approved by an Authorized Officer. The execution of the KBC Reimbursement Agreement and the KBC Fee Agreement will be conclusive evidence the City approved each of these documents.
- (1) the Royal Bank Reimbursement Agreement in substantially the form attached as Exhibit A-3 and (2) the Royal Bank Fee Agreement in substantially the form attached as Exhibit B-3. Each Authorized Officer is authorized to execute and deliver the Royal Bank Reimbursement Agreement and the Royal Bank Fee Agreement, with any changes as may be approved by an Authorized Officer. The execution of the Royal Bank Reimbursement Agreement and the Royal Bank Fee Agreement will be conclusive evidence the City approved each of these documents.
- (E) The city council authorizes the negotiation, execution, and delivery of the Cancellation Agreement in substantially the form attached as <u>Exhibit C</u>. Each Authorized Officer is authorized to execute and deliver the Cancellation Agreement with any changes as may be approved by an Authorized Officer. The execution of the Cancellation Agreement will be conclusive evidence the City approved such document.
- (F) The city council authorizes the negotiation, execution, and delivery of the Swap Agreement in substantially the form attached as <u>Exhibit D</u>. Each Authorized Officer is authorized to execute and deliver the Swap Agreement with any changes as may be approved by an Authorized Officer. The execution of the Swap Agreement will be conclusive evidence the City approved such document.
- (G) The city council authorizes the negotiation, execution, and delivery of the Amended Tender Agency Agreement in substantially the form attached as Exhibit E. Each Authorized Officer is authorized to execute and deliver the Amended Tender Agency Agreement, with such changes as may be approved by an Authorized Officer. The execution of the Amended Tender Agency Agreement is conclusive evidence the City approved such document.
- (H) The city council authorizes, ratifies, and approves the preparation, distribution, and use of the Secondary Market Information Circular in substantially the form attached as Exhibit F. To the extent required, the Secondary Market

Information Circular is "final" as of its date for purposes of compliance with Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

(l) The Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent are authorized and directed to take all actions and give all notices as may be necessary or desirable to effect the delivery of the Alternate LOCs and all other actions authorized by this ordinance.

PART 3. AMENDMENT OF AUTHORIZING ORDINANCE.

(A) Section 2.01 of the Authorizing Ordinance is amended by adding the following defined terms:

Bond Insurer Event of Default.

The term "Bond Insurer Event of Default" shall mean and include the occurrence of one or more of the following events:

- (a) any principal or interest evidenced by the Bonds (including Bank Bonds) is not paid by the Bond Insurer when, as, and in the amounts required to be paid pursuant to the terms of the Bond Insurance Policy; or
- (b) (i) any material provision of the Bond Insurance Policy relating to the obligation of the Bond Insurer to make payments of principal and interest thereunder at any time for any reason ceases to be valid and binding on the Bond Insurer in accordance with the terms of the Bond Insurance Policy or the New York Department of Insurance or a court or other governmental authority of appropriate jurisdiction finds or rules or enters an order, judgment or decree that the Bond Insurance Policy is not valid and binding on the Bond Insurer or (ii) the Bond Insurer (A) claims in writing that the Bond Insurance Policy is not valid and binding on the Bond Insurer, (B) repudiates the Bond Insurer's obligations under the Bond Insurance Policy or (C) initiates legal proceedings seeking an adjudication that the Bond Insurance Policy or any material provision thereof regarding the payment of principal or interest on Bonds (including Bank Bonds) is not valid and binding on the Bond Insurer; or
- (c) a proceeding is instituted in a court having jurisdiction in the premises seeking an order for relief, rehabilitation, reorganization, conservation, liquidation or dissolution in respect to the Bond Insurer or for any substantial part of its property under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect,

or for the appointment of a receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, trustee or sequestrator (or other similar official) and such proceeding has not been dismissed within ninety (90) days or such court enters an order granting the relief sought in such proceeding; or the New York Department of Insurance declares a moratorium on the payment of the Bond Insurer's debts, or the Bond Insurer commences a voluntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, consents to the entry of an order for relief in an involuntary case under any such law or consents to the appointment of or taking possession by a receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, custodian or sequestrator (or other similar official) of the Bond Insurer or for any substantial part of its property, or makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or fails generally to pay its debts (provided that for purposes of this definition, "debts" shall not include any obligation of the Bond Insurer under any insurance policy or surety bond) as they become due, or an order for rehabilitation, liquidation or dissolution of the Bond Insurer is issued.

Cancellation Agreement.

The term "Cancellation Agreement" shall mean (i) that certain Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement dated as of June 1, 2011, by and among the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Tender Agent, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch, Royal Bank of Canada, acting through its WFC, New York, Branch, and the Bond Insurer, or (ii) such other agreement as may be entered into and in effect from time to time, by and among the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Tender Agent, the Bond Insurer and one or more Credit Facility Issuers, relating to the termination or cancellation of the Bond Insurance Policy.

(B) The first paragraph of Section 3.06 of the Authorizing Ordinance is amended by adding the following sentence at the end of such paragraph:

Upon the cancellation of the Bond Insurance Policy pursuant to the terms of the Cancellation Agreement, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall exchange all such Bonds covered by the Bond Insurance Policy and shall authenticate and deliver to DTC in exchange therefor, new Bonds that do not bear any legend or statement regarding the Bond Insurance Policy, registered in the name of Cede & Co., in authorized

denominations and of the same maturity and aggregate principal amount of the Bonds so tendered.

(C) The sixth paragraph of the form of Bond set forth in Section 4.02(a) of the Authorizing Ordinance is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

The Bonds were issued by the City for the purposes of obtaining funds to refund certain airport system revenue bonds of the City defined in the Ordinance as the "Refunded Bonds", under and pursuant to Chapter 1207 and Chapter 1371, Texas Government Code, as amended, and Chapter 22, Texas Transportation Code, as amended, and all other applicable law, and to pay the City's costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bonds.

(D) The form of Bond set forth in Section 4.02(a) of the Authorizing Ordinance is amended by adding the following new paragraph immediately following the seventh paragraph thereof:

This Bond is also secured by all moneys drawn by the Paying Agent/Registrar under any Credit Facility which may be in effect from time to time with respect to the Bonds. In addition, the City may replace any Credit Facility with an Alternate Credit Facility as described in the Ordinance, in which event, subject to certain limitations set forth in the Ordinance, this Bond shall be subject to mandatory tender and purchase.

(E) Section 4.05 of the Authorizing Ordinance is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

Section 4.05 <u>CREDIT ENHANCEMENT</u>. The Bonds, including the Initial Bonds, may bear an appropriate legend, as provided by any Credit Provider.

- (F) Subsection (b) of Section 7.09 of the Authorizing Ordinance is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
 - (b) During any such time that the Bond Insurance Policy is in effect with respect to the Bonds, prior to the defeasance of any Bonds, (i) the City shall cause to be delivered to the Bond Insurer (A) a report of an independent firm of nationally recognized certified public accountants or such other accountant as shall be reasonably acceptable to the Bond Insurer ("Accountant") verifying the sufficiency of the escrow established to pay such Bonds in full on the

respective maturity or redemption date ("Verification"), (B) an escrow agreement (which shall be reasonably acceptable in form and substance to the Bond Insurer), and (C) an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel to the effect that such Bonds are no longer "Outstanding" under this Ordinance, (ii) each Verification and defeasance opinion shall be addressed to the City and the Bond Insurer and shall be reasonably acceptable in form and substance to the Bond Insurer, and (iii) the Bond Insurer shall be provided with final drafts of the above-referenced documentation not less than five (5) Business Days prior to the funding of the escrow fund.

(G) Section 8.02 of the Authorizing Ordinance is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

Section 8.02 QUALIFICATIONS. Each Paying Agent/Registrar shall be a commercial bank or a trust company organized under the laws of the State of Texas or the United States of America, or any other entity duly qualified and legally authorized to serve as and perform the duties and services of paying agent and registrar for the Bonds. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article Eight to the contrary, so long as a Credit Agreement is in effect with respect to the Bonds and such Credit Agreement constitutes both a Credit Facility and a Liquidity Facility, the entity serving as Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds shall also serve as Tender Agent for the Bonds.

- (H) The second paragraph of Section 12.01 of the Authorizing Ordinance is deleted in its entirety.
- (I) Subsection (d) of Section 12.02 of the Authorizing Ordinance is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
 - (d) Claims Upon the Bond Insurance Policy and payments by and to the Bond Insurer.

If, by 12:00 noon, New York City time, on the Business Day prior to the related scheduled interest payment date or principal payment date ("Payment Date") there is not on deposit with the Paying Agent/Registrar, after making all transfers and deposits required under this Ordinance (including drawing on any Direct-Pay Credit Facility), moneys sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds (other than Bank Bonds and Bonds paid by the Banks, as provided for in the last two paragraphs of this Section) due on such

Payment Date, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall make a claim under the Bond Insurance Policy and give notice to the Bond Insurer and to its designated agent (if any) (the "Bond Insurer's Fiscal Agent") by telephone or telecopy of the amount of such deficiency, including the allocation of such deficiency between the amount required to pay interest on the Bonds and the amount required to pay principal of the Bonds, confirmed in writing to the Bond Insurer and the Bond Insurer's Fiscal Agent by 1:00 p.m., New York City time, on such Business Day by filling in the form of Notice of Claim and Certificate delivered with the Bond Insurance Policy.

In the event the claim to be made is for a mandatory sinking fund redemption installment, upon receipt of the moneys due, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall authenticate and deliver to affected Owners who surrender their Bonds a new Bond or Bonds in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of the Bond surrendered. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall designate any portion of payment of principal on Bonds paid by the Bond Insurer, whether by virtue of mandatory sinking fund redemption, maturity or other advancement of maturity, on its books as a reduction in the principal amount of Bonds registered to the then current Owner, whether DTC or its nominee or otherwise, and shall issue a replacement Bond to the Bond Insurer, registered in the name of Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp., in a principal amount equal to the amount of principal so paid (without regard to authorized denominations); provided that the Paying Agent/Registrar's failure to so designate any payment or issue any replacement Bond shall have no effect on the amount of principal or interest payable by the City on any Bond or the subrogation rights of the Bond Insurer.

The Paying Agent/Registrar shall keep a complete and accurate record of all funds deposited by the Bond Insurer into the Policy Payments Account (defined below) and the allocation of such funds to payment of interest on and principal paid in respect of any Bond. The Bond Insurer shall have the right to inspect such records at reasonable times upon reasonable notice to the Paying Agent/Registrar.

Upon payment of a claim under the Bond Insurance Policy the Paying Agent/Registrar shall establish a separate special purpose trust account for the benefit of Bondholders referred to herein as the "Policy Payments Account" and over which the Paying Agent/Registrar shall have exclusive control and sole right of withdrawal. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall receive any amount

paid under the Bond Insurance Policy in trust on behalf of Bondholders and shall deposit any such amount in the Policy Payments Account and distribute such amount only for purposes of making the payments for which a claim was made. Such amounts shall be disbursed by the Paying Agent/Registrar to Bondholders in the same manner as principal and interest payments are to be made with respect to the Bonds under the sections hereof regarding payment of Bonds. It shall not be necessary for such payments to be made by checks or wire transfers separate from the check or wire transfer used to pay debt service with other funds available to make such payments. Amounts held by the Paying Agent/Registrar in the Policy Payments Account shall not constitute Gross Revenues or Net Revenues under the Ordinance. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary otherwise set forth in this Ordinance, and to the extent permitted by law and subject to the appropriation thereof by the City from the Debt Service Fund, in the event amounts paid under the Bond Insurance Policy are applied to claims for payment of principal of or interest on the Bonds, interest on such principal of and interest on such Bonds shall accrue and be payable from the date of such payment at the greater of (i) the per annum rate of interest, publicly announced from time to time by JPMorgan Chase Bank or its successor at its principal office in the City of New York, as its prime or base lending rate plus 3%, and (ii) the then applicable rate of interest on the Bonds provided that in no event shall such rate exceed the maximum rate permissible under applicable usury or similar laws limiting interest rates.

Funds held in the Policy Payments Account shall not be invested by the Paying Agent/Registrar and may not be applied to satisfy any costs, expenses or liabilities of the Paying Agent/Registrar. Any funds remaining in the Policy Payments Account following a Bond payment date shall promptly be remitted to the Bond Insurer.

Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 12.02(d) to the contrary, if the Paying Agent/Registrar determines that there will not be moneys in the funds and accounts established under this Ordinance in an amount sufficient to pay principal of or interest on Bank Bonds when due, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall not notify the Bond Insurer and seek payment of such amounts under the Bond Insurance Policy on behalf of the related Liquidity Facility Issuer unless directed to so in writing by such Liquidity Facility Issuer within sixty (60) days after such principal or interest was due. If a Liquidity Facility Issuer does not direct the Paying Agent/Registrar to seek payment of

such principal or interest within sixty (60) days after such payment was due, such Liquidity Facility Issuer shall be deemed to have waived its right to seek payment of such amounts under the Bond Insurance Policy.

In the event a payment is made under a Direct-Pay Credit Facility to pay scheduled principal of or interest on the Bonds and such payment is not reimbursed to the related Credit Facility Issuer within five (5) Business Days after such payment is made by such Credit Facility Issuer, the Paying Agent/Registrar, if directed to do so in writing by the related Credit Facility Issuer, may seek payment of such amounts under the Bond Insurance Policy on behalf of such Credit Facility Issuer to the extent provided by the Bond Insurance Policy. Upon payment of such amounts by the Bond Insurer, the Bonds shall continue to be outstanding for all purposes hereof and the Bond Insurer shall be entitled to exercise all subrogation rights granted to it pursuant to Section 12.02(e) hereof. If the Liquidity Facility Issuer does not direct the Paying Agent/Registrar to seek payment of such principal or interest within sixty (60) days after such payment was due, the Liquidity Facility Issuer shall be deemed to have waived its right to seek payment of such amounts under the Bond Insurance Policy.

- (J) Subsection (f) of Section 12.02 of the Authorizing Ordinance is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
 - To the extent permitted by law and subject to the appropriation thereof by the City from the Administrative Expense Fund, the City shall pay or reimburse the Bond Insurer, as an Administrative Expense solely from the Administrative Expense Fund, any and all charges, fees, costs and expenses which the Bond Insurer may reasonably pay or incur in connection with (i) the administration, enforcement, defense or preservation of any rights or security in any Related Document, (ii) the pursuit of any remedies under the Ordinance or any other Related Document or otherwise afforded by law or equity, (iii) any amendment, waiver or other action with respect to, or related to, the Ordinance or any other Related Document whether or not executed or completed, (iv) the violation by the Issuer of any law, rule or regulation, or any judgment, order or decree applicable to it or (v) any litigation or other dispute in connection with the Ordinance or any other Related Document or the transactions contemplated thereby, other than amounts resulting from the failure of the Bond Insurer to honor its obligations under the Bond

Insurance Policy; provided, that any obligation of the City to pay or reimburse the Bond Insurer for any fees, costs and expenses which the Bond Insurer may pay or incur in connection with the cancellation or termination of the Bond Insurance Policy shall be governed by the terms of the Cancellation Agreement. The Bond Insurer reserves the right to charge a reasonable fee as a condition to executing any amendment, waiver or consent proposed in respect of the Ordinance or any other Related Document.

- (K) Subsection (h) of Section 12.03 of the Authorizing Ordinance is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
 - (h) Remarketing of Tendered Bonds. With respect to Bonds in a Daily Rate Mode, Weekly Rate Mode or Term Mode, Bonds shall be remarketed at par. If the Remarketing Agent fails to set an interest rate on the Bonds for two consecutive weeks, the rate shall equal the SIFMA Swap Index. The Remarketing Agent shall be required to use its best efforts to remarket the Bonds at all times other than following an event triggering any termination or expiration of the Liquidity Facility. Other grounds for suspension of remarketing must be acceptable to the Bond Insurer.
- (L) The Authorizing Ordinance is amended by adding a new Section 12.05 to read as follows:

Section 12.05 BOND INSURER EVENT OF DEFAULT; CANCELLATION OF BOND INSURANCE POLICY.

NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER PROVISION OF THIS ORDINANCE TO THE CONTRARY, (I) ALL PROVISIONS SET FORTH IN THIS ARTICLE TWELVE AND ANY AND ALL TERMS AND PROVISIONS CONTAINED ELSEWHERE IN THIS ORDINANCE GIVING TO THE BOND INSURER THE RIGHT OF CONSENT OR THE RIGHT TO DIRECT REMEDIES OR THE RIGHT TO DIRECT ANY **OTHER PROCEEDING** HEREUNDER SHALL EFFECTIVE ONLY SO LONG AS A BOND INSURER EVENT OF DEFAULT HAS NOT OCCURRED, AND (II) IN THE EVENT THE BOND INSURANCE POLICY IS NO LONGER IN EFFECT ALL REFERENCES HEREIN TO THE BOND INSURER AND THE BOND INSURANCE POLICY AND ALL TERMS AND PROVISIONS OF THIS ORDINANCE FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE BOND INSURER SHALL BE A NULLITY

OR AND HAVE NO **FORCE** EFFECT: PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT THE RIGHTS OF THE BOND INSURER DERIVED THROUGH SUBROGATION PURSUANT TO THE FIRST SENTENCE OF SECTION 12.02(e) HEREOF SHALL REMAIN IN FULL FORCE AND EFFECT; PROVIDED FURTHER, HOWEVER, THAT IN THE EVENT THE BOND INSURANCE POLICY IS CANCELLED OR TERMINATED. RIGHTS OF THE **BOND** INSURER REIMBURSED BY THE CITY PURSUANT TO SECTION 12.02(f) HEREOF FOR ANY CHARGES, FEES, COSTS AND EXPENSES SPECIFIED IN SUCH SECTION 12.02(f) THAT WERE INCURRED BY THE BOND INSURER PRIOR TO THE **EFFECTIVE** DATE OF THE CANCELLATION TERMINATION OF THE **BOND INSURANCE POLICY** SHALL REMAIN IN FULL FORCE AND EFFECT.

- OR NO BREACH, **DEFAULT EVENT** OF (b) DEFAULT SHALL EXIST OR BE DEEMED TO EXIST UNDER THIS ORDINANCE \mathbf{BY} VIRTUE OF THE**TERMINATION** THE BOND CANCELLATION OR OF **INSURANCE POLICY.**
- (M) The definition of "BMA Index" set forth in Section A-101 of the Authorizing Ordinance is deleted in its entirety.
- (N) Section A-101 of the Authorizing Ordinance is amended by adding the following defined terms:

Redemption Price means, when used with respect to a Bond and if not specified in the Ordinance, the principal amount of such Bond plus the applicable premium specified in a Pricing Certificate, if any, payable upon redemption thereof, plus interest accrued to the Redemption Date.

SIFMA Swap Index means, on any date, a rate determined on the basis of the seven-day high grade market index of tax-exempt variable rate demand obligations, as produced by Municipal Market Data and published or made available by the Securities Industry & Financial Markets Association (formerly the Bond Market Association) ("SIFMA") or any Person acting in cooperation with or under the sponsorship of SIFMA and acceptable to the Paying Agent/Registrar and effective from such date.

(O) The following defined terms in Section A-101 of the Authorizing Ordinance are amended and restated to read as follows:

Alternate Rate means, on any Rate Determination Date, the SIFMA Swap Index or if the SIFMA Swap Index is no longer published, an index or a rate selected or determined by the City with the consent of the Insurer and the Credit Facility Issuer, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.

Credit Facility means any letter of credit, standby bond purchase agreement, line of credit, policy of bond insurance, surety bond, guarantee or similar instrument, or any agreement relating to the reimbursement of any payment thereunder (or any combination of the foregoing), which is obtained by the City and is issued by a financial institution, insurance provider or other Person and which provides security or liquidity in respect of any Bond (but excluding, for purposes of this Appendix A, any Liquidity Facility as defined below) which is obtained by the City pursuant to Section A-501 hereof and that provides (to the extent, and subject to the terms and conditions, set forth therein) for the payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds of a subseries becoming due and payable during the term thereof, as the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time.

Liquidity and Credit Amount means at any time:

in the case of a Credit Facility and/or a Liquidity Facility that is not also a Direct-Pay Credit Facility and with respect to (a) the Bonds of a subseries bearing interest at the Daily Rate or Weekly Rate, an amount to pay the Purchase Price equal to the principal amount (and, with respect to a Credit Facility, Redemption Price) of the Bonds of the Series then Outstanding plus an interest amount equal to 35 days' interest thereon calculated at the Maximum Rate on the basis of a 365 day year for the actual number of days elapsed; and (b) the Bonds of a subseries in the Term Rate Mode, an amount equal to the principal amount (and, with respect to a Credit Facility, Redemption Price) of such Bonds then Outstanding plus an interest amount equal to 187 days' interest thereon calculated at the then applicable Term Rate, and with respect to both clauses (a) and (b), such other interest amount as may be required by any Rating Agency at the time of delivery of such Credit Facility and/or Liquidity Facility; and

(ii) in the case of a Credit Facility and/or a Liquidity Facility that is also a Direct-Pay Credit Facility and with respect to (a) the Bonds of a subseries bearing interest at the Daily Rate or Weekly Rate, an amount to pay the Purchase Price equal to the principal amount (and, with respect to a Credit Facility, Redemption Price) of the Bonds of the Series then Outstanding plus an interest amount equal to 45 days' interest thereon calculated at the Maximum Rate on the basis of a 365 day year for the actual number of days elapsed; and (b) the Bonds of a subseries in the Term Rate Mode, an amount equal to the principal amount (and, with respect to a Credit Facility, Redemption Price) of such Bonds then Outstanding plus an interest amount equal to 197 days' interest thereon calculated at the then applicable Term Rate, and with respect to both clauses (a) and (b), such other interest amount as may be required by any Rating Agency at the time of delivery of such Credit Facility and/or Liquidity Facility.

Purchase Price means an amount equal to the principal amount of any Bond of a subseries purchased on any Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, plus, unless the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date for such Bond is also an Interest Payment Date, accrued interest to the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, as the case may be.

Rating Agencies means Fitch, Moody's and S&P, or such other nationally recognized securities rating agencies selected by the City and then rating the Bonds at the request of the City.

Remarketing Agreement means the remarketing agreement entered into between the City and the Remarketing Agent with respect to the Bonds of a subseries pursuant to which the Remarketing Agent has agreed to use its best efforts to remarket the Bonds of such subseries on any Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date at a price of not less than 100% of the principal amount thereof.

Termination Date means, with respect to a Credit Facility or a Liquidity Facility, (i) the date on which such Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility shall terminate pursuant to its terms or otherwise be terminated prior to its Expiration Date, (ii) the date on which the obligation of the Credit Facility Issuer or the Liquidity Facility Issuer to provide a loan shall terminate, or (iii) the date on which the Bond Insurance Policy shall terminate or be cancelled; provided, however, that "Termination Date" shall not mean any date upon which a Credit

Facility or Liquidity Facility is no longer effective by reason of its Expiration Date.

(P) Section A-304 of the Authorizing Ordinance is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

Section A-304 Redemption of Bank Bonds.

- (a) The Bank Bonds of a subseries shall be subject to redemption at the option of the City, in whole or in part, on any Business Day, at the Redemption Price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the Redemption Date.
- (b) The Bank Bonds of a subseries also shall be subject to mandatory redemption as provided in a Liquidity Facility.
- (Q) Subsection (b) of Section A-401 of the Authorizing Ordinance is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
 - (b) The Owners of Bonds of a subseries in a Weekly Rate Mode that are not Bank Bonds may elect to have such Bonds (or portions thereof in Authorized Denominations) purchased at a price equal to the Purchase Price upon delivery of an irrevocable written notice of tender to the Tender Agent and Remarketing Agent, at their respective Principal Offices, not later than 5:00 p.m. on a Business Day not less than seven (7) days before the Purchase Date specified by the Owner. Such notice shall (i) state the number and the principal amount of such Bond being tendered and (ii) state that such Bond shall be purchased on the Purchase Date so specified by the Owner. The Tender Agent shall notify the City by the close of business on the next succeeding Business Day of the receipt of any notice pursuant to this paragraph.
- (R) Section A-403 of the Authorizing Ordinance is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
 - Section A-403 <u>Mandatory Purchase Upon Expiration Date</u>, <u>Termination Tender Date</u>, <u>Interest Non-Reinstatement Date and Substitution Date</u>. Except for Bank Bonds, the Bonds of a subseries shall be subject to mandatory tender for purchase on:
 - (a) the second Business Day preceding the Expiration Date of a Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility, which second Business Day is hereinafter referred to as an "Expiration Tender Date";

- (b) the fifth calendar day (or if such day is not a Business Day, the preceding Business Day) preceding the Termination Date of a Credit Facility, a Liquidity Facility or the Bond Insurance Policy, which fifth calendar day is hereinafter referred to as a "Termination Tender Date", if the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility permits a draw thereon on the Termination Tender Date;
- (c) the fifth calendar day (or if such day is not a Business Day, the preceding Business Day) following the receipt by the City of a written notice from the issuer of a Direct-Pay Credit Facility that such Direct-Pay Credit Facility will not be reinstated (in respect of interest) to an amount equal to the interest component of the Liquidity and Credit Amount required with respect to the Bonds of such subseries, which fifth calendar day is hereinafter referred to as an "Interest Non-Reinstatement Tender Date"; and
- (d) the Substitution Date for a Credit Facility or a Liquidity Facility.
- (S) Subsection (b) of Section A-405 of the Authorizing Ordinance is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
 - (b) Upon receipt of a written notice from the Credit Facility Issuer, the Liquidity Facility Issuer or the City that the Credit Facility or the Liquidity Facility, as the case may be, will terminate, that the obligation of the Credit Facility Issuer or Liquidity Facility Issuer, as the case may be, to provide a loan thereunder will terminate prior to its Expiration Date, or that the Bond Insurance Policy will be cancelled or terminated, the Paving Agent/Registrar shall within one (1) Business Day give notice of the mandatory tender of the Bonds of such subseries that is to occur on such Termination Tender Date if it has not theretofore received from the Credit Facility Issuer, the Liquidity Facility Issuer or the City, as the case may be, a notice stating that the event which resulted in the Credit Facility Issuer, the Liquidity Facility Issuer or the City giving a notice of the Termination Date has been cured and that the Credit Facility Issuer, the Liquidity Facility Issuer or the City has rescinded its election to terminate the Credit Facility, the Liquidity Facility or the Bond Insurance Policy, as the case may be. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in subsection (f) below, such notice shall be given by Electronic Means capable of creating a written notice. Any notice given substantially as provided in this subsection (b) shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether or not actually received by each Owner.

- (T) Subsection (d) of Section A-406 of the Authorizing Ordinance is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
 - (d) No Investment; Amounts Applied Solely to Related Series. Amounts held by the Tender Agent in the Liquidity Facility Purchase Account or the Remarketing Proceeds Account relating to the Bonds of a subseries shall not constitute Gross Revenues or Net Revenues under the Ordinance and shall be held uninvested and separate and apart from all other funds and accounts. Amounts so held or available to be drawn under a Liquidity Facility for deposit in a Liquidity Facility Purchase Account shall not be available to pay the Purchase Price of Bonds of any subseries other than Bonds of a subseries that are supported by such Liquidity Facility.
- (U) Subsection (c) of Section A-407 of the Authorizing Ordinance is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
 - (c) <u>Transfer of Funds; Draw on Liquidity Facility</u>.
 - (1) The Remarketing Agent shall at or before 12:00 noon (12:20 p.m. in the case of Bonds of a subseries in the Daily Rate Mode) on the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, as the case may be, confirm to the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent the transfer of the Purchase Price of remarketed Bonds of the Series to the Tender Agent in immediately available funds at or before 11:45 a.m. (12:15 p.m. in the case of Bonds of a subseries in the Daily Rate Mode), such confirmation to include the pertinent identifying information with respect to such transfer.
 - Agent shall draw on the Liquidity Facility, in accordance with the terms thereof, by 12:25 p.m. on the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, as the case may be, in an amount equal to the Purchase Price of all Bonds of the Series tendered or deemed tendered less the aggregate amount of remarketing proceeds confirmed to the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent by the Remarketing Agent pursuant to clause (1) of this Section A-407(c) and shall cause the proceeds of such draw to be transferred to the Tender Agent by no later than 2:30 p.m. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Tender Agent shall draw on the Liquidity Facility, if any, in an amount equal to the Purchase Price of all Bonds of the Series tendered or deemed tendered for purchase on each Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, as the case may be, if it does not receive a confirmation from the

Remarketing Agent pursuant to clause (1) above of this Section A-407(c).

- (3) To the extent a Liquidity Facility is in effect, the Tender Agent shall confirm to the City by 2:40 p.m. on the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, receipt of the proceeds of any draw on the Liquidity Facility.
- (V) Article A-V of Appendix A to the Authorizing Ordinance is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

ARTICLE A-V

LIQUIDITY FACILITIES AND CREDIT FACILITIES

Section A-501 <u>Liquidity Facility and Credit Facility.</u>

At any time, the City may provide for the delivery of (i) an initial Liquidity Facility and an Alternate Liquidity Facility with respect to the Bonds of any subseries, and/or (ii) an initial Credit Facility and an Alternate Credit Facility with respect to the Bonds of any subseries. The City shall not obtain a Liquidity Facility for the Bonds of a subseries or provide for the delivery of a Liquidity Facility for the Bonds of a subseries without the prior consent of any Credit Facility Issuer for the Bonds of such subseries. Any such Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility shall provide that a Termination Date which permits the City to make on the Termination Tender Date a draw under the Liquidity Facility or the Credit Facility, as the case may be, shall not occur unless written notice thereof is given to the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent at least sixteen (16) days prior to the Termination Date. To the extent that any Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility permits the issuer thereof to assign its obligation thereunder, such Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility, as the case may be, shall provide that such assignment shall not be effective unless a written notice of such assignment is given to the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Remarketing Agent and the Tender Agent at least sixteen (16) days prior to the effective date of such assignment. On or prior to the date on which a Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility is obtained or delivered to the City, the City shall obtain a Favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel. As provided in Section A-403 hereof, all Outstanding Bonds of the Series to which such Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility relates will become subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the Substitution Date.

- (b) The City may execute and deliver any instrument that, upon such execution and delivery by the City, would constitute a "Credit Facility," a "Liquidity Facility" or both.
- The City shall deliver to the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Tender Agent, the Credit Facility Issuer, the Insurer and the Remarketing Agent a copy of each Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility obtained pursuant to this article on the effective date of such Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility. If at any time there shall have been delivered (i) an Alternate Credit Facility or Alternate Liquidity Facility in substitution for the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility with respect to Bonds of a subseries then in effect and (ii) a Favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel, then, providing that any condition to substitution contained in the existing Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility shall have been satisfied, the Paying Agent/Registrar and/or the Tender Agent, as applicable, shall accept such Alternate Credit Facility or Alternate Liquidity Facility and, subject to subsection (d) of this Section A-501, shall surrender the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility then in effect to the Credit Facility Issuer or Liquidity Facility Issuer on the effective date of the Alternate Credit Facility or Alternate Liquidity Facility. In the event of an extension of the Expiration Date, the City shall give the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Tender Agent, the Credit Facility Issuer, the Liquidity Facility Issuer and the Remarketing Agent a written notice of the new Expiration Date at least sixteen (16) days prior to the Expiration Tender Date. In the event of a substitution of a Liquidity Facility with an Alternate Liquidity Facility or of a Credit Facility with an Alternate Credit Facility, the City shall give the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Tender Agent, the Insurer and the Remarketing Agent a written notice of the Substitution Date at least sixteen (16) days prior to such Substitution The City shall give the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Tender Agent, the Insurer and the Remarketing Agent a written notice of its election to terminate the Credit Facility or the Liquidity Facility at least sixteen (16) days prior to the Termination Tender Date resulting from its election to terminate such Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility.
- (d) In no event shall the City surrender or cancel a Liquidity Facility relating to the Bonds of any subseries unless it has received funds, either from proceeds of remarketing or a draw under the Liquidity Facility to be surrendered or cancelled, sufficient to pay the Purchase Price of such Bonds to the applicable Mandatory Purchase

Date. In no event shall the City surrender or cancel a Credit Facility relating to the Bonds of any subseries unless it has received funds sufficient to pay the Purchase Price of such Bonds to the applicable Mandatory Purchase Date.

- (e) The City shall not sell, assign or otherwise transfer the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility, except in accordance with the terms of the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility and the Ordinance.
- (f) Prior to the Substitution Date, no drawing under an Alternate Liquidity Facility shall be made by the City if the predecessor Liquidity Facility shall be effective and available to make drawings thereunder on the date of such drawing. On or after the Substitution Date, no drawing under a predecessor Liquidity Facility shall be made by the City if the Alternate Liquidity Facility shall be effective and available to make drawings thereunder on the date of such drawing.

Section A-502 <u>Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account.</u>

- (a) If a Direct-Pay Credit Facility is in effect with respect to the Bonds of any subseries, there shall be created and established and maintained with the Paying Agent/Registrar a separate account for the Bonds of such subseries to be known as the "[Name of Bonds of a subseries that are secured by such Credit Facility] Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account" (the "Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account"). The establishment of such Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account shall be evidenced in a certificate of an authorized representative of the Paying Agent/Registrar.
- (b) The City shall make payments of principal and Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds of a subseries in accordance with the Ordinance into the Debt Service Fund as and when the same shall become due and payable regardless of whether a Direct-Pay Credit Facility is in effect with respect to the Bonds of such subseries.
- (c) If a Direct-Pay Credit Facility is in effect with respect to the Bonds of a subseries, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall take all action necessary to draw or make a claim on the related Direct-Pay Credit Facility in such amounts, at such times, and in such manner as shall be necessary to pay the principal and Redemption Price (including, to the extent amounts are available therefor under the

Direct-Pay Credit Facility, Sinking Fund Installments) of and interest on all Bonds payable therefrom as and when the same shall become due and payable; provided, however, in the event the Bond Insurance Policy is in effect, any such draw or claim on a Direct-Pay Credit Facility shall be made at such times in order to receive payment in immediately available funds by 11:30 a.m. on the Business Day immediately preceding the date on which payment is due on the Bonds. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall promptly deposit into the related Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account all moneys so drawn by the Paying Agent/Registrar under the related Direct-Pay Credit Facility, which shall not be commingled with any other moneys held by the Paying Agent/Registrar and which shall be applied to the payment of such principal, Redemption Price and interest.

(d) Subject to the immediately succeeding paragraph, on each Principal Installment due date or Redemption Date, as the case may be, and Interest Payment Date, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall make payments of principal or Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds of each Series to their Owners in accordance with the Ordinance.

If a Direct-Pay Credit Facility is in effect with respect to the Bonds of any subseries, notwithstanding the immediately preceding paragraph, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall make payments of principal or Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds of such subseries to their Owners in the manner provided for in the Ordinance from the moneys deposited in the related Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account pursuant to subsection (c) of this Section A-502. If sufficient funds are not available in the related Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account, the City shall apply other moneys, if any, available in the Debt Service Fund to the extent necessary to make such payment. If the principal or Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds of a subseries has been paid in full when due and all payments required to be made under the Direct-Pay Credit Facility have been made, the City shall apply remaining moneys, if any, available in the Debt Service Fund in an amount not to exceed the amount of the draw or borrowing under the Direct-Pay Credit Facility to reimburse the Credit Facility Issuer of the Direct-Pay Credit Facility for such draw or borrowing after such draw or borrowing has been honored by the Credit Facility Issuer of the Direct-Pay Credit Facility. In the event the Credit Facility Issuer of the related DirectPay Credit Facility for such draw or borrowing is not reimbursed by the City within five (5) Business Days of such draw or borrowing and the Bond Insurance Policy is in effect, the Paying Agent/Registrar may make a claim under the Bond Insurance Policy on behalf the Credit Facility Issuer, if instructed to do so in writing by such Credit Facility Issuer, to the extent provided for in the Bond Insurance Policy and Section 12.02(d) of the Ordinance.

- (e) Amounts held by the Paying Agent/Registrar in each Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account shall not constitute Gross Revenues or Net Revenues under the Ordinance and shall be held uninvested and separate and apart from all other funds and accounts. Amounts so held or available to be drawn under a Direct-Pay Credit Facility for deposit in a Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account shall not be available to pay the principal or Redemption Price of or interest on any subseries other than Bonds of a subseries that are supported by such Direct-Pay Credit Facility.
- (f) So long as the Bond Insurance Policy is in effect and a Direct-Pay Credit Facility is in effect with respect to the Bonds of any subseries, the Paying Agent/Registrar first shall take all action necessary to draw or make a claim on the related Direct-Pay Credit Facility in such amounts, at such times, and in such manner as prescribed by subsection (c) of this Section A-502.
- (g) To the extent that any payment on the Bonds has been made to an Owner with funds provided by a draw under a Direct-Pay Credit Facility for which the related Credit Facility Issuer has not been reimbursed by the City, such Bonds shall be deemed to be unpaid and shall be deemed to remain outstanding for all purposes of this Ordinance and such Credit Facility Issuer shall be subrogated to the rights of the Owner of such Bond. In the event the related Credit Facility Issuer of the Direct-Pay Credit Facility is reimbursed for such draw by a payment under the Bond Insurance Policy or another Credit Facility, such Bond shall be deemed to continue to remain outstanding for all purposes of the Ordinance and the Bond Insurer or the Credit Facility Issuer of such other Credit Facility, as applicable, shall be subrogated to the rights of the Owner of such Bond until such Bond is paid in full by the City.

Section A-503 <u>Amendments Relating to Credit Facilities</u> and <u>Liquidity Facilities</u>. In addition to any amendments permitted pursuant to Article Nine of the Ordinance, the City, with the consent

of the Insurer, may amend any provisions of the Ordinance, including without limitation any provisions of this Appendix A, as the City deems necessary or appropriate in connection with the conversion to a Daily Rate Mode or a Weekly Rate Mode or with the delivery of any Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility.

(W) The third paragraph of Section A-602 of the Authorizing Ordinance is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

The Tender Agent shall be selected by the City and shall be a bank or other financial institution that satisfies the qualifications determined by the City and set forth in any applicable provisions of law. The City's execution of a Certificate setting forth the effective date of the appointment of a Tender Agent and the name, address and telephone number of such Tender Agent shall be conclusive evidence that (i) such Tender Agent has been appointed and is qualified to act as Tender Agent under the terms hereof and (ii) if applicable, the predecessor Tender Agent has been removed in accordance with the provisions hereof. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section A-602 to the contrary, so long as a Credit Agreement is in effect with respect to the Bonds and such Credit Agreement constitutes both a Credit Facility and a Liquidity Facility, the entity serving as Tender Agent for the Bonds shall also serve as Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds.

- (X) Except as specifically amended by this Part 3, all other terms and provisions of the Authorizing Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between the terms and provisions contained in the Authorizing Ordinance and the terms and provisions contained in this Part 3, the terms and provisions of this Part 3 shall govern and prevail to the extent necessary to resolve such conflict or inconsistency.
- **PART 4.** <u>FURTHER PROCEDURES</u>. Each Authorized Officer is authorized and directed to do any and all things necessary or convenient to carry out the terms of this ordinance.
- **PART 5. SEVERABILITY.** The provisions of this ordinance are severable. If any provision of this ordinance or its applications to any person or circumstance is held invalid, the invalidity does not affect other provisions or applications of this ordinance.
- **PART 6. OPEN MEETING.** The City posted sufficient written notice of the date, hour, place, and subject of the meeting of the city council at which this

ordinance was adopted at a place convenient and readily accessible at all times to the general public at the Austin City Hall for the time required by the Open Meetings Law, Chapter 551, Texas Government Code. This meeting has been open to the public as required by law at all times during which this ordinance and its subject matter were discussed, considered, and formally acted upon. The city council ratifies, approves, and confirms such written notice, its contents and its posting.

PART 7. REPEALER. All orders, resolutions, and ordinances (other than the Authorizing Ordinance), or their parts that are inconsistent with this ordinance are repealed only to the extent needed to eliminate the inconsistency.

PART 8. EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY. Part 3 of this ordinance takes effect upon the satisfaction of the terms and provisions of Sections A-503 and A-701(b) of the Authorizing Ordinance. The delivery of the Alternate LOCs is conclusive evidence that Sections A-503 and A-701(b) of the Authorizing Ordinance have been satisfied and the delivery date of the Alternate LOCs will be the effective date of Part 3 of this ordinance. Parts 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, and 7 of this ordinance take effect immediately on its passage pursuant to Section 1201.028, Texas Government Code.

PASSED AND APPROVED

<u>May 26</u> , 2011	§ Lu Loffmull Lee Leffingwell
APPROVED: MAN Kermard City Attorney	Mayor ATTEST: Mirley Lettry Shirley A. Gentry City Clerk

		-
EXHIBIT A-1		
	[JPMorgan Reimbursement Agreement]	

LETTER OF CREDIT AND REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT

Dated June 1, 2011

by and between

CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS,

and

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Relating to
City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT)
Subseries 2005-1 and Subseries 2005-2

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION	HEADING	PAGE
	ARTICLE 1	
	DEFINITIONS; INTERPRETATION	
	ARTICLE 2	
	AMOUNT AND TERMS OF LETTERS OF CREDIT	
Section 2.1	Letters of Credit	11
Section 2.2	Letter of Credit Drawings	12
Section 2.3	Reimbursement of Certain Drawings under the applicable Letters of	
	Credit; Mandatory Prepayment; Interest	12
Section 2.4	Reimbursement of Drawings Other than Liquidity Drawings Creating	
	Liquidity Advances	14
Section 2.5	Fees	14
Section 2.6	Method of Payment; Etc	14
Section 2.7	Voluntary Termination or Reduction of the Available Amount of the Letters of Credit	15
Section 2.8	Computation of Interest and Fees	
Section 2.9	Payment Due on Non Business Day to Be Made on Next Business Day	
Section 2.10	Late Payments	
Section 2.11	Source of Funds	
Section 2.12	Extension of Stated Expiration Date	
Section 2.13	Net of Taxes, Etc	
Section 2.14	Increased Costs	
Section 2.15	Obligations Absolute	
Section 2.16	Maximum Rate	
Section 2.17	Security	
	ARTICLE 3	
	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	
Section 3.1	Representations of City	21
	ARTICLE 4	
	CONDITIONS PRECEDENT	
Section 4.1	Conditions to Issuance and Delivery of the Letters of Credit	
Section 4.2	Conditions Precedent to a Liquidity Advance	27
	ARTICLE 5	
a	COVENANTS	
Section 5.1	Affirmative Covenants of the City	
Section 5.2	Negative Covenants of the City	34
de la companya de la	ARTICLE 6	
	RM AND TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT; EVENTS OF DEFAULT.	25
Section 6.1	Term of Agreement	33

Section 6.2	City Events of Default	35
Section 6.3	Remedies	38
Section 6.4	Mandatory Tender Events	39
	ARTICLE 7	
	MISCELLANEOUS.	
Section 7.1	Cancellation Agreement	40
Section 7.2	Reimbursement	40
Section 7.3	Liability of the Bank	40
Section 7.4	Participations	41
Section 7.5	Survival of this Agreement	41
Section 7.6	Modification of this Agreement	41
Section 7.7	Waiver of Rights by the Bank	42
Section 7.8	Severability	42
Section 7.9	Governing Law	42
Section 7.10	Notices; Effectiveness; Electronic Communications	42
Section 7.11	Successors and Assigns	44
Section 7.12	Taxes and Expenses	44
Section 7.13	Reserved	45
Section 7.14	Payment Obligations of the City hereunder and under the Bank Fee	
	Agreement	45
Section 7.15	Headings	45
Section 7.16	Counterparts	45
Section 7.17	Entire Agreement	45
Section 7.18	USA Patriot Act	45
Section 7.19	Insurance Policy Claims	
Section 7.20	Insurer's Rights	46
Section 7.21	Third Party Beneficiary	46

Appendix A — Forms of Letters of Credit

LETTER OF CREDIT AND REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT

This Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement dated June 1, 2011 (this "Agreement"), is by and between the City of Austin, Texas (the "City") and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (together with its successor and assigns, the "Bank").

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, the City has previously issued the Series 2005 Bonds (defined herein) pursuant to the terms of Ordinance No. 20050804-039, and all appendices and exhibits thereto (the "Original Ordinance");

WHEREAS, the Original Ordinance was amended on May 26, 2011 by Ordinance No. (the "*Amendment*" and together with the Original Ordinance, the "*Ordinance*");

WHEREAS, the Ordinance provides that the Series 2005 Bonds may bear interest at certain variable rates set forth in the Ordinance:

WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance and subject to the conditions described therein, the Series 2005 Bonds bearing interest at a Weekly Rate are subject to tender for purchase by the holders thereof at various times before the maturity thereof;

WHEREAS, the City has requested that the Bank issue separate irrevocable transferable direct-pay letters of credit for the payment by the Paying Agent, when and as due, of the principal and purchase price of and interest on the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds and the Subseries 2005-2 Bonds (each defined herein), and to provide a liquidity facility in respect of certain drawings under the applicable Letter of Credit (defined herein);

WHEREAS, the City has requested that, concurrently with the issuance of the Letters of Credit by the Bank, KBC Bank N.V., acting through its New York Branch ("KBC"), issue an irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit for the payment by the Paying Agent, when and as due, of the principal and purchase price of and interest on the Subseries 2005-3 Bonds (defined herein) and provide a liquidity facility in respect of certain drawings under the Subseries 2005-3 Letter of Credit (defined herein);

WHEREAS, the City has requested that, concurrently with the issuance of the Letters of Credit by the Bank, Royal Bank of Canada ("*Royal Bank*"), acting through its WFC, New York, Branch, issue an irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit for the payment by the Paying Agent, when and as due, of the principal and purchase price of and interest on the Subseries 2005-4 Bonds (defined herein) and provide a liquidity facility in respect of certain drawings under the Subseries 2005-4 Letter of Credit (defined herein); and

WHEREAS, the City has caused the Series 2005 Bonds (including Bank Bonds (defined herein)), to be insured as to the scheduled payments of principal and interest as such become due pursuant to a municipal bond insurance policy bearing Policy No. 205494-N (together with any and all riders and endorsements thereto, the "*Insurance Policy*") issued by the Insurer (defined herein);

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein and for other valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the City and the Bank hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS; INTERPRETATION

The following capitalized terms when used in this Agreement have the meanings indicated below unless the context shall clearly indicate otherwise. Other capitalized terms used in this Agreement and not defined herein shall have the respective meanings given to such terms in the Ordinance. All the agreements or instruments herein defined shall mean such agreements or instruments as the same may from time to time be supplemented or amended or the terms thereof waived or modified to the extent permitted by, and in accordance with, the terms thereof and of this Agreement. When used in this Agreement (1) the singular includes the plural and the plural includes the singular; (2) "or" is not exclusive; (3) a reference to a law includes any amendment or modification to such law; (4) a reference to a Person includes its permitted successors and permitted assigns; and (5) a reference to an agreement, instrument, or document shall include such agreement, instrument, or document as the same may be amended, modified, or supplemented from time to time in accordance with its terms and as permitted hereby.

"Affiliate" of a specified Person means any other Person which "controls," or is "controlled" by, or is under common "control" with, such specified Person. For purposes of this definition, a Person "controls" another Person when the first Person possesses or exercises directly, or indirectly through one or more other affiliates or related entities, the power to direct the management and policies of the other Person, whether through the ownership of voting rights, membership, the power to appoint members, trustees or directors, by contract, or otherwise.

"Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph hereof.

"Airport System" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.

"Amendment" has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereof.

"Amortization Commencement Date" means, with respect to each Bank Bond, the earlier to occur of (a) 90 days after the date of the related Liquidity Advance and (b) the Termination Date.

"Amortization End Date" means (a) if the Insurance Policy has been terminated prior to the related Amortization Commencement Date, the earliest to occur of (i) the fifth (5th) anniversary of the date the related Liquidity Advance was made, (ii) the Conversion Date, and (iii) the Substitution Date, or (b) if the Insurance Policy is in effect on the related Amortization Commencement Date, the earliest to occur of (i) the seventh (7th) anniversary of the date the related Liquidity Advance was made, (ii) the Conversion Date, and (iii) the Substitution Date; provided, however, that if the Insurance Policy is terminated after the related Amortization Commencement Date, "Amortization End Date" shall mean the earliest to occur of (i) the seventh (7th) anniversary of the date of the related Liquidity Advance, (ii) the fifth (5th)

anniversary of the effective date of the termination of the Insurance Policy, (iii) the Conversion Date, and (iv) the Substitution Date.

"Amortization Payment Date" means (a) the first Business Day of the sixth calendar month immediately succeeding date of the related Liquidity Advance, (b) the first Business Day of each sixth calendar month occurring thereafter prior to the Amortization End Date and (c) the Amortization End Date.

"Available Amount" has the meaning set forth in each respective Letter of Credit.

"Bank" has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph hereof.

"Bank Agreement" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(x) hereof.

"Bank Bond" means each Bond purchased for the account of the Bank with the proceeds of a Liquidity Drawing under a Letter of Credit.

"Banks" means collectively, the Bank, KBC and Royal Bank.

"Bank Bond Endorsement" means an endorsement to the Insurance Policy issued by the Insurer, so that the Insurance Policy as endorsed insures the payment when due of regularly scheduled principal of and interest on the Bonds, including any Subrogated Bonds and any Bank Bonds, up to the Bank Rate for the first sixty days following the date of a related Liquidity Advance and at the Insured Rate at all times thereafter, in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank.

"Bank Fee Agreement" means the Bank Fee Agreement dated June 1, 2011, between the City and the Bank.

"Bank Rate" means, with respect to any Liquidity Advance, the rate of interest per annum (i) for any day commencing on the date such Liquidity Advance is made, to and including the ninetieth (90th) day next succeeding the date such Liquidity Advance is made, equal to the Base Rate from time to time in effect, (ii) for any day commencing on the ninety-first (91st) day next succeeding the date such Liquidity Advance is made and thereafter, equal to the Base Rate from time to time in effect plus one percent (1.0%); provided, however, that immediately and automatically upon the occurrence of an Insurer Event of Default or a City Event of Default (and without any notice given with respect thereto) and during the continuance of such Insurer Event of Default or City Event of Default, "Bank Rate" shall mean the Default Rate; provided that the Bank Rate shall never exceed the Maximum Rate.

"Bankruptcy Law" means Title 11, U.S. Code, as amended or supplemented, any successor statute thereto, or any similar Federal, state, or foreign law for the relief of debtors.

"Base Rate" means, for any day, the highest of (i) the Prime Rate plus one and one-half percent (1.5%), (ii) the Federal Funds Rate plus two percent (2.0%), and (iii) eight percent (8.0%).

"Bonds" means, collectively, the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds and Subseries 2005-2 Bonds.

- "Business Day" has the meaning set forth in each Letter of Credit.
- "Cancellation Agreement" means the Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement dated as of June 1, 2011 entered into by and among the City, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent and Tender Agent, the Bank, KBC, Royal Bank and the Insurer.
 - "Cap Interest Rate" has the meaning set forth in each Letter of Credit.
 - "City" has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph hereof.
 - "City Event of Default" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2 hereof.
- "Closing Date" means June 21, 2011, subject to the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 4.1 hereof.
 - "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.
- "Commitment" means either the Subseries 2005-1 Commitment or the Subseries 2005-2 Commitment, as the context may require.
 - "Conditions Precedent" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2 hereof.
- "Conversion Date" means the date on which the interest rate on any series of Bonds has been converted to an interest rate other than a Weekly Rate.
- "Custodian" means Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, and its successors and assigns.
- "Custody Agreement" means the custody agreement for the Bank Bonds between the Bank and the Paying Agent dated as of June 1, 2011.
 - "Debt Service Reserve Fund" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.
 - "Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.
- "Default" means any circumstance, condition or event which, with the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both, could reasonably be expected to, unless cured or waived, become a City Event of Default.
- "Default Rate" means the Base Rate from time to time in effect plus three percent (3.0%); provided that the Default Rate shall never exceed the Maximum Rate.
- "Dodd-Frank Act" means the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, as enacted by the United States Congress, and signed into law on July 21, 2010, and all rules, guidelines or directives promulgated thereunder.
- "Drawing" means, with respect to each Letter of Credit, any drawing honored under such Letter of Credit.

"DTC" means The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, and its successors and assigns.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or any successor statute thereto and any rule or regulation issued thereunder.

"Excess Interest" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16 hereof.

"Existing Agreement" means the Standby Bond Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2008, by and among the City, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Tender Agent, and Dexia Credit Local, acting through its New York Branch.

"Federal Funds Rate" means, for any day, the rate per annum (rounded upward, if necessary, to the nearest 1/100th of 1%) equal to the weighted average of the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal funds brokers on such day, as published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on the Business Day next succeeding such day, provided that (i) if such day is not a Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be such rate on such transactions on the preceding Business Day as so published on the next succeeding Business Day and (ii) if no such rate is so published on such next succeeding Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be the average rate quoted to the Bank on such day on such transactions as determined by the Bank. Each determination of the Federal Funds Rate by the Bank shall be conclusive and binding on the City except in the case of manifest error.

"Financing Documents" means the Ordinance, the Bonds, the Insurance Policy, the Remarketing Agreement, this Agreement, the Letters of Credit, the Custody Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, any Swap Contract related to the Bonds and payable from Net Revenues and the ordinance of the City authorizing such Swap Contracts, the Tender Agent Agreement and the Surety Policy.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles for governmental entities in the United States set forth in the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements and pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board or such other principles as may be approved by a significant segment of the accounting profession in the United States, that are applicable to governmental entities and the circumstances as of the date of determination, consistently applied.

"Governmental Authority" means any nation or government, any state, department, agency or other political subdivision thereof, and any entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to any government, and any corporation or other entity owned or controlled (through ownership of common stock or capital) by any of the foregoing.

"Guarantee" by any Person means any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of such Person directly or indirectly guaranteeing any Payment Obligation of any other Person and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any obligation, direct or indirect, contingent or otherwise, of such Person (i) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Payment Obligation (whether arising by virtue of partnership arrangements, by

agreement to keep-well, to purchase assets, goods, securities or services, to take-or-pay, or to maintain financial statement conditions or otherwise), (ii) entered into for the purpose of assuring in any other manner the obligee of such Payment Obligation of the payment thereof or to protect such obligee against loss in respect thereof (in whole or in part) or (iii) with respect to any letter of credit issued for the account of such other Person or as to which such other Person is otherwise liable for reimbursement of drawings, *provided* that the term Guarantee shall not include (i) endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business or (ii) performance or completion guarantees. The terms "Guarantee" and "Guaranteed" used as a verb have a corresponding meaning.

"Ineligible Bonds" means Bank Bonds, Bonds owned by or on behalf of the City and Bonds bearing interest at an interest rate other than a Weekly Rate.

"Insurance Policy" has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereof.

"Insured Rate" means the Bank Rate; provided, however, that immediately and automatically upon the occurrence of an Insurer Event of Default (and without any notice given with respect thereto) and during the continuance of such Insurer Event of Default, "Insured Rate" shall mean the Default Rate; and provided further, that the Insured Rate shall never exceed the least of (i) the Prime Rate plus 3.00%, (ii) the Maximum Rate, and (iii) 25%.

"Insurer" means Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. (formerly known as Financial Security Assurance Inc.), a stock insurance company organized under the laws of the State of New York, or any successor thereto or assignee thereof.

"Insurer Downgrade Event" means the financial strength or claims-paying rating of the Insurer shall be (i) reduced below "Aa3" (or its equivalent) or suspended or withdrawn by Moody's and (ii) reduced below "AA-" (or its equivalent) or suspended or withdrawn by S&P.

"Insurer Event of Default" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events:

- (i) any principal or interest evidenced by the Bonds (including Bank Bonds) is not paid by the Insurer when, as, and in the amounts required to be paid pursuant to the terms of the Insurance Policy; or
- (ii) (a) any material provision of the Insurance Policy relating to the obligation of the Insurer to make payments of principal and interest thereunder at any time for any reason ceases to be valid and binding on the Insurer in accordance with the terms of the Insurance Policy or the New York Department of Insurance or a court or other Governmental Authority of appropriate jurisdiction finds or rules or enters an order, judgment or decree that the Insurance Policy is not valid and binding on the Insurer or (b) the Insurer (1) claims in writing that the Insurance Policy is not valid and binding on the Insurer, (2) repudiates the Insurer's obligations under the Insurance Policy or (3) initiates legal proceedings seeking an adjudication that the Insurance Policy or any material provision thereof regarding the payment of principal or interest on Bonds (including Bank Bonds) is not valid and binding on the Insurer; or

- a proceeding is instituted in a court having jurisdiction in the premises seeking an order for relief, rehabilitation, reorganization, conservation, liquidation or dissolution in respect to the Insurer or for any substantial part of its property under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, or for the appointment of a receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, trustee or sequestrator (or other similar official) and such proceeding has not been dismissed within ninety (90) days or such court enters an order granting the relief sought in such proceeding; or the New York Department of Insurance declares a moratorium on the payment of the Insurer's debts, or the Insurer commences a voluntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, consents to the entry of an order for relief in an involuntary case under any such law or consents to the appointment of or taking possession by a receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, custodian or sequestrator (or other similar official) of the Insurer or for any substantial part of its property, or makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or fails generally to pay its Payment Obligations (provided that for purposes of this definition, "Payment Obligation" shall not include any obligation of the Insurer under any insurance policy or surety bond) as they become due, or an order for rehabilitation, liquidation or dissolution of the Insurer is issued; or
- (iv) the Insurer fails to make any payment related to principal or interest when due under any insurance policy (other than the Insurance Policy) or surety bond issued by it insuring or supporting the payment of municipal obligations rated by any Rating Agency, and such failure continues for a period of thirty (30) days (it being understood by the Bank that default for purposes of this clause (iv) shall not mean a situation wherein the Insurer contests in good faith its liability under any such policy or policies in light of the claims made thereunder).

"Interest Component" means, with respect to any Liquidity Advance, the portion, if any, of such Liquidity Advance which corresponds to accrued interest on the Bonds purchased with the proceeds of such Liquidity Advance.

"Interest Payment Date", with respect to any Bond which is not a Bank Bond, has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance and, with respect to Bank Bonds and Liquidity Advances, means the first Business Day of each calendar month.

"Letter of Credit" means either the Subseries 2005-1 Letter of Credit or the Subseries 2005-2 Letter of Credit, as applicable.

"Letter of Credit Fee" has the meaning set forth in the Bank Fee Agreement.

"Letters of Credit" means, collectively, the Subseries 2005-1 Letter of Credit and the Subseries 2005-2 Letter of Credit.

"Liquidity Advance" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(a)(i) hereof.

"Liquidity Drawing" means a drawing under a Letter of Credit resulting from the presentation of a certificate in the form of Exhibit E to such Letter of Credit.

- "Maximum Rate" means the highest "net effective interest rate" as defined in and authorized under Chapter 1204, Texas Government Code, as amended.
 - "MFN Clause" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(dd) hereof.
 - "Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service, Inc. and any successor thereto.
 - "Net Revenues" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.
- "Obligations" means all obligations of the City to pay or reimburse the Bank arising under or in relation to this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement, including, without limitation, the Reimbursement Obligations, the Letter of Credit Fees and the obligations of the City set forth in Sections 2.13, 2.14, and 7.2 hereof and including, in each instance, accrued interest thereon.
 - "Ordinance" has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereof.
 - "Owner" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.
 - "Participant" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.4 hereof.
- "Paying Agent" means Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, or any other association or corporation which may at any time be substituted in its place as Paying Agent/Registrar with respect to the Bonds as provided in the Ordinance.
- "Payment Account" means the account set forth beneath the name of the Bank on the signature pages hereof as its Payment Account or such other account as may be specified by the Bank to the City, the Tender Agent and the Paying Agent in writing.
- "Payment Obligation" of any Person means at any date, without duplication, (i) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money and reimbursement obligations which are not contingent, (ii) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or other similar instruments, (iii) all obligations of such Person to pay the deferred purchase price of property or services which purchase price is due twelve (12) months or more from the date of incurrence of the obligation in respect thereof, (iv) all obligations of such Person as lessee under capital leases, (v) all Payment Obligations of others Guaranteed by such Person, and (vi) all payment obligations of such Person, in addition to any obligations set forth in clauses (i) through (v) above, arising under any Swap Contract; provided that it is understood that any Payment Obligation does not include contingent obligations of such Person to reimburse any other Person in respect of surety bonds or letters of credit to the extent that such surety bonds or letters of credit support any Payment Obligation of such Person.
- "Person" means any individual, partnership, firm, corporation, association, joint venture, trust or other entity, or any government (or political subdivision or agency, department or instrumentality thereof).
- "Prime Rate" means, for any day, the rate of interest per annum determined by the Bank from time to time as its prime commercial lending rate for U.S. Dollar loans made in the United States. Such prime commercial lending rate is a rate set by the Bank based upon various factors

including the Bank's costs and desired return, general economic conditions and other factors and is used as a reference point for pricing some loans, which may be priced at, above, or below such announced rate. Any change in such rate announced by the Bank shall take effect at the opening of business on the day specified in the public announcement of such change.

"Principal Component" means, with respect to any Liquidity Advance, the portion, if any, of such Liquidity Advance which corresponds to the principal amount of the Bonds purchased with the proceeds of such Liquidity Advance.

"Principal Office" means, with respect to the Bank, the office at which Drawings are to be presented to the Bank under a Letter of Credit or the office at which payment is to be made to the Bank, in each case, as set forth beneath the name of the Bank on the signature pages hereof as its Principal Office, or such other office as may be designated by such Bank as its Principal Office in a written notice to the City, the Paying Agent and the Tender Agent in accordance with Section 2.6 hereof.

"Prior Lien Bonds" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.

"Rating Agency" means Moody's, Fitch or S&P, and "Rating Agencies" means, collectively, Moody's, Fitch and S&P.

"Reimbursement Obligations" means, without duplication, any and all obligations of the City to reimburse the Bank for any Drawings under the Letters of Credit, including, without limitation, any outstanding Liquidity Drawing and outstanding Bank Bonds.

"Remarketing Agent" means Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated and its successors and assigns.

"Remarketing Agreement" means the remarketing agreement dated as of May 1, 2008, as amended on June 9, 2009 between the City and the Remarketing Agent with respect to the Bonds.

"Remarketing Memorandum" means the Secondary Market Information Circular dated June 14, 2011, relating to the Bonds, including any supplement or amendment thereto, and any other offering document from time to time hereafter distributed relating to the Bonds.

"Required Banks" means any two of the Bank, KBC and Royal Bank.

"S&P" means Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, a Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC business, and any successor thereto.

"Series 2005 Bonds" means the City of Austin, Texas, Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT), consisting of the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds, the Subseries 2005-2 Bonds, the Subseries 2005-3 Bonds and the Subseries 2005-4 Bonds.

"State" means the State of Texas.

"Stated Expiration Date" means June 21, 2014 as such Stated Expiration Date may be extended with respect to a Letter of Credit in accordance with the terms of such Letter of Credit.

"Subrogated Bond" means any Bond with respect to which the Bank shall be subrogated to the rights of the Paying Agent and the Owners under the Insurance Policy in an amount and to the extent that the Bank pays the principal of or interest on the Bond from one or more Drawings (other than a Liquidity Drawing) under the respective Letter of Credit.

"Subseries 2005-1 Bonds" means the \$62,075,000 Subseries 2005-1 Bonds.

"Subseries 2005-2 Bonds" means the \$62,050,000 Subseries 2005-2 Bonds

"Subseries 2005-3 Bonds" means the \$62,100,000 Subseries 2005-3 Bonds

"Subseries 2005-4 Bonds" means the \$62,125,000 Subseries 2005-4 Bonds

"Subseries 2005-1 Commitment" means \$63,156,636 (representing the sum of the Subseries 2005-1 Interest Commitment and the Subseries 2005-1 Principal Commitment).

"Subseries 2005-2 Commitment" means \$63,131,200 (representing the sum of the Subseries 2005-2 Interest Commitment and the Subseries 2005-2 Principal Commitment).

"Subseries 2005-1 Interest Commitment" means \$1,081,636 (representing 53 days of interest at the Cap Interest Rate calculated on the basis of a 365/366 day year.

"Subseries 2005-2 Interest Commitment" means \$1,081,200 (representing 53 days of interest at the Cap Interest Rate calculated on the basis of a 365/366 day year.)

"Subseries 2005-1 Letter of Credit" means the irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit issued by the Bank for the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds.

"Subseries 2005-2 Letter of Credit" means the irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit issued by the Bank for the Subseries 2005-2 Bonds.

"Subseries 2005-3 Letter of Credit" means the irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit issued by KBC for the Subseries 2005-3 Bonds.

"Subseries 2005-4 Letter of Credit" means the irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit issued by Royal Bank for the Subseries 2005-4 Bonds.

"Subseries 2005-1 Principal Commitment" means \$62,075,000.

"Subseries 2005-2 Principal Commitment" means \$62,050,000.

"Surety Policy" means the Municipal Bond Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy No. 205494-R, effective August 17, 2005, together with any and all riders and endorsement thereto, provided by the Insurer for the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement for the Series 2005 Bonds.

"Substitute Credit Facility" means any credit facility or liquidity facility supporting the Bonds issued in substitution for any Letter of Credit in accordance with the terms of Section A-501 of the Ordinance.

"Substitution Date" means the effective date of a Substitute Credit Facility in accordance with the terms of the Ordinance.

"Swap Contract" means (a) any and all rate swap transactions, basis swaps, credit derivative transactions, forward rate transactions, commodity swaps, commodity options, forward commodity contracts, equity or equity index swaps or options, bond or bond price or bond index swaps or options or forward bond or forward bond price or forward bond index transactions, interest rate options, forward foreign exchange transactions, cap transactions, floor transactions, collar transactions, currency swap transactions, cross currency rate swap transactions, currency options, spot contracts, or any other similar transactions or any combination of any of the foregoing (including any options to enter into any of the foregoing), whether or not any such transaction is governed by or subject to any master agreement, and (b) any and all transactions of any kind, and the related confirmations, which are subject to the terms and conditions of, or governed by, any form of master agreement published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., any International Foreign Exchange Master Agreement, or any other master agreement (any such master agreement, together with any related schedules, a "Master Agreement"), including any such obligations or liabilities under any Master Agreement.

"Tender Agent" means Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., in its capacity as tender agent under the Ordinance, and any permitted successors as Tender Agent under the Ordinance.

"Tender Agent Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Tender Agency Agreement between the Tender Agent and the City dated as of June 1, 2011, relating to the Bonds.

"Termination Date" means, with respect to a Letter of Credit, the Stated Expiration Date of such Letter of Credit or such earlier date on which such Letter of Credit expires or terminates in accordance with its terms.

ARTICLE 2 AMOUNT AND TERMS OF LETTERS OF CREDIT

Section 2.1 Letters of Credit. Upon the terms, subject to the conditions and relying upon the representations and warranties set forth in this Agreement or incorporated herein by reference, the Bank agrees to issue the Letters of Credit (substantially in the form of Appendix A hereto). The Subseries 2005-1 Letter of Credit shall be issued in the original stated amount of \$63,156,636, which is the sum of (i) the principal amount of the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds outstanding on the Closing Date, plus (ii) interest thereon at the Cap Interest Rate for a period of fifty-three (53) days. The Subseries 2005-2 Letter of Credit shall be issued in the original stated amount of \$63,131,200, which is the sum of (i) the principal amount of the Subseries 2005-2 Bonds outstanding on the Closing Date plus (ii) interest thereon at the Cap Interest Rate for a period of fifty-three (53) days.

Section 2.2 <u>Letter of Credit Drawings</u>. The Paying Agent is authorized to make Drawings under the Letters of Credit in accordance with the terms thereof. No Drawing shall be made under any Letter of Credit for the payment of principal or purchase price of, or interest on, Ineligible Bonds. The City hereby irrevocably approves reductions and reinstatements of the Available Amount of each respective Letter of Credit as provided in each Letter of Credit.

Section 2.3 <u>Reimbursement of Certain Drawings under the applicable Letters of Credit;</u> Mandatory Prepayment; Interest.

- (a) (i) Each Liquidity Drawing made under a Letter of Credit shall constitute an advance (a "Liquidity Advance") to the City; provided, however, that if at the time of payment by the Bank of any Liquidity Drawing the Insurance Policy is no longer in effect and the Conditions Precedent are not satisfied, then such Liquidity Drawing shall not constitute a Liquidity Advance and shall be due and payable pursuant to Section 2.3(a)(iv) hereof.
- (ii) The City shall reimburse the Bank for the Interest Component of a Liquidity Advance on the earliest to occur of (A) the next succeeding Interest Payment Date, (B) the date on which the applicable Letter of Credit is replaced by a Substitute Credit Facility pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance, (C) the date on which any Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the applicable Letter of Credit in connection with such Liquidity Drawing are redeemed, prepaid or canceled pursuant to the Ordinance, (D) the date on which any Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the applicable Letter of Credit in connection with such Liquidity Drawing are remarketed or deemed remarketed pursuant to the Ordinance, (E) the Conversion Date with respect to all of the Bonds supported by the applicable Letter of Credit, and (F) the termination of the applicable Letter of Credit pursuant to Section 2.7 hereof. The City's obligations to repay the Interest Component of each Liquidity Advance as hereinafter provided shall be evidenced and secured by Bank Bonds.
- The City promises to reimburse Bank for the Principal Component of each Liquidity Advance on the earliest to occur of (A) the date on which the applicable Letter of Credit is replaced by a Substitute Credit Facility pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance, (B) the date on which any Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the applicable Letter of Credit in connection with such Liquidity Advance are redeemed, prepaid or canceled pursuant to the Ordinance, (C) the date on which any Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the applicable Letter of Credit in connection with such Liquidity Advance are remarketed or deemed remarketed pursuant to the Ordinance, (D) the date which is one (1) Business Day following the Conversion Date with respect to all of the Bonds supported by the applicable Letter of Credit, and (E) if on the Amortization Commencement Date the Insurance Policy is no longer in effect and the Conditions Precedent are not satisfied, the Amortization Commencement Date. The City's obligations to repay the Principal Component of each Liquidity Advance and to pay interest thereon as hereinafter provided shall be evidenced and secured by the Bank Bonds. Unless otherwise paid in full on one of the dates

provided above, the Principal Component of each Liquidity Advance shall be payable by the City in semiannual installments ("Semiannual Principal Payments") on each Amortization Payment Date, with the final installment in an amount equal to the entire then outstanding principal amount of such Liquidity Advance due and payable on the Amortization End Date (the period commencing on the Amortization Commencement Date and ending on the Amortization End Date is herein referred to as the "Amortization Period"). Each Semiannual Principal Payment shall be that amount of principal which will result in equal (as nearly as possible) Semiannual Principal Payments over the applicable Amortization Period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if an Amortization End Date is changed in accordance with the proviso to clause (b) of the definition of "Amortization End Date" in Article 1 hereof (as a result of the Insurance Policy being terminated after the related Amortization Commencement Date), the Amortization Period shall be adjusted to reflect the new Amortization End Date and each Semiannual Principal Payment due over the remaining term of the adjusted Amortization Period shall be that amount of principal which will result in equal (as nearly as possible) Semiannual Principal Payments over the remaining term of the adjusted Amortization Period.

- (iv) If at the time of payment by the Bank of any Liquidity Drawing the Insurance Policy is no longer in effect and the Conditions Precedent are not satisfied, all amounts of such Liquidity Drawing for which the Bank has not been reimbursed at the close of business on the day of the Bank's payment of such Liquidity Drawing shall be immediately due and payable and shall accrue interest at the Default Rate.
- (v) The City promises to pay to the Bank interest on each Liquidity Advance from the date such Liquidity Advance is made until it is paid in full as provided herein, at a rate per annum equal to the Bank Rate from time to time in effect, which interest shall be payable monthly in arrears on the first Business Day of each calendar month for the immediately preceding calendar month (commencing on the first such date to occur after making such Liquidity Advance), and on the date that the final installment of such Liquidity Advance is payable as herein provided. Notwithstanding anything set forth herein to the contrary, the Bank hereby acknowledges and agrees that the Insurance Policy will not insure interest on Bank Bonds in excess of the Insured Rate or principal of Bank Bonds payable over an amortization period of less than seven (7) years.
- (b) Any Liquidity Advance may be prepaid in whole or in part (without premium or penalty): (i) on the day such Liquidity Advance is made; or (ii) on any other Business Day upon one Business Day's prior written notice if not paid in connection with remarketing of the Bonds.
- (c) Upon receipt by the Bank of any payment or prepayment of any Liquidity Advance, the amount of such Liquidity Advance shall be reduced by the amount of such payment or prepayment. Any payment or prepayment of Liquidity Advances hereunder

shall be applied to the payment or prepayment of Liquidity Advances in chronological order of their issuance hereunder.

- Upon the Bank honoring a Liquidity Drawing under a Letter of Credit, the Bank shall be deemed to have purchased the Bank Bonds in respect of which such Liquidity Drawing is made, and the City shall cause the Custodian to hold such Bank Bonds for the benefit of the Bank and register such Bank Bonds in the name of the Bank, or its nominee, or otherwise deliver such Bank Bonds as directed by the Bank, pursuant to the terms of the Custody Agreement. During such time as the Bank is the owner of any Bank Bonds, the Bank shall have all the rights granted to an Owner under the Ordinance and such additional rights as may be granted to the Bank hereunder. To the extent that the Bank actually receives payment in respect of principal of or interest on any Bank Bonds owned by the Bank, the Liquidity Drawing (or Liquidity Advance if such Liquidity Drawing has been converted to a Liquidity Advance) made in connection with the purchase of such Bank Bonds shall be deemed to have been reduced to such extent, with the Bank crediting any payment received by it, first to the payment of any outstanding accrued interest and second to the payment of principal.. Following the occurrence of (i) an Insurer Event of Default if the Insurance Policy is still in effect or (ii) a City Event of Default if the Insurance Policy is no longer in effect, any payments received by the Bank hereunder shall be applied by the Bank to the payment of the Obligations owed to the Bank in such order as the Bank shall in its sole discretion determine; provided, however, that amounts received pursuant to the Insurance Policy shall be applied solely to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Subrogated Bonds and the Bank Bonds in accordance with the terms of the Insurance Policy.
- (e) For the avoidance of doubt, (i) the City shall pay to the Bank when due the amount of interest due to the Bank, calculated at the applicable Bank Rate, and (ii) payment by the Insurer pursuant to the Insurance Policy of any interest due to the Bank under this Agreement shall not relieve the City of its obligation to ensure that the Bank is paid in full on the date any such interest is due and payable to the Bank hereunder. Any overdue interest amounts shall accrue interest at the Default Rate.
- Section 2.4 Reimbursement of Drawings Other than Liquidity Drawings Creating Liquidity Advances. The City agrees to reimburse the Bank for the full amount of all Drawings (other than Liquidity Drawings) made under the Letters of Credit immediately upon payment by the Bank of each such Drawing. If the City fails to make such reimbursement on such date and the Insurer fails to make any payment it is required to make in respect thereof within five (5) Business Days after the date on which such reimbursement by the Insurer is due as more fully described in Section 7.19 hereof, such Reimbursement Obligation shall automatically and without further action bear interest at the Default Rate.
- **Section 2.5** <u>Fees.</u> The City agrees to pay to the Bank the fees set forth in the Bank Fee Agreement.
- **Section 2.6** <u>Method of Payment; Etc.</u> All payments to be made to the Bank under this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement shall be made to the Bank by wire transfer by the City in lawful currency of the United States and in immediately available funds to the Payment Account,

or at such other place as the Bank may designate in writing, without any withholding, deduction or set-off, not later than 3:00 p.m. New York time on the date when due. All payments received by the Bank after 3:00 p.m. New York time shall be deemed to have been received on the next succeeding Business Day, and any applicable interest or fee shall continue to accrue.

Voluntary Termination or Reduction of the Available Amount of the Letters of Credit. Notwithstanding any provisions of this Agreement, the Letters of Credit or any other Financing Document (other than the Bank Fee Agreement) to the contrary, the City agrees not to terminate any Letter of Credit or permanently reduce the Available Amount of any Letter of Credit unless such termination or permanent reduction is made in accordance with the terms of the Bank Fee Agreement. The City agrees that it will provide thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Bank in connection with the termination of any Letter of Credit and pay to the Bank, in connection with the termination of such Letter of Credit, pursuant to the terms hereof, all fees, expenses and other Obligations payable hereunder and under the Bank Fee Agreement, including, without limitation, the Make-Whole Fee (as defined in the Bank Fee Agreement) (if required pursuant to the terms of the Bank Fee Agreement) and all principal and accrued interest owing the Bank with respect to any related outstanding Liquidity Advance or Bank Bonds. The City agrees that it will provide thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Bank in connection with each permanent reduction of the Available Amount of any Letter of Credit and pay to the Bank in connection with each permanent reduction of the Available Amount of any Letter of Credit the Make-Whole Fee (if required) pursuant to the terms of the Bank Fee Agreement.

Section 2.8 <u>Computation of Interest and Fees</u>. All computations of interest payable by the City hereunder shall be made on the basis of a 365- or 366-, as applicable, day year and calculated based upon the actual number of days elapsed. Interest shall accrue during each period during which interest is computed from and including the first day thereof to but excluding the last day thereof. All computations of fees payable by the City hereunder and under the Bank Fee Agreement shall be made on the basis of a 360-day year and calculated based upon the actual number of days elapsed.

Section 2.9 <u>Payment Due on Non Business Day to Be Made on Next Business Day</u>. If any sum becomes payable pursuant to this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement on a day which is not a Business Day, the date for payment thereof shall be extended, without penalty, to the next succeeding Business Day, and such extended time shall be included in the computation of interest and fees.

Section 2.10 <u>Late Payments</u>. If any Obligation is not paid when due in accordance with the terms hereof, such Obligation shall bear interest until paid in full at the Default Rate, payable on demand.

Section 2.11 Source of Funds. All payments made by the Bank pursuant to the Letters of Credit shall be made from funds of the Bank and not from the funds of any other Person.

Section 2.12 Extension of Stated Expiration Date. (a) The City may, by written notice to the Bank not earlier than 120 days prior to nor later than 60 days prior to the then current Stated Expiration Date of the Letters of Credit in effect (the "Existing Expiration Date"), request that the Bank consent to the extension of the Existing Expiration Date to a date agreed to by the Bank

and the City. The date of receipt of any such notice from the City is hereinafter referred to as the "Notice Date."

- (b) The Bank, acting in its sole and absolute discretion (and after such due diligence (if any) as the Bank shall undertake), shall, by notice to the City no later than the date 45 days after the Notice Date (or, if such date is not a Business Day, the next preceding Business Day), advise the City whether or not the Bank agrees to such extension, and if the Bank that does not so advise the City by such date, it shall be deemed to have declined to extend the Existing Expiration Date.
- (c) As a condition precedent to the effectiveness of such consent to the extension of the Existing Expiration Date, the City shall deliver to the Bank a certificate of the City dated the Existing Expiration Date signed by an authorized officer of the City (A) certifying and attaching the resolution or ordinance adopted by the City approving or consenting to such extension and (B) certifying that, before and after giving effect to such extension, (1) the representations and warranties contained in Article 3 hereof and the other Financing Documents are true and correct in all material respects, in each case on and as of the Existing Expiration Date, except, in each case, to the extent that such representations and warranties specifically refer to an earlier date, in which case they are true and correct as of such earlier date, and (2) no Default or City Event of Default exists.
- (d) Any such extension of the Existing Expiration Date shall be subject to such additional terms, including payment of extension fees to the Bank, as shall be agreed between the Bank and the City.
- (e) Upon the effectiveness of any such consent to the extension of any Existing Expiration Date, the Bank shall deliver to the City, the Paying Agent and the Tender Agent a notice of extension (a "Notice of Extension") designating the date to which the Existing Expiration Date is being extended. Such extension of the Existing Expiration Date shall be effective, after receipt of such notice, on the Business Day following the date of delivery of such Notice of Extension, and thereafter all references in this Agreement to the Existing Expiration Date shall be deemed to be references to the date designated as such in the most recent Notice of Extension delivered to the Paying Agent and the Tender Agent.

Section 2.13 Net of Taxes, Etc.

(a) Taxes. Any and all payments to the Bank by the City hereunder and under the Bank Fee Agreement shall be made free and clear of and without deduction for any and all taxes, levies, imposts, deductions, charges, withholdings or liabilities imposed thereon, excluding, however, taxes or franchise taxes or other charges imposed in lieu of such taxes imposed on or measured by the net income or capital of the Bank by any jurisdiction or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein solely as a result of a connection between the Bank and such jurisdiction or political subdivision (all such non excluded taxes, levies, imposts, deductions, charges, withholdings and liabilities being hereinafter referred to as "Taxes"). If the City shall be required by law to withhold or deduct any Taxes imposed by the United States or any political subdivision thereof

from or in respect of any sum payable hereunder or under the Bank Fee Agreement to the Bank, (i) the sum payable shall be increased as may be necessary so that after making all required deductions (including deductions applicable to additional sums payable under this Section 2.13), the Bank receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deductions been made, (ii) the City shall make such deductions and (iii) the City shall pay the full amount deducted to the relevant taxation authority or other authority in accordance with applicable law. If the City shall make any payment under this Section 2.13 to or for the benefit of the Bank with respect to Taxes and if the Bank shall claim a refund of such taxes or any credit or deduction for such Taxes against any other taxes payable by the Bank to any taxing jurisdiction in the United States, then the Bank shall pay to the City an amount equal to the amount of any refund actually received by the Bank or the amount by which such other taxes are actually reduced; provided that the aggregate amount payable by the Bank pursuant to this sentence shall not exceed the aggregate amount previously paid by the City with respect to such Taxes. Nothing herein shall interfere with the Bank's right to arrange its tax affairs in whatever manner it sees fit nor obligate it to claim any tax credit or to disclose any information relating to its tax affairs or any computations in respect thereof. In addition, the City agrees to pay any present or future stamp, recording or documentary taxes and any other excise or property taxes, charges or similar levies that arise under the law of the United States of America, the State of Texas, the State of New York or any other taxing jurisdiction from any payment made hereunder or under the Bank Fee Agreement to the Bank or from the execution or delivery or otherwise by the Bank with respect to this Agreement or under the Bank Fee Agreement (hereinafter referred to as "Other Taxes"). The Bank shall provide to the City within a reasonable time a copy of any written notification it receives with respect to Taxes or Other Taxes owing by the City to the Bank hereunder; provided that the Bank's failure to send such notice shall not relieve the City of its obligation to pay such amounts hereunder.

(b) Reimbursement. The City shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law and subject to the provisions hereof, reimburse the Bank for the full amount of Taxes and Other Taxes, including any Taxes or Other Taxes imposed by any jurisdiction on amounts payable under this Section 2.13, paid by the Bank or any liability (including penalties, interest and expenses) arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Taxes or Other Taxes were correctly or legally asserted; provided that the City shall not be obligated to reimburse the Bank for any penalties, interest or expenses relating to Taxes or Other Taxes arising from the Bank's negligence or willful misconduct. The Bank agrees to give notice to the City of the assertion of any claim against the Bank relating to such Taxes or Other Taxes as promptly as is practicable after being notified of such assertion; provided that the Bank's failure to notify the City promptly of such assertion shall not relieve the City of its obligation under this Section 2.13. Payments by the City pursuant to this Section 2.13 shall be made within thirty (30) days after the date the Bank makes written demand therefor, which demand shall be accompanied by a certificate describing in reasonable detail the basis thereof. The Bank agrees to repay to the City any refund (including that portion of any interest that was included as part of such refund) with respect to Taxes or Other Taxes paid by the City pursuant to this Section 2.13 received by the Bank for Taxes or Other Taxes that were paid by the City

pursuant to this Section 2.13. The term "refund," solely as used in this Section 2.13(b) shall include any credit or deduction against other taxes payable by the Bank.

- (c) *Notice*. Within thirty (30) days after the date of any payment of Taxes by the City, the City shall furnish to the Bank, the original or a certified copy of a receipt evidencing payment thereof.
- (d) *Survival of Obligations*. The obligations of the City under this Section 2.13 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

Section 2.14 Increased Costs

- (a) If on or after the date hereof, the adoption of any law, rule or regulation, or any change therein, or in the interpretation or administration thereof by any court, governmental authority, central bank or comparable agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof (each a "Change in Law"), or compliance by the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries with any request or directive made on or after the date hereof (whether or not having the force of law) of any such authority, central bank or comparable agency:
 - (i) shall subject the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries to any tax, duty or other charge with respect to this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, or the Letters of Credit or any Bank Bonds purchased by the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary hereunder, or shall change the basis of taxation of payments to the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries of any amounts due under this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, or its Letters of Credit or any Liquidity Advances made by the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries hereunder (except for changes in the rate of (A) tax on the overall net income of the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary or (B) franchise taxes or other charges imposed in lieu of such taxes); or
 - (ii) shall impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve (including, without limitation, any such requirement imposed by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System), special deposit, or similar requirement against the assets of, deposits with or for the account of, or credit extended by, the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries or shall impose on the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries any other condition affecting its obligations under this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, or the Letters of Credit;

and the result of any event referred to in subparagraphs (i) and (ii) above is to increase the cost to the Bank or an affiliate or subsidiary of the Bank of performing its obligations under this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, or the Letters of Credit, or to reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary under this Agreement or the Letters of Credit or any Bank Bonds purchased by the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary hereunder, by an amount deemed by the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary to be material, then, within sixty (60) days after demand by the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary (or, if such increased costs will continue to be

incurred by the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary, in arrears on a monthly basis as agreed between the City and the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary), the City shall pay to the Bank or an affiliate or subsidiary of the Bank, such additional amount or amounts as will compensate the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary for such increased cost or reduction.

- (b) If the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries shall have determined that, after the date hereof, any Change in Law, or any request or directive regarding capital adequacy or liquidity (whether or not having the force of law) of any such authority, central bank or comparable agency, has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on capital of the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries relating to the Bank's or its affiliate's or subsidiary's, as applicable, obligations hereunder, under the Bank Fee Agreement, or under the Letters of Credit, and such adoption, change, request or directive (taking into consideration its policies with respect to capital adequacy or liquidity) will reduce the Bank's or its affiliate's or subsidiary's, as applicable, rate of return on capital by a material amount, then from time to time, within sixty (60) days after written demand by the Bank or its affiliate or subsidiary, the City shall pay to the Bank or its affiliate or subsidiary, as applicable, for such additional costs.
- (c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, for purposes of this Agreement (a) all requests, rules, guidelines or directives in connection with the Dodd-Frank Act shall be deemed to be a Change in Law, regardless of the date enacted, adopted or issued, and (b) all requests, rules, guidelines or directives promulgated by the Bank for International Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Regulations and Supervisory Practices (or any successor or similar authority) or any Governmental Authority shall be deemed a Change in Law regardless of the date enacted, adopted or issued.
- (d) A certificate of the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries claiming compensation under this Section and setting forth the additional amount or amounts to be paid to it hereunder and attaching such information in reasonable detail shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error.
- (e) No affiliate or subsidiary or other transferee of the Bank's rights shall be entitled to receive any greater payment under this Section 2.14 than the Bank would have been entitled to receive with respect to the rights transferred.
- (f) The obligations of the City under this Section 2.14 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.
- **Section 2.15** Obligations Absolute. The obligations of the City to reimburse the Bank for amounts paid by the Bank under the Letters of Credit, together with interest thereon as provided herein and all other amounts due and owing the Bank, shall be absolute, unconditional and irrevocable and shall be performed strictly in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement, under all circumstances whatsoever, including without limitation the following circumstances:

- (i) any lack of validity or enforceability of any Letter of Credit or any of the Financing Documents;
- (ii) any amendment to, waiver of or consent to departure from any provision of, any Letter of Credit or any Financing Document;
- (iii) the existence of any claim, set off, defense or other right which the City may have at any time against the Paying Agent, any beneficiary of any Letter of Credit (or any Persons for whom the Paying Agent, any such beneficiary or any such transferee may be acting), the Bank, a Participant or any other Person, whether in connection with the Letters of Credit, the Financing Documents or any unrelated transaction;
- (iv) any statement or any other document presented under any Letter of Credit proving to be forged, fraudulent, invalid or insufficient in any respect or any statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect;
- (v) payment by any Bank to the Paying Agent under any Letter of Credit against presentation of a draft or certificate which does not strictly comply with the terms of such Letter of Credit; or
- (vi) any other circumstance or happening whatsoever, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing.

Section 2.16 Maximum Rate. If the rate of interest payable hereunder shall exceed the Maximum Rate for any period for which interest is payable, then (a) interest at the Maximum Rate shall be due and payable with respect to such interest period and (b) interest at the rate equal to the difference between (i) the rate of interest calculated in accordance with the terms hereof and (ii) the Maximum Rate (the "Excess Interest") shall be deferred until such date as the rate of interest calculated in accordance with the terms hereof ceases to exceed the Maximum Rate, at which time the City shall pay to the Bank, with respect to amounts then payable to the Bank that are required to accrue interest hereunder, such portion of the deferred Excess Interest as will cause the rate of interest then paid to the Bank to equal the Maximum Rate, which payments of deferred Excess Interest shall continue to apply to such unpaid amounts hereunder until all deferred Excess Interest is fully paid to the Bank. Upon the earlier of (A) the date the related Liquidity Advance is repaid in full and (B) the date all related Reimbursement Obligations are payable hereunder following the termination of the applicable Letter of Credit, in consideration for the limitation of the rate of interest otherwise payable hereunder, the City, to the extent permitted by law, shall pay to the Bank a fee equal to the amount of all unpaid deferred Excess Interest; provided that in no event shall any such payment result in interest paid hereunder exceeding the Maximum Rate.

Section 2.17 <u>Security</u>. Notwithstanding any provision set forth herein to the contrary, the Bank acknowledges and agrees that the obligations of the City hereunder for the payment of Obligations owed to the Bank hereunder, under the Bank Fee Agreement and with respect to the Bank Bonds are secured by and payable solely from Net Revenues as provided in the Ordinance and are subject to all limitations on such sources and priorities with respect to payment therefrom

as are set forth in the Ordinance. Funds raised or to be raised by taxation shall not be available for the payment of Obligations owed to the Bank hereunder.

ARTICLE 3 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

- **Section 3.1** Representations of City. In order to induce the Bank to enter into this Agreement and the Bank to issue its Letters of Credit, the City hereby represents and warrants to the Bank as follows:
 - (a) Organization and Authorization. The City is a "Home Rule City", acting as such under the Constitution and laws of the State, and has full legal right, power and authority to (i) charge and collect revenues related to the Airport System and (ii) pledge the Net Revenues to secure the Bonds (including Bank Bonds).
 - (b) Authority to Adopt or Execute Documents. The City had, as of the date of adoption thereof, full power and authority to adopt its ordinance or ordinances authorizing the execution and delivery of the Financing Documents to which the City is a party and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, has, or had as of the date of execution and delivery, full power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, and the Financing Documents to which the City is a party, and has full power and authority to perform its obligations under each of the foregoing.
 - (c) Obligations Legal, Valid and Binding. (i) The Financing Documents to which the City is a party have been duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered and constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of the City enforceable against the City in accordance with their respective terms, except insofar as enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally and by equitable principles, whether considered at law or in equity, by the exercise by the State and its governmental bodies of the police power inherent in the sovereignty of the State or by the exercise by the United States of America of the power delegated to it by the Constitution of the United States of America.
 - (ii) No Default or City Event of Default has occurred and is continuing under this Agreement, and no event of default or condition, event or act which with notice or lapse of time or both would become or constitute a default or event of default under, or as such term is defined in, any other Financing Document to which it is a party or under any other material mortgage, indenture, contract, agreement or undertaking to which the City is a party or which purports to be binding on the City or on any of its assets which default would materially adversely affect the ability of City to perform its obligations hereunder or under any of the other Financing Documents to which it is a party.
 - (d) No Legal Bar. (i) The City is not in violation of any law of the State in any manner which would adversely affect the City' existence or its powers and authority referred to in Section 3.1(b) hereof.

- The execution, delivery and performance by the City of this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, and the other Financing Documents to which it is a party, and all other agreements and instruments relating to this Agreement or the other Financing Documents executed and delivered by the City in connection herewith and therewith (i) do not violate any provision of the Constitution of the State or the laws of the State or any other applicable law, regulation, order, writ, judgment or decree of any court, arbitrator (to the extent that any ruling, finding or decision of any arbitrator is enforceable by a court of law) or governmental authority, and (ii) do not violate any provision of, constitute a default under, or result in the creation or imposition of any lien on any of the assets of the City pursuant to the provisions of, any mortgage, ordinance, resolution, indenture, contract, agreement or other undertaking to which the City is a party or which purports to be binding on the City or on any of its assets other than the liens created hereby or by the other Financing Documents, which violation would materially adversely affect the ability of the City to perform its obligations hereunder or under any of the other Financing Documents to which it is a party.
- (iii) The City is not a party to, or otherwise subject to, any provision contained in any instrument evidencing any Payment Obligation of the City or any other contract or agreement which limits the amount of, or otherwise imposes restrictions on the incurring of, obligations of the City that would materially adversely affect the ability of City to perform its obligations hereunder or under any of the other Financing Documents to which it is a party.
- (e) Consents. The City has obtained, or will obtain on or before the Closing Date, all consents, permits, licenses and approvals of, and has made, or will have made on or before the Closing Date, all filings, registrations and declarations with, governmental authorities required under law, to authorize the remarketing of the Bonds, the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, and the other Financing Documents to which it is a party and all other agreements delivered or to be delivered in connection with any thereof, and all such consents, permits, licenses, approvals, filings, registrations and declarations remain in full force and effect.
- (f) Litigation. There is no action, suit, investigation or proceeding, inquiry or investigation before or by any court, public board or body pending or, to the knowledge of the City, threatened against or affecting the City in which an adverse determination could have a material adverse effect on the Airport System or the business, operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Airport System or its ability to perform its obligations hereunder or under the other Financing Documents to which it is a party.
- (g) *Disclosure*. The representations and statements made by the City herein or in any other Financing Document, or in any other document furnished to the Bank by the City in connection herewith or therewith are accurate as of the date of this Agreement. All financial statements of the City furnished to the Bank were prepared in accordance with GAAP. Since the date of the audited financial statements of the City

included in the Remarketing Memorandum, no material adverse change has occurred in the business, operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of the City. The Remarketing Memorandum does not, as of its date, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; provided that no representation is made as to information with respect to the Insurer, the Bank, KBC or Royal Bank.

- (h) *Insurance*. The City currently maintains insurance for the Airport System of such types and in such amounts or in excess of such amounts as are customarily carried by, and insures against such risks as are customarily insured against by, Texas home-rule cities operating properties of like type, size and character to the Airport System or provides self-insurance for the same.
- (i) No Proposed Legal Changes. To the knowledge of the City, as of the date of execution of this Agreement, there is no amendment or proposed amendment to the Constitution of the State or any published administrative interpretation of the Constitution of the State or any State law (including, without limitation, any opinion of the attorney general of the State interpreting the Constitution of the State or any State law), or any legislation that has passed either house of the State legislature, or any published judicial decision by a court of competent jurisdiction interpreting any of the foregoing, the effect of which is (i) to materially adversely affect the Bonds or any holder thereof in its capacity as such or (ii) to materially adversely affect the ability of the City to perform its obligations under this Agreement or any other Financing Document to which it is a party.
- (j) No Immunity. To the extent authorized by Texas Government Code Section 1371.059(c), the City has, in this Agreement, waived sovereign immunity from suit and liability for the purposes of adjudicating a claim to enforce this Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement or for damages for breach of this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement. The City further represents that to the extent its obligations hereunder, under the Bank Fee Agreement and under the other Financing Documents to which it is a party represent the legal obligations of the City, it believes its non-discretionary duties are subject to enforcement in Texas courts by writ of mandamus, and that it is not immune to an equitable mandamus action.
- (k) Other MFN Clause. The City does not currently have outstanding any Bank Agreement in which it has given to any Person or Persons that have made a loan or extended credit or liquidity to the City for the benefit of the Airport System an MFN Clause that provides such Person or Persons the benefit of any events of default contained in a separate Bank Agreement (entered into by the City on a future date with a different Person or Persons) that are in addition to or different from the events of default provided for in the Bank Agreement containing the subject MFN Clause.
- (1) Regulations U and X. The City is not engaged in the business of extending purpose credit, secured directly or indirectly, by margin stock (within the meaning of Regulation U or X issued by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve

System); and the City will not use, or cause any other Person to use, the proceeds of the Bonds to extend purpose credit, secured directly or indirectly by margin stock, to any other Person.

- (m) Environmental Matters. The City has not received any notice to the effect that the City is not in compliance with any requirement of law or is the subject of any governmental investigation evaluating whether any remedial action is needed to respond to a release of any toxic or hazardous waste or substance into the environment, which non compliance or remedial action could have a material adverse effect on the assets, financial condition, properties, business or operations of the Airport System or the ability of the City to perform its obligations hereunder and under the other Financing Documents to which the City is a party.
 - (n) *ERISA*. The City is not subject to ERISA.
- (o) Compliance with Laws. Except as disclosed in the Remarketing Memorandum or otherwise disclosed in writing to the Bank prior to the date hereof, the City is in compliance in all material respects with the requirements of all laws and all orders, writs, injunctions and decrees applicable to it or to its properties, except in such instances in which (a) such requirement of law or order, writ, injunction or decree is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted or (b) the failure to comply therewith, either individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the assets, financial condition, properties, business or operations of the Airport System or the ability of the City to perform its obligations hereunder and under the other Financing Documents to which the City is a party.
- (p) Taxes. The City has filed all Federal, state and other material tax returns and reports required to be filed and has paid all Federal, state and other material taxes, assessments, fees and other governmental charges levied or imposed upon it or its properties, income or assets otherwise due and payable, except those which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted and for which adequate reserves have been provided in accordance with GAAP. There is no proposed tax assessment against the City that would, if made, have a material adverse effect on the assets, financial condition, properties, business or operations of the City or the ability of the City to perform its obligations hereunder and under the other Financing Documents to which the City is a party.
- (q) *Interest*. None of the Financing Documents (including the Bonds and Bank Bonds) provide for any payments that would violate any applicable law regarding permissible maximum rates of interest under the laws of the State; *provided*, *however*, that the City makes no representation with respect to the last sentence of Section 2.16 hereof.
- (r) *Prior Lien Bonds*. Other than the Prior Lien Bonds the City has no obligations secured by a lien on the Net Revenues that is superior to the lien on the Net Revenues securing the Series 2005 Bonds. The City has covenanted in the Ordinance not

to issue Additional Prior Lien Bonds (as defined in the ordinances authorizing the Prior Lien Bonds).

- (s) *Bank Bonds*. The Bank Bonds purchased pursuant to this Agreement will be transferred to or held for the benefit of the Bank, free and clear of all liens, security interests or claims of any Person other than the Bank, except for such consensual liens or other security interests as may be created by the Bank.
- (t) The Paying Agent and Remarketing Agent. The Paying Agent is the duly appointed and acting paying agent/registrar under the Ordinance. The Remarketing Agent is the duly appointed and acting remarketing agent for the Bonds.
- (u) Swap Termination Payments. There is no lien on the Net Revenues securing any swap termination payments payable pursuant to any Swap Contract entered into by the City that is superior in priority to or on a parity with the lien securing the Bonds, the Bank Bonds and any other Obligations owed to the Bank hereunder or under the Bank Fee Agreement.
- (v) Incorporation of Representations and Warranties. The City hereby makes to the Bank the same representations and warranties as were made by it in each Financing Document (other than this Agreement) to which it is a party, which representations and warranties, together with the related definitions of terms contained therein, are hereby incorporated by reference in this Section 3.1(v) with the same effect as if each and every such representation and warranty and definition were set forth in this Section 3.1(v) in its entirety. No amendment to or waiver of such representations and warranties or definitions made pursuant to such Financing Documents shall be effective to amend such representations and warranties and definitions as incorporated by reference in this Section 3.1(v) without the prior written consent of the Bank in accordance with Section 5.2(a).
- (w) Security. Pursuant to the Ordinance the City has pledged the Net Revenues to the payment and security of the Bonds (including the Bank Bonds). The Ordinance validly grants the pledge which it purports to create to secure the Bonds (including the Bank Bonds) and the City's obligations hereunder as and to the extent provided herein and in the Ordinance and is a perfected lien in the manner provided by Chapter 1208, Texas Government Code.

ARTICLE 4 CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

Section 4.1 Conditions to Issuance and Delivery of the Letters of Credit. The obligation of the Bank to issue the Letters of Credit has been undertaken in reliance upon the due performance by the City of its obligations and agreements to be performed hereunder and under the other Financing Documents to which it is a party and the accuracy of and compliance with the representations, warranties, covenants, agreements and duties of the City contained herein on and as of the Closing Date. The obligation of the Bank to issue the Letters of Credit is also subject to the fulfillment of the following conditions precedent by the City on or before the Closing Date, in a manner satisfactory to the Bank and its counsel:

- (a) The Bank shall have received (i) an executed original of each of this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, the Custody Agreement and copies of the other Financing Documents, (ii) a specimen copy of each of the Bonds, and (iii) a certified copy of the Ordinance;
- (b) The Bank shall have received a signed legal opinion of counsel to the City as to such matters as the Bank may reasonably request, such opinion shall be addressed to the Bank, dated the Closing Date and in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank and its counsel;
- (c) The Bank shall have received a signed opinion of Vinson & Elkins, L.L.P., bond counsel, dated the Closing Date, addressed to the Bank and in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank and its counsel;
- (d) The Bank shall have received evidence satisfactory to the Bank that the Bonds have been assigned an underlying long term rating of "A-" and that such rating is in full force and effect on the Closing Date;
- (e) The Bank shall have received a certificate of the City signed by a duly authorized officer, dated the Closing Date, certifying the names and true signatures of the officers of the City authorized to execute, on behalf of the City, this Agreement and each other Financing Document required to be executed and delivered by the City as of the Closing Date;
- (f) The Bank shall have received a certificate of the City, dated the Closing Date and signed by a duly authorized officer, stating that (i) the representations and warranties set forth in Article 3 hereof and in all other Financing Documents to which it is a party are true and correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date, (ii) no Default or City Event of Default has occurred and is continuing; and (iii) no material adverse change has occurred in the financial position or results of operation of the City since the date of the audited financial statements of the City included in the Remarketing Memorandum:
- (g) All other legal matters pertaining to the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the other Financing Documents and the remarketing of the Bonds shall be reasonably satisfactory to the Bank and its counsel;
- (h) The City shall have paid the fees and expenses and all other amounts (including, without limitation, attorneys' fees and expenses) payable on the Closing Date pursuant to the Bank Fee Agreement and Section 7.12 hereof for which the City shall have received an invoice prior to the Closing Date from the Bank; provided, however, that the failure by the Bank to provide an invoice with respect to any fees, expenses or other amounts payable by the City pursuant to the Bank Fee Agreement and Section 7.12 hereof shall not relieve the City from its liability to make such payments to the Bank;
- (i) The Bank shall have received an executed Bank Bond Endorsement from the Insurer;

- (j) The Bank shall have received a signed opinion of counsel to the Insurer, dated the Closing Date, addressed to the Bank and in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank;
- (k) The Bank shall have received written evidence of the Insurer's consent to the Amendment to the Ordinance and the terms and provisions of this Agreement and the Letters of Credit;
- (l) The Bank shall have received such other documents, certificates, opinions, approvals and filings with respect to this Agreement and the other Financing Documents as its counsel may reasonably request;
- (m) The Bank shall have received satisfactory evidence of the termination of the Existing Agreement;
- (n) The Bank shall have received the approval of the Texas Attorney General related to the proceedings related to this Agreement; and
- (o) The Bank shall have received a CUSIP number specifically assigned to the Bank Bonds.

The issuance of its Letters of Credit to Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., in its capacities as Paying Agent and as Tender Agent (as Beneficiary as defined in the Letters of Credit), shall constitute an acknowledgement by the Bank that the conditions precedent set forth above have been satisfied or waived.

Section 4.2 Conditions Precedent to a Liquidity Advance. If at the time of payment by the Bank of any Liquidity Drawing under a Letter of Credit the Insurance Policy is no longer in effect, a Liquidity Advance shall be made available to the City only if on the date of payment of such Liquidity Drawing by the Bank (a) the representations and warranties contained in Article 3 of this Agreement are true and correct in all material respects as of such date (except to the extent that such representations and warranties specifically refer to an earlier date, in which case, they are true and correct as of such earlier date); and (b) no event has occurred and is continuing, or would result from the making of such Liquidity Advance, which constitutes a Default or a City Event of Default hereunder. The conditions described in this Section 4.2 shall be referred to herein as the "Conditions Precedent". Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary and for the avoidance of doubt, so long as the Insurance Policy is in effect the payment or making by the Bank of any Liquidity Drawing or Liquidity Advance shall not be subject to or otherwise dependent upon the satisfaction of the Conditions Precedent.

Unless the City shall have previously advised the Bank in writing that the above statements are no longer true, the City shall be deemed to have represented and warranted on the date of such payment that the above statements are true and correct.

ARTICLE 5 COVENANTS

- **Section 5.1** Affirmative Covenants of the City. As long as this Agreement is in effect, and until all amounts payable hereunder, under the Bank Fee Agreement and under any Bank Bonds are fully paid or defeased in accordance with the Ordinance, the City will, as applicable, perform and observe the covenants set forth below:
 - (a) Financial Records. The City shall at all times maintain financial records and furnish to the Bank, as soon as available, but in any event within one hundred eighty (180) days after the end of each fiscal year, audited financial statements (including balance sheet and income statement) prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied and certified by an independent certified public accounting firm except to the extent State law requires otherwise.
 - (b) Notice of Default. The City shall notify the Bank in writing of the occurrence of (i) any Default or City Event of Default, (ii) any default under any Financing Document to which the City is a party, or (iii) any filing by the City of a petition in bankruptcy under the Bankruptcy Law. The City shall also notify the Bank of the occurrence of any default or other event under any ordinance, contract or instrument providing for the creation of any Payment Obligation (payable from Net Revenues) of the City where the effect thereof is to accelerate, or permit the acceleration of, the maturity of such Payment Obligation (payable from Net Revenues).
 - (c) *Budgets*. The City shall deliver to the Bank a copy of its annual budget for the next fiscal year promptly upon adoption of such budget.
 - (d) Reports. The City shall deliver to the Bank, as soon as available and in any event not later than forty-five (45) days after the end of each fiscal quarter, (i) quarterly unaudited financial statements of the Airport System prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, except to the extent State law requires otherwise, and accompanied by comparative figures of the expected year-end balances and the budgeted amount for such fiscal period including relevant footnotes, (ii) quarterly mark-to-market valuations on Swap Contracts in place with respect to the Bonds and payable from Net Revenues, (iv) written notice of any change in insurance carriers or amount of any insurance coverage and (vii) all other information concerning the City which the City submits to or receives from any other party which is reasonably likely to have a material effect on the Bank's rights hereunder or under the Bank Fee Agreement or the City's obligations under any Financing Document to which it is a party.
 - (e) Other Information. The City shall furnish to the Bank promptly, as the Bank may reasonably request, such additional information concerning the Airport System or the City in order to enable the Bank to determine whether the covenants, terms and provisions of this Agreement and the other Financing Documents have been complied with by the City, and for that purpose all pertinent books, documents and vouchers relating to the City's business, affairs and properties shall at all reasonable times during regular business hours and upon reasonable notice be open to the inspection of such

accountants or other agents (who may make copies of all or any part thereof at their own cost and expense) as shall from time to time be designated by the Bank. Without limiting the foregoing, the City will permit the Bank to visit and inspect any of the properties of the City during regular business hours and to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of the City with its respective officials and any accounting firm performing services for the City, as often as the Bank may reasonably request.

- (f) Compliance with Obligations. The City shall observe and comply with all of its obligations arising in connection with the Airport System and all laws applicable to the Airport System, including, without limitation, all budgeting requirements of the Airport System, so as not to materially adversely affect the ability of the City to perform its obligations hereunder. The City shall observe and comply with all of its obligations arising in connection with the Financing Documents and all laws applicable to the City so as not to materially adversely affect the ability of the City to perform its obligations hereunder or under any other Financing Documents to which it is a party.
- (g) Litigation. The City shall promptly, and in any event within ten (10) Business Days, notify the Bank in writing with respect to any pending or, to the extent of its actual knowledge, threatened litigation with respect to the City or the Airport System, the existence of which causes the representation set forth in Section 3.1(f) hereof to be untrue or inaccurate in any material respect.
- (h) Licenses, Permits, Etc. The City will take all necessary and appropriate action to ensure the continuance in force of all material consents, licenses, permits, orders, decrees, approvals, authorizations, registrations and filings obtained or made in connection with the Airport System, this Agreement, or the other Financing Documents to which the City is a party, or which are necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and performance the City of this Agreement and the other Financing Documents to which the City is a party and all other agreements to be delivered in connection with any thereof.
- (i) Books and Records. The City shall keep or cause to be kept adequate and proper records and books of account with respect the City and the Airport System in which complete and correct entries shall be made.
 - (j) Reserved.
- (k) *Maintenance of Existence*. Except as may be required by law, or unless it has obtained the prior written consent of the Bank (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld), the City shall preserve and maintain its existence, and its rights, franchises and privileges material to the conduct of its business and shall not reorganize, merge or consolidate with or into any Person, wind up, liquidate or dissolve its affairs (or suffer any liquidation or dissolution) or convert, sell, assign, transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of (or agree to do any of the foregoing at any future time), whether in one transaction or a series of transactions, all or substantially all of its property or assets.

- (l) Notice of Adverse Change. The City shall notify the Bank, as soon as possible, and in any event within ten (10) Business Days, after acquiring knowledge of the occurrence of (i) the filing of any action in a court of competent jurisdiction for an initiative or referendum which is reasonably likely to lead to the material diminution or reallocation of Net Revenues or the funds received by the City under any Swap Contract relating to the Bonds and payable from Net Revenues or (ii) any other event which is likely to have a material adverse effect on the financial condition or operations of the Airport System or materially adversely affect the ability of the City to perform its obligations under this Agreement or under any other Financing Document to which the City is a party.
- (m) Paying Agent and Other Agents. The City shall immediately notify the Bank of any resignation of the Paying Agent, the Tender Agent or the Remarketing Agent. The City shall obtain the prior written consent of the Bank prior to the appointment of any successor Paying Agent, Tender Agent or Remarketing Agent. The City shall use reasonable efforts to cause the Remarketing Agent to at all times comply with the terms of the Financing Documents to which it is a party.
- (n) Other Matters. The City shall execute and deliver to the Bank all such documents and instruments, and do all such acts and things, as may be necessary or reasonably required by the Bank to enable the Bank to exercise and enforce its rights under this Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement and to realize thereon, and record and file and rerecord and refile all such documents and instruments, at such time or times, in such manner and at such place or places, all as may be necessary or reasonably required by the Bank to validate, preserve and protect the lien of the Bank on the Net Revenues under the Ordinance.
- (o) Payment of Obligations; Removal of Liens. The City shall pay all indebtedness and obligations of the City in accordance with the terms thereof, including as the same respectively become due, all taxes, charges, assessments (general or special) and governmental charges of any kind whatsoever, that may be at any time lawfully assessed or levied against or with respect to the Net Revenues and promptly discharge or cause to be discharged all liens, encumbrances and charges on Net Revenues.
- (p) Maintenance of Insurance. The City covenants that it will maintain insurance or self insurance on the Airport System. The City shall maintain insurance of such type and in such amounts or in excess of such amounts as are customarily carried by, and insure against such risks as are customarily insured against by, Texas home-rule cities of like type, size and character to the City or provide self-insurance for the same.
 - (q) Reserved.
 - (r) Liquidity.
 - (i) The City shall use its best efforts to (A) obtain a Substitute Credit Facility to replace the Letters of Credit (to the extent replacement is commercially reasonable), (B) convert the interest rate on the related subseries of Bonds to an

interest rate other than the Weekly Rate or (C) refund or refinance the related subseries of Bonds, in the event the Bank shall notify the City that it will not extend the Stated Expiration Date pursuant to Section 2.12 hereof.

- (ii) The City agrees that any Substitute Credit Facility will require, as a condition to the effectiveness of the Substitute Credit Facility, that the issuer of the Substitute Credit Facility will provide funds to the extent necessary, in addition to other funds available, on the date the Substitute Credit Facility becomes effective, for the purchase of all Bank Bonds at par plus all accrued interest thereon through the date such Substitute Credit Facility becomes effective. On such date, any and all amounts due hereunder to the Bank shall be payable in full to the Bank.
- (iii) The City shall not permit a Substitute Credit Facility to become effective with respect to less than all of the Bonds without the prior written consent of the Bank.

(s) *Conversion*.

- (i) (A) The City shall promptly furnish, or cause to be furnished, to the Bank, not later than furnishing the same to the Paying Agent, a copy of any notice of conversion of the interest rate on any subseries of Bonds furnished by the City to the Paying Agent pursuant to the Ordinance indicating a proposed conversion of the interest rate on any subseries of the Bonds to a rate other than a Weekly Rate and (B) the City shall not permit, consent to, or request a conversion of the Bonds to an interest rate other than a Weekly Rate without the prior written consent of the Bank if, after giving effect to such conversion, there would be any other amounts payable to the Bank or in respect of Bank Bonds held by the Bank or any other Obligations owed to the Bank would not have been paid in full; and
- (ii) In the event of a tender and a failed remarketing of the Bonds and the resulting Liquidity Drawing under any Letter of Credit remains outstanding for a period of thirty (30) consecutive calendar days, the City shall use its best efforts to (A) replace such Letter of Credit with a Substitute Credit Facility (to the extent replacement is commercially reasonable), (B) convert the interest rate on the Bonds to a rate other than a Weekly Rate or (C) refund or refinance the Bonds, in any case not later than ninety (90) days immediately succeeding the thirtieth (30th) calendar day succeeding the date of the related Liquidity Drawing.
- (t) Selection of Bank Bonds for Redemption. The City shall select, or cause to be selected, for optional redemption any and all Bank Bonds subject to optional redemption prior to selecting, or causing to be selected, for optional redemption any of the Bonds that are not Bank Bonds.
- (u) Incorporated by Reference. The City agrees that it will, for the benefit of the Bank, comply with, abide by and be restricted by all of the agreements, covenants, obligations and undertakings of the City in the Financing Documents to which it is a

party, which agreements, covenants, obligations and undertakings, together with the related definitions and ancillary provisions, are incorporated in this Section 5.1(u) by reference and made a part of this Section 5.1(u) to the same extent and with the same force and effect as if the same had been set forth in this Section 5.1(u) in their entirety, and they will be deemed to continue in effect for the benefit of the Bank, without regard or giving effect to any amendment or modification of such provisions or any waiver of compliance therewith, unless such amendment, modification or waiver is consented to in writing by the Bank in accordance with Section 5.2(a).

- (v) *Maintenance of Ratings*. The City shall, at all times during the term of this Agreement, maintain a long-term unenhanced credit rating with respect to the Bonds with at least one of the Rating Agencies.
- Paying Agent and Remarketing Agent. The City shall at all times maintain a Paying Agent and a Tender Agent under the Ordinance reasonably acceptable to the Bank. The City shall cause the Remarketing Agent to use its best efforts to remarket the Bonds, including Bank Bonds, up to the maximum rate permitted under the Ordinance. If the Remarketing Agent fails to remarket the Bonds for thirty (30) consecutive days or at any time fails to perform its duties under the Remarketing Agreement and the Ordinance to the satisfaction of the Bank, the City will, at the direction of the Bank, replace such Remarketing Agent and, appoint a successor Remarketing Agent reasonably acceptable to the Bank and the Insurer. The City will not, without the prior written consent of the Bank, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, remove the then existing Remarketing Agent. Any remarketing agreement with a successor Remarketing Agent shall provide that (a) such successor Remarketing Agent may resign upon at least sixty (60) days prior written notice to the Paying Agent, the Bank, and the City, (b) such successor Remarketing Agent shall use its best efforts to remarket the Bonds without regard to the Bank Rate (i.e., whether or not the rate to be borne by the Bonds is less than the Bank Rate) and (c) such successor Remarketing Agent shall offer the Bonds for remarketing at the maximum rate permitted under the Ordinance prior to such Bonds being tendered for purchase pursuant to a Liquidity Drawing.
- (x) Credit Facilities. In the event that the City shall hereafter enter into or otherwise consent to any credit agreement, bond purchase agreement, liquidity agreement, direct securities purchase agreement or other agreement or instrument in connection with the Airport System (or any amendment, supplement or modification thereto) (each such agreement or amendment, supplement or modification thereto shall be referred to herein as a "Bank Agreement") under which any Person (other than the federal government or any agency thereof) undertakes to make loans or extend credit or liquidity to the City for the benefit of the Airport System, which Bank Agreement (or amendment thereto) provides such Person with additional or more restrictive covenants and/or greater rights and remedies than are provided to the Bank in this Agreement, the City shall provide the Bank with a copy of such Bank Agreement and such additional or more restrictive covenants and/or greater rights and remedies shall automatically be deemed to be incorporated into this Section 5.1(x) and the Bank shall have the benefits of such additional or more restrictive covenants and/or such greater rights and remedies as if specifically set forth in this Section 5.1(x). No amendment or waiver to any such Bank

Agreement shall be effective as against the Bank without the written consent of the Bank. Upon the request of the Bank, the City shall promptly enter into an amendment to this Agreement to include such additional or more restrictive covenants, and/or greater rights or remedies, *provided* that the Bank shall maintain the benefit of such additional or more restrictive covenants and/or greater rights and remedies even if the City fails to provide such amendment.

- (y) Waiver of Sovereign Immunity. To the extent authorized by Texas Government Code Section 1371.059(c), the City hereby waives sovereign immunity from suit and liability for the purposes of adjudicating a claim to enforce this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement or for damages for breach of this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement.
- (z) *Maintenance of Property*. The City shall maintain, preserve and keep the Airport System in good repair, working order and condition (ordinary wear and tear excepted).
- (aa) Taxes and Assessments. The City shall pay or cause to be paid all taxes, assessments and governmental charges imposed upon it or its respective interest in the Airport System before the same become delinquent, unless and to the extent that the same are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings and reserves are provided therefor that in the opinion of the City are adequate.
- (bb) Debt Service Reserve Fund. In the event that the financial strength rating of the Bond Insurer is reduced below A3 or is withdrawn or suspended for credit related reasons by Moody's and is reduced below A- or is withdrawn or suspended for credit related reasons by S&P, the City shall, within sixty (60) days of such rating action, (i) replace the surety provider with a provider acceptable to the Bank or (ii) cash fund the Debt Service Reserve Fund in an amount equal to the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement (over a period of eighteen (18) months in monthly installments as required by the Ordinance).
- (cc) Bank Bond Rating. At any time Bank Bonds are outstanding, upon request of the Bank or any other financial institution that owns Bank Bonds or a beneficial interest therein, the City, at its expense, (i) shall obtain promptly from at least one rating agency then rating the Bonds, a rating specifically assigned to such Bank Bonds and (ii) shall ensure that the CUSIP number and the rating assigned to such Bank Bonds are available electronically from a third-party provider of such information.
- (dd) Future Agreements. In the event that the City shall hereafter enter into or otherwise consent to any Bank Agreement with any Person for a loan or to extend credit or liquidity to the City for the benefit of the Airport System and such Bank Agreement contains a "most favored nations" or "most favored lender" provision (each an "MFN Clause") that provides such Person the benefit of any additional or different events of default (contained in a separate Bank Agreement that is entered into by the City on a future date with a different Person) than are provided to such Person in such Bank Agreement, then within 5 Business Days after the effective date of such Bank

Agreement, the City shall provide to the Bank a copy of such MFN Clause and, at the discretion of the Bank, the portion of such MFN Clause referencing such additional or different events of default (the "*Incorporated Portion*") shall be deemed to be incorporated into Section 5.1(x) hereof and the Bank shall have the benefit of the Incorporated Portion. Upon the request of the Bank, the City shall promptly enter into an amendment to this Agreement to include the Incorporated Portion, *provided* that the Bank shall have the benefit of such Incorporated Portion of such MFN Clause even if the City fails to provide such amendment.

- **Section 5.2** Negative Covenants of the City. As long as this Agreement is in effect, and until all amounts payable hereunder or under the Bank Fee Agreement, and under any Bank Bonds, are indefeasibly paid in full, the City shall not, unless the Bank shall otherwise consent in writing:
 - (a) agree to amend, supplement, extend, modify, waive, revise or otherwise alter or terminate, or permit any party to amend, supplement, extend, modify, waive, revise or otherwise alter or terminate, any term of the Bonds or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party;
 - (b) violate any law, rule, regulation, or governmental order to which it is subject, which violation involves a reasonable likelihood of adversely affecting the use or value of the Airport System, the financial condition, business or results of operations of the Airport System or the ability of the City to perform its obligations under this Agreement or any other Financing Document;
 - (c) invest any amounts on deposit in any of the funds or accounts held or maintained by the Paying Agent pursuant to the Ordinance in any investments other than investments permitted pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance or deviate from the investment policies of the City approved by the City Council of the City or from the applicable provisions of the State statutes with respect to the City's investments;
 - (d) take any action, or cause the Paying Agent or the Tender Agent to take any action under the Ordinance that would cause a Default or a City Event of Default under this Agreement;
 - (e) take any action which would result in the City's obligations to the Bank under this Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement not having the priority set forth in the Ordinance;
 - (f) terminate this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement or the Ordinance (except as otherwise permitted herein or therein) or replace any Letter of Credit with a Substitute Credit Facility (except as otherwise permitted herein or in the Ordinance);
 - (g) except as permitted by the Ordinance, encumber, transfer, sell, lease, convey or otherwise dispose of, any interest in, or create, suffer or assume any lien to be created on, the Airport System; or

- (h) other than in the Remarketing Memorandum and its audited financial statements, refer to the Bank in any official statement or any similar offering document or make any changes in reference to the Bank in any official statement or any similar offering document; provided, however, that the City may include the name of the Bank in the Remarketing Memorandum or its audited financial statements without the consent of the Bank; or
- (i) permit a lien on the Net Revenues securing any swap termination payments payable pursuant to any Swap Contract entered into the City that is superior in priority to or on a parity with the lien on the Net Revenues securing the Bonds, the Bank Bonds or any other Reimbursement Obligations owed to the Bank hereunder.
 - (j) Liens and Additional Debt.
 - (i) <u>Parity Liens.</u> Except as permitted by the Ordinance, the City shall not grant any lien, pledge or security interest in the Net Revenues which is on parity with the lien on Net Revenues that secures the payment of the City's Obligations.
 - (ii) <u>Additional Senior Debt.</u> The City shall not issue any obligations after the Closing Date which are secured by a lien on Net Revenues that is senior to that securing the Bonds.

ARTICLE 6 TERM AND TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT; EVENTS OF DEFAULT.

- **Section 6.1** Term of Agreement. This Agreement shall become effective upon execution by the Bank and the City and shall continue in full force and effect until the Letters of Credit have terminated or expired in accordance with their terms and all Obligations have been paid in full.
- **Section 6.2** <u>City Events of Default</u>. It shall be a "City Event of Default" hereunder if any of the following events shall occur and be continuing:
 - (a) (i) any principal or interest evidenced by the Bonds or the Bank Bonds is not paid when due or (ii) any Drawing or any Liquidity Advance is not paid when due; or
 - (b) any representation or warranty made by the City in this Agreement or any other Financing Document shall prove to be untrue in any material respect on the date as of which it was made; or
 - (c) nonpayment of any amounts payable under this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement when due (other than amounts referred to in Section 6.2(a) hereof), if such failure to pay when due shall continue for six (6) Business Days; or

- (d) default in the due observance or performance by the City of any covenant set forth in Sections 5.1(b), 5.1(g), 5.1(k), 5.1(l), 5.1(l
- (e) default in the due observance or performance by the City of any other term, covenant or agreement (not covered by clause (a), (c) or (d)) set forth in this Agreement and the continuance of such default for thirty (30) days after the earlier to occur of (i) the City obtaining actual knowledge thereof and (ii) receipt by the City of notice thereof from the Bank; or
- than as a result of any prepayment in full of all of the Bonds or provision for such prepayment in full in accordance with the Ordinance; or any provision of the Ordinance relating to the security for the Bonds or the Obligations, the City's ability to pay the Obligations or perform its obligations hereunder or the rights and remedies of the Bank, or any other material provision of the Ordinance or of any other Financing Document to which the City is a party shall cease to be in full force or effect, or the City or any Person acting on behalf of the City shall deny or disaffirm the City's obligations under the Ordinance or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party; or
- (i) the City shall commence any case, proceeding or other action (A) (g) under any existing or future law of any jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or relief of debtors, seeking to have an order for relief entered with respect to it, or seeking to adjudicate the City as bankrupt or insolvent, or seeking reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, winding-up, liquidation, dissolution, composition or other relief with respect to the City or its debts, or (B) seeking appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or for all or any substantial part of its assets, or the City shall make a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or (ii) there shall be commenced against the City any case, proceeding or other action of a nature referred to in clause (i) above which (x) results in an order for such relief or in the appointment of a receiver or similar official or (y) remains undismissed, undischarged or unbonded for a period of sixty (60) days; or (iii) there shall be commenced against the City any case, proceeding or other action seeking issuance of a warrant of attachment, execution, distraint or similar process against all or any substantial part of its assets, which results in the entry of an order for any such relief which shall not have been vacated, discharged, or stayed or bonded pending appeal within sixty (60) days from the entry thereof, or (iv) the City shall take any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, approval of, or acquiescence in, any of the acts set forth in clause (i), (ii) or (iii) above; or (v) the City shall generally not, or shall be unable to, or shall admit in writing its inability to, pay its debts; or
- (h) the City or a governmental authority of competent jurisdiction shall have declared or announced a moratorium (whether or not in writing) with respect to any debt or Payment Obligation of the City payable from Net Revenues; or
- (i) any final, non-appealable judgment or judgments, writ or writs or warrant or warrants of attachment, or any similar process or processes in an aggregate amount of

\$5,000,000 or more, payable from Net Revenues, shall be entered or filed against the City and shall remain unvacated, unbonded or unstayed for a period of sixty (60) days; or

- (j) any "event of default" shall occur under the Ordinance or under any other Financing Document; or
- (k) the long-term unenhanced rating assigned to any of the City's debt payable from Net Revenues is reduced below "Baa2" by Moody's or below "BBB" by S&P or is suspended or withdrawn by Moody's or S&P; or
- (1) except pursuant to Section 6.3 or Section 6.4 hereof, the Insurance Policy is canceled or terminated or the Insurer is replaced with another insurer or the terms of the Insurance Policy are amended or modified in any respect which, in the sole discretion of the Bank, would have an adverse effect on the rights or security of the Bank, in any case which was (i) not at the direction of the Bank or (ii) without the prior written consent of the Bank; or
- (m) the City shall (i) default in any payment of any principal or premium of or interest on any of the City's long-term indebtedness in the amount of \$5,000,000 or more payable from Net Revenues (other than the Bonds, the Liquidity Drawings and the Liquidity Advances) beyond the period of grace, if any, provided in the instrument or agreement under which such long-term indebtedness was created; or (ii) default in the observance or performance of any agreement or condition relating to any such long-term indebtedness payable from Net Revenues or contained in any instrument or agreement evidencing, securing or relating thereto, or any other event shall occur or condition exist, the effect of which default or other event or condition is to cause, or to permit the holder or holders of such long-term indebtedness (or a trustee or agent on behalf of such holder or holders) to cause (determined without regard to whether any notice is required), any such long-term indebtedness to become due prior to its stated maturity; or
- (i) a court or other governmental authority with jurisdiction to rule on the validity of this Agreement, the Ordinance or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party shall find, announce or rule that any material provision of this Agreement or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party, or any provision of the Ordinance relating to the security for the Bonds or the Obligations, the City's ability to pay the Obligations or perform its obligations hereunder or the rights and remedies of the Bank under this Agreement or any other Financing Document, is not a valid and binding agreement of the City; or (ii) the City shall contest the validity or enforceability of this Agreement, any other Financing Document to which the City is a party or any provision of the Ordinance relating to the security for the Bonds or the Obligations, the City's ability to pay the Obligations or perform its obligations hereunder or the rights and remedies of the Bank under this Agreement or any other Financing Document; or (iii) the City or any other Person acting on behalf of the City shall seek an adjudication that this Agreement, any other Financing Document to which the City is a party or any provision of the Ordinance relating to the security for the Bonds or the Obligations, the City's ability to pay the Obligations or perform its obligations hereunder or the rights and

remedies of the Bank under this Agreement or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party, is not valid and binding on the City.

Section 6.3 Remedies. If a City Event of Default shall have occurred, the Bank may exercise any one or more of the following rights and remedies in addition to any other remedies herein or by law provided:

- (a) give written notice of the occurrence of any City Event of Default hereunder to the Paying Agent, with a copy to the City and the Tender Agent, and, with the consent of the Required Banks, direct the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all the Bonds pursuant to Section A-403 of the Ordinance, thereby causing the Letters of Credit to terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent's receipt of such notice, and the Insurance Policy to terminate in accordance with the terms of the Cancellation Agreement, in which case the City and the Bank shall take such action as shall be necessary to effect such termination pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement; provided, however, that if an Insurer Event of Default has also occurred and is continuing, the Bank may direct the City and the Paying Agent that the Insurance Policy shall not be terminated;
- (b) pursue any rights and remedies it may have under the Financing Documents subject to the terms thereof, including instituting suit, actions or proceedings to enforce its rights under the Ordinance;
- (c) pursue any other action available at law or in equity for specific performance of any covenant or agreement contained herein, in aid of execution of any power herein granted or for the enforcement of any proper legal remedy; or
- (d) declare all Obligations to be immediately due and payable, whereupon the same shall be immediately due and payable without any further notice of any kind, which notice is hereby waived by the City (unless such automatic acceleration is waived by the Bank in writing);

provided, however, that in the case of the foregoing clauses (b), (c) and (d), the Bank shall not exercise any such rights and remedies or pursue such other actions, including directions or remedies under the Ordinance, without the consent of the Insurer unless the following conditions are met: (i) the Insurance Policy is no longer in effect and (ii) unless an Insurer Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Insurer has been paid all amounts due and payable to it, and if such conditions are met, then the Insurer's rights derived through subrogation or assignment shall nonetheless continue in full force and effect; provided further, that, notwithstanding the condition set forth in clause (i) of the foregoing proviso, if an Insurer Event of Default has occurred, the Bank may, while the Insurance Policy is in effect, exercise any such rights and remedies and pursue such other actions, including directions or remedies under the Ordinance. If the Bank, with the consent of the Required Banks, has directed the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds pursuant to Section 6.3(a) or Section 6.4(a) hereof, the Bank shall, and hereby covenants with the Insurer that it will (unless, with respect to Section 6.3(a) hereof, an Insurer Event of Default has occurred and the Bank has directed the City and the Paying Agent that the Insurance Policy shall not be terminated) satisfy at the earliest time

practicable all applicable conditions to the effectiveness of termination of the Insurance Policy pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement and direct the Paying Agent not to draw on the Insurance Policy during the period between the Bank directing the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds and the effectiveness of termination of the Insurance Policy. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Insurer's right to enforce the Bank's covenants set forth in this paragraph shall survive any termination of other rights of the Insurer.

Section 6.4 Mandatory Tender Events.

- If an Insurer Event of Default or an Insurer Downgrade Event shall have occurred, the Bank may give written notice to the Paying Agent, with a copy to the City and the Tender Agent, of the occurrence of such Insurer Event of Default or Insurer Downgrade Event and, with the consent of the Required Banks, direct the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, thereby causing the Insurance Policy to terminate in accordance with the terms of the Cancellation Agreement on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent's receipt of such notice. The City and the Bank shall take such action as may be necessary or required to effect such termination pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement. So long as no City Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, upon the termination of the Insurance Policy the City shall cause the Remarketing Agent to use its best efforts to remarket all tendered Bonds at the earliest date possible pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance; provided that, if after the Bonds have been called for mandatory tender by the Paying Agent but prior to the remarketing of such Bonds a City Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, such tendered Bonds shall only be remarketed with the written consent of the Bank and the Bank may at its sole discretion pursue any of its rights or remedies pursuant to this Agreement.
- (b) If the City fails to pay the Letter of Credit Fee, the Bank may give written notice of such failure to pay to the Paying Agent, with a copy to the City and the Tender Agent, and, with the consent of the Required Banks, direct the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, thereby causing the Letters of Credit to terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent's receipt of such notice.
- (c) If an Insurer Event of Default or an Insurer Downgrade Event shall have occurred and be continuing, and, in either case, a City Event of Default shall also have occurred and be continuing, the Bank may give written notice to the Paying Agent, with a copy to the City and the Tender Agent, of the occurrence of such Insurer Event of Default or Insurer Downgrade Event, as applicable, and such City Event of Default and, with the consent of the Required Banks, direct the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, thereby causing the Letters of Credit to terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent's receipt of such notice.

ARTICLE 7 MISCELLANEOUS.

Section 7.1 <u>Cancellation Agreement</u>. The City and the Bank hereby acknowledge and agree that (i) pursuant to the terms of the Cancellation Agreement, if the Banks direct the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of the Bonds pursuant to Section 6.3 or Section 6.4 hereof, the Paying Agent shall cause all other Series 2005 Bonds to be tendered for purchase and (ii) the Insurance Policy shall not be terminated prior to the mandatory tender date of all the Series 2005 Bonds established in accordance with the terms of the Ordinance. If the Bank in its sole and absolute discretion shall pay any amounts owed to the Insurer in connection with the cancellation of the Insurance Policy pursuant to the terms of the Cancellation Agreement, the City shall reimburse the Bank for such payments to the Insurer within five (5) Business Days after the City's receipt of written notice from the Bank as to such amount due to the Bank and amounts not paid when due shall accrue interest at the Default Rate. Any payments to the Insurer made by the Bank that are in respect of principal of or interest on the Bonds shall be deemed to be Reimbursement Obligations hereunder.

Reimbursement. To the extent permitted by the law of the State, the City agrees Section 7.2 to reimburse and hold the Bank and its officers, directors and employees (each a "Reimbursed Party") harmless from and against, and to pay on demand, any and all claims, damages, losses, liabilities, costs and expenses whatsoever which such Reimbursed Party may incur or suffer by reason of or in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement or the Letters of Credit, or any other documents which may be delivered in connection with this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement or the Letters of Credit or in connection with the remarketing of the Bonds, or in connection with any payment under the Letters of Credit, including, but not limited to, the fees and expenses of counsel for such Reimbursed Party with respect thereto and with respect to advising such Reimbursed Party as to its rights and responsibilities under this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement and the Letters of Credit and all fees and expenses, if any, in connection with the enforcement or defense of the rights of such Reimbursed Party in connection with this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, the Letters of Credit or any of the other Financing Documents, or the collection of any monies due under this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement or such other documents which may be delivered in connection with this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, the Letters of Credit or any of the other Financing Documents, except to the extent that any such claim, damage, loss, liability, cost or expense shall have resulted directly from or been caused by such Reimbursed Party's negligence or willful misconduct in connection with the Letters of Credit. Promptly after receipt by any Reimbursed Party of notice of the commencement, or threatened commencement, of any action subject to the reimbursement obligation contained in this Section 7.2, such Reimbursed Party shall promptly notify the City thereof, *provided* that failure to give such notice shall not relieve the City from any liability to such Reimbursed Party hereunder. The obligations of the City under this Section 7.2 shall survive payment of all Obligations owed under this Agreement and the expiration of the Letters of Credit. Net Revenues shall constitute the sole source of funds available to the City for the payments, if any, owing to a Reimbursed Party.

Section 7.3 <u>Liability of the Bank</u>. The City assumes all risks of the acts or omissions of the Tender Agent and the Paying Agent, or any agents thereof, and any transferee beneficiary of any Letter of Credit with respect to its use of any Letter of Credit. Neither the Bank nor any of its

officers or directors shall be liable or responsible for: (a) the use which may be made of any Letter of Credit or for any acts or omissions of the Tender Agent or the Paying Agent, any agent thereof or any transferee beneficiary in connection therewith; (b) the validity or genuineness of documents, or of any endorsement(s) thereon, even if such documents should in fact prove to be in any or all respects invalid, fraudulent or forged; (c) payment by the Bank against presentation of documents which do not comply with the terms of the applicable Letter of Credit, including failure of any documents to bear any reference or adequate reference to such Letter of Credit; or (d) any other circumstances whatsoever in making or failing to make payment under the Letters of Credit; provided, however, that the City shall have a claim against the Bank to the extent of any direct compensatory, as opposed to consequential, damages suffered by the City which the City proves were caused by the Bank's negligence or willful misconduct in connection with a Letter of Credit (it being understood that the Bank assumes no liability or responsibility for the genuineness, falsification or effect of any document which appears to be regular on its face). The Bank is hereby expressly authorized and directed to honor any demand for payment which is made under a Letter of Credit without regard to, and without any duty on its part to inquire into the existence of, any disputes or controversies between or among the City, the Tender Agent and the Paying Agent, any transferee beneficiary of any Letter of Credit or any other Person or the respective rights, duties or liabilities of any of them, or whether any facts or occurrences represented in any of the documents presented under the Letters of Credit are true and correct.

Section 7.4 Participations. The Bank may at any time, without the consent of, or notice to, the City, sell participations to any Person (other than a natural person or the City) (each, a "Participant") in all or a portion of the Bank's rights and obligations under this Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement and its obligations under a Letter of Credit (including all or a portion of the applicable Commitment and of any Drawings or Liquidity Advances due and owing hereunder); provided that (i) the Bank's obligations under the Letters of Credit shall remain unchanged, (ii) the Bank shall remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the performance of such obligations and (iii) the City shall continue to deal solely and directly with the Bank in connection with the Bank's rights under this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, and its obligations under the Letters of Credit.

Any agreement or instrument pursuant to which the Bank sells such a participation shall provide that the Bank shall retain the sole right to enforce this Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement and to approve any amendment, modification or waiver of any provision hereof or thereof; *provided* that such agreement or instrument may provide that the Bank will not, without the consent of the Participant, agree to any amendment or waiver described in Section 7.6(a), 7.6(b), 7.6(c) or 7.6(d) hereof that affects such Participant.

Section 7.5 <u>Survival of this Agreement</u>. All covenants, agreements, representations and warranties made in this Agreement shall survive the issuance of the Letters of Credit and shall continue in full force and effect so long as any Letter of Credit shall be unexpired or any Obligations shall be outstanding and unpaid. The obligation of the City to reimburse the Bank pursuant to Sections 2.13, 2.14, 7.2, 7.3 and 7.12 hereof shall survive the payment of the Bonds and termination of this Agreement.

Section 7.6 <u>Modification of this Agreement</u>. No amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed by

the Bank and the City and consented to in writing by the Insurer, provided, however, that if an Insurer Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, then the Bank and the City may amend this Agreement without the consent of the Insurer unless such amendment would be adverse to the Insurer or would change its obligations in connection with any Bank Bonds; provided, further, that no consent of the Insurer shall ever be required in connection with the extension of the Stated Expiration Date of the Letters of Credit or any amendment to the Bank Fee Agreement or in the event the Insurance Policy is no longer in effect. No amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of the Letters of Credit shall in any event be effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed by the Bank (in its sole discretion). Any such waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which given. No notice to or demand on the City in any case shall entitle the City to any other or further notice or demand in the same, similar or other circumstances.

Section 7.7 Waiver of Rights by the Bank. No course of dealing or failure or delay on the part of the Bank in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder or under any Letter of Credit or the Bank Fee Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall a single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or privilege. The rights of the Bank under the Letters of Credit, this Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies which the Bank would otherwise have.

Section 7.8 <u>Severability</u>. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement should be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions contained herein shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby. The parties shall endeavor in good faith negotiations to replace the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions with valid provisions the economic and legal effect of which comes as close as possible to that of the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions.

Section 7.9 Governing Law. This Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement shall be deemed to be contracts under, and for all purposes shall be governed by, and construed and interpreted in accordance with, the law of the State of Texas. Each party hereto irrevocably waives, if and to the extent permitted by applicable law, any and all, to the extent permitted by law, right to a trial by jury in any action, suit or legal proceedings arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any other Financing Document or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.

Section 7.10 Notices; Effectiveness; Electronic Communications.

(a) Notices Generally. Except in the case of notices and other communications expressly permitted to be given by telephone (and except as provided in subsection (b) below), all notices and other communications provided for herein shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or overnight courier service, mailed by certified or registered mail or sent by telecopier to, and all notices and other communications expressly permitted hereunder to be given by telephone shall be made to, the address, telecopier number, electronic mail address or telephone number specified for the recipient on its respective signature page hereto.

Notices and other communications sent by hand or overnight courier service or mailed by certified or registered mail shall be deemed to have been given when received; notices and other communications sent by telecopier shall be deemed to have been given when sent (except that, if not sent during normal business hours for the recipient, such communications shall be deemed to have been given at the opening of business on the next business day for the recipient).

(b) *Electronic Communications*. Notices and other communications to the Bank hereunder may be delivered or furnished by electronic communication (including email and Internet or intranet websites) pursuant to procedures approved by the Bank, *provided* that the foregoing shall not apply to notices to the Bank pursuant to Article II. The City may, in its discretion, agree to accept notices and other communications to it hereunder by electronic communication pursuant to procedures approved by it, *provided* that approval of such procedures may be limited to particular notices or communications.

If the Bank has agreed to receive communications by e-mail and unless the Bank otherwise prescribes, (i) notices and other communications sent to an e-mail address shall be deemed received upon the sender's receipt of an acknowledgement from the intended recipient (such as by the "return receipt requested" function, as available, return e-mail or other written acknowledgement), *provided* that if such notice or other communication is not sent during the normal business hours of the recipient, such notice or communication shall be deemed to have been sent at the opening of business on the next business day for the recipient and (ii) notices or communications posted to an Internet or intranet website shall be deemed received upon the deemed receipt by the intended recipient at its e-mail address as described in the foregoing clause (i) of notification that such notice or communication is available and identifying the website address therefor.

- (c) Change of Address, Etc. Each of the City and the Bank may change its address, telecopier or telephone number for notices and other communications hereunder by notice to the other party hereto. In addition, the Bank agrees to notify the City from time to time to ensure that the City has on record (i) an effective address, contact name, telephone number, telecopier number and, if applicable, e-mail address to which notices and other communications may be sent and (ii) accurate wire instructions for the Bank.
- (d) Reliance by the Bank. The Bank shall be entitled to rely and act upon any notices (including telephonic notices with respect to any Drawing) purportedly given by or on behalf of the City even if (i) such notices were not made in a manner specified herein, were incomplete or were not preceded or followed by any other form of notice specified herein or (ii) the terms thereof, as understood by the Bank, varied from any confirmation thereof. The City shall reimburse the Bank for all losses, costs, expenses and liabilities resulting from the reliance by the Bank on each notice purportedly given by or on behalf of the City. All telephonic notices to and other telephonic communications with the Bank may be recorded by the Bank, and the City hereby consents to such recording.

Section 7.11 Successors and Assigns.

- Successors and Assigns Generally. The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby, except that the City may not assign or otherwise transfer any of its respective rights or obligations hereunder or under any other Financing Document without the prior written consent of the Bank (and the Insurer if the Insurance Policy is still in effect), and the Bank may not assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder or under any Letter of Credit without the prior written consent of the City (and the Insurer if the Insurance Policy is still in effect); provided, however, that the obligations of the Bank under any Letter of Credit may be assigned or otherwise transferred with (A) the prior written consent of the City and (B) confirmation from each Rating Agency then rating the related subseries of Bonds that the long and short-term ratings on such subseries of Bonds will not be withdrawn or reduced as a result of such assignment or transfer. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Bank may assign its right to receive payment of any Obligation of the City hereunder or under the Bank Fee Agreement without the prior written consent of the City or any other party. Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, shall be construed to confer upon any Person (other than the parties hereto, their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby and Participants to the extent provided in Section 7.4 hereof) any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement.
- (b) Certain Pledges. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, the Bank may at any time pledge or assign a security interest in all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement to secure obligations of the Bank, including any pledge or assignment to secure obligations to a Federal Reserve Bank; provided that no such pledge or assignment shall release the Bank from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such pledgee or assignee for the Bank as a party hereto.
- (c) Electronic Execution of Assignments. The words "execution," "signed," "signature," and words of like import in any assignment and assumption shall be deemed to include electronic signatures or the keeping of records in electronic form, each of which shall be of the same legal effect, validity or enforceability as a manually executed signature or the use of a paper-based recordkeeping system, as the case may be, to the extent and as provided for in any applicable law, including the Federal Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, the Texas State Electronic Signatures and Records Act, or any other similar state laws based on the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act.
- Section 7.12 <u>Taxes and Expenses</u>. The City will promptly pay (i) the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel to the Bank incurred in connection with the preparation, negotiation, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Financing Documents as set forth in the Bank Fee Agreement, (ii) the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel to the Bank with respect to advising the Bank as to its rights and responsibilities under this Agreement and the other Financing Documents after the occurrence of a City Event of Default, and (iii) all reasonable costs and expenses, if any, in connection with any amendment to this Agreement, the

Bank Fee Agreement or any other Financing Document which requires the consent of the Bank or the waiver of such provision by the Bank or the enforcement of this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement and any other documents which may be delivered in connection herewith or therewith, including in each case the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel to the Bank. In addition, the City shall pay any and all stamp and other taxes and fees payable or determined to be payable in connection with the execution, delivery, filing, and recording of this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement and the security contemplated by the Financing Documents and agrees, to the extent permitted by the law of the State, to hold the Bank harmless from and against any and all liabilities with respect to or resulting from any delay in paying or omission to pay such taxes and fees; provided, however, that the City may reasonably contest any such taxes or fees with the prior written consent of the Bank, which consent, if a City Event of Default does not then exist, shall not be unreasonably withheld. In addition, the City agrees to pay, after the occurrence of a City Event of Default, all costs and expenses (including attorneys' fees and costs of settlement) incurred by the Bank in enforcing any obligations or in collecting any payments due from the City hereunder by reason of such City Event of Default or in connection with any refinancing or restructuring of the credit arrangements provided under this Agreement in the nature of a "workout" or of any insolvency or bankruptcy proceedings. The obligations of the City under this Section 7.12 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

Section 7.13 Reserved.

Section 7.14 Payment Obligations of the City hereunder and under the Bank Fee Agreement. Notwithstanding anything set forth to the contrary herein, any provision of this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement which provides that the City will make payments to the Bank in respect of any Obligations hereunder or under the Bank Fee Agreement shall be an obligation of the City to make such payment to the Bank subject to the limitations contained in this Agreement as to the sources of funds available to the City for such purpose.

Section 7.15 <u>Headings</u>. The captions in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and shall not define or limit the provisions hereof.

Section 7.16 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original but all taken together to constitute one instrument. This Agreement may be delivered by the exchange of signed signature pages by facsimile transmission or by email with a pdf copy or other replicating image attached, and any printed or copied version of any signature page so delivered shall have the same force and effect as an originally signed version of such signature page.

Section 7.17 Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement constitute the entire understanding of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof and any prior agreements, whether written or oral, with respect thereto are superseded hereby and thereby.

Section 7.18 <u>USA Patriot Act</u> The Bank hereby notifies the City that, pursuant to the requirements of the USA Patriot Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107 56 (signed into law October 26, 2001)) (the "*Patriot Act*"), it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies the City, which information includes the name and address of the City and other information that

will allow the Bank to identify the City in accordance with the Patriot Act, and the City hereby agrees to take any action necessary to enable the Bank to comply with the requirements of the Patriot Act. The City shall comply with all applicable Bank Secrecy Act laws and regulations, as amended.

Section 7.19 <u>Insurance Policy Claims</u>. Following payment by the Bank of any Drawing under a Letter of Credit, the Bank shall have sixty (60) Business Days from the date of such payment to direct the Insurer to reimburse the Bank for the amount of the Drawing that was not reimbursed by the City, the Tender Agent or the Paying Agent from amounts in the funds and accounts under the Ordinance. In the event the Bank fails to direct the Insurer to reimburse the Bank within the sixty (60) Business Day period, the Bank shall be deemed to have elected not to receive reimbursement from the Insurer with respect to such payment under a Letter of Credit and to have waived its right to present such a claim to the Insurer for failure of the City to make such reimbursement. In no event shall the Bank be deemed to have waived its right to direct a mandatory tender of the Bonds with respect to any such reimbursement default as a result of the Bank waiving its right to present a claim of reimbursement to the Insurer.

Section 7.20 Insurer's Rights. Except as otherwise provided herein or in the Cancellation Agreement, the existence of all rights given to the Insurer hereunder with respect to the giving of consents, approvals or notices, or the direction of proceedings and its rights pursuant to Section 7.21 hereof is expressly conditioned upon (i) the Insurance Policy being in full force and effect or (ii) no Insurer Event of Default having occurred and being continuing. If either or both of such conditions is not satisfied, then only the Insurer's rights derived through subrogation or assignment shall continue in full force and effect except as expressly provided herein or in the Cancellation Agreement. Any such rights shall not be exercisable by the Insurer (but shall be exercisable by the Bank in accordance with the terms of the Ordinance) if at any time (i) the Insurance Policy is no longer in full force and effect as a result of a termination of the Insurance Policy and the Insurer has been paid all amounts due and payable to it or (ii) an Insurer Event of Default has occurred and is continuing; provided that this Section 7.20 shall not in any way limit or affect the rights of the Insurer as subrogee of the Bank or Owner of a Bond or as assignee of the Bank or Owner of a Bond or to otherwise be reimbursed and indemnified for its costs and expenses and other payments on or in connection with the Reimbursement Obligations or the Insurance Policy either by operation of law or at equity or by contract.

Section 7.21 Third Party Beneficiary. The Bank and the City acknowledge that, unless (i) the Insurance Policy has been terminated pursuant to Section 6.3(a) or 6.4(a) hereof and the Insurer has been paid all amounts due and payable to it (if applicable in accordance with Section 6.3(a) or Section 6.4(a) hereof) or (ii) an Insurer Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Insurer shall be an express third party beneficiary of the provisions of this Agreement relating to the Insurer with the power to enforce the same.

[Balance of this page intentionally blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed and delivered by their respective representatives thereunto authorized as of the date first written above.

CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS

By:	
Name:	
Title:_	

City of Austin, Texas 700 Lavaca, Suite 940 Austin, Texas 78701 Attention: City Treasurer

512 974-7882 phone 512 370-3838 fax Art. Alfaro@ci.austin.tx.us

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By:			
Its:			

Principal Office: Public Finance Credit Origination 383 Madison Avenue, 8th Floor Mail Code NY1-M076 New York, NY 10179

Wire instructions with respect to Letter of Credit Fees:

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association ABA No. 021-000-021 Account: 324-331754

Attn: City of Austin / CPCS-926106/ CPCS-

927415

Contact: Brian Nevin - 312-954-1922

Wire instructions with respect to reimbursement of Letter of Credit drawings, draw fees, amendment fees and transfer fees:

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association ABA No. 021-000-021 Acct No. 324-331754 Acct. Name: JPMorgan GTS, Letters of Credit

Attn: City of Austin / CPCS-926106/ CPCS-

927415

Contact: Brian Nevin - (312) 954-1922

Address for Notices:

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association Public Finance Credit Origination 383 Madison Avenue, 8th Floor Mail Code NY1-M076 New York, NY 10179 Attention: David M. Bayer

Phone: (212) 270-4186 Fax: (917) 546-2657

E-mail: public.finance.notices@jpmchase.com; david.m.bayer@jpmchase.com

With a copy to:

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association Loan and Agency Services 1111 Fannin, 10th Floor Houston, TX 77002 Mail Code: TX2-FO46 Attention: Amanda Brewer/Kimberly Brown

Phone: (713) 427-0002 / (713) 750-2502

Fax: (713) 750-2956

and

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association Standby Letter of Credit Unit 131 South Dearborn, 5th Floor Mail Code IL1-0236 Chicago, IL 60603-5506 Facsimile No.: (312) 954-6163 Telephone No.(800) 634-1969, Option 1

Attention: Standby Service Unit

APPENDIX A

FORMS OF LETTERS OF CREDIT

APPENDIX A-1 TO REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT FOR SUBSERIES 2005-1 BONDS

FORM OF IRREVOCABLE TRANSFERABLE DIRECT PAY LETTER OF CREDIT No. CPCS-926106

June 21, 2011

Letter of Credit No. CPCS-926106

Beneficiary:

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent/Registrar and Tender Agent (the "Beneficiary") 201 Main St., Ste 301 MAC T5441-030 Fort Worth, TX 76102

ph: 817.334.7068 fax: 817.885.8650

email: kathleen.r.wagner@wellsfargo.com

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We (the "Bank") hereby establish in your favor as beneficiary (the "Beneficiary"), for the benefit of the holders of the Bonds (as hereinafter defined), our Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. CPCS-926106 for the account of the City of Austin, Texas (the "Applicant"), whereby we hereby irrevocably authorize you to draw on us from time to time, from and after the date hereof to and including the earliest to occur of our close of business on: (i) June 21, 2014 (as extended from time to time, the "Stated Expiration Date"), (ii) the date which is one (1) Business Day following the date on which all of the Bonds (as hereinafter defined) are converted to bear interest at a rate other than a Weekly Rate as defined in Ordinance No. 20050804-039 of the City of Austin, Texas, as amended by Ordinance No. (together, the "Ordinance"), as such date is specified in a certificate in the form of Exhibit A hereto (the "Conversion Date"), (iii) the date which is one (1) Business Day following receipt by the Bank of a certificate in the form set forth as Exhibit B hereto, (iv) the date on which a Stated Maturity Drawing (as hereinafter defined) is honored by us, (v) the date which is sixteen (16) days following receipt by you of a written notice from us in the form of Exhibit A-2 attached to the Cancellation Agreement (as defined herein) (for convenience a copy of such exhibit is also attached here to as Exhibit L) specifying the occurrence of a City Event of Default as defined in the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement dated June 1, 2011 (as amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the "Reimbursement Agreement"), by and between the Applicant and the Bank, and directing you to cause a mandatory tender of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance (the earliest of such dates to occur referred to herein as the "Termination Date"), in each such case a maximum aggregate amount not exceeding Sixty-Three Million One Hundred Fifty-Six

Thousand Six Hundred and Thirty-Six Dollars (\$63,156,636; the "Original Stated Amount") to pay the unpaid principal amount of, or the portion of the purchase price corresponding to the principal of, and accrued interest on, or the portion of the purchase price corresponding to accrued interest on, the City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT), Subseries 2005-1 (the "Bonds") (said \$63,156,636 having been calculated to be equal to \$62,075,000 the outstanding principal amount of the Bonds, plus \$1,081,636, which is at least 53 days accrued interest on said principal amount of the Bonds at the rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum (the "Cap Interest Rate") calculated on the basis of a 365/366 day year). This Letter of Credit is available to you against presentation of the following documents (the "Payment Documents") presented to the Bank as described below:

A certificate (with all blanks appropriately completed) (i) in the form attached as Exhibit C hereto to pay accrued interest on the Bonds as provided for in the Ordinance (an "Interest Drawing"), (ii) in the form attached as Exhibit D hereto to pay the principal amount of and accrued interest on the Bonds in respect of any redemption of the Bonds as provided for in Sections A-301 and A-302 of the Ordinance (a "Redemption Drawing"), (iii) in the form attached as Exhibit E hereto, to allow the Beneficiary to pay the purchase price of Bonds tendered for purchase as provided for in Section A-401 of the Ordinance which have not been successfully remarketed or for which the purchase price has not been received by the Beneficiary by 12:00 noon, New York time, on the purchase date (a "Liquidity Drawing") or (iv) in the form attached as Exhibit F hereto to pay the principal amount of Bonds maturing on November 15, 2025, (a "Stated Maturity Drawing" and together with Interest Drawings, Redemption Drawings and Liquidity Drawings collectively referred to herein as "Drawings" and individually as a "Drawing"), each certificate to state therein that it is given by your duly authorized officer and to be dated the date such certificate is presented hereunder. No Drawings shall be made under this Letter of Credit for Ineligible Bonds (as defined in the Reimbursement Agreement).

The term "Cancellation Agreement" shall mean the Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement dated as of June 1, 2011 entered into by and among the City, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent/Register and Tender Agent, the Bank, KBC Bank N.V., acting through its New York Branch, Royal Bank of Canada, acting through a New York branch, and the Insurer.

All Drawings shall be made by presentation of each Payment Document to JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association by facsimile (at facsimile number (312) 954-6163 or alternatively to (312) 954-3140), Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Unit, or at such other telecopier number as we may specify to you in writing without need of further documentation,

including the original of this Letter of Credit, it being understood that each Payment Document so submitted is to be the sole operative instrument of drawing.

The Bank agrees to honor and pay the amount of any Interest Drawing, Redemption Drawing, Liquidity Drawing or Stated Maturity Drawing if presented in compliance with all of the terms of this Letter of Credit. If such drawing, other than a Liquidity Drawing, is presented prior to 2:00 P.M., New York time, on a Business Day, payment shall be made in immediately available funds, by 11:00 A.M., New York time, on the following Business Day. If any such drawing, other than a Liquidity Drawing, is presented at or after 2:00 P.M., New York time, on a Business Day, payment shall be made in immediately available funds, by 11:00 A.M., New York time, on the second following Business Day. If a Liquidity Drawing is presented to the Bank prior to 12:25 P.M., New York time, on a Business Day, payment shall be made in immediately available funds, by 2:30 P.M., New York time, on the same Business Day. If a Liquidity Drawing is presented at or after 12:25 p.m., New York time, payment shall be made in immediately available funds, by 3:00 P.M., New York time, on the following Business Day. Payments made hereunder shall be made by wire transfer to you in accordance with the instructions specified by the Beneficiary in the drawing certificate relating to a particular drawing hereunder. "Business Day" means any day which is not (i) a Saturday, a Sunday or legal holiday, or (ii) a day on which the payment office of the Bank for Drawings is located, is required or authorized by law to remain closed.

The Available Amount (as hereinafter defined) will be reduced automatically by the amount of any Drawing hereunder; *provided, however*, that the amount of any Interest Drawing hereunder shall be automatically reinstated on the fifth (5th) calendar day following the date any Interest Drawing is honored if you shall not have received notice from us in the form of Exhibit A-1 or Exhibit A-2 attached to the Cancellation Agreement (for convenience a copy of such exhibits are also attached here to as Exhibit L) prior to such time that a City Event of Default has occurred under the Reimbursement Agreement directing the Beneficiary to cause a mandatory tender of the Bonds. After payment by the Bank of a Liquidity Drawing, the obligation of the Bank to honor Drawings under this Letter of Credit will be automatically reduced by an amount equal to the amount of said Drawing. In addition, prior to the Conversion Date, in the event of the remarketing of the Bonds (or portions thereof) previously purchased with the proceeds of a Liquidity Drawing, the Bank's obligations to honor Drawings hereunder will be automatically reinstated concurrently with receipt by the Bank of a certificate in the form of Exhibit H attached hereto and receipt by the Bank or the Beneficiary for the account of the Bank of the amount stated on such Exhibit H.

Upon receipt by the Bank of a certificate of the Beneficiary in the form of Exhibit G hereto, the Available Amount will automatically and permanently be reduced by the amount specified in such certificate. Such reduction shall be effective as of the next Business Day following the date of delivery of such certificate.

Upon any permanent reduction of the Available Amount to be drawn under this Letter of Credit, as provided herein, we will deliver to you an amendment to this Letter of Credit substantially in the form of Exhibit K attached hereto to reflect any such reduction. The

"Available Amount" shall mean the Original Stated Amount (i) less the amount of all permanent prior reductions pursuant to Interest Drawings, Redemption Drawings or Liquidity Drawings, (ii) less the amount of any previous reduction thereof pursuant to a reduction certificate in the form of Exhibit G (to the extent such reduction is not already accounted for by a reduction in the Available Amount pursuant to clause (i) above), and (iii) plus the amount of all reinstatements as above provided.

Prior to the Termination Date, we may extend the Stated Expiration Date from time to time at the request of the Applicant by delivering to you an amendment to this Letter of Credit in the form of Exhibit J hereto designating the date to which the Stated Expiration Date is being extended. All references in this Letter of Credit to the Stated Expiration Date shall be deemed to be references to the date designated as such in the most recent of such notices. Any date to which the Stated Expiration Date has been extended as herein provided may be extended in a like manner.

Upon the Termination Date, this Letter of Credit shall automatically terminate.

This Letter of Credit is transferable only in whole to your successor as Paying Agent/Registrar and Tender Agent under the Ordinance. Any such transfer (including any successive transfer) shall be subject to the Bank's receipt of a transfer request signed by the transferor and by the transferee in the form of Exhibit I hereto and payment of our transfer fee. Upon our endorsement of such transfer the transferee instead of the transferor shall be entitled to all the benefits of and rights under this Letter of Credit in the transferor's place; *provided* that, in such case, any certificate of the Beneficiary to be provided hereunder shall be signed by one who states therein that he is a duly authorized officer of the transferee.

Communications with respect to this Letter of Credit shall be addressed to us at JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, 131 South Dearborn, 5th Floor, Mail Code IL1-0236, Chicago, Illinois 60603-0236, Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Unit, specifically referring to the number of this Letter of Credit. For telephone assistance, please contact the Standby Client Service Unit at 1-800-634-1969, select Option 1, and have this Letter of Credit number available.

To the extent not inconsistent with the express terms hereof, this Letter of Credit shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the terms of the International Standby Practice ISP98 ("ISP98"). As to matters not governed by the ISP98, this Letter of Credit shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Article 5 of the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in the State of Texas.

All payments made by us hereunder shall be made from our own funds and not with the funds of any other person.

This Letter of Credit sets forth in full the terms of our undertaking, and such undertaking shall not in any way be modified or amended by reference to any other document whatsoever.

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By:		
Name:		
Title:		

EXHIBIT A

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-926106

NOTICE OF CONVERSION DATE

[Date]

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association 131 South Dearborn, 5th Floor Mail Code IL1-0236 Chicago, Illinois 60603-5506 Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Unit

Telecopy No.: (312) 954-6163

Alternate Telecopy No.: (312) 954-3140

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Reference is hereby made to that certain Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. CPCS-926106, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"), which has been established by the Bank for the account of the Applicant, in favor of the Beneficiary.

The undersigned hereby certifies and confirms that the Conversion Date of all of the Bonds to bear interest at a rate other than a Weekly Rate (as defined in the Ordinance) has occurred on [insert date], and, accordingly, the Letter of Credit shall terminate on _____, which is one (1) Business Day after such Conversion Date, in accordance with its terms.

All defined terms used herein which are not otherwise defined herein shall have the same meaning as in the Letter of Credit.

		,
as B	eneficiary	
By _		
-	[Title of Authorized Officer]	

Ехнівіт В

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-926106

NOTICE OF TERMINATION

[Date]

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association 131 South Dearborn, 5th Floor Mail Code IL1-0236 Chicago, Illinois 60603-5506 Attention: Standby Latter of Credit Unit

Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Unit

Telecopy No.: (312) 954-6163

Alternate Telecopy No.: (312) 954-3140

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Reference is hereby made to that certain Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. CPCS-926106, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"), which has been established by the Bank for the account of the Applicant, in favor of the Beneficiary.

The undersigned hereby certifies and confirms that (i) no Bonds remain Outstanding within the meaning of the Ordinance, (ii) all drawings required to be made under the Ordinance and available under the Letter of Credit have been made and honored and the Available Amount under the Letter of Credit has been reduced to zero and may not be reinstated, or (iii) a substitute credit facility has been issued to replace the Letter of Credit pursuant to the Ordinance and the Letter of Credit Reimbursement Agreement dated June 1, 2011, by and between the Applicant and the Bank, and, accordingly, the Letter of Credit shall terminate in accordance with its terms on the date that is one (1) Business Day after the date of your receipt of this Notice of Termination.

All defined terms used herein which are not otherwise defined herein shall have the same meaning as in the Letter of Credit.

as Beneficiary	,
Ву	
[Title of Authorized Office	erl

EXHIBIT C

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-926106

INTEREST DRAWING CERTIFICATE

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Unit Telecopy No.: (312) 954-6163

Alternate Telecopy No.: (312) 954-3140

The undersigned individual, a duly authorized officer of _______ (the "Beneficiary"), hereby CERTIFIES on behalf of the Beneficiary as follows with respect to (i) that certain Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. CPCS-926106, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"), issued by JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, in favor of the Beneficiary; (ii) those certain Bonds (as defined in the Letter of Credit); and (iii) that certain Ordinance (as defined in the Letter of Credit):

- 1. The Beneficiary is the Paying Agent/Registrar under the Ordinance.
- 2. The Beneficiary is entitled to make this Drawing in the amount of \$_____ under the Letter of Credit pursuant to the Ordinance with respect to the payment of interest due on all Bonds outstanding on the Interest Payment Date (as defined in the Ordinance) occurring on [insert applicable date], other than Ineligible Bonds (as defined in the Reimbursement Agreement).
- 3. The amount of this Drawing is equal to the amount required to be drawn by the Paying Agent/Registrar pursuant to the Ordinance.
- 4. The amount of the drawing made by this Certificate was computed in compliance with the terms of the Ordinance and, when added to the amount of any other drawing under the Letter of Credit made simultaneously herewith, does not exceed the Available Amount (as defined in the Letter of Credit).

Exhibit C
To
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
Letter of Credit No. _____(Continued)

5.	Payment	by the	Bank	pursuant	to	this	drawing	shall	be	made	to
				, ABA N	Jumb	er		, A	ccour	ıt Num	ber
		, Atte	ention:								,
In	WITNESS	WHEREOF	, this	Certificate	has	been	executed	this		day	of
		, 20									
								, as B	enefic	ciary	
				By							
				_		[Title	e of Author	rized O	fficer	1	

Ехнівіт D

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-926106

REDEMPTION DRAWING

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Unit Telecopy No.: (312) 954-6163 Alternate Telecopy No.: (312) 954-3140
The undersigned individual, a duly authorized officer of (the "Beneficiary"), hereby CERTIFIES on behalf of the Beneficiary as
follows with respect to (i) that certain Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. CPCS-926106, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"), issued by JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, in favor of the Beneficiary; (ii) those certain Bonds (as defined in the Letter of Credit); and (iii) that certain Ordinance (as defined in the Letter of Credit):
1. The Beneficiary is the Paying Agent/Registrar under the Ordinance.
2. The Beneficiary is entitled to make this Drawing in the amount of \$under the Letter of Credit pursuant to Section [](with respect to Bonds that bear interest at the Weekly Rate) of the Ordinance.
3. (a) The amount of this Drawing is equal to (i) the principal amount of Bonds to be redeemed by the Applicant (as defined in the Letter of Credit) pursuant to Section(with respect to Bonds that bear interest at the Weekly Rate) of the Ordinance on [insert applicable date] (the "Redemption Date") other than Ineligible Bonds (as defined in the Reimbursement Agreement (as defined in the Letter of Credit)), plus (ii) interest on such Bonds accrued from the immediately preceding Interest Payment Date (as defined in the Ordinance) to the Redemption Date, provided that in the event the Redemption Date coincides with an Interest Payment Date this Drawing does not include any accrued interest on such Bonds.
(b) Of the amount stated in paragraph 2 above:
(i) \$ is demanded in respect of the principal amount of the Bonds referred to in subparagraph (a) above; and
(ii) \$ is demanded in respect of accrued interest on such Bonds.
4. Payment by the Bank pursuant to this drawing shall be made to, ABA Number, Account

Exhibit D
To
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
Letter of Credit No. CPCS-926106
(Continued)

Number _		, Attention:		, Re:
		·		
with the drawing u	The amount of the Draterms and conditions of tunder the Letter of Credit as defined in the Letter of	the Ordinance and, who made simultaneously he	en added to the	amount of any other
permanen Amount s reduced b	Upon payment of the atly reduce the Available shall thereupon equal \$\int \text{ins} \text{oy} an amount equal to the days' interest thereon at	Amount by \$[insert amogert new Available Amogert principal of Bonds page 2]	nount of reduction unt]. The Availa aid with this draw	n] and the Available ble Amount has been wing and an amount
7.	Of the amount of the re	eduction stated in parag	raph 6 above:	
re	(i) \$deemed; and	is attributable to	the principal	amount of Bonds
in	(ii) \$terest thereon at the Cap II	is attributable to interest Rate).	terest on such B	Bonds (i.e., days'
8.	The amount of the rewith the provisions of the	reduction in the Availa	able Amount has	s been computed in

9. Following the reduction, the Available Amount shall be at least equal to the

aggregate principal amount of the Bonds outstanding, to the extent such Bonds are not Bonds that bear interest at a rate other than a Weekly Rate, plus __ days' interest thereon at the Cap

Interest Rate.

Exhibit D
To
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
Letter of Credit No. CPCS-926106
(Continued)

In	WITNESS	WHEREOF,	this	Certificate	has	been	executed	this		day	of
 	· ·	·									
									, as		
]	Benef	ficiary					
				By							
				2)		[Tit]	e of Autho	rized	Officerl		

Ехнівіт Е

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-926106

LIQUIDITY DRAWING CERTIFICATE

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Unit Telecopy No.: (312) 954-6163 Alternate Telecopy No.: (312) 954-3140
The undersigned individual, a duly authorized officer of (the "Beneficiary") hereby CERTIFIES as follows with respect to (i) that certain Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. CPCS-926106, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"), issued by JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, in favor of the Beneficiary; (ii) those certain Bonds (as defined in the Letter of Credit); and (iii) that certain Ordinance (as defined in the Letter of Credit):
1. The Beneficiary is the Tender Agent under the Ordinance.
2. The Beneficiary is entitled to make this Drawing under the Letter of Credit in the amount of \$ with respect to the payment of the purchase price of Bonds tendered for purchase in accordance with Section (with respect to Bonds that bear interest at the Weekly Rate] of the Ordinance and to be purchased on [insert applicable date] (the "Purchase Date") which Bonds have not been remarketed as provided in the Ordinance or the purchase price of which has not been received by the Beneficiary by A.M., New York time, on said Purchase Date.
3. (a) The amount of this Drawing is equal to (i) the principal amount of Bonds to be purchased pursuant to the Ordinance on the Purchase Date other than Ineligible Bonds (as defined in the Reimbursement Agreement as defined in the Letter of Credit)) plus (ii) interest on such Bonds accrued from the immediately preceding Interest Payment Date (as defined in the Ordinance) (or, if none, the date of issuance of the Bonds) to the Purchase Date, provided that in the event the Purchase Date coincides with an Interest Payment Date this drawing does not include any accrued interest on such Bonds.
(b) Of the amount stated in subparagraph (2) above:
(i) \$ is demanded in respect of the principal portion of the purchase price of the Bonds referred to in subparagraph (2) above; and
(ii) \$ is demanded in respect of payment of the interest portion of the purchase price of such Bonds.

- 4. The amount of the Drawing made by this Certificate was computed in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Ordinance and, when added to the amount of any other drawing under the Letter of Credit made simultaneously herewith, does not exceed the Available Amount (as defined in the Letter of Credit).
- 5. The Beneficiary will register or cause to be registered in the name of the Bank upon payment of the amount drawn hereunder, Bonds in the principal amount of the Bonds being purchased with the amounts drawn hereunder, and such Bonds will be held in accordance with the Ordinance.

		•	•			-			Drawing				
Numb													
	In	WITNESS	WHE	REOF,	this (Certificate	has	been	executed	this		_ day	of
						I		ïciary			,	as	
						By							
						,			e of Author				

Ехнівіт F

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-926106

STATED MATURITY DRAWING CERTIFICATE

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Unit
Telecopy No.: (312) 954-6163
Alternate Telecopy No.: (312) 954-3140
The undersigned individual, a duly authorized officer of (the "Beneficiary"), hereby Certifies on behalf of the Beneficiary as follows with respect to (i) that certain Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. CPCS-926106, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"), issued by JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, in favor of the Beneficiary; (ii) those certain Bonds (as defined in the Letter of Credit); and (iii) that certain Ordinance (as defined in the Letter of Credit):
1. The Beneficiary is the Paying Agent/Registrar under the Ordinance.
2. The Beneficiary is entitled to make this drawing in the amount of \$under the Letter of Credit pursuant to the Ordinance.
3. The amount of this Drawing is equal to the principal amount of Bonds maturing on,, as specified in the Ordinance, other than Ineligible Bonds (as defined in the Reimbursement Agreement as defined in the Letter of Credit)).
4. The amount of this Drawing made by this Certificate was computed in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Ordinance and, when added to the amount of any other drawing under the Letter of Credit made simultaneously herewith, does not exceed the Available Amount (as defined in the Letter of Credit).
5. Payment by the Bank pursuant to this Drawing shall be made to, ABA Number, Account Number
, Attention:, Re:

Exhibit F
To
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
Letter of Credit No. CPCS-926106
(Continued)

In	WITNESS	WHEREOF,	this	Certificate	has	been	executed	this		day	of
 	,	·									
									, as		
				I	Benef	iciary					
				By							
				Бу		[Title	e of Author	ized (Officerl		

EXHIBIT G

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-926106

REDUCTION CERTIFICATE

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Unit Telecopy No.: (312) 954-6163

Alternate Telecopy No.: (312) 954-3140

The undersigned hereby CERTIFIES as follows with respect to (i) that certain Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. CPCS-926106, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"), issued by JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association in favor of the Beneficiary; (ii) those certain Bonds (as defined in the Letter of Credit); and (iii) that certain Ordinance (as defined in the Letter of Credit):

- 1. The Beneficiary is the Paying Agent/Registrar under the Ordinance.
- 2. The Beneficiary shall deliver this Certificate to the Bank at the direction of the Applicant pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance.
- 3. Upon receipt by the Bank of this Certificate, the Available Amount (as defined in the Letter of Credit) shall be reduced by \$______, and the Available Amount shall thereupon equal \$_____. \$_____ of the new Available Amount is attributable to interest.
- 4. The interest amount of the reduction in the Available Amount has been computed in accordance with the provisions of the Letter of Credit.
- 5. Following the reduction, the Available Amount shall be at least equal to the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds outstanding plus __ days' interest thereon at the Cap Interest Rate (as defined in the Letter of Credit).

Exhibit G
To
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
Letter of Credit No. CPCS-926106
(Continued)

In	WITNESS	WHEREOF,	this	Certificate	has	been	executed	this		day	of
		·									
				as	Bene	ficiary					,
						, J					
				Ву	·						
						[Tit]	e of Autho	rized	Officerl		

Ехнівіт Н

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-926106

REINSTATEMENT CERTIFICATE

[Date]
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Unit Telecopy No.: (312) 954-6163 Alternate Telecopy No.: (312) 954-3140
The undersigned, a duly authorized officer of (the "Beneficiary"), hereby notifies JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, with reference to Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. CPCS-926106, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"; terms defined therein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Letter of Credit) issued by the Bank in favor of the Beneficiary as follows:
1 is the Remarketing Agent under the Ordinance.
2. The Beneficiary has been advised by the Bank that the amount of has been paid to the Bank or the Beneficiary for the account of the Bank on the date hereof by the Applicant or the Remarketing Agent on behalf of the Applicant as a payment made to reimburse the Bank, pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreement for amounts drawn under the Letter of Credit pursuant to a Liquidity Drawing.
3. Of the amount referred to in paragraph 2, \$ represents the aggregate principal amount of Bonds resold or to be resold on behalf of the Applicant.
4. Of the amount referred to in paragraph 2, \$ represents accrued and unpaid interest on such Bonds.

Exhibit H
To
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
Letter of Credit No. CPCS-926106
(Continued)

this _	In WITNESS day of _		y has executed	and delivered this Certificate as of
				, Beneficiary
			Ву	
			Title:	

Ехнівіт І

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-926106

TRANSFER REQUEST

Date

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association 131 South Dearborn, 5th Floor Mail Code IL1-0236 Chicago, Illinois 60603-5506

Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Unit

Re: Irrevocable Transferable Direct-Pay Letter of Credit No. CPCS-926106, dated June 21, 2011

We, the undersigned "Transferor", hereby irrevocably transfer all of our rights to draw under the above referenced Letter of Credit (the "Letter of Credit") in its entirety to:

NAME OF TRANSFEREE (Print Name and complete address of the Transferee) "Transferee" ADDRESS OF TRANSFEREE CITY, STATE/COUNTRY ZIP

In accordance with ISP98 (as defined in the Letter of Credit), Rule 6, regarding transfer of drawing rights, all rights of the undersigned Transferor in the Letter of Credit are transferred to the Transferee, who shall have the sole rights as beneficiary thereof, including sole rights relating to any amendments whether increases or extensions or other amendments and whether now existing or hereafter made. All amendments are to be advised directly to the Transferee without necessity of any consent of or notice to the undersigned Transferor.

The original Letter of Credit, including amendments to this date, is attached and the undersigned Transferor requests that you endorse an acknowledgment of this transfer on the reverse thereof. The undersigned Transferor requests that you notify the Transferee of the

Exhibit I to
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
Letter of Credit No. CPCS-926106
(continued)

transfer of this Letter of Credit in such form and manner as you deem appropriate and of the terms and conditions of the Letter of Credit as transferred.

If you agree to these instructions, please advise the Transferee of the terms and conditions of the transferred Letter of Credit and these instructions.

Payment of your transfer fee of \$_____ is for the account of the Applicant (as defined in the Letter of Credit) which, agrees to pay you on demand any expense or cost you may incur in connection with this transfer. Receipt of such transfer fee shall not constitute consent by you to effect the transfer.

The undersigned Transferor represents and warrants that (a) the Transferee is the Transferor's successor Beneficiary as Paying Agent/Registrar and Tender Agent under the Ordinance, (b) the enclosed Letter of Credit is original and complete, and (c) there is no outstanding or pending demand or request for payment, reinstatement or reduction of the Available Amount or transfer under the Letter of Credit affecting the rights to be transferred.

The effective date of the transfer of the Letter of Credit shall be the date hereafter on which you effect the requested transfer by acknowledging this request and giving notice thereof to Transferee.

WE WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY THAT WE MAY HAVE IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING RELATING TO OR ARISING OUT OF THIS TRANSFER.

This Transfer Request is made subject to ISP98 and is subject to and shall be governed by the law of the State of Texas, without regard to principles of conflict of laws that might require the application of a different governing law.

(Signature Page Follows)

Sincerely yours,	SIGNATURE GUARANTEED Signature(s) with title(s) conform(s) with that/those on
(Print Name of Transferor)	file with us for this individual, entity or company and signer(s) is/are authorized to execute this agreement
(Transferor's Authorized Signature)	(Print Name of Bank)
	(Address of Bank)
(Print Authorized Signers Name and Title)	(City, State, Zip Code)
(Telephone Number/Fax Number)	(Print Name and Title of Authorized Signer)
	(Authorized Signature)
	(Telephone Number)
	(Date)
Acknowledged:	SIGNATURE GUARANTEED
(Print Name of Transferee)	Signature(s) with title(s) conform(s) with that/those on file with us for this individual, entity or company and signer(s) is/are authorized to execute this agreement.
(Transferee's Authorized Signature)	(Print Name of Bank)
(Print Authorized Signers Name and Title)	(Address of Bank)
	(City, State, Zip Code)
(Telephone Number/Fax Number)	(Print Name and Title of Authorized Signer)
	(Authorized Signature)
	(Telephone Number)
Acknowledged as of, 20:	(Date)
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.	
By: Name:	

Title:

Ехнівіт Ј

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-926106

NOTICE OF EXTENSION AMENDMENT

	S FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, AS BENEFICIARY
	ain St., Ste 301
	Γ5441-030
	Vorth, TX 76102
-	817.334.7068
	817.885.8650
email:	kathleen.r.wagner@wellsfargo.com
CITY	OF AUSTIN TEXAS
700 La	avaca, Suite 940
Austin	, Texas 78701
Attent	ion: City Treasurer
Ladies	and Gentlemen:
favor a	Reference is hereby made to that certain Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of No. CPCS-926106, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"), established by us in your as Beneficiary. We hereby notify you that the Stated Expiration Date (as defined in the of Credit) has been extended to
	All other terms and conditions of the Letter of Credit remain unchanged.
part th	This Notice of Extension Amendment shall be attached to the Letter of Credit and made a ereof.
	JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
	By

Ехнівіт К

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-926106

NOTICE OF REDUCTION AMENDMENT

[Date]
Vells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Beneficiary
ttention:
ity of Austin, Texas
00 Lavaca, Suite 940
ustin, Texas 78701
ttention: City Treasurer
adies and Gentlemen:
Reference is hereby made to that certain Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of redit No. CPCS-926106, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"), established by us in your as Beneficiary. We hereby notify you that, in accordance with the terms of the Letter of redit, the Available Amount (as defined in the Letter of Credit) has been reduced to U.S. , of which U.S. \$
All other terms and conditions of the Letter of Credit remain unchanged.
This Notice of Reduction Amendment shall be attached to the Letter of Credit and made part thereof.
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
Ву
Name:
Title:

EXHIBIT L

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-926106

Exhibit A-1 to Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement

Notice of Mandatory Tender and Cancellation of Insurance Policy No. 205494-N

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent/Registrar and Tender Agent 201 Main St., Ste 301 MAC T5441-030

Fort Worth, TX 76102

ph: 817.334.7068 fax: 817.885.8650

email: kathleen.r.wagner@wellsfargo.com

City of Austin, Texas 700 Lavaca, Suite 940 Austin, Texas 78701 Attention: City Treasurer

Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp.

Re: Municipal Bond Insurance Policy No. 205494-N; City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT)

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned, constituting the Required Banks under the Reimbursement Agreements, hereby advise you that

[Insert one of the following paragraphs as appropriate]

[a City Event of Default has occurred and pursuant to Section 6.3(a) of the Reimbursement Agreements the Required Banks hereby direct the Paying Agent/Registrar (i) to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance,

Exhibit L to
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
Letter of Credit No. CPCS-926106
(continued)

whereby the Letters of Credit will terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Cancellation of Insurance Policy No. 205494-N (this "Notice"), and (ii) to cause Municipal Bond Insurance Policy No. 205494-N to terminate in accordance with the terms of the Cancellation Agreement.]

[an Insurer Event of Default or an Insurer Downgrade Event has occurred and pursuant to Section 6.4(a) of the Reimbursement Agreements the Required Banks hereby direct the Paying Agent/Registrar (i) to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance and (ii) to cause Municipal Bond Insurance Policy No. 205494-N to terminate in accordance with the terms of the Cancellation Agreement on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent'/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Cancellation of Insurance Policy No. 205494-N (this "Notice").]

All capitalized terms used in this Notice and not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreements dated June 1, 2011, by and between the City of Austin, Texas and, respectively, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, Royal Bank of Canada, acting through its WFC, New York, Branch and KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch, (as in effect on the date hereof, the "Reimbursement Agreements").

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the under day of, 20	signed have executed and delivered this Notice the _
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK,	KBC BANK N.V.
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION	By:
By:	Бу
	Name:
Name:	Title:
Title:	
DOVAL DANIZ OF CANADA	
ROYAL BANK OF CANADA	
By:	
Name:	
Title:	
HOU:3100838.13	

Exhibit A-2 to Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement

Notice of Mandatory Tender and Termination of the Letters of Credit (Insurance Policy Not Cancelled)

[Date]

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent/Registrar and Tender Agent 201 Main St., Ste 301 MAC T5441-030

Fort Worth, TX 76102 ph: 817.334.7068 fax: 817.885.8650

email: kathleen.r.wagner@wellsfargo.com

City of Austin, Texas 700 Lavaca, Suite 940 Austin, Texas 78701 Attention: City Treasurer

Re: City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT)

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned, constituting the Required Banks under the Reimbursement Agreements, hereby advise you that:

[Insert one of the following paragraphs as appropriate]

[a City Event of Default and an Insurer Event of Default have occurred and pursuant to Section 6.3(a) of the Reimbursement Agreements the Required Banks hereby direct the Paying Agent/Registrar to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, whereby the Letters of Credit will terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Termination of the Letters of Credit (this "Notice").]

Exhibit L to JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association Letter of Credit No. CPCS-926106 (continued)

[the City has failed to pay the Letter of Credit Fee and pursuant to Section 6.4(b) of the Reimbursement Agreements the Required Banks hereby direct the Paying Agent/Registrar to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, whereby the Letters of Credit will terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Termination of the Letters of Credit (this "Notice").]

[an Insurer Event of Default or an Insurer Downgrade Event has occurred and is continuing, and a City Event of Default has also occurred and is continuing and pursuant to Section 6.4(c) of the Reimbursement Agreements the Required Banks hereby direct the Paying Agent/Registrar to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, whereby the Letters of Credit will terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Termination of the Letters of Credit (this "Notice").]

All capitalized terms and used in this Notice and not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreements dated June 1, 2011, by and between the City of Austin, Texas and, respectively, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, Royal Bank of Canada, acting through a New York branch, and KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its WFC, New York, Branch (as in effect on the date hereof, the "Reimbursement Agreements").

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed and delivered this Notice the __day of _____, 20__.

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By:_____

Name:____

Title:____

Title:____

_

ROYAL BANK OF CANADA

HOU:3100838.13

Exhibit L to
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
Letter of Credit No. CPCS-926106
(continued)

Name:	 		
Title:			

APPENDIX A-2 TO REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT FOR SUBSERIES 2005-2 BONDS

FORM OF IRREVOCABLE TRANSFERABLE DIRECT PAY LETTER OF CREDIT No. CPCS-927415

June 21, 2011

Letter of Credit No. CPCS-927415

Beneficiary:

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent/Registrar and Tender Agent (the "Beneficiary") 201 Main St., Ste 301 MAC T5441-030 Fort Worth, TX 76102

ph: 817.334.7068 fax: 817.885.8650

email: kathleen.r.wagner@wellsfargo.com

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We (the "Bank") hereby establish in your favor as beneficiary (the "Beneficiary"), for the benefit of the holders of the Bonds (as hereinafter defined), our Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. CPCS-927415 for the account of the City of Austin, Texas (the "Applicant"), whereby we hereby irrevocably authorize you to draw on us from time to time, from and after the date hereof to and including the earliest to occur of our close of business on: (i) June 21, 2014 (as extended from time to time, the "Stated Expiration Date"), (ii) the date which is one (1) Business Day following the date on which all of the Bonds (as hereinafter defined) are converted to bear interest at a rate other than a Weekly Rate as defined in Ordinance No. 20050804-039 of the City of Austin, Texas, as amended by Ordinance No. (together, the "Ordinance"), as such date is specified in a certificate in the form of Exhibit A hereto (the "Conversion Date"), (iii) the date which is one (1) Business Day following receipt by the Bank of a certificate in the form set forth as Exhibit B hereto, (iv) the date on which a Stated Maturity Drawing (as hereinafter defined) is honored by us, (v) the date which is sixteen (16) days following receipt by you of a written notice from us in the form of Exhibit A-2 attached to the Cancellation Agreement (as defined herein) (for convenience a copy of such exhibit is also attached here to as Exhibit L) specifying the occurrence of a City Event of Default as defined in the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement dated June 1, 2011 (as amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the "Reimbursement Agreement"), by and between the Applicant and the Bank, and directing you to cause a mandatory tender of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance (the earliest of such dates to occur referred to herein as the "Termination Date"), in each such case a maximum aggregate amount not exceeding Sixty-Three Million One Hundred Thirty-One Thousand Two Hundred Dollars (\$63,131,200; the "Original Stated Amount") to pay the unpaid principal amount of, or the portion of the purchase price corresponding to the principal of, and

accrued interest on, or the portion of the purchase price corresponding to accrued interest on, the City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT), Subseries 2005-2 (the "Bonds") (said \$63,131,200 having been calculated to be equal to \$62,050,000 the outstanding principal amount of the Bonds, plus \$1,081,200, which is at least 53 days accrued interest on said principal amount of the Bonds at the rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum (the "Cap Interest Rate") calculated on the basis of a 365/366 day year). This Letter of Credit is available to you against presentation of the following documents (the "Payment Documents") presented to the Bank as described below:

A certificate (with all blanks appropriately completed) (i) in the form attached as Exhibit C hereto to pay accrued interest on the Bonds as provided for in the Ordinance (an "Interest Drawing"), (ii) in the form attached as Exhibit D hereto to pay the principal amount of and accrued interest on the Bonds in respect of any redemption of the Bonds as provided for in Sections A-301 and A-302 of the Ordinance (a "Redemption Drawing"), (iii) in the form attached as Exhibit E hereto, to allow the Beneficiary to pay the purchase price of Bonds tendered for purchase as provided for in Section A-401 of the Ordinance which have not been successfully remarketed or for which the purchase price has not been received by the Beneficiary by 12:00 noon., New York time, on the purchase date (a "Liquidity Drawing") or (iv) in the form attached as Exhibit F hereto to pay the principal amount of Bonds maturing on November 15, 2025 (a "Stated Maturity Drawing" and together with Interest Drawings, Redemption Drawings and Liquidity Drawings collectively referred to herein as "Drawings" and individually as a "Drawing"), each certificate to state therein that it is given by your duly authorized officer and to be dated the date such certificate is presented hereunder. No Drawings shall be made under this Letter of Credit for Ineligible Bonds (as defined in the Reimbursement Agreement).

The term "Cancellation Agreement" shall mean the Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement dated as of June 1, 2011 entered into by and among the City, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent/Register and Tender Agent, the Bank, KBC Bank N.V. acting through its New York Branch, Royal Bank of Canada, acting through a New York branch, and the Insurer.

All Drawings shall be made by presentation of each Payment Document to JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association by facsimile (at facsimile number (312) 954-6163 or alternatively to (312) 954-3140), Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Unit, or at such other telecopier number as we may specify to you in writing without need of further documentation, including the original of this Letter of Credit, it being understood that each Payment Document so submitted is to be the sole operative instrument of drawing.

The Bank agrees to honor and pay the amount of any Interest Drawing, Redemption Drawing, Liquidity Drawing or Stated Maturity Drawing if presented in compliance with all of the terms of this Letter of Credit. If such drawing, other than a Liquidity Drawing, is presented prior to 2:00 P.M., New York time, on a Business Day, payment shall be made in immediately available funds, by 11:00 A.M., New York time, on the following Business Day. If any such drawing, other than a Liquidity Drawing, is presented at or after 2:00 P.M., New York time, on a Business Day, payment shall be made in immediately available funds, by 11:00 A.M., New York time, on the second following Business Day. If a Liquidity Drawing is presented to the Bank prior to 12:25 P.M., New York time, on a Business Day, payment shall be made in immediately available funds, by 2:30 P.M., New York time, on the same Business Day. If a Liquidity Drawing is presented at or after 12:25 p.m., New York time, payment shall be made in immediately available funds, by 3:00 P.M., New York time, on the following Business Day. Payments made hereunder shall be made by wire transfer to you in accordance with the instructions specified by the Beneficiary in the drawing certificate relating to a particular drawing hereunder. "Business Day" means any day which is not (i) a Saturday, a Sunday or legal holiday, or (ii) a day on which the presentation office of the Bank for Drawings is required or authorized by law to remain closed.

The Available Amount (as hereinafter defined) will be reduced automatically by the amount of any Drawing hereunder; *provided, however*, that the amount of any Interest Drawing hereunder shall be automatically reinstated on the fifth (5th) calendar day following the date any Interest Drawing is honored if you shall not have received notice from us in the form of Exhibit A-1 or Exhibit A-2 attached to the Cancellation Agreement (for convenience a copy of such exhibits are also attached here to as Exhibit L) prior to such time that a City Event of Default has occurred under the Reimbursement Agreement directing the Beneficiary to cause a mandatory tender of the Bonds. After payment by the Bank of a Liquidity Drawing, the obligation of the Bank to honor Drawings under this Letter of Credit will be automatically reduced by an amount equal to the amount of said Drawing. In addition, prior to the Conversion Date, in the event of the remarketing of the Bonds (or portions thereof) previously purchased with the proceeds of a Liquidity Drawing, the Bank's obligations to honor Drawings hereunder will be automatically reinstated concurrently with receipt by the Bank of a certificate in the form of Exhibit H attached hereto and receipt by the Bank or the Beneficiary for the account of the Bank of the amount stated on such Exhibit H.

Upon receipt by the Bank of a certificate of the Beneficiary in the form of Exhibit G hereto, the Available Amount will automatically and permanently be reduced by the amount specified in such certificate. Such reduction shall be effective as of the next Business Day following the date of delivery of such certificate.

Upon any permanent reduction of the Available Amount to be drawn under this Letter of Credit, as provided herein, we will deliver to you an amendment to this Letter of Credit substantially in the form of Exhibit K attached hereto to reflect any such reduction. The "Available Amount" shall mean the Original Stated Amount (i) less the amount of all permanent prior reductions pursuant to Interest Drawings, Redemption Drawings or Liquidity Drawings, (ii) less the amount of any previous reduction thereof pursuant to a reduction certificate in the

form of Exhibit G (to the extent such reduction is not already accounted for by a reduction in the Available Amount pursuant to clause (i) above), and (iii) plus the amount of all reinstatements as above provided.

Prior to the Termination Date, we may extend the Stated Expiration Date from time to time at the request of the Applicant by delivering to you an amendment to this Letter of Credit in the form of Exhibit J hereto designating the date to which the Stated Expiration Date is being extended. All references in this Letter of Credit to the Stated Expiration Date shall be deemed to be references to the date designated as such in the most recent of such notices. Any date to which the Stated Expiration Date has been extended as herein provided may be extended in a like manner.

Upon the Termination Date, this Letter of Credit shall automatically terminate.

This Letter of Credit is transferable only in whole to your successor as Paying Agent/Registrar and Tender Agent under the Ordinance. Any such transfer (including any successive transfer) shall be subject to the Bank's receipt of a transfer request signed by the transferor and by the transferee in the form of Exhibit I hereto and payment of our transfer fee. Upon our endorsement of such transfer, the transferee instead of the transferor shall be entitled to all the benefits of and rights under this Letter of Credit in the transferor's place; *provided* that, in such case, any certificate of the Beneficiary to be provided hereunder shall be signed by one who states therein that he is a duly authorized officer of the transferee.

Communications with respect to this Letter of Credit shall be addressed to us at JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, 131 South Dearborn, 5th Floor, Mail Code IL1-0236, Chicago, Illinois 60603-0236, Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Unit, specifically referring to the number of this Letter of Credit. For telephone assistance, please contact the Standby Client Service Unit at 1-800-634-1969, select Option 1, and have this Letter of Credit number available.

To the extent not inconsistent with the express terms hereof, this Letter of Credit shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the terms of the International Standby Practice ISP98 ("ISP98"). As to matters not governed by the ISP98, this Letter of Credit shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Article 5 of the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in the State of Texas.

All payments made by us hereunder shall be made from our own funds and not with the funds of any other person.

This Letter of Credit sets forth in full the terms of our undertaking, and such undertaking shall not in any way be modified or amended by reference to any other document whatsoever.

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By:	
Name:	
Title: _	

EXHIBIT A

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-927415

NOTICE OF CONVERSION DATE

Date	
------	--

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association 131 South Dearborn, 5th Floor Mail Code IL1-0236 Chicago, Illinois 60603-5506 Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Unit

Telecopy No.: (312) 954-6163

Alternate Telecopy No.: (312) 954-3140

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Reference is hereby made to that certain Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. CPCS-927415, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"), which has been established by the Bank for the account of the Applicant, in favor of the Beneficiary.

The undersigned hereby certifies and confirms that the Conversion Date of all of the Bonds to bear interest at a rate other than a Weekly Rate (as defined in the Ordinance) has occurred on [insert date], and, accordingly, the Letter of Credit shall terminate on ______, which is one (1) Business Day after such Conversion Date, in accordance with its terms.

All defined terms used herein which are not otherwise defined herein shall have the same meaning as in the Letter of Credit.

as Bene	ficiary	
Dv		
Ву	[Title of Authorized Officer]	

EXHIBIT B

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-927415

NOTICE OF TERMINATION

[Date]

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association 131 South Dearborn, 5th Floor Mail Code IL1-0236 Chicago, Illinois 60603-5506 Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Unit

Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Unit

Telecopy No.: (312) 954-6163

Alternate Telecopy No.: (312) 954-3140

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Reference is hereby made to that certain Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. CPCS-927415, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"), which has been established by the Bank for the account of the Applicant, in favor of the Beneficiary.

The undersigned hereby certifies and confirms that (i) no Bonds remain Outstanding within the meaning of the Ordinance, (ii) all drawings required to be made under the Ordinance and available under the Letter of Credit have been made and honored and the Available Amount under the Letter of Credit has been reduced to zero and may not be reinstated, or (iii) a substitute credit facility has been issued to replace the Letter of Credit pursuant to the Ordinance and the Letter of Credit Reimbursement Agreement dated June 21, 2011, by and between the Applicant and the Bank, and, accordingly, the Letter of Credit shall terminate in accordance with its terms on the date that is one (1) Business Day after the date of your receipt of this Notice of Termination.

All defined terms used herein which are not otherwise defined herein shall have the same meaning as in the Letter of Credit.

as Beneficiary	
Ву	
[Title of A	uthorized Officer]

EXHIBIT C

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-927415

INTEREST DRAWING CERTIFICATE

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Unit Telecopy No.: (312) 954-6163

Alternate Telecopy No.: (312) 954-3140

The undersigned individual, a duly authorized officer of ______ (the "Beneficiary"), hereby CERTIFIES on behalf of the Beneficiary as follows with respect to (i) that certain Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. CPCS-927415, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"), issued by JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, in favor of the Beneficiary; (ii) those certain Bonds (as defined in the Letter of Credit); and (iii) that certain Ordinance (as defined in the Letter of Credit):

- 1. The Beneficiary is the Paying Agent/Registrar under the Ordinance.
- 2. The Beneficiary is entitled to make this Drawing in the amount of \$_____ under the Letter of Credit pursuant to the Ordinance with respect to the payment of interest due on all Bonds outstanding on the Interest Payment Date (as defined in the Ordinance) occurring on [insert applicable date], other than Ineligible Bonds (as defined in the Reimbursement Agreement).
- 3. The amount of this Drawing is equal to the amount required to be drawn by the Paying Agent/Registrar pursuant to the Ordinance.
- 4. The amount of the drawing made by this Certificate was computed in compliance with the terms of the Ordinance and, when added to the amount of any other drawing under the Letter of Credit made simultaneously herewith, does not exceed the Available Amount (as defined in the Letter of Credit).

Exhibit C
To
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
Letter of Credit No. 927415
(Continued)

5.	Payment	by the	e Bank	pursuant	to	this	drawing	shall	be	made	to
				, ABA N	Jumb	er		, A	ccour	t Num	ıber
		, At	tention:								,
	WITNESS			Certificate	has	been	executed	l this		day	of
								, as B	Senefic	ciary	
				By							
				•			e of Author				

Ехнівіт D

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-927415

REDEMPTION DRAWING

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Unit
Telecopy No.: (312) 954-6163
Alternate Telecopy No.: (312) 954-3140
The undersigned individual, a duly authorized officer of
(the "Beneficiary"), hereby CERTIFIES on behalf of the Beneficiary as
follows with respect to (i) that certain Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit
No. CPCS-927415, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"), issued by JPMorgan Chase
Bank, National Association, in favor of the Beneficiary; (ii) those certain Bonds (as defined in
the Letter of Credit); and (iii) that certain Ordinance (as defined in the Letter of Credit):
1. The Beneficiary is the Paying Agent/Registrar under the Ordinance.
2. The Beneficiary is entitled to make this Drawing in the amount of \$
under the Letter of Credit pursuant to Section [](with respect to Bonds that bear
interest at the Weekly Rate) of the Ordinance.
3. (a) The amount of this Drawing is equal to (i) the principal amount of Bonds to be
redeemed by the Applicant (as defined in the Letter of Credit) pursuant to
Section(with respect to Bonds that bear interest at the Weekly Rate) of the
Ordinance on [insert applicable date] (the "Redemption Date") other than Ineligible Bonds (as
defined in the Reimbursement Agreement as defined in the Letter of Credit)), plus (ii) interest on
such Bonds accrued from the immediately preceding Interest Payment Date (as defined in the
Ordinance) to the Redemption Date, provided that in the event the Redemption Date coincides
with an Interest Payment Date this Drawing does not include any accrued interest on such Bonds.
(b) Of the amount stated in paragraph 2 above:
(i) \$ is demanded in respect of the principal amount of the
Bonds referred to in subparagraph (a) above; and
(ii) \$ is demanded in respect of accrued interest on such
Bonds.
4. Payment by the Bank pursuant to this drawing shall be made to
, ABA Number, Account

Exhibit D
To
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
Letter of Credit No. CPCS-927415
(Continued)

·
5. The amount of the Drawing made by this Certificate was computed in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Ordinance and, when added to the amount of any other drawing under the Letter of Credit made simultaneously herewith, does not exceed the Available Amount (as defined in the Letter of Credit).
6. Upon payment of the amount drawn hereunder, the Bank is hereby directed to permanently reduce the Available Amount by \$[insert amount of reduction] and the Available Amount shall thereupon equal \$[insert new Available Amount]. The Available Amount has been reduced by an amount equal to the principal of Bonds paid with this drawing and an amount equal to days' interest thereon at the Cap Interest Rate (as defined in the Letter of Credit).
7. Of the amount of the reduction stated in paragraph 6 above:
(i) \$ is attributable to the principal amount of Bonds redeemed; and
(ii) \$ is attributable to interest on such Bonds (i.e., days' interest thereon at the Cap Interest Rate).
8. The amount of the reduction in the Available Amount has been computed in accordance with the provisions of the Letter of Credit.

9. Following the reduction, the Available Amount shall be at least equal to the

aggregate principal amount of the Bonds outstanding, to the extent such Bonds are not Bonds that bear interest at a rate other than a Weekly Rate, plus __ days' interest thereon at the Cap

Number ______, Attention: ______, Re:

Interest Rate.

Exhibit D
To
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
Letter of Credit No. CPCS-927415
(Continued)

In	WITNESS	WHEREOF,	this	Certificate	has	been	executed	this		day	of
 	,	·									
									, as		
					Benef	ficiary			,		
				By	,						
				Бу		[Titl	e of Autho	rized	Officerl		

Ехнівіт Е

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-927415

LIQUIDITY DRAWING CERTIFICATE

- 4. The amount of the Drawing made by this Certificate was computed in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Ordinance and, when added to the amount of any other drawing under the Letter of Credit made simultaneously herewith, does not exceed the Available Amount (as defined in the Letter of Credit).
- 5. The Beneficiary will register or cause to be registered in the name of the Bank upon payment of the amount drawn hereunder, Bonds in the principal amount of the Bonds being purchased with the amounts drawn hereunder, and such Bonds will be held in accordance with the Ordinance.

		•	•			-			Drawing				
Numb													
	In	WITNESS	WHE	REOF,	this (Certificate	has	been	executed	this		_ day	of
						I		ïciary			,	as	
						By							
						,			e of Author				

Ехнівіт F

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-927415

STATED MATURITY DRAWING CERTIFICATE

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Unit
Telecopy No.: (312) 954-6163
Alternate Telecopy No.: (312) 954-3140
The undersigned individual, a duly authorized officer of (the "Beneficiary"), hereby Certifies on behalf of the Beneficiary as follows with respect to (i) that certain Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. CPCS-927415, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"), issued by JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, in favor of the Beneficiary; (ii) those certain Bonds (as defined in the Letter of Credit); and (iii) that certain Ordinance (as defined in the Letter of Credit):
1. The Beneficiary is the Paying Agent/Registrar under the Ordinance.
2. The Beneficiary is entitled to make this drawing in the amount of \$under the Letter of Credit pursuant to the Ordinance.
3. The amount of this Drawing is equal to the principal amount of Bonds maturing on,, as specified in the Ordinance, other than Ineligible Bonds (as defined in the Reimbursement Agreement (as defined in the Letter of Credit)).
4. The amount of this Drawing made by this Certificate was computed in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Ordinance and, when added to the amount of any other drawing under the Letter of Credit made simultaneously herewith, does not exceed the Available Amount (as defined in the Letter of Credit).
5. Payment by the Bank pursuant to this Drawing shall be made to, ABA Number, Account Number
, Attention:, Re:

Exhibit F
To
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
Letter of Credit No. CPCS-927415
(Continued)

In	WITNESS	WHEREOF,	this	Certificate	has	been	executed	this		day	of
 	,	·									
									, as		
				I	Benef	iciary					
				By							
				Бу		[Title	e of Author	ized (Officerl		

EXHIBIT G

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-927415

REDUCTION CERTIFICATE

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Unit Telecopy No.: (312) 954-6163

Alternate Telecopy No.: (312) 954-3140

The undersigned hereby CERTIFIES as follows with respect to (i) that certain Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. CPCS-927415, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"), issued by JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association in favor of the Beneficiary; (ii) those certain Bonds (as defined in the Letter of Credit); and (iii) that certain Ordinance (as defined in the Letter of Credit):

- 1. The Beneficiary is the Paying Agent/Registrar under the Ordinance.
- 2. The Beneficiary shall deliver this Certificate to the Bank at the direction of the Applicant pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance.
- 3. Upon receipt by the Bank of this Certificate, the Available Amount (as defined in the Letter of Credit) shall be reduced by \$_______, and the Available Amount shall thereupon equal \$______. \$_____ of the new Available Amount is attributable to interest.
- 4. The interest amount of the reduction in the Available Amount has been computed in accordance with the provisions of the Letter of Credit.
- 5. Following the reduction, the Available Amount shall be at least equal to the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds outstanding plus __ days' interest thereon at the Cap Interest Rate (as defined in the Letter of Credit).

Exhibit G
То
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association Letter of Credit No
(Continued)
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Certificate has been executed this day of
as Beneficiary ,
Ву
[Title of Authorized Officer]

Ехнівіт Н

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-927415

REINSTATEMENT CERTIFICATE

	[Date]
Attention: Telecopy N	Chase Bank, National Association Standby Letter of Credit Unit No.: (312) 954-6163 Telecopy No.: (312) 954-3140
"Benefician Irrevocable "Letter of	e undersigned, a duly authorized officer of
1.	is the Remarketing Agent under the Ordinance.
\$the date he payment m	The Beneficiary has been advised by the Bank that the amount of has been paid to the Bank or the Beneficiary for the account of the Bank on ereof by the Applicant or the Remarketing Agent on behalf of the Applicant as a nade to reimburse the Bank, pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreement for amounts or the Letter of Credit pursuant to a Liquidity Drawing.
3. aggregate p	Of the amount referred to in paragraph 2, \$ represents the principal amount of Bonds resold or to be resold on behalf of the Applicant.
	Of the amount referred to in paragraph 2, \$ represents accrued and erest on such Bonds.

Exhibit H
To
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
Letter of Credit No. 927415
(Continued)

this	In Witness day of _		ary has execu	ted and delivered this Certificate as of
				, Beneficiary

EXHIBIT I

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-927415

TRANSFER REQUEST

Date	•
Date	•

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association 131 South Dearborn, 5th Floor Mail Code IL1-0236 Chicago, Illinois 60603-5506

Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Unit

Re: Irrevocable Transferable Direct-Pay Letter of Credit No. CPCS-927415, dated June 21, 2011

We, the undersigned "Transferor", hereby irrevocably transfer all of our rights to draw under the above referenced Letter of Credit (the "Letter of Credit") in its entirety to:

NAME OF TRANSFEREE (Print Name and complete address of the Transferee) "Transferee" ADDRESS OF TRANSFEREE CITY, STATE/COUNTRY ZIP

In accordance with ISP98 (as defined in the Letter of Credit), Rule 6, regarding transfer of drawing rights, all rights of the undersigned Transferor in the Letter of Credit are transferred to the Transferee, who shall have the sole rights as beneficiary thereof, including sole rights relating to any amendments whether increases or extensions or other amendments and whether now existing or hereafter made. All amendments are to be advised directly to the Transferee without necessity of any consent of or notice to the undersigned Transferor.

The original Letter of Credit, including amendments to this date, is attached and the undersigned Transferor requests that you endorse an acknowledgment of this transfer on the reverse thereof. The undersigned Transferor requests that you notify the Transferee of the

Exhibit I
To
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
Letter of Credit No. CPCS-927415
(Continued)

transfer of this Letter of Credit in such form and manner as you deem appropriate and of the terms and conditions of the Letter of Credit as transferred.

If you agree to these instructions, please advise the Transferee of the terms and conditions of the transferred Letter of Credit and these instructions.

Payment of your transfer fee of \$_____ is for the account of the Applicant (as defined in the Letter of Credit) which, agrees to pay you on demand any expense or cost you may incur in connection with this transfer. Receipt of such transfer fee shall not constitute consent by you to effect the transfer.

The undersigned Transferor represents and warrants that (a) the Transferee is the Transferor's successor Beneficiary as Paying Agent/Registrar and Tender Agent under the Ordinance, (b) the enclosed Letter of Credit is original and complete, and (c) there is no outstanding or pending demand or request for payment, reinstatement or reduction of the Available Amount or transfer under the Letter of Credit affecting the rights to be transferred.

The effective date of the transfer of the Letter of Credit shall be the date hereafter on which you effect the requested transfer by acknowledging this request and giving notice thereof to Transferee.

WE WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY THAT WE MAY HAVE IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING RELATING TO OR ARISING OUT OF THIS TRANSFER.

This Transfer Request is made subject to ISP98 and is subject to and shall be governed by the law of the State of Texas, without regard to principles of conflict of laws that might require the application of a different governing law.

(Signature Page Follows)

Sincerely yours,	SIGNATURE GUARANTEED Signature(s) with title(s) conform(s) with that/those on
(Print Name of Transferor)	file with us for this individual, entity or company and signer(s) is/are authorized to execute this agreement
(Transferor's Authorized Signature)	(Print Name of Bank)
	(Address of Bank)
(Print Authorized Signers Name and Title)	(City, State, Zip Code)
(Telephone Number/Fax Number)	(Print Name and Title of Authorized Signer)
	(Authorized Signature)
	(Telephone Number)
	(Date)
Acknowledged:	SIGNATURE GUARANTEED Signature(s) with title(s) conform(s) with that/those on
(Print Name of Transferee)	file with us for this individual, entity or company and signer(s) is/are authorized to execute this agreement.
(Transferee's Authorized Signature)	(Print Name of Bank)
(Print Authorized Signers Name and Title)	(Address of Bank)
	(City, State, Zip Code)
(Telephone Number/Fax Number)	(Print Name and Title of Authorized Signer)
	(Authorized Signature)
Asknowledged as of 20 .	(Telephone Number)
Acknowledged as of, 20: JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.	(Date)
n worgan Chaoc Dank, W.A.	
By: Name:	

Title:

Ехнівіт Ј

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-927415

NOTICE OF EXTENSION AMENDMENT

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Beneficiary 201 Main St., Ste 301 MAC T5441-030 Fort Worth, TX 76102 ph: 817.334.7068 fax: 817.885.8650 email: kathleen.r.wagner@wellsfargo.com
CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS 700 Lavaca, Suite 940 Austin, Texas 78701 Attention: City Treasurer
Ladies and Gentlemen:
Reference is hereby made to that certain Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. CPCS-927415, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"), established by us in your favor as Beneficiary. We hereby notify you that the Stated Expiration Date (as defined in the Letter of Credit) has been extended to
All other terms and conditions of the Letter of Credit remain unchanged.
This Notice of Extension Amendment shall be attached to the Letter of Credit and made a part thereof.
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
By Name: Title:

Ехнівіт К

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-927415

NOTICE OF REDUCTION AMENDMENT

[Date]

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Beneficiary 201 Main St., Ste 301 MAC T5441-030 Fort Worth, TX 76102

ph: 817.334.7068 fax: 817.885.8650

email: kathleen.r.wagner@wellsfargo.com

City of Austin, Texas 700 Lavaca, Suite 940 Austin, Texas 78701 Attention: City Treasurer

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Reference is hereby made to that certain Irrevoca	able Transferable Direct Pay Letter of
Credit No. CPCS-927415, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Lette	r of Credit"), established by us in your
favor as Beneficiary. We hereby notify you that, in acco	ordance with the terms of the Letter of
Credit, the Available Amount (as defined in the Letter	of Credit) has been reduced to U.S.
\$, of which U.S. \$	is attributable to principal and U.S.
\$ is attributable to interest.	

All other terms and conditions of the Letter of Credit remain unchanged.

This Notice of Reduction Amendment shall be attached to the Letter of Credit and made a part thereof.

EXHIBIT L TO JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. _____ JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION By _____ Name: _____ Title: _____

EXHIBIT L

TO

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION LETTER OF CREDIT NO. CPCS-927415

Exhibit A-1 to Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement

Notice of Mandatory Tender and Cancellation of Insurance Policy No. 205494-N

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent/Registrar and Tender Agent 201 Main St., Ste 301 MAC T5441-030 Fort Worth, TX 76102

ph: 817.334.7068 fax: 817.885.8650

email: kathleen.r.wagner@wellsfargo.com

City of Austin, Texas 700 Lavaca, Suite 940 Austin, Texas 78701 Attention: City Treasurer

Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp.

Re: Municipal Bond Insurance Policy No. 205494-N; City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT)

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned, constituting the Required Banks under the Reimbursement Agreements, hereby advise you that

[Insert one of the following paragraphs as appropriate]

[a City Event of Default has occurred and pursuant to Section 6.3(a) of the Reimbursement Agreements the Required Banks hereby direct the Paying Agent/Registrar (i) to

Appendix A-2

Exhibit L to JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association Letter of Credit No. CPCS-927415 (continued)

cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, whereby the Letters of Credit will terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Cancellation of Insurance Policy No. 205494-N (this "Notice"), and (ii) to cause Municipal Bond Insurance Policy No. 205494-N to terminate in accordance with the terms of the Cancellation Agreement.]

[an Insurer Event of Default or an Insurer Downgrade Event has occurred and pursuant to Section 6.4(a) of the Reimbursement Agreements the Required Banks hereby direct the Paying Agent/Registrar (i) to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance and (ii) to cause Municipal Bond Insurance Policy No. 205494-N to terminate in accordance with the terms of the Cancellation Agreement on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent'/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Cancellation of Insurance Policy No. 205494-N (this "Notice").]

All capitalized terms used in this Notice and not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreements dated June 1, 2011, by and between the City of Austin, Texas and, respectively, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, Royal Bank of Canada, acting through its WFC, New York, Branch and KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch, (as in effect on the date hereof, the "Reimbursement Agreements").

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, day of, 20	the undersigned have executed and delivered this Notice the _
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK,	KBC BANK N.V.
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION	R _V .
By:	By:
Name:	Name:
Title:	
ROYAL BANK OF CANADA	
By:	
Name:	

HOU:3100838.13

Exhibit L
to
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
Letter of Credit No. CPCS-927415
(continued)

Exhibit A-2 to Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement

Notice of Mandatory Tender and Termination of the Letters of Credit (Insurance Policy Not Cancelled)

[Date]

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent/Registrar and Tender Agent 201 Main St., Ste 301 MAC T5441-030

Fort Worth, TX 76102 ph: 817.334.7068 fax: 817.885.8650

email: kathleen.r.wagner@wellsfargo.com

City of Austin, Texas 700 Lavaca, Suite 940 Austin, Texas 78701 Attention: City Treasurer

Re: City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT)

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned, constituting the Required Banks under the Reimbursement Agreements, hereby advise you that:

[Insert one of the following paragraphs as appropriate]

[a City Event of Default and an Insurer Event of Default have occurred and pursuant to Section 6.3(a) of the Reimbursement Agreements the Required Banks hereby direct the Paying Agent/Registrar to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, whereby the Letters of Credit will terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Termination of the Letters of Credit (this "Notice").]

[the City has failed to pay the Letter of Credit Fee and pursuant to Section 6.4(b) of the Reimbursement Agreements the Required Banks hereby direct the Paying

HOU:3100838.13

Exhibit L to
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
Letter of Credit No. CPCS-927415
(continued)

Agent/Registrar to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, whereby the Letters of Credit will terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Termination of the Letters of Credit (this "Notice").]

[an Insurer Event of Default or an Insurer Downgrade Event has occurred and is continuing, and a City Event of Default has also occurred and is continuing and pursuant to Section 6.4(c) of the Reimbursement Agreements the Required Banks hereby direct the Paying Agent/Registrar to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, whereby the Letters of Credit will terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Termination of the Letters of Credit (this "Notice").]

All capitalized terms and used in this Notice and not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreements dated June 1, 2011, by and between the City of Austin, Texas and, respectively, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, Royal Bank of Canada, acting through a New York branch, and KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its WFC, New York, Branch (as in effect on the date hereof, the "Reimbursement Agreements").

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the underday of, 20	rsigned have executed and delivered this Notice the _
By:	By:
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION	KBC BANK N.V.
By:	By:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
By:	
ROYAL BANK OF CANADA	
By:	

Exhibit L to
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
Letter of Credit No. CPCS-927415
(continued)

Name:		
Title:		

EXHIBIT A-2 [KBC Reimbursement Agreement]

LETTER OF CREDIT AND REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT

Dated June 1, 2011

by and between

CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS,

and

KBC, N.V., ACTING THROUGH ITS NEW YORK BRANCH

Relating to
City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT)
Subseries 2005-3

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION	HEADING	PAGE
	ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS; INTERPRETATION	
	ARTICLE 2	
	AMOUNT AND TERMS OF LETTER OF CREDIT	
Section 2.1	Letter of Credit	11
Section 2.2	Letter of Credit Drawings	11
Section 2.3	Reimbursement of Certain Drawings under the Letter of Credit;	
	Mandatory Prepayment; Interest	11
Section 2.4	Reimbursement of Drawings Other than Liquidity Drawings Creating	
	Liquidity Advances	14
Section 2.5	Fees	14
Section 2.6	Method of Payment; Etc	14
Section 2.7	Voluntary Termination or Reduction of the Available Amount of the	
	Letter of Credit	
Section 2.8	Computation of Interest and Fees	14
Section 2.9	Payment Due on Non Business Day to Be Made on Next Business Day	
Section 2.10	Late Payments	15
Section 2.11	Source of Funds	15
Section 2.12	Extension of Stated Expiration Date	15
Section 2.13	Net of Taxes, Etc	16
Section 2.14	Increased Costs	17
Section 2.15	Obligations Absolute	19
Section 2.16	Maximum Rate	19
Section 2.17	Security	20
	ARTICLE 3	
	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	
Section 3.1	Representations of City	20
	ARTICLE 4	
	CONDITIONS PRECEDENT	
Section 4.1	Conditions to Issuance and Delivery of the Letter of Credit	25
Section 4.2	Conditions Precedent to a Liquidity Advance	26
	ARTICLE 5	
	COVENANTS	
Section 5.1	Affirmative Covenants of the City	27
Section 5.2	Negative Covenants of the City	33
	ARTICLE 6	
TER	RM AND TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT; EVENTS OF DEFAULT.	
Section 6.1	Term of Agreement	34

Section 6.2	City Events of Default	35
Section 6.3	Remedies	
Section 6.4	Mandatory Tender Events	38
	ARTICLE 7	
	MISCELLANEOUS.	
Section 7.1	Cancellation Agreement	39
Section 7.2	Reimbursement	
Section 7.3	Liability of the Bank	40
Section 7.4	Participations	40
Section 7.5	Survival of this Agreement	41
Section 7.6	Modification of this Agreement	41
Section 7.7	Waiver of Rights by the Bank	41
Section 7.8	Severability	41
Section 7.9	Governing Law	41
Section 7.10	Notices; Effectiveness; Electronic Communications	42
Section 7.11	Successors and Assigns	43
Section 7.12	Taxes and Expenses	44
Section 7.13	Reserved	44
Section 7.14	Payment Obligations of the City hereunder and under the Bank Fee	
	Agreement	44
Section 7.15	Headings	44
Section 7.16	Counterparts	44
Section 7.17	Entire Agreement	45
Section 7.18	USA Patriot Act	45
Section 7.19	Insurance Policy Claims	45
Section 7.20	Insurer's Rights	45
Section 7.21	Third Party Beneficiary	45

Appendix A — Form of Letter of Credit

LETTER OF CREDIT AND REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT

This Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement dated June 1, 2011 (this "Agreement"), is by and between the City of Austin, Texas (the "City") and KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch (together with its successors and assigns, the "Bank").

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, the City has previously issued the Series 2005 Bonds (defined herein) pursuant to the terms of Ordinance No. 20050804-039, and all appendices and exhibits thereto (the "Original Ordinance");

WHEREAS, the Original Ordinance was amended on May 26, 2011 by Ordinance No. (the "Amendment" and together with the Original Ordinance, the "Ordinance");

WHEREAS, the Ordinance provides that the Series 2005 Bonds may bear interest at certain variable rates set forth in the Ordinance;

WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance and subject to the conditions described therein, the Series 2005 Bonds bearing interest at a Weekly Rate are subject to tender for purchase by the holders thereof at various times before the maturity thereof;

WHEREAS, the City has requested that the Bank issue an irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit for the payment by the Paying Agent, when and as due, of the principal and purchase price of and interest on the Subseries 2005-3 Bonds (as defined herein), and to provide a liquidity facility in respect of certain drawings under the Letter of Credit (defined herein):

WHEREAS, the City has requested that, concurrently with the issuance of the Letter of Credit by the Bank, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association ("JPMorgan") issue two separate irrevocable transferable direct-pay letters of credit for the payment by the Paying Agent, when and as due, of the principal and purchase price of and interest on the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds and the Subseries 2005-2 Bonds (defined herein) and provide a liquidity facility in respect of certain drawings under the Subseries 2005-1 Letter of Credit and the Subseries 2005-2 Letter of Credit (each as defined herein);

WHEREAS, the City has requested that concurrently with the issuance of the Letter of Credit by the Bank that Royal Bank of Canada ("Royal Bank"), acting through its WFC, New York, Branch issue an irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit for the payment by the Paying Agent, when and as due, of the principal and purchase price of and interest on the Subseries 2005-4 Bonds (defined herein) and to provide a liquidity facility in respect of certain drawings under the Subseries 2005-4 Letter of Credit (defined herein); and

WHEREAS, the City has caused the Series 2005 Bonds (including Bank Bonds (defined herein)), to be insured as to the scheduled payments of principal and interest as such become due pursuant to a municipal bond insurance policy bearing Policy No. 205494-N (together with any and all riders and endorsements thereto, the "*Insurance Policy*") issued by the Insurer (defined herein);

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein and for other valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the City and the Bank hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS; INTERPRETATION

The following capitalized terms when used in this Agreement have the meanings indicated below unless the context shall clearly indicate otherwise. Other capitalized terms used in this Agreement and not defined herein shall have the respective meanings given to such terms in the Ordinance. All the agreements or instruments herein defined shall mean such agreements or instruments as the same may from time to time be supplemented or amended or the terms thereof waived or modified to the extent permitted by, and in accordance with, the terms thereof and of this Agreement. When used in this Agreement (1) the singular includes the plural and the plural includes the singular; (2) "or" is not exclusive; (3) a reference to a law includes any amendment or modification to such law; (4) a reference to a Person includes its permitted successors and permitted assigns; and (5) a reference to an agreement, instrument, or document shall include such agreement, instrument, or document as the same may be amended, modified, or supplemented from time to time in accordance with its terms and as permitted hereby.

"Affiliate" of a specified Person means any other Person which "controls," or is "controlled" by, or is under common "control" with, such specified Person. For purposes of this definition, a Person "controls" another Person when the first Person possesses or exercises directly, or indirectly through one or more other affiliates or related entities, the power to direct the management and policies of the other Person, whether through the ownership of voting rights, membership, the power to appoint members, trustees or directors, by contract, or otherwise.

"Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph hereof.

"Airport System" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.

"Amendment" has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereof.

"Amortization Commencement Date" means, with respect to each Bank Bond, the earlier to occur of (a) 90 days after the date of the related Liquidity Advance and (b) the Termination Date.

"Amortization End Date" means (a) if the Insurance Policy has been terminated prior to the related Amortization Commencement Date, the earliest to occur of (i) the fifth (5th) anniversary of the date the related Liquidity Advance was made, (ii) the Conversion Date, and (iii) the Substitution Date, or (b) if the Insurance Policy is in effect on the related Amortization Commencement Date, the earliest to occur of (i) the seventh (7th) anniversary of the date the related Liquidity Advance was made, (ii) the Conversion Date, and (iii) the Substitution Date; provided, however, that if the Insurance Policy is terminated after the related Amortization Commencement Date, "Amortization End Date" shall mean the earliest to occur of (i) the seventh (7th) anniversary of the date of the related Liquidity Advance, (ii) the fifth (5th)

anniversary of the effective date of the termination of the Insurance Policy, (iii) the Conversion Date, and (iv) the Substitution Date.

"Amortization Payment Date" means (a) the first Business Day of the sixth calendar month immediately succeeding date of the related Liquidity Advance, (b) the first Business Day of each sixth calendar month occurring thereafter prior to the Amortization End Date and (c) the Amortization End Date.

"Available Amount" has the meaning set forth in the Letter of Credit.

"Bank" has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph hereof.

"Bank Agreement" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(x) hereof.

"Bank Bond" means each Bond purchased for the account of the Bank with the proceeds of a Liquidity Drawing under the Letter of Credit.

"Banks" means, collectively, the Bank, JPMorgan and Royal Bank.

"Bank Bond Endorsement" means an endorsement to the Insurance Policy issued by the Insurer, so that the Insurance Policy as endorsed insures the payment when due of regularly scheduled principal of and interest on the Bonds, including any Subrogated Bonds and any Bank Bonds, up to the Bank Rate for the first sixty days following the date of a related Liquidity Advance and at the Insured Rate at all times thereafter, in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank.

"Bank Fee Agreement" means the Bank Fee Agreement dated June 1, 2011, between the City and the Bank.

"Bank Rate" means, with respect to any Liquidity Advance, the rate of interest per annum (i) for any day commencing on the date such Liquidity Advance is made, to and including the ninetieth (90th) day next succeeding the date such Liquidity Advance is made, equal to the Base Rate from time to time in effect, (ii) for any day commencing on the ninety-first (91st) day next succeeding the date such Liquidity Advance is made and thereafter, equal to the Base Rate from time to time in effect plus one percent (1.0%); provided, however, that immediately and automatically upon the occurrence of an Insurer Event of Default or a City Event of Default (and without any notice given with respect thereto) and during the continuance of such Insurer Event of Default or City Event of Default, "Bank Rate" shall mean the Default Rate; provided that the Bank Rate shall never exceed the Maximum Rate.

"Bankruptcy Law" means Title 11, U.S. Code, as amended or supplemented, any successor statute thereto, or any similar Federal, state, or foreign law for the relief of debtors.

"Base Rate" means, for any day, the highest of (i) the Prime Rate plus one and one-half percent (1.5%), (ii) the Federal Funds Rate plus two percent (2.0%), and (iii) eight percent (8.0%).

"Bonds" means the Subseries 2005-3 Bonds.

- "Business Day" has the meaning set forth in the Letter of Credit.
- "Cancellation Agreement" means the Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement dated as of June 1, 2011 entered into by and among the City, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent and Tender Agent, the Bank, JPMorgan, Royal Bank and the Insurer.
 - "Cap Interest Rate" has the meaning set forth in the Letter of Credit.
 - "City" has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph hereof.
 - "City Event of Default" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2 hereof.
- "Closing Date" means June 21, 2011, subject to the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 4.1 hereof.
 - "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.
- "Commitment" means \$63,182,072 (representing the sum of the Interest Commitment and the Principal Commitment)..
 - "Conditions Precedent" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2 hereof.
- "Conversion Date" means the date on which the interest rate on any series of Bonds has been converted to an interest rate other than a Weekly Rate.
- "Custodian" means Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, and its successors and assigns.
- "Custody Agreement" means the custody agreement for the Bank Bonds between the Bank and the Paying Agent dated as of June 1, 2011.
 - "Debt Service Reserve Fund" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.
 - "Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.
- "Default" means any circumstance, condition or event which, with the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both, could reasonably be expected to, unless cured or waived, become a City Event of Default.
- "Default Rate" means the Base Rate from time to time in effect plus three percent (3.0%); provided that the Default Rate shall never exceed the Maximum Rate.
- "Dodd-Frank Act" means the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, as enacted by the United States Congress, and signed into law on July 21, 2010, and all rules, guidelines or directives promulgated thereunder.
 - "Drawing" means any drawing honored under the Letter of Credit.

"DTC" means The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, and its successors and assigns.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or any successor statute thereto and any rule or regulation issued thereunder.

"Excess Interest" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16 hereof.

"Existing Agreement" means the Standby Bond Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2008, by and among the City, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Tender Agent, and Dexia Credit Local, acting through its New York Branch.

"Federal Funds Rate" means, for any day, the rate per annum (rounded upward, if necessary, to the nearest 1/100th of 1%) equal to the weighted average of the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal funds brokers on such day, as published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on the Business Day next succeeding such day, provided that (i) if such day is not a Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be such rate on such transactions on the preceding Business Day as so published on the next succeeding Business Day and (ii) if no such rate is so published on such next succeeding Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be the average rate quoted to the Bank on such day on such transactions as determined by the Bank. Each determination of the Federal Funds Rate by the Bank shall be conclusive and binding on the City except in the case of manifest error.

"Financing Documents" means the Ordinance, the Bonds, the Insurance Policy, the Remarketing Agreement, this Agreement, the Letter of Credit, the Custody Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, any Swap Contract related to the Bonds and payable from Net Revenues and the ordinance of the City authorizing such Swap Contracts, the Tender Agent Agreement and the Surety Policy.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles for governmental entities in the United States set forth in the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements and pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board or such other principles as may be approved by a significant segment of the accounting profession in the United States, that are applicable to governmental entities and the circumstances as of the date of determination, consistently applied.

"Governmental Authority" means any nation or government, any state, department, agency or other political subdivision thereof, and any entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to any government, and any corporation or other entity owned or controlled (through ownership of common stock or capital) by any of the foregoing.

"Guarantee" by any Person means any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of such Person directly or indirectly guaranteeing any Payment Obligation of any other Person and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any obligation, direct or indirect, contingent or otherwise, of such Person (i) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Payment Obligation (whether arising by virtue of partnership arrangements, by

agreement to keep-well, to purchase assets, goods, securities or services, to take-or-pay, or to maintain financial statement conditions or otherwise), (ii) entered into for the purpose of assuring in any other manner the obligee of such Payment Obligation of the payment thereof or to protect such obligee against loss in respect thereof (in whole or in part) or (iii) with respect to any letter of credit issued for the account of such other Person or as to which such other Person is otherwise liable for reimbursement of drawings, *provided* that the term Guarantee shall not include (i) endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business or (ii) performance or completion guarantees. The terms "Guarantee" and "Guaranteed" used as a verb have a corresponding meaning.

"Ineligible Bonds" means Bank Bonds, Bonds owned by or on behalf of the City and Bonds bearing interest at an interest rate other than a Weekly Rate.

"Insurance Policy" has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereof.

"Insured Rate" means the Bank Rate; *provided, however*, that immediately and automatically upon the occurrence of an Insurer Event of Default (and without any notice given with respect thereto) and during the continuance of such Insurer Event of Default, "Insured Rate" shall mean the Default Rate; and *provided further*, that the Insured Rate shall never exceed the least of (i) the Prime Rate plus 3.00%, (ii) the Maximum Rate, and (iii) 25%.

"Insurer" means Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. (formerly known as Financial Security Assurance Inc.), a stock insurance company organized under the laws of the State of New York, or any successor thereto or assignee thereof.

"Insurer Downgrade Event" means the financial strength or claims-paying rating of the Insurer shall be (i) reduced below "Aa3" (or its equivalent) or suspended or withdrawn by Moody's and (ii) reduced below "AA-" (or its equivalent) or suspended or withdrawn by S&P.

"Insurer Event of Default" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events:

- (i) any principal or interest evidenced by the Bonds (including Bank Bonds) is not paid by the Insurer when, as, and in the amounts required to be paid pursuant to the terms of the Insurance Policy; or
- (ii) (a) any material provision of the Insurance Policy relating to the obligation of the Insurer to make payments of principal and interest thereunder at any time for any reason ceases to be valid and binding on the Insurer in accordance with the terms of the Insurance Policy or the New York Department of Insurance or a court or other Governmental Authority of appropriate jurisdiction finds or rules or enters an order, judgment or decree that the Insurance Policy is not valid and binding on the Insurer or (b) the Insurer (1) claims in writing that the Insurance Policy is not valid and binding on the Insurer, (2) repudiates the Insurer's obligations under the Insurance Policy or (3) initiates legal proceedings seeking an adjudication that the Insurance Policy or any material provision thereof regarding the payment of principal or interest on Bonds (including Bank Bonds) is not valid and binding on the Insurer; or

- a proceeding is instituted in a court having jurisdiction in the premises seeking an order for relief, rehabilitation, reorganization, conservation, liquidation or dissolution in respect to the Insurer or for any substantial part of its property under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, or for the appointment of a receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, trustee or sequestrator (or other similar official) and such proceeding has not been dismissed within ninety (90) days or such court enters an order granting the relief sought in such proceeding; or the New York Department of Insurance declares a moratorium on the payment of the Insurer's debts, or the Insurer commences a voluntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, consents to the entry of an order for relief in an involuntary case under any such law or consents to the appointment of or taking possession by a receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, custodian or sequestrator (or other similar official) of the Insurer or for any substantial part of its property, or makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or fails generally to pay its Payment Obligations (provided that for purposes of this definition, "Payment Obligation" shall not include any obligation of the Insurer under any insurance policy or surety bond) as they become due, or an order for rehabilitation, liquidation or dissolution of the Insurer is issued; or
- (iv) the Insurer fails to make any payment related to principal or interest when due under any insurance policy (other than the Insurance Policy) or surety bond issued by it insuring or supporting the payment of municipal obligations rated by any Rating Agency, and such failure continues for a period of thirty (30) days (it being understood by the Bank that default for purposes of this clause (iv) shall not mean a situation wherein the Insurer contests in good faith its liability under any such policy or policies in light of the claims made thereunder).

"Interest Commitment" means \$1,082,072 (representing 53 days of interest at the Cap Interest Rate calculated on the basis of a 365/366 day year).

"Interest Component" means, with respect to any Liquidity Advance, the portion, if any, of such Liquidity Advance which corresponds to accrued interest on the Bonds purchased with the proceeds of such Liquidity Advance.

"Interest Payment Date", with respect to any Bond which is not a Bank Bond, has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance and, with respect to Bank Bonds and Liquidity Advances, means the first Business Day of each calendar month.

"Letter of Credit" means the irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit issued by the Bank for the Subseries 2005-3 Bonds.

"Letter of Credit Fee" has the meaning set forth in the Bank Fee Agreement.

"Liquidity Advance" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(a)(i) hereof.

"Liquidity Drawing" means a drawing under the Letter of Credit resulting from the presentation of a certificate in the form of Exhibit E to the Letter of Credit.

- "Maximum Rate" means the highest "net effective interest rate" as defined in and authorized under Chapter 1204, Texas Government Code, as amended.
 - "MFN Clause" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(dd) hereof.
 - "Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service, Inc. and any successor thereto.
 - "Net Revenues" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.
- "Obligations" means all obligations of the City to pay or reimburse the Bank arising under or in relation to this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement, including, without limitation, the Reimbursement Obligations, the Letter of Credit Fees and the obligations of the City set forth in Sections 2.13, 2.14, and 7.2 hereof and including, in each instance, accrued interest thereon.
 - "Ordinance" has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereof.
 - "Owner" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.
 - "Participant" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.4 hereof.
- "Paying Agent" means Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, or any other association or corporation which may at any time be substituted in its place as Paying Agent/Registrar with respect to the Bonds as provided in the Ordinance.
- "Payment Account" means the account set forth beneath the name of the Bank on the signature pages hereof as its Payment Account or such other account as may be specified by the Bank to the City, the Tender Agent and the Paying Agent in writing.
- "Payment Obligation" of any Person means at any date, without duplication, (i) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money and reimbursement obligations which are not contingent, (ii) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or other similar instruments, (iii) all obligations of such Person to pay the deferred purchase price of property or services which purchase price is due twelve (12) months or more from the date of incurrence of the obligation in respect thereof, (iv) all obligations of such Person as lessee under capital leases, (v) all Payment Obligations of others Guaranteed by such Person, and (vi) all payment obligations of such Person, in addition to any obligations set forth in clauses (i) through (v) above, arising under any Swap Contract; provided that it is understood that any Payment Obligation does not include contingent obligations of such Person to reimburse any other Person in respect of surety bonds or letters of credit to the extent that such surety bonds or letters of credit support any Payment Obligation of such Person.
- "Person" means any individual, partnership, firm, corporation, association, joint venture, trust or other entity, or any government (or political subdivision or agency, department or instrumentality thereof).
- "Prime Rate" means, for any day, the rate of interest per annum determined by the Bank from time to time as its prime commercial lending rate for U.S. Dollar loans made in the United States. Such prime commercial lending rate is a rate set by the Bank based upon various factors

including the Bank's costs and desired return, general economic conditions and other factors and is used as a reference point for pricing some loans, which may be priced at, above, or below such announced rate. Any change in such rate announced by the Bank shall take effect at the opening of business on the day specified in the public announcement of such change..

"Principal Commitment" means \$62,100,000.

"Principal Component" means, with respect to any Liquidity Advance, the portion, if any, of such Liquidity Advance which corresponds to the principal amount of the Bonds purchased with the proceeds of such Liquidity Advance.

"Principal Office" means, with respect to the Bank, the office at which Drawings are to be presented to the Bank under the Letter of Credit or the office at which payment is to be made to the Bank, in each case, as set forth beneath the name of the Bank on the signature pages hereof as its Principal Office, or such other office as may be designated by such Bank as its Principal Office in a written notice to the City, the Paying Agent and the Tender Agent in accordance with Section 2.6 hereof.

"Prior Lien Bonds" has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance.

"Rating Agency" means Moody's, Fitch or S&P, and "Rating Agencies" means, collectively, Moody's, Fitch and S&P.

"Reimbursement Obligations" means, without duplication, any and all obligations of the City to reimburse the Bank for any Drawings under the Letter of Credit, including, without limitation, any outstanding Liquidity Drawing and outstanding Bank Bonds.

"Remarketing Agent" means Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated and its successors and assigns.

"Remarketing Agreement" means the remarketing agreement dated as of May 1, 2008, as amended on June 9, 2009 between the City and the Remarketing Agent with respect to the Bonds.

"Remarketing Memorandum" means the Secondary Market Information Circular dated June 14, 2011, relating to the Bonds, including any supplement or amendment thereto, and any other offering document from time to time hereafter distributed relating to the Bonds.

"Required Banks" means any two of the Bank, JPMorgan and Royal Bank.

"S&P" means Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, a Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC business, and any successor thereto.

"Series 2005 Bonds" means the City of Austin, Texas, Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT), consisting of the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds, the Subseries 2005-2 Bonds, the Subseries 2005-3 Bonds and the Subseries 2005-4 Bonds.

"State" means the State of Texas.

"Stated Expiration Date" means June 21, 2014 as such Stated Expiration Date may be extended in accordance with the terms of the Letter of Credit.

"Subrogated Bond" means any Bond with respect to which the Bank shall be subrogated to the rights of the Paying Agent and the Owners under the Insurance Policy in an amount and to the extent that the Bank pays the principal of or interest on the Bond from one or more Drawings (other than a Liquidity Drawing) under the Letter of Credit.

"Subseries 2005-1 Bonds" means the \$62,075,000 Subseries 2005-1 Bonds.

"Subseries 2005-2 Bonds" means the \$62,050,000 Subseries 2005-2 Bonds

"Subseries 2005-3 Bonds" means the \$62,100,000 Subseries 2005-3 Bonds

"Subseries 2005-4 Bonds" means the \$62,125,000 Subseries 2005-4 Bonds

"Subseries 2005-1 Letter of Credit" means the irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit issued by JPMorgan for the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds.

"Subseries 2005-2 Letter of Credit" means the irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit issued by JPMorgan for the Subseries 2005-2 Bonds.

"Subseries 2005-4 Letter of Credit" means the irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit issued by Royal Bank for the Subseries 2005-4 Bonds.

"Surety Policy" means the Municipal Bond Debt Service Reserve Insurance Policy No. 205494-R, effective August 17, 2005, together with any and all riders and endorsement thereto, provided by the Insurer for the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement for the Series 2005 Bonds.

"Substitute Credit Facility" means any credit facility or liquidity facility supporting the Bonds issued in substitution for the Letter of Credit in accordance with the terms of Section A-501 of the Ordinance.

"Substitution Date" means the effective date of a Substitute Credit Facility in accordance with the terms of the Ordinance.

"Swap Contract" means (a) any and all rate swap transactions, basis swaps, credit derivative transactions, forward rate transactions, commodity swaps, commodity options, forward commodity contracts, equity or equity index swaps or options, bond or bond price or bond index swaps or options or forward bond or forward bond price or forward bond index transactions, interest rate options, forward foreign exchange transactions, cap transactions, floor transactions, collar transactions, currency swap transactions, cross currency rate swap transactions, currency options, spot contracts, or any other similar transactions or any combination of any of the foregoing (including any options to enter into any of the foregoing), whether or not any such transaction is governed by or subject to any master agreement, and (b) any and all transactions of any kind, and the related confirmations, which are subject to the terms and conditions of, or governed by, any form of master agreement published by the International

Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., any International Foreign Exchange Master Agreement, or any other master agreement (any such master agreement, together with any related schedules, a "Master Agreement"), including any such obligations or liabilities under any Master Agreement.

"Tender Agent" means Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., in its capacity as tender agent under the Ordinance, and any permitted successors as Tender Agent under the Ordinance.

"Tender Agent Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Tender Agency Agreement between the Tender Agent and the City dated as of June 1, 2011, relating to the Bonds.

"Termination Date" means the Stated Expiration Date of the Letter of Credit or such earlier date on which the Letter of Credit expires or terminates in accordance with its terms.

ARTICLE 2 AMOUNT AND TERMS OF LETTER OF CREDIT

- **Section 2.1** <u>Letter of Credit</u>. Upon the terms, subject to the conditions and relying upon the representations and warranties set forth in this Agreement or incorporated herein by reference, the Bank agrees to issue the Letter of Credit (substantially in the form of Appendix A hereto). The Letter of Credit shall be issued in the original stated amount of \$, which is the sum of (i) the principal amount of the Bonds outstanding on the Closing Date, plus (ii) interest thereon at the Cap Interest Rate for a period of fifty-three (53) days.
- **Section 2.2** <u>Letter of Credit Drawings</u>. The Paying Agent is authorized to make Drawings under the Letter of Credit in accordance with the terms thereof. No Drawing shall be made under the Letter of Credit for the payment of principal or purchase price of, or interest on, Ineligible Bonds. The City hereby irrevocably approves reductions and reinstatements of the Available Amount of the Letter of Credit as provided in the Letter of Credit.

Section 2.3 <u>Reimbursement of Certain Drawings under the Letter of Credit; Mandatory Prepayment; Interest.</u>

- (a) (i) Each Liquidity Drawing made under the Letter of Credit shall constitute an advance (a "Liquidity Advance") to the City; provided, however, that if at the time of payment by the Bank of any Liquidity Drawing the Insurance Policy is no longer in effect and the Conditions Precedent are not satisfied, then such Liquidity Drawing shall not constitute a Liquidity Advance and shall be due and payable pursuant to Section 2.3(a)(iv) hereof.
- (ii) The City shall reimburse the Bank for the Interest Component of a Liquidity Advance on the earliest to occur of (A) the next succeeding Interest Payment Date, (B) the date on which the Letter of Credit is replaced by a Substitute Credit Facility pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance, (C) the date on which any Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the Letter of Credit in connection with such Liquidity Drawing are redeemed, prepaid or canceled pursuant to the Ordinance, (D) the date on which any Bonds purchased with funds

disbursed under the Letter of Credit in connection with such Liquidity Drawing are remarketed or deemed remarketed pursuant to the Ordinance, (E) the Conversion Date with respect to all of the Bonds supported by the Letter of Credit, and (F) the termination of the Letter of Credit pursuant to Section 2.7 hereof. The City's obligations to repay the Interest Component of each Liquidity Advance as hereinafter provided shall be evidenced and secured by Bank Bonds.

- The City promises to reimburse Bank for the Principal Component of each Liquidity Advance on the earliest to occur of (A) the date on which the Letter of Credit is replaced by a Substitute Credit Facility pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance, (B) the date on which any Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the Letter of Credit in connection with such Liquidity Advance are redeemed, prepaid or canceled pursuant to the Ordinance, (C) the date on which any Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the Letter of Credit in connection with such Liquidity Advance are remarketed or deemed remarketed pursuant to the Ordinance, (D) the date which is one (1) Business Day following the Conversion Date with respect to all of the Bonds supported by the Letter of Credit, and (E) if on the Amortization Commencement Date the Insurance Policy is no longer in effect and the Conditions Precedent are not satisfied, the Amortization Commencement Date. The City's obligations to repay the Principal Component of each Liquidity Advance and to pay interest thereon as hereinafter provided shall be evidenced and secured by the Bank Bonds. Unless otherwise paid in full on one of the dates provided above, the Principal Component of each Liquidity Advance shall be payable by the City in semiannual installments ("Semiannual Principal Payments") on each Amortization Payment Date, with the final installment in an amount equal to the entire then outstanding principal amount of such Liquidity Advance due and payable on the Amortization End Date (the period commencing on the Amortization Commencement Date and ending on the Amortization End Date is herein referred to as the "Amortization Period"). Each Semiannual Principal Payment shall be that amount of principal which will result in equal (as nearly as possible) Semiannual Principal Payments over the applicable Amortization Period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if an Amortization End Date is changed in accordance with the proviso to clause (b) of the definition of "Amortization End Date" in Article 1 hereof (as a result of the Insurance Policy being terminated after the related Amortization Commencement Date), the Amortization Period shall be adjusted to reflect the new Amortization End Date and each Semiannual Principal Payment due over the remaining term of the adjusted Amortization Period shall be that amount of principal which will result in equal (as nearly as possible) Semiannual Principal Payments over the remaining term of the adjusted Amortization Period.
- (iv) If at the time of payment by the Bank of any Liquidity Drawing the Insurance Policy is no longer in effect and the Conditions Precedent are not satisfied, all amounts of such Liquidity Drawing for which the Bank has not been reimbursed at the close of business on the day of the Bank's payment of such Liquidity Drawing shall be immediately due and payable and shall accrue interest at the Default Rate.

- (v) The City promises to pay to the Bank interest on each Liquidity Advance from the date such Liquidity Advance is made until it is paid in full as provided herein, at a rate per annum equal to the Bank Rate from time to time in effect, which interest shall be payable monthly in arrears on the first Business Day of each calendar month for the immediately preceding calendar month (commencing on the first such date to occur after making such Liquidity Advance), and on the date that the final installment of such Liquidity Advance is payable as herein provided. Notwithstanding anything set forth herein to the contrary, the Bank hereby acknowledges and agrees that the Insurance Policy will not insure interest on Bank Bonds in excess of the Insured Rate or principal of Bank Bonds payable over an amortization period of less than seven (7) years.
- (b) Any Liquidity Advance may be prepaid in whole or in part (without premium or penalty): (i) on the day such Liquidity Advance is made; or (ii) on any other Business Day upon one Business Day's prior written notice if not paid in connection with remarketing of the Bonds.
- (c) Upon receipt by the Bank of any payment or prepayment of any Liquidity Advance, the amount of such Liquidity Advance shall be reduced by the amount of such payment or prepayment. Any payment or prepayment of Liquidity Advances hereunder shall be applied to the payment or prepayment of Liquidity Advances in chronological order of their issuance hereunder.
- Upon the Bank honoring a Liquidity Drawing under the Letter of Credit, the Bank shall be deemed to have purchased the Bank Bonds in respect of which such Liquidity Drawing is made, and the City shall cause the Custodian to hold such Bank Bonds for the benefit of the Bank and register such Bank Bonds in the name of the Bank, or its nominee, or otherwise deliver such Bank Bonds as directed by the Bank, pursuant to the terms of the Custody Agreement. During such time as the Bank is the owner of any Bank Bonds, the Bank shall have all the rights granted to an Owner under the Ordinance and such additional rights as may be granted to the Bank hereunder. To the extent that the Bank actually receives payment in respect of principal of or interest on any Bank Bonds owned by the Bank, the Liquidity Drawing (or Liquidity Advance if such Liquidity Drawing has been converted to a Liquidity Advance) made in connection with the purchase of such Bank Bonds shall be deemed to have been reduced to such extent, with the Bank crediting any payment received by it, first to the payment of any outstanding accrued interest and second to the payment of principal. Following the occurrence of (i) an Insurer Event of Default if the Insurance Policy is still in effect or (ii) a City Event of Default if the Insurance Policy is no longer in effect, any payments received by the Bank hereunder shall be applied by the Bank to the payment of the Obligations owed to the Bank in such order as the Bank shall in its sole discretion determine; provided, however, that amounts received pursuant to the Insurance Policy shall be applied solely to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Subrogated Bonds and the Bank Bonds in accordance with the terms of the Insurance Policy.
- (e) For the avoidance of doubt, (i) the City shall pay to the Bank when due the amount of interest due to the Bank, calculated at the applicable Bank Rate, and (ii)

payment by the Insurer pursuant to the Insurance Policy of any interest due to the Bank under this Agreement shall not relieve the City of its obligation to ensure that the Bank is paid in full on the date any such interest is due and payable to the Bank hereunder. Any overdue interest amounts shall accrue interest at the Default Rate.

Section 2.4 Reimbursement of Drawings Other than Liquidity Drawings Creating Liquidity Advances. The City agrees to reimburse the Bank for the full amount of all Drawings (other than Liquidity Drawings) made under the Letter of Credit immediately upon payment by the Bank of each such Drawing. If the City fails to make such reimbursement on such date and the Insurer fails to make any payment it is required to make in respect thereof within five (5) Business Days after the date on which such reimbursement by the Insurer is due as more fully described in Section 7.19 hereof, such Reimbursement Obligation shall automatically and without further action bear interest at the Default Rate.

Section 2.5 Fees. The City agrees to pay to the Bank the fees set forth in the Bank Fee Agreement.

Section 2.6 Method of Payment; Etc. All payments to be made to the Bank under this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement shall be made to the Bank by wire transfer by the City in lawful currency of the United States and in immediately available funds to the Payment Account, or at such other place as the Bank may designate in writing, without any withholding, deduction or set-off, not later than 3:00 p.m. New York time on the date when due. All payments received by the Bank after 3:00 p.m. New York time shall be deemed to have been received on the next succeeding Business Day, and any applicable interest or fee shall continue to accrue.

Voluntary Termination or Reduction of the Available Amount of the Letter of Credit. Notwithstanding any provisions of this Agreement, the Letter of Credit or any other Financing Document (other than the Bank Fee Agreement) to the contrary, the City agrees not to terminate the Letter of Credit or permanently reduce the Available Amount of the Letter of Credit unless such termination or permanent reduction is made in accordance with the terms of the Bank Fee Agreement. The City agrees that it will provide thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Bank in connection with the termination of the Letter of Credit and pay to the Bank, in connection with the termination of the Letter of Credit, pursuant to the terms hereof, all fees, expenses and other Obligations payable hereunder and under the Bank Fee Agreement, including, without limitation, the Make-Whole Fee (as defined in the Bank Fee Agreement) (if required pursuant to the terms of the Bank Fee Agreement) and all principal and accrued interest owing the Bank with respect to any related outstanding Liquidity Advance or Bank Bonds. The City agrees that it will provide thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Bank in connection with each permanent reduction of the Available Amount of the Letter of Credit and pay to the Bank in connection with each permanent reduction of the Available Amount of the Letter of Credit the Make-Whole Fee (if required) pursuant to the terms of the Bank Fee Agreement.

Section 2.8 Computation of Interest and Fees. All computations of interest payable by the City hereunder shall be made on the basis of a 365- or 366-, as applicable, day year and calculated based upon the actual number of days elapsed. Interest shall accrue during each period during which interest is computed from and including the first day thereof to but excluding the last day thereof. All computations of fees payable by the City hereunder and under

the Bank Fee Agreement shall be made on the basis of a 360-day year and calculated based upon the actual number of days elapsed.

- Section 2.9 <u>Payment Due on Non Business Day to Be Made on Next Business Day</u>. If any sum becomes payable pursuant to this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement on a day which is not a Business Day, the date for payment thereof shall be extended, without penalty, to the next succeeding Business Day, and such extended time shall be included in the computation of interest and fees.
- **Section 2.10** <u>Late Payments</u>. If any Obligation is not paid when due in accordance with the terms hereof, such Obligation shall bear interest until paid in full at the Default Rate, payable on demand.
- **Section 2.11** Source of Funds. All payments made by the Bank pursuant to the Letter of Credit shall be made from funds of the Bank and not from the funds of any other Person.
- **Section 2.12** Extension of Stated Expiration Date. (a) The City may, by written notice to the Bank not earlier than 120 days prior to nor later than 60 days prior to the then current Stated Expiration Date of the Letter of Credit in effect (the "Existing Expiration Date"), request that the Bank consent to the extension of the Existing Expiration Date to a date agreed to by the Bank and the City. The date of receipt of any such notice from the City is hereinafter referred to as the "Notice Date."
 - (b) The Bank, acting in its sole and absolute discretion (and after such due diligence (if any) as the Bank shall undertake), shall, by notice to the City no later than the date 45 days after the Notice Date (or, if such date is not a Business Day, the next preceding Business Day), advise the City whether or not the Bank agrees to such extension, and if the Bank that does not so advise the City by such date, it shall be deemed to have declined to extend the Existing Expiration Date.
 - (c) As a condition precedent to the effectiveness of such consent to the extension of the Existing Expiration Date, the City shall deliver to the Bank a certificate of the City dated the Existing Expiration Date signed by an authorized officer of the City (A) certifying and attaching the resolution or ordinance adopted by the City approving or consenting to such extension and (B) certifying that, before and after giving effect to such extension, (1) the representations and warranties contained in Article 3 hereof and the other Financing Documents are true and correct in all material respects, in each case on and as of the Existing Expiration Date, except, in each case, to the extent that such representations and warranties specifically refer to an earlier date, in which case they are true and correct as of such earlier date, and (2) no Default or City Event of Default exists.
 - (d) Any such extension of the Existing Expiration Date shall be subject to such additional terms, including payment of extension fees to the Bank, as shall be agreed between the Bank and the City.
 - (e) Upon the effectiveness of any such consent to the extension of any Existing Expiration Date, the Bank shall deliver to the City, the Paying Agent and the Tender Agent a notice of extension (a "Notice of Extension") designating the date to

which the Existing Expiration Date is being extended. Such extension of the Existing Expiration Date shall be effective, after receipt of such notice, on the Business Day following the date of delivery of such Notice of Extension, and thereafter all references in this Agreement to the Existing Expiration Date shall be deemed to be references to the date designated as such in the most recent Notice of Extension delivered to the Paying Agent and the Tender Agent.

Section 2.13 Net of Taxes, Etc.

(a) Taxes. Any and all payments to the Bank by the City hereunder and under the Bank Fee Agreement shall be made free and clear of and without deduction for any and all taxes, levies, imposts, deductions, charges, withholdings or liabilities imposed thereon, excluding, however, taxes or franchise taxes or other charges imposed in lieu of such taxes imposed on or measured by the net income or capital of the Bank by any jurisdiction or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein solely as a result of a connection between the Bank and such jurisdiction or political subdivision (all such non excluded taxes, levies, imposts, deductions, charges, withholdings and liabilities being hereinafter referred to as "Taxes"). If the City shall be required by law to withhold or deduct any Taxes imposed by the United States or any political subdivision thereof from or in respect of any sum payable hereunder or under the Bank Fee Agreement to the Bank, (i) the sum payable shall be increased as may be necessary so that after making all required deductions (including deductions applicable to additional sums payable under this Section 2.13), the Bank receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deductions been made, (ii) the City shall make such deductions and (iii) the City shall pay the full amount deducted to the relevant taxation authority or other authority in accordance with applicable law. If the City shall make any payment under this Section 2.13 to or for the benefit of the Bank with respect to Taxes and if the Bank shall claim a refund of such taxes or any credit or deduction for such Taxes against any other taxes payable by the Bank to any taxing jurisdiction in the United States, then the Bank shall pay to the City an amount equal to the amount of any refund actually received by the Bank or the amount by which such other taxes are actually reduced; provided that the aggregate amount payable by the Bank pursuant to this sentence shall not exceed the aggregate amount previously paid by the City with respect to such Taxes. Nothing herein shall interfere with the Bank's right to arrange its tax affairs in whatever manner it sees fit nor obligate it to claim any tax credit or to disclose any information relating to its tax affairs or any computations in respect thereof. In addition, the City agrees to pay any present or future stamp, recording or documentary taxes and any other excise or property taxes, charges or similar levies that arise under the law of the United States of America, the State of Texas, the State of New York or any other taxing jurisdiction from any payment made hereunder or under the Bank Fee Agreement to the Bank or from the execution or delivery or otherwise by the Bank with respect to this Agreement or under the Bank Fee Agreement (hereinafter referred to as "Other Taxes"). The Bank shall provide to the City within a reasonable time a copy of any written notification it receives with respect to Taxes or Other Taxes owing by the City to the Bank hereunder; provided that the Bank's failure to send such notice shall not relieve the City of its obligation to pay such amounts hereunder.

- *Reimbursement.* The City shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law and subject to the provisions hereof, reimburse the Bank for the full amount of Taxes and Other Taxes, including any Taxes or Other Taxes imposed by any jurisdiction on amounts payable under this Section 2.13, paid by the Bank or any liability (including penalties, interest and expenses) arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Taxes or Other Taxes were correctly or legally asserted; provided that the City shall not be obligated to reimburse the Bank for any penalties, interest or expenses relating to Taxes or Other Taxes arising from the Bank's negligence or willful misconduct. The Bank agrees to give notice to the City of the assertion of any claim against the Bank relating to such Taxes or Other Taxes as promptly as is practicable after being notified of such assertion; provided that the Bank's failure to notify the City promptly of such assertion shall not relieve the City of its obligation under this Section 2.13. Payments by the City pursuant to this Section 2.13 shall be made within thirty (30) days after the date the Bank makes written demand therefor, which demand shall be accompanied by a certificate describing in reasonable detail the basis thereof. The Bank agrees to repay to the City any refund (including that portion of any interest that was included as part of such refund) with respect to Taxes or Other Taxes paid by the City pursuant to this Section 2.13 received by the Bank for Taxes or Other Taxes that were paid by the City pursuant to this Section 2.13. The term "refund," solely as used in this Section 2.13(b) shall include any credit or deduction against other taxes payable by the Bank.
- (c) *Notice*. Within thirty (30) days after the date of any payment of Taxes by the City, the City shall furnish to the Bank, the original or a certified copy of a receipt evidencing payment thereof.
- (d) *Survival of Obligations*. The obligations of the City under this Section 2.13 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

Section 2.14 <u>Increased Costs</u>

- (a) If on or after the date hereof, the adoption of any law, rule or regulation, or any change therein, or in the interpretation or administration thereof by any court, governmental authority, central bank or comparable agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof (each a "Change in Law"), or compliance by the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries with any request or directive made on or after the date hereof (whether or not having the force of law) of any such authority, central bank or comparable agency:
 - (i) shall subject the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries to any tax, duty or other charge with respect to this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, or the Letter of Credit or any Bank Bonds purchased by the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary hereunder, or shall change the basis of taxation of payments to the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries of any amounts due under this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, or its Letter of Credit or any Liquidity Advances made by the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries hereunder (except for changes in the rate of (A) tax on the overall net income of

the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary or (B) franchise taxes or other charges imposed in lieu of such taxes); or

(ii) shall impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve (including, without limitation, any such requirement imposed by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System), special deposit, or similar requirement against the assets of, deposits with or for the account of, or credit extended by, the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries or shall impose on the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries any other condition affecting its obligations under this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, or the Letter of Credit;

and the result of any event referred to in subparagraphs (i) and (ii) above is to increase the cost to the Bank or an affiliate or subsidiary of the Bank of performing its obligations under this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, or the Letter of Credit, or to reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary under this Agreement or the Letter of Credit or any Bank Bonds purchased by the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary hereunder, by an amount deemed by the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary to be material, then, within sixty (60) days after demand by the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary (or, if such increased costs will continue to be incurred by the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary, in arrears on a monthly basis as agreed between the City and the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary), the City shall pay to the Bank or an affiliate or subsidiary of the Bank, such additional amount or amounts as will compensate the Bank or such affiliate or subsidiary for such increased cost or reduction.

- (b) If the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries shall have determined that, after the date hereof, any Change in Law, or any request or directive regarding capital adequacy or liquidity (whether or not having the force of law) of any such authority, central bank or comparable agency, has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on capital of the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries relating to the Bank's or its affiliate's or subsidiary's, as applicable, obligations hereunder, under the Bank Fee Agreement, or under the Letter of Credit, and such adoption, change, request or directive (taking into consideration its policies with respect to capital adequacy or liquidity) will reduce the Bank's or its affiliate's or subsidiary's, as applicable, rate of return on capital by a material amount, then from time to time, within sixty (60) days after written demand by the Bank or its affiliate or subsidiary, the City shall pay to the Bank or its affiliate or subsidiary, as applicable, for such additional costs.
- (c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, for purposes of this Agreement (a) all requests, rules, guidelines or directives in connection with the Dodd-Frank Act shall be deemed to be a Change in Law, regardless of the date enacted, adopted or issued, and (b) all requests, rules, guidelines or directives promulgated by the Bank for International Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Regulations and Supervisory Practices (or any successor or similar authority) or any Governmental Authority shall be deemed a Change in Law regardless of the date enacted, adopted or issued.

- (d) A certificate of the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries claiming compensation under this Section and setting forth the additional amount or amounts to be paid to it hereunder and attaching such information in reasonable detail shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error.
- (e) No affiliate or subsidiary or other transferee of the Bank's rights shall be entitled to receive any greater payment under this Section 2.14 than the Bank would have been entitled to receive with respect to the rights transferred.
- (f) The obligations of the City under this Section 2.14 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.
- **Section 2.15** Obligations Absolute. The obligations of the City to reimburse the Bank for amounts paid by the Bank under the Letter of Credit, together with interest thereon as provided herein and all other amounts due and owing the Bank, shall be absolute, unconditional and irrevocable and shall be performed strictly in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement, under all circumstances whatsoever, including without limitation the following circumstances:
 - (i) any lack of validity or enforceability of the Letter of Credit or any of the Financing Documents;
 - (ii) any amendment to, waiver of or consent to departure from any provision of, the Letter of Credit or any Financing Document;
 - (iii) the existence of any claim, set off, defense or other right which the City may have at any time against the Paying Agent, any beneficiary of the Letter of Credit (or any Persons for whom the Paying Agent, any such beneficiary or any such transferee may be acting), the Bank, a Participant or any other Person, whether in connection with the Letter of Credit, the Financing Documents or any unrelated transaction;
 - (iv) any statement or any other document presented under the Letter of Credit proving to be forged, fraudulent, invalid or insufficient in any respect or any statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect;
 - (v) payment by any Bank to the Paying Agent under the Letter of Credit against presentation of a draft or certificate which does not strictly comply with the terms of the Letter of Credit; or
 - (vi) any other circumstance or happening whatsoever, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing.
- **Section 2.16** Maximum Rate. If the rate of interest payable hereunder shall exceed the Maximum Rate for any period for which interest is payable, then (a) interest at the Maximum Rate shall be due and payable with respect to such interest period and (b) interest at the rate equal to the difference between (i) the rate of interest calculated in accordance with the terms hereof and (ii) the Maximum Rate (the "Excess Interest") shall be deferred until such date as the

rate of interest calculated in accordance with the terms hereof ceases to exceed the Maximum Rate, at which time the City shall pay to the Bank, with respect to amounts then payable to the Bank that are required to accrue interest hereunder, such portion of the deferred Excess Interest as will cause the rate of interest then paid to the Bank to equal the Maximum Rate, which payments of deferred Excess Interest shall continue to apply to such unpaid amounts hereunder until all deferred Excess Interest is fully paid to the Bank. Upon the earlier of (A) the date the related Liquidity Advance is repaid in full and (B) the date all related Reimbursement Obligations are payable hereunder following the termination of the Letter of Credit, in consideration for the limitation of the rate of interest otherwise payable hereunder, the City, to the extent permitted by law, shall pay to the Bank a fee equal to the amount of all unpaid deferred Excess Interest; *provided* that in no event shall any such payment result in interest paid hereunder exceeding the Maximum Rate.

Section 2.17 Security. Notwithstanding any provision set forth herein to the contrary, the Bank acknowledges and agrees that the obligations of the City hereunder for the payment of Obligations owed to the Bank hereunder, under the Bank Fee Agreement and with respect to the Bank Bonds are secured by and payable solely from Net Revenues as provided in the Ordinance and are subject to all limitations on such sources and priorities with respect to payment therefrom as are set forth in the Ordinance. Funds raised or to be raised by taxation shall not be available for the payment of Obligations owed to the Bank hereunder.

ARTICLE 3 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

- **Section 3.1** Representations of City. In order to induce the Bank to enter into this Agreement and the Bank to issue the Letter of Credit, the City hereby represents and warrants to the Bank as follows:
 - (a) Organization and Authorization. The City is a "Home Rule City", acting as such under the Constitution and laws of the State, and has full legal right, power and authority to (i) charge and collect revenues related to the Airport System and (ii) pledge the Net Revenues to secure the Bonds (including Bank Bonds).
 - (b) Authority to Adopt or Execute Documents. The City had, as of the date of adoption thereof, full power and authority to adopt its ordinance or ordinances authorizing the execution and delivery of the Financing Documents to which the City is a party and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, has, or had as of the date of execution and delivery, full power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, and the Financing Documents to which the City is a party, and has full power and authority to perform its obligations under each of the foregoing.
 - (c) Obligations Legal, Valid and Binding. (i) The Financing Documents to which the City is a party have been duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered and constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of the City enforceable against the City in accordance with their respective terms, except insofar as enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally and by equitable principles, whether considered at law or in

equity, by the exercise by the State and its governmental bodies of the police power inherent in the sovereignty of the State or by the exercise by the United States of America of the power delegated to it by the Constitution of the United States of America.

- (ii) No Default or City Event of Default has occurred and is continuing under this Agreement, and no event of default or condition, event or act which with notice or lapse of time or both would become or constitute a default or event of default under, or as such term is defined in, any other Financing Document to which it is a party or under any other material mortgage, indenture, contract, agreement or undertaking to which the City is a party or which purports to be binding on the City or on any of its assets which default would materially adversely affect the ability of City to perform its obligations hereunder or under any of the other Financing Documents to which it is a party.
- (d) No Legal Bar. (i) The City is not in violation of any law of the State in any manner which would adversely affect the City' existence or its powers and authority referred to in Section 3.1(b) hereof.
 - The execution, delivery and performance by the City of this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, and the other Financing Documents to which it is a party, and all other agreements and instruments relating to this Agreement or the other Financing Documents executed and delivered by the City in connection herewith and therewith (i) do not violate any provision of the Constitution of the State or the laws of the State or any other applicable law, regulation, order, writ, judgment or decree of any court, arbitrator (to the extent that any ruling, finding or decision of any arbitrator is enforceable by a court of law) or governmental authority, and (ii) do not violate any provision of, constitute a default under, or result in the creation or imposition of any lien on any of the assets of the City pursuant to the provisions of, any mortgage, ordinance, resolution, indenture, contract, agreement or other undertaking to which the City is a party or which purports to be binding on the City or on any of its assets other than the liens created hereby or by the other Financing Documents, which violation would materially adversely affect the ability of the City to perform its obligations hereunder or under any of the other Financing Documents to which it is a party.
 - (iii) The City is not a party to, or otherwise subject to, any provision contained in any instrument evidencing any Payment Obligation of the City or any other contract or agreement which limits the amount of, or otherwise imposes restrictions on the incurring of, obligations of the City that would materially adversely affect the ability of City to perform its obligations hereunder or under any of the other Financing Documents to which it is a party.
- (e) Consents. The City has obtained, or will obtain on or before the Closing Date, all consents, permits, licenses and approvals of, and has made, or will have made on or before the Closing Date, all filings, registrations and declarations with, governmental authorities required under law, to authorize the remarketing of the Bonds,

the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, and the other Financing Documents to which it is a party and all other agreements delivered or to be delivered in connection with any thereof, and all such consents, permits, licenses, approvals, filings, registrations and declarations remain in full force and effect.

- (f) Litigation. There is no action, suit, investigation or proceeding, inquiry or investigation before or by any court, public board or body pending or, to the knowledge of the City, threatened against or affecting the City in which an adverse determination could have a material adverse effect on the Airport System or the business, operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Airport System or its ability to perform its obligations hereunder or under the other Financing Documents to which it is a party.
- (g) Disclosure. The representations and statements made by the City herein or in any other Financing Document, or in any other document furnished to the Bank by the City in connection herewith or therewith are accurate as of the date of this Agreement. All financial statements of the City furnished to the Bank were prepared in accordance with GAAP. Since the date of the audited financial statements of the City included in the Remarketing Memorandum, no material adverse change has occurred in the business, operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of the City. The Remarketing Memorandum does not, as of its date, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; provided that no representation is made as to information with respect to the Insurer, the Bank, Royal Bank or JPMorgan.
- (h) *Insurance*. The City currently maintains insurance for the Airport System of such types and in such amounts or in excess of such amounts as are customarily carried by, and insures against such risks as are customarily insured against by, Texas home-rule cities operating properties of like type, size and character to the Airport System or provides self-insurance for the same.
- (i) No Proposed Legal Changes. To the knowledge of the City, as of the date of execution of this Agreement, there is no amendment or proposed amendment to the Constitution of the State or any published administrative interpretation of the Constitution of the State or any State law (including, without limitation, any opinion of the attorney general of the State interpreting the Constitution of the State or any State law), or any legislation that has passed either house of the State legislature, or any published judicial decision by a court of competent jurisdiction interpreting any of the foregoing, the effect of which is (i) to materially adversely affect the Bonds or any holder thereof in its capacity as such or (ii) to materially adversely affect the ability of the City to perform its obligations under this Agreement or any other Financing Document to which it is a party.
- (j) No Immunity. To the extent authorized by Texas Government Code Section 1371.059(c), the City has, in this Agreement, waived sovereign immunity from suit and liability for the purposes of adjudicating a claim to enforce this Agreement and

the Bank Fee Agreement or for damages for breach of this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement. The City further represents that to the extent its obligations hereunder, under the Bank Fee Agreement and under the other Financing Documents to which it is a party represent the legal obligations of the City, it believes its non-discretionary duties are subject to enforcement in Texas courts by writ of mandamus, and that it is not immune to an equitable mandamus action.

- (k) Other MFN Clause. The City does not currently have outstanding any Bank Agreement in which it has given to any Person or Persons that have made a loan or extended credit or liquidity to the City for the benefit of the Airport System an MFN Clause that provides such Person or Persons the benefit of any events of default contained in a separate Bank Agreement (entered into by the City on a future date with a different Person or Persons) that are in addition to or different from the events of default provided for in the Bank Agreement containing the subject MFN Clause.
- (l) Regulations U and X. The City is not engaged in the business of extending purpose credit, secured directly or indirectly, by margin stock (within the meaning of Regulation U or X issued by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System); and the City will not use, or cause any other Person to use, the proceeds of the Bonds to extend purpose credit, secured directly or indirectly by margin stock, to any other Person.
- (m) Environmental Matters. The City has not received any notice to the effect that the City is not in compliance with any requirement of law or is the subject of any governmental investigation evaluating whether any remedial action is needed to respond to a release of any toxic or hazardous waste or substance into the environment, which non compliance or remedial action could have a material adverse effect on the assets, financial condition, properties, business or operations of the Airport System or the ability of the City to perform its obligations hereunder and under the other Financing Documents to which the City is a party.
 - (n) *ERISA*. The City is not subject to ERISA.
- (o) Compliance with Laws. Except as disclosed in the Remarketing Memorandum or otherwise disclosed in writing to the Bank prior to the date hereof, the City is in compliance in all material respects with the requirements of all laws and all orders, writs, injunctions and decrees applicable to it or to its properties, except in such instances in which (a) such requirement of law or order, writ, injunction or decree is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted or (b) the failure to comply therewith, either individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the assets, financial condition, properties, business or operations of the Airport System or the ability of the City to perform its obligations hereunder and under the other Financing Documents to which the City is a party.
- (p) Taxes. The City has filed all Federal, state and other material tax returns and reports required to be filed and has paid all Federal, state and other material taxes,

assessments, fees and other governmental charges levied or imposed upon it or its properties, income or assets otherwise due and payable, except those which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted and for which adequate reserves have been provided in accordance with GAAP. There is no proposed tax assessment against the City that would, if made, have a material adverse effect on the assets, financial condition, properties, business or operations of the City or the ability of the City to perform its obligations hereunder and under the other Financing Documents to which the City is a party.

- (q) *Interest*. None of the Financing Documents (including the Bonds and Bank Bonds) provide for any payments that would violate any applicable law regarding permissible maximum rates of interest under the laws of the State; *provided*, *however*, that the City makes no representation with respect to the last sentence of Section 2.16 hereof.
- (r) *Prior Lien Bonds*. Other than the Prior Lien Bonds the City has no obligations secured by a lien on the Net Revenues that is superior to the lien on the Net Revenues securing the Series 2005 Bonds. The City has covenanted in the Ordinance not to issue Additional Prior Lien Bonds (as defined in the ordinances authorizing the Prior Lien Bonds).
- (s) Bank Bonds. The Bank Bonds purchased pursuant to this Agreement will be transferred to or held for the benefit of the Bank, free and clear of all liens, security interests or claims of any Person other than the Bank, except for such consensual liens or other security interests as may be created by the Bank.
- (t) The Paying Agent and Remarketing Agent. The Paying Agent is the duly appointed and acting paying agent/registrar under the Ordinance. The Remarketing Agent is the duly appointed and acting remarketing agent for the Bonds.
- (u) Swap Termination Payments. There is no lien on the Net Revenues securing any swap termination payments payable pursuant to any Swap Contract entered into by the City that is superior in priority to or on a parity with the lien securing the Bonds, the Bank Bonds and any other Obligations owed to the Bank hereunder or under the Bank Fee Agreement.
- (v) Incorporation of Representations and Warranties. The City hereby makes to the Bank the same representations and warranties as were made by it in each Financing Document (other than this Agreement) to which it is a party, which representations and warranties, together with the related definitions of terms contained therein, are hereby incorporated by reference in this Section 3.1(v) with the same effect as if each and every such representation and warranty and definition were set forth in this Section 3.1(v) in its entirety. No amendment to or waiver of such representations and warranties or definitions made pursuant to such Financing Documents shall be effective to amend such representations and warranties and definitions as incorporated by reference in this Section 3.1(v) without the prior written consent of the Bank in accordance with Section 5.2(a).

(w) Security. Pursuant to the Ordinance the City has pledged the Net Revenues to the payment and security of the Bonds (including the Bank Bonds). The Ordinance validly grants the pledge which it purports to create to secure the Bonds (including the Bank Bonds) and the City's obligations hereunder as and to the extent provided herein and in the Ordinance and is a perfected lien in the manner provided by Chapter 1208, Texas Government Code.

ARTICLE 4 CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

- Section 4.1 Conditions to Issuance and Delivery of the Letter of Credit. The obligation of the Bank to issue the Letter of Credit has been undertaken in reliance upon the due performance by the City of its obligations and agreements to be performed hereunder and under the other Financing Documents to which it is a party and the accuracy of and compliance with the representations, warranties, covenants, agreements and duties of the City contained herein on and as of the Closing Date. The obligation of the Bank to issue the Letter of Credit is also subject to the fulfillment of the following conditions precedent by the City on or before the Closing Date, in a manner satisfactory to the Bank and its counsel:
 - (a) The Bank shall have received (i) an executed original of each of this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, the Custody Agreement and copies of the other Financing Documents, (ii) a specimen copy of each of the Bonds, and (iii) a certified copy of the Ordinance;
 - (b) The Bank shall have received a signed legal opinion of counsel to the City as to such matters as the Bank may reasonably request, such opinion shall be addressed to the Bank, dated the Closing Date and in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank and its counsel;
 - (c) The Bank shall have received a signed opinion of Vinson & Elkins, L.L.P., bond counsel, dated the Closing Date, addressed to the Bank and in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank and its counsel;
 - (d) The Bank shall have received evidence satisfactory to the Bank that the Bonds have been assigned an underlying long term rating of "A-" and that such rating is in full force and effect on the Closing Date;
 - (e) The Bank shall have received a certificate of the City signed by a duly authorized officer, dated the Closing Date, certifying the names and true signatures of the officers of the City authorized to execute, on behalf of the City, this Agreement and each other Financing Document required to be executed and delivered by the City as of the Closing Date;
 - (f) The Bank shall have received a certificate of the City, dated the Closing Date and signed by a duly authorized officer, stating that (i) the representations and warranties set forth in Article 3 hereof and in all other Financing Documents to which it is a party are true and correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date, (ii) no Default or City Event of Default has occurred and is continuing; and (iii) no material

adverse change has occurred in the financial position or results of operation of the City since the date of the audited financial statements of the City included in the Remarketing Memorandum:

- (g) All other legal matters pertaining to the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the other Financing Documents and the remarketing of the Bonds shall be reasonably satisfactory to the Bank and its counsel;
- (h) The City shall have paid the fees and expenses and all other amounts (including, without limitation, attorneys' fees and expenses) payable on the Closing Date pursuant to the Bank Fee Agreement and Section 7.12 hereof for which the City shall have received an invoice prior to the Closing Date from the Bank; provided, however, that the failure by the Bank to provide an invoice with respect to any fees, expenses or other amounts payable by the City pursuant to the Bank Fee Agreement and Section 7.12 hereof shall not relieve the City from its liability to make such payments to the Bank;
- (i) The Bank shall have received an executed Bank Bond Endorsement from the Insurer;
- (j) The Bank shall have received a signed opinion of counsel to the Insurer, dated the Closing Date, addressed to the Bank and in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank;
- (k) The Bank shall have received written evidence of the Insurer's consent to the Amendment to the Ordinance and the terms and provisions of this Agreement and the Letter of Credit;
- (l) The Bank shall have received such other documents, certificates, opinions, approvals and filings with respect to this Agreement and the other Financing Documents as its counsel may reasonably request;
- (m) The Bank shall have received satisfactory evidence of the termination of the Existing Agreement;
- (n) The Bank shall have received the approval of the Texas Attorney General related to the proceedings related to this Agreement; and
- (o) The Bank shall have received a CUSIP number specifically assigned to the Bank Bonds.

The issuance of its Letter of Credit to Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., in its capacities as Paying Agent and as Tender Agent (as Beneficiary as defined in the Letter of Credit), shall constitute an acknowledgement by the Bank that the conditions precedent set forth above have been satisfied or waived.

Section 4.2 Conditions Precedent to a Liquidity Advance. If at the time of payment by the Bank of any Liquidity Drawing under the Letter of Credit the Insurance Policy is no longer in effect, a Liquidity Advance shall be made available to the City only if on the date of payment of

such Liquidity Drawing by the Bank (a) the representations and warranties contained in Article 3 of this Agreement are true and correct in all material respects as of such date (except to the extent that such representations and warranties specifically refer to an earlier date, in which case, they are true and correct as of such earlier date); and (b) no event has occurred and is continuing, or would result from the making of such Liquidity Advance, which constitutes a Default or a City Event of Default hereunder. The conditions described in this Section 4.2 shall be referred to herein as the "Conditions Precedent". Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary and for the avoidance of doubt, so long as the Insurance Policy is in effect the payment or making by the Bank of any Liquidity Drawing or Liquidity Advance shall not be subject to or otherwise dependent upon the satisfaction of the Conditions Precedent.

Unless the City shall have previously advised the Bank in writing that the above statements are no longer true, the City shall be deemed to have represented and warranted on the date of such payment that the above statements are true and correct.

ARTICLE 5 COVENANTS

- **Section 5.1** Affirmative Covenants of the City. As long as this Agreement is in effect, and until all amounts payable hereunder, under the Bank Fee Agreement and under any Bank Bonds are fully paid or defeased in accordance with the Ordinance, the City will, as applicable, perform and observe the covenants set forth below:
 - (a) Financial Records. The City shall at all times maintain financial records and furnish to the Bank, as soon as available, but in any event within one hundred eighty (180) days after the end of each fiscal year, audited financial statements (including balance sheet and income statement) prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied and certified by an independent certified public accounting firm except to the extent State law requires otherwise.
 - (b) Notice of Default. The City shall notify the Bank in writing of the occurrence of (i) any Default or City Event of Default, (ii) any default under any Financing Document to which the City is a party, or (iii) any filing by the City of a petition in bankruptcy under the Bankruptcy Law. The City shall also notify the Bank of the occurrence of any default or other event under any ordinance, contract or instrument providing for the creation of any Payment Obligation (payable from Net Revenues) of the City where the effect thereof is to accelerate, or permit the acceleration of, the maturity of such Payment Obligation (payable from Net Revenues).
 - (c) *Budgets*. The City shall deliver to the Bank a copy of its annual budget for the next fiscal year promptly upon adoption of such budget.
 - (d) Reports. The City shall deliver to the Bank, as soon as available and in any event not later than forty-five (45) days after the end of each fiscal quarter, (i) quarterly unaudited financial statements of the Airport System prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, except to the extent State law requires otherwise, and accompanied by comparative figures of the expected year-end balances and the budgeted

amount for such fiscal period including relevant footnotes, (ii) quarterly mark-to-market valuations on Swap Contracts in place with respect to the Bonds and payable from Net Revenues, (iv) written notice of any change in insurance carriers or amount of any insurance coverage and (vii) all other information concerning the City which the City submits to or receives from any other party which is reasonably likely to have a material effect on the Bank's rights hereunder or under the Bank Fee Agreement or the City's obligations under any Financing Document to which it is a party.

- (e) Other Information. The City shall furnish to the Bank promptly, as the Bank may reasonably request, such additional information concerning the Airport System or the City in order to enable the Bank to determine whether the covenants, terms and provisions of this Agreement and the other Financing Documents have been complied with by the City, and for that purpose all pertinent books, documents and vouchers relating to the City's business, affairs and properties shall at all reasonable times during regular business hours and upon reasonable notice be open to the inspection of such accountants or other agents (who may make copies of all or any part thereof at their own cost and expense) as shall from time to time be designated by the Bank. Without limiting the foregoing, the City will permit the Bank to visit and inspect any of the properties of the City during regular business hours and to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of the City with its respective officials and any accounting firm performing services for the City, as often as the Bank may reasonably request.
- (f) Compliance with Obligations. The City shall observe and comply with all of its obligations arising in connection with the Airport System and all laws applicable to the Airport System, including, without limitation, all budgeting requirements of the Airport System, so as not to materially adversely affect the ability of the City to perform its obligations hereunder. The City shall observe and comply with all of its obligations arising in connection with the Financing Documents and all laws applicable to the City so as not to materially adversely affect the ability of the City to perform its obligations hereunder or under any other Financing Documents to which it is a party.
- (g) Litigation. The City shall promptly, and in any event within ten (10) Business Days, notify the Bank in writing with respect to any pending or, to the extent of its actual knowledge, threatened litigation with respect to the City or the Airport System, the existence of which causes the representation set forth in Section 3.1(f) hereof to be untrue or inaccurate in any material respect.
- (h) Licenses, Permits, Etc. The City will take all necessary and appropriate action to ensure the continuance in force of all material consents, licenses, permits, orders, decrees, approvals, authorizations, registrations and filings obtained or made in connection with the Airport System, this Agreement, or the other Financing Documents to which the City is a party, or which are necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and performance the City of this Agreement and the other Financing Documents to which the City is a party and all other agreements to be delivered in connection with any thereof.

- (i) Books and Records. The City shall keep or cause to be kept adequate and proper records and books of account with respect the City and the Airport System in which complete and correct entries shall be made.
 - (j) Reserved.
- (k) Maintenance of Existence. Except as may be required by law, or unless it has obtained the prior written consent of the Bank (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld), the City shall preserve and maintain its existence, and its rights, franchises and privileges material to the conduct of its business and shall not reorganize, merge or consolidate with or into any Person, wind up, liquidate or dissolve its affairs (or suffer any liquidation or dissolution) or convert, sell, assign, transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of (or agree to do any of the foregoing at any future time), whether in one transaction or a series of transactions, all or substantially all of its property or assets.
- (l) Notice of Adverse Change. The City shall notify the Bank, as soon as possible, and in any event within ten (10) Business Days, after acquiring knowledge of the occurrence of (i) the filing of any action in a court of competent jurisdiction for an initiative or referendum which is reasonably likely to lead to the material diminution or reallocation of Net Revenues or the funds received by the City under any Swap Contract relating to the Bonds and payable from Net Revenues or (ii) any other event which is likely to have a material adverse effect on the financial condition or operations of the Airport System or materially adversely affect the ability of the City to perform its obligations under this Agreement or under any other Financing Document to which the City is a party.
- (m) Paying Agent and Other Agents. The City shall immediately notify the Bank of any resignation of the Paying Agent, the Tender Agent or the Remarketing Agent. The City shall obtain the prior written consent of the Bank prior to the appointment of any successor Paying Agent, Tender Agent or Remarketing Agent. The City shall use reasonable efforts to cause the Remarketing Agent to at all times comply with the terms of the Financing Documents to which it is a party.
- (n) Other Matters. The City shall execute and deliver to the Bank all such documents and instruments, and do all such acts and things, as may be necessary or reasonably required by the Bank to enable the Bank to exercise and enforce its rights under this Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement and to realize thereon, and record and file and rerecord and refile all such documents and instruments, at such time or times, in such manner and at such place or places, all as may be necessary or reasonably required by the Bank to validate, preserve and protect the lien of the Bank on the Net Revenues under the Ordinance.
- (o) Payment of Obligations; Removal of Liens. The City shall pay all indebtedness and obligations of the City in accordance with the terms thereof, including as the same respectively become due, all taxes, charges, assessments (general or special) and governmental charges of any kind whatsoever, that may be at any time lawfully

assessed or levied against or with respect to the Net Revenues and promptly discharge or cause to be discharged all liens, encumbrances and charges on Net Revenues.

- (p) Maintenance of Insurance. The City covenants that it will maintain insurance or self insurance on the Airport System. The City shall maintain insurance of such type and in such amounts or in excess of such amounts as are customarily carried by, and insure against such risks as are customarily insured against by, Texas home-rule cities of like type, size and character to the City or provide self-insurance for the same.
 - (q) Reserved.
 - (r) Liquidity.
 - (i) The City shall use its best efforts to (A) obtain a Substitute Credit Facility to replace the Letter of Credit (to the extent replacement is commercially reasonable), (B) convert the interest rate on the related subseries of Bonds to an interest rate other than the Weekly Rate or (C) refund or refinance the related subseries of Bonds, in the event the Bank shall notify the City that it will not extend the Stated Expiration Date pursuant to Section 2.12 hereof.
 - (ii) The City agrees that any Substitute Credit Facility will require, as a condition to the effectiveness of the Substitute Credit Facility, that the issuer of the Substitute Credit Facility will provide funds to the extent necessary, in addition to other funds available, on the date the Substitute Credit Facility becomes effective, for the purchase of all Bank Bonds at par plus all accrued interest thereon through the date such Substitute Credit Facility becomes effective. On such date, any and all amounts due hereunder to the Bank shall be payable in full to the Bank.
 - (iii) The City shall not permit a Substitute Credit Facility to become effective with respect to less than all of the Bonds without the prior written consent of the Bank.

(s) Conversion.

- (i) (A) The City shall promptly furnish, or cause to be furnished, to the Bank, not later than furnishing the same to the Paying Agent, a copy of any notice of conversion of the interest rate on any subseries of Bonds furnished by the City to the Paying Agent pursuant to the Ordinance indicating a proposed conversion of the interest rate on any subseries of the Bonds to a rate other than a Weekly Rate and (B) the City shall not permit, consent to, or request a conversion of the Bonds to an interest rate other than a Weekly Rate without the prior written consent of the Bank if, after giving effect to such conversion, there would be any other amounts payable to the Bank or in respect of Bank Bonds held by the Bank or any other Obligations owed to the Bank would not have been paid in full; and
- (ii) In the event of a tender and a failed remarketing of the Bonds and the resulting Liquidity Drawing under the Letter of Credit remains outstanding for

a period of thirty (30) consecutive calendar days, the City shall use its best efforts to (A) replace the Letter of Credit with a Substitute Credit Facility (to the extent replacement is commercially reasonable), (B) convert the interest rate on the Bonds to a rate other than a Weekly Rate or (C) refund or refinance the Bonds, in any case not later than ninety (90) days immediately succeeding the thirtieth (30th) calendar day succeeding the date of the related Liquidity Drawing.

- (t) Selection of Bank Bonds for Redemption. The City shall select, or cause to be selected, for optional redemption any and all Bank Bonds subject to optional redemption prior to selecting, or causing to be selected, for optional redemption any of the Bonds that are not Bank Bonds.
- (u) Incorporated by Reference. The City agrees that it will, for the benefit of the Bank, comply with, abide by and be restricted by all of the agreements, covenants, obligations and undertakings of the City in the Financing Documents to which it is a party, which agreements, covenants, obligations and undertakings, together with the related definitions and ancillary provisions, are incorporated in this Section 5.1(u) by reference and made a part of this Section 5.1(u) to the same extent and with the same force and effect as if the same had been set forth in this Section 5.1(u) in their entirety, and they will be deemed to continue in effect for the benefit of the Bank, without regard or giving effect to any amendment or modification of such provisions or any waiver of compliance therewith, unless such amendment, modification or waiver is consented to in writing by the Bank in accordance with Section 5.2(a).
- (v) *Maintenance of Ratings*. The City shall, at all times during the term of this Agreement, maintain a long-term unenhanced credit rating with respect to the Bonds with at least one of the Rating Agencies.
- Paying Agent and Remarketing Agent. The City shall at all times maintain a Paying Agent and a Tender Agent under the Ordinance reasonably acceptable to the Bank. The City shall cause the Remarketing Agent to use its best efforts to remarket the Bonds, including Bank Bonds, up to the maximum rate permitted under the Ordinance. If the Remarketing Agent fails to remarket the Bonds for thirty (30) consecutive days or at any time fails to perform its duties under the Remarketing Agreement and the Ordinance to the satisfaction of the Bank, the City will, at the direction of the Bank, replace such Remarketing Agent and, appoint a successor Remarketing Agent reasonably acceptable to the Bank and the Insurer. The City will not, without the prior written consent of the Bank, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, remove the then existing Remarketing Agent. Any remarketing agreement with a successor Remarketing Agent shall provide that (a) such successor Remarketing Agent may resign upon at least sixty (60) days prior written notice to the Paying Agent, the Bank, and the City, (b) such successor Remarketing Agent shall use its best efforts to remarket the Bonds without regard to the Bank Rate (i.e., whether or not the rate to be borne by the Bonds is less than the Bank Rate) and (c) such successor Remarketing Agent shall offer the Bonds for remarketing at the maximum rate permitted under the Ordinance prior to such Bonds being tendered for purchase pursuant to a Liquidity Drawing.

- Credit Facilities. In the event that the City shall hereafter enter into or otherwise consent to any credit agreement, bond purchase agreement, liquidity agreement, direct securities purchase agreement or other agreement or instrument in connection with the Airport System (or any amendment, supplement or modification thereto) (each such agreement or amendment, supplement or modification thereto shall be referred to herein as a "Bank Agreement") under which any Person (other than the federal government or any agency thereof) undertakes to make loans or extend credit or liquidity to the City for the benefit of the Airport System, which Bank Agreement (or amendment thereto) provides such Person with additional or more restrictive covenants and/or greater rights and remedies than are provided to the Bank in this Agreement, the City shall provide the Bank with a copy of such Bank Agreement and such additional or more restrictive covenants and/or greater rights and remedies shall automatically be deemed to be incorporated into this Section 5.1(x) and the Bank shall have the benefits of such additional or more restrictive covenants and/or such greater rights and remedies as if specifically set forth in this Section 5.1(x). No amendment or waiver to any such Bank Agreement shall be effective as against the Bank without the written consent of the Bank. Upon the request of the Bank, the City shall promptly enter into an amendment to this Agreement to include such additional or more restrictive covenants, and/or greater rights or remedies, provided that the Bank shall maintain the benefit of such additional or more restrictive covenants and/or greater rights and remedies even if the City fails to provide such amendment.
- (y) Waiver of Sovereign Immunity. To the extent authorized by Texas Government Code Section 1371.059(c), the City hereby waives sovereign immunity from suit and liability for the purposes of adjudicating a claim to enforce this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement or for damages for breach of this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement.
- (z) *Maintenance of Property*. The City shall maintain, preserve and keep the Airport System in good repair, working order and condition (ordinary wear and tear excepted).
- (aa) Taxes and Assessments. The City shall pay or cause to be paid all taxes, assessments and governmental charges imposed upon it or its respective interest in the Airport System before the same become delinquent, unless and to the extent that the same are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings and reserves are provided therefor that in the opinion of the City are adequate.
- (bb) Debt Service Reserve Fund. In the event that the financial strength rating of the Bond Insurer is reduced below A3 or is withdrawn or suspended for credit related reasons by Moody's and is reduced below A- or is withdrawn or suspended for credit related reasons by S&P, the City shall, within sixty (60) days of such rating action, (i) replace the surety provider with a provider acceptable to the Bank or (ii) cash fund the Debt Service Reserve Fund in an amount equal to the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement (over a period of eighteen (18) months in monthly installments as required by the Ordinance).

- (cc) Bank Bond Rating. At any time Bank Bonds are outstanding, upon request of the Bank or any other financial institution that owns Bank Bonds or a beneficial interest therein, the City, at its expense, (i) shall obtain promptly from at least one rating agency then rating the Bonds, a rating specifically assigned to such Bank Bonds and (ii) shall ensure that the CUSIP number and the rating assigned to such Bank Bonds are available electronically from a third-party provider of such information.
- Future Agreements. In the event that the City shall hereafter enter into or (dd) otherwise consent to any Bank Agreement with any Person for a loan or to extend credit or liquidity to the City for the benefit of the Airport System and such Bank Agreement contains a "most favored nations" or "most favored lender" provision (each an "MFN Clause") that provides such Person the benefit of any additional or different events of default (contained in a separate Bank Agreement that is entered into by the City on a future date with a different Person) than are provided to such Person in such Bank Agreement, then within 5 Business Days after the effective date of such Bank Agreement, the City shall provide to the Bank a copy of such MFN Clause and, at the discretion of the Bank, the portion of such MFN Clause referencing such additional or different events of default (the "Incorporated Portion") shall be deemed to be incorporated into Section 5.1(x) hereof and the Bank shall have the benefit of the Incorporated Portion. Upon the request of the Bank, the City shall promptly enter into an amendment to this Agreement to include the Incorporated Portion, provided that the Bank shall have the benefit of such Incorporated Portion of such MFN Clause even if the City fails to provide such amendment.
- **Section 5.2** <u>Negative Covenants of the City</u>. As long as this Agreement is in effect, and until all amounts payable hereunder or under the Bank Fee Agreement, and under any Bank Bonds, are indefeasibly paid in full, the City shall not, unless the Bank shall otherwise consent in writing:
 - (a) agree to amend, supplement, extend, modify, waive, revise or otherwise alter or terminate, or permit any party to amend, supplement, extend, modify, waive, revise or otherwise alter or terminate, any term of the Bonds or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party;
 - (b) violate any law, rule, regulation, or governmental order to which it is subject, which violation involves a reasonable likelihood of adversely affecting the use or value of the Airport System, the financial condition, business or results of operations of the Airport System or the ability of the City to perform its obligations under this Agreement or any other Financing Document;
 - (c) invest any amounts on deposit in any of the funds or accounts held or maintained by the Paying Agent pursuant to the Ordinance in any investments other than investments permitted pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance or deviate from the investment policies of the City approved by the City Council of the City or from the applicable provisions of the State statutes with respect to the City's investments;

- (d) take any action, or cause the Paying Agent or the Tender Agent to take any action under the Ordinance that would cause a Default or a City Event of Default under this Agreement;
- (e) take any action which would result in the City's obligations to the Bank under this Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement not having the priority set forth in the Ordinance;
- (f) terminate this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement or the Ordinance (except as otherwise permitted herein or therein) or replace the Letter of Credit with a Substitute Credit Facility (except as otherwise permitted herein or in the Ordinance);
- (g) except as permitted by the Ordinance, encumber, transfer, sell, lease, convey or otherwise dispose of, any interest in, or create, suffer or assume any lien to be created on, the Airport System; or
- (h) other than in the Remarketing Memorandum and its audited financial statements, refer to the Bank in any official statement or any similar offering document or make any changes in reference to the Bank in any official statement or any similar offering document; provided, however, that the City may include the name of the Bank in the Remarketing Memorandum or its audited financial statements without the consent of the Bank; or
- (i) permit a lien on the Net Revenues securing any swap termination payments payable pursuant to any Swap Contract entered into the City that is superior in priority to or on a parity with the lien on the Net Revenues securing the Bonds, the Bank Bonds or any other Reimbursement Obligations owed to the Bank hereunder.
 - (j) *Liens and Additional Debt.*
 - (i) <u>Parity Liens.</u> Except as permitted by the Ordinance, the City shall not grant any lien, pledge or security interest in the Net Revenues which is on parity with the lien on Net Revenues that secures the payment of the City's Obligations.
 - (ii) Additional Senior Debt. The City shall not issue any obligations after the Closing Date which are secured by a lien on Net Revenues that is senior to that securing the Bonds.

ARTICLE 6 TERM AND TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT; EVENTS OF DEFAULT.

Section 6.1 Term of Agreement. This Agreement shall become effective upon execution by the Bank and the City and shall continue in full force and effect until the Letter of Credit has terminated or expired in accordance with its terms and all Obligations have been paid in full.

- **Section 6.2** <u>City Events of Default</u>. It shall be a "City Event of Default" hereunder if any of the following events shall occur and be continuing:
 - (a) (i) any principal or interest evidenced by the Bonds or the Bank Bonds is not paid when due or (ii) any Drawing or any Liquidity Advance is not paid when due; or
 - (b) any representation or warranty made by the City in this Agreement or any other Financing Document shall prove to be untrue in any material respect on the date as of which it was made; or
 - (c) nonpayment of any amounts payable under this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement when due (other than amounts referred to in Section 6.2(a) hereof), if such failure to pay when due shall continue for six (6) Business Days; or
 - (d) default in the due observance or performance by the City of any covenant set forth in Sections 5.1(b), 5.1(g), 5.1(k), 5.1(l), 5.1(l
 - (e) default in the due observance or performance by the City of any other term, covenant or agreement (not covered by clause (a), (c) or (d)) set forth in this Agreement and the continuance of such default for thirty (30) days after the earlier to occur of (i) the City obtaining actual knowledge thereof and (ii) receipt by the City of notice thereof from the Bank; or
 - (f) the Ordinance shall terminate or cease to be in full force and effect, other than as a result of any prepayment in full of all of the Bonds or provision for such prepayment in full in accordance with the Ordinance; or any provision of the Ordinance relating to the security for the Bonds or the Obligations, the City's ability to pay the Obligations or perform its obligations hereunder or the rights and remedies of the Bank, or any other material provision of the Ordinance or of any other Financing Document to which the City is a party shall cease to be in full force or effect, or the City or any Person acting on behalf of the City shall deny or disaffirm the City's obligations under the Ordinance or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party; or
 - (g) (i) the City shall commence any case, proceeding or other action (A) under any existing or future law of any jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or relief of debtors, seeking to have an order for relief entered with respect to it, or seeking to adjudicate the City as bankrupt or insolvent, or seeking reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, winding-up, liquidation, dissolution, composition or other relief with respect to the City or its debts, or (B) seeking appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or for all or any substantial part of its assets, or the City shall make a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or (ii) there shall be commenced against the City any case, proceeding or other action of a nature referred to in clause (i) above which (x) results in an order for such relief or in the appointment of a receiver or similar official or (y) remains undismissed, undischarged or unbonded for a period of sixty (60) days; or (iii) there shall be commenced against the City any case, proceeding or other action seeking

issuance of a warrant of attachment, execution, distraint or similar process against all or any substantial part of its assets, which results in the entry of an order for any such relief which shall not have been vacated, discharged, or stayed or bonded pending appeal within sixty (60) days from the entry thereof, or (iv) the City shall take any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, approval of, or acquiescence in, any of the acts set forth in clause (i), (ii) or (iii) above; or (v) the City shall generally not, or shall be unable to, or shall admit in writing its inability to, pay its debts; or

- (h) the City or a governmental authority of competent jurisdiction shall have declared or announced a moratorium (whether or not in writing) with respect to any debt or Payment Obligation of the City payable from Net Revenues; or
- (i) any final, non-appealable judgment or judgments, writ or writs or warrant or warrants of attachment, or any similar process or processes in an aggregate amount of \$5,000,000 or more, payable from Net Revenues, shall be entered or filed against the City and shall remain unvacated, unbonded or unstayed for a period of sixty (60) days; or
- (j) any "event of default" shall occur under the Ordinance or under any other Financing Document; or
- (k) the long-term unenhanced rating assigned to any of the City's debt payable from Net Revenues is reduced below "Baa2" by Moody's or below "BBB" by S&P or is suspended or withdrawn by Moody's or S&P; or
- (l) except pursuant to Section 6.3 or Section 6.4 hereof, the Insurance Policy is canceled or terminated or the Insurer is replaced with another insurer or the terms of the Insurance Policy are amended or modified in any respect which, in the sole discretion of the Bank, would have an adverse effect on the rights or security of the Bank, in any case which was (i) not at the direction of the Bank or (ii) without the prior written consent of the Bank; or
- (m) the City shall (i) default in any payment of any principal or premium of or interest on any of the City's long-term indebtedness in the amount of \$5,000,000 or more payable from Net Revenues (other than the Bonds, the Liquidity Drawings and the Liquidity Advances) beyond the period of grace, if any, provided in the instrument or agreement under which such long-term indebtedness was created; or (ii) default in the observance or performance of any agreement or condition relating to any such long-term indebtedness payable from Net Revenues or contained in any instrument or agreement evidencing, securing or relating thereto, or any other event shall occur or condition exist, the effect of which default or other event or condition is to cause, or to permit the holder or holders of such long-term indebtedness (or a trustee or agent on behalf of such holder or holders) to cause (determined without regard to whether any notice is required), any such long-term indebtedness to become due prior to its stated maturity; or
- (n) (i) a court or other governmental authority with jurisdiction to rule on the validity of this Agreement, the Ordinance or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party shall find, announce or rule that any material provision of this Agreement

or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party, or any provision of the Ordinance relating to the security for the Bonds or the Obligations, the City's ability to pay the Obligations or perform its obligations hereunder or the rights and remedies of the Bank under this Agreement or any other Financing Document, is not a valid and binding agreement of the City; or (ii) the City shall contest the validity or enforceability of this Agreement, any other Financing Document to which the City is a party or any provision of the Ordinance relating to the security for the Bonds or the Obligations, the City's ability to pay the Obligations or perform its obligations hereunder or the rights and remedies of the Bank under this Agreement or any other Financing Document; or (iii) the City or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party or any provision of the Ordinance relating to the security for the Bonds or the Obligations, the City's ability to pay the Obligations or perform its obligations hereunder or the rights and remedies of the Bank under this Agreement or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party, is not valid and binding on the City.

Section 6.3 Remedies. If a City Event of Default shall have occurred, the Bank may exercise any one or more of the following rights and remedies in addition to any other remedies herein or by law provided:

- (a) give written notice of the occurrence of any City Event of Default hereunder to the Paying Agent, with a copy to the City and the Tender Agent, and, with the consent of the Required Banks, direct the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all the Bonds pursuant to Section A-403 of the Ordinance, thereby causing the Letter of Credit to terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent's receipt of such notice, and the Insurance Policy to terminate in accordance with the terms of the Cancellation Agreement, in which case the City and the Bank shall take such action as shall be necessary to effect such termination pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement; provided, however, that if an Insurer Event of Default has also occurred and is continuing, the Bank may direct the City and the Paying Agent that the Insurance Policy shall not be terminated;
- (b) pursue any rights and remedies it may have under the Financing Documents subject to the terms thereof, including instituting suit, actions or proceedings to enforce its rights under the Ordinance;
- (c) pursue any other action available at law or in equity for specific performance of any covenant or agreement contained herein, in aid of execution of any power herein granted or for the enforcement of any proper legal remedy; or
- (d) declare all Obligations to be immediately due and payable, whereupon the same shall be immediately due and payable without any further notice of any kind, which notice is hereby waived by the City (unless such automatic acceleration is waived by the Bank in writing);

provided, however, that in the case of the foregoing clauses (b), (c) and (d), the Bank shall not exercise any such rights and remedies or pursue such other actions, including directions or

remedies under the Ordinance, without the consent of the Insurer unless the following conditions are met: (i) the Insurance Policy is no longer in effect and (ii) unless an Insurer Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Insurer has been paid all amounts due and payable to it, and if such conditions are met, then the Insurer's rights derived through subrogation or assignment shall nonetheless continue in full force and effect; provided further, that, notwithstanding the condition set forth in clause (i) of the foregoing proviso, if an Insurer Event of Default has occurred, the Bank may, while the Insurance Policy is in effect, exercise any such rights and remedies and pursue such other actions, including directions or remedies under the Ordinance. If the Bank, with the consent of the Required Banks, has directed the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds pursuant to Section 6.3(a) or Section 6.4(a) hereof, the Bank shall, and hereby covenants with the Insurer that it will (unless, with respect to Section 6.3(a) hereof, an Insurer Event of Default has occurred and the Bank has directed the City and the Paying Agent that the Insurance Policy shall not be terminated) satisfy at the earliest time practicable all applicable conditions to the effectiveness of termination of the Insurance Policy pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement and direct the Paying Agent not to draw on the Insurance Policy during the period between the Bank directing the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds and the effectiveness of termination of the Insurance Policy. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Insurer's right to enforce the Bank's covenants set forth in this paragraph shall survive any termination of other rights of the Insurer.

Section 6.4 Mandatory Tender Events.

- If an Insurer Event of Default or an Insurer Downgrade Event shall have occurred, the Bank may give written notice to the Paying Agent, with a copy to the City and the Tender Agent, of the occurrence of such Insurer Event of Default or Insurer Downgrade Event and, with the consent of the Required Banks, direct the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, thereby causing the Insurance Policy to terminate in accordance with the terms of the Cancellation Agreement on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent's receipt of such notice. The City and the Bank shall take such action as may be necessary or required to effect such termination pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement. So long as no City Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, upon the termination of the Insurance Policy the City shall cause the Remarketing Agent to use its best efforts to remarket all tendered Bonds at the earliest date possible pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance; *provided* that, if after the Bonds have been called for mandatory tender by the Paying Agent but prior to the remarketing of such Bonds a City Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, such tendered Bonds shall only be remarketed with the written consent of the Bank and the Bank may at its sole discretion pursue any of its rights or remedies pursuant to this Agreement.
- (b) If the City fails to pay the Letter of Credit Fee, the Bank may give written notice of such failure to pay to the Paying Agent, with a copy to the City and the Tender Agent, and, with the consent of the Required Banks, direct the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, thereby causing the Letter of Credit to terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent's receipt of such notice.

(c) If an Insurer Event of Default or an Insurer Downgrade Event shall have occurred and be continuing, and, in either case, a City Event of Default shall also have occurred and be continuing, the Bank may give written notice to the Paying Agent, with a copy to the City and the Tender Agent, of the occurrence of such Insurer Event of Default or Insurer Downgrade Event, as applicable, and such City Event of Default and, with the consent of the Required Banks, direct the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, thereby causing the Letter of Credit to terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent's receipt of such notice.

ARTICLE 7 MISCELLANEOUS.

Section 7.1 <u>Cancellation Agreement</u>. The City and the Bank hereby acknowledge and agree that (i) pursuant to the terms of the Cancellation Agreement, if the Banks direct the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of the Bonds pursuant to Section 6.3 or Section 6.4 hereof, the Paying Agent shall cause all other Series 2005 Bonds to be tendered for purchase and (ii) the Insurance Policy shall not be terminated prior to the mandatory tender date of all the Series 2005 Bonds established in accordance with the terms of the Ordinance. If the Bank in its sole and absolute discretion shall pay any amounts owed to the Insurer in connection with the cancellation of the Insurance Policy pursuant to the terms of the Cancellation Agreement, the City shall reimburse the Bank for such payments to the Insurer within five (5) Business Days after the City's receipt of written notice from the Bank as to such amount due to the Bank and amounts not paid when due shall accrue interest at the Default Rate. Any payments to the Insurer made by the Bank that are in respect of principal of or interest on the Bonds shall be deemed to be Reimbursement Obligations hereunder.

Section 7.2 **Reimbursement**. To the extent permitted by the law of the State, the City agrees to reimburse and hold the Bank and its officers, directors and employees (each a "Reimbursed Party") harmless from and against, and to pay on demand, any and all claims, damages, losses, liabilities, costs and expenses whatsoever which such Reimbursed Party may incur or suffer by reason of or in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement or the Letter of Credit, or any other documents which may be delivered in connection with this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement or the Letter of Credit or in connection with the remarketing of the Bonds, or in connection with any payment under the Letter of Credit, including, but not limited to, the fees and expenses of counsel for such Reimbursed Party with respect thereto and with respect to advising such Reimbursed Party as to its rights and responsibilities under this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement and the Letter of Credit and all fees and expenses, if any, in connection with the enforcement or defense of the rights of such Reimbursed Party in connection with this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, the Letter of Credit or any of the other Financing Documents, or the collection of any monies due under this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement or such other documents which may be delivered in connection with this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, the Letter of Credit or any of the other Financing Documents, except to the extent that any such claim, damage, loss, liability, cost or expense shall have resulted directly from or been caused by such Reimbursed Party's negligence or willful misconduct in connection with the Letter of Credit. Promptly after receipt by any Reimbursed Party of notice of the commencement, or threatened commencement, of any

action subject to the reimbursement obligation contained in this Section 7.2, such Reimbursed Party shall promptly notify the City thereof, *provided* that failure to give such notice shall not relieve the City from any liability to such Reimbursed Party hereunder. The obligations of the City under this Section 7.2 shall survive payment of all Obligations owed under this Agreement and the expiration of the Letter of Credit. Net Revenues shall constitute the sole source of funds available to the City for the payments, if any, owing to a Reimbursed Party.

<u>Liability of the Bank.</u> The City assumes all risks of the acts or omissions of the Section 7.3 Tender Agent and the Paying Agent, or any agents thereof, and any transferee beneficiary of the Letter of Credit with respect to its use of the Letter of Credit. Neither the Bank nor any of its officers or directors shall be liable or responsible for: (a) the use which may be made of the Letter of Credit or for any acts or omissions of the Tender Agent or the Paying Agent, any agent thereof or any transferee beneficiary in connection therewith; (b) the validity or genuineness of documents, or of any endorsement(s) thereon, even if such documents should in fact prove to be in any or all respects invalid, fraudulent or forged; (c) payment by the Bank against presentation of documents which do not comply with the terms of the Letter of Credit, including failure of any documents to bear any reference or adequate reference to the Letter of Credit; or (d) any other circumstances whatsoever in making or failing to make payment under the Letter of Credit; provided, however, that the City shall have a claim against the Bank to the extent of any direct compensatory, as opposed to consequential, damages suffered by the City which the City proves were caused by the Bank's negligence or willful misconduct in connection with the Letter of Credit (it being understood that the Bank assumes no liability or responsibility for the genuineness, falsification or effect of any document which appears to be regular on its face). The Bank is hereby expressly authorized and directed to honor any demand for payment which is made under the Letter of Credit without regard to, and without any duty on its part to inquire into the existence of, any disputes or controversies between or among the City, the Tender Agent and the Paying Agent, any transferee beneficiary of the Letter of Credit or any other Person or the respective rights, duties or liabilities of any of them, or whether any facts or occurrences represented in any of the documents presented under the Letter of Credit are true and correct.

Section 7.4 Participations. The Bank may at any time, without the consent of, or notice to, the City, sell participations to any Person (other than a natural person or the City) (each, a "Participant") in all or a portion of the Bank's rights and obligations under this Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement and its obligations under the Letter of Credit (including all or a portion of the applicable Commitment and of any Drawings or Liquidity Advances due and owing hereunder); provided that (i) the Bank's obligations under the Letter of Credit shall remain unchanged, (ii) the Bank shall remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the performance of such obligations and (iii) the City shall continue to deal solely and directly with the Bank in connection with the Bank's rights under this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, and its obligations under the Letter of Credit.

Any agreement or instrument pursuant to which the Bank sells such a participation shall provide that the Bank shall retain the sole right to enforce this Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement and to approve any amendment, modification or waiver of any provision hereof or thereof; *provided* that such agreement or instrument may provide that the Bank will not, without the consent of the Participant, agree to any amendment or waiver described in Section 7.6(a), 7.6(b), 7.6(c) or 7.6(d) hereof that affects such Participant.

Section 7.5 Survival of this Agreement. All covenants, agreements, representations and warranties made in this Agreement shall survive the issuance of the Letter of Credit and shall continue in full force and effect so long as the Letter of Credit shall be unexpired or any Obligations shall be outstanding and unpaid. The obligation of the City to reimburse the Bank pursuant to Sections 2.13, 2.14, 7.2, 7.3 and 7.12 hereof shall survive the payment of the Bonds and termination of this Agreement.

Section 7.6 Modification of this Agreement. No amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed by the Bank and the City and consented to in writing by the Insurer, provided, however, that if an Insurer Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, then the Bank and the City may amend this Agreement without the consent of the Insurer unless such amendment would be adverse to the Insurer or would change its obligations in connection with any Bank Bonds; provided, further, that no consent of the Insurer shall ever be required in connection with the extension of the Stated Expiration Date of the Letter of Credit or any amendment to the Bank Fee Agreement or in the event the Insurance Policy is no longer in effect. No amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of the Letter of Credit shall in any event be effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed by the Bank (in its sole discretion). Any such waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which given. No notice to or demand on the City in any case shall entitle the City to any other or further notice or demand in the same, similar or other circumstances.

Section 7.7 Waiver of Rights by the Bank. No course of dealing or failure or delay on the part of the Bank in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder or under the Letter of Credit or the Bank Fee Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall a single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or privilege. The rights of the Bank under the Letter of Credit, this Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies which the Bank would otherwise have.

Section 7.8 Severability. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement should be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions contained herein shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby. The parties shall endeavor in good faith negotiations to replace the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions with valid provisions the economic and legal effect of which comes as close as possible to that of the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions.

Section 7.9 Governing Law. This Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement shall be deemed to be contracts under, and for all purposes shall be governed by, and construed and interpreted in accordance with, the law of the State of Texas. Each party hereto irrevocably waives, if and to the extent permitted by applicable law, any and all, to the extent permitted by law, right to a trial by jury in any action, suit or legal proceedings arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any other Financing Document or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.

Section 7.10 Notices; Effectiveness; Electronic Communications.

(a) Notices Generally. Except in the case of notices and other communications expressly permitted to be given by telephone (and except as provided in subsection (b) below), all notices and other communications provided for herein shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or overnight courier service, mailed by certified or registered mail or sent by telecopier to, and all notices and other communications expressly permitted hereunder to be given by telephone shall be made to, the address, telecopier number, electronic mail address or telephone number specified for the recipient on its respective signature page hereto.

Notices and other communications sent by hand or overnight courier service or mailed by certified or registered mail shall be deemed to have been given when received; notices and other communications sent by telecopier shall be deemed to have been given when sent (except that, if not sent during normal business hours for the recipient, such communications shall be deemed to have been given at the opening of business on the next business day for the recipient).

(b) *Electronic Communications*. Notices and other communications to the Bank hereunder may be delivered or furnished by electronic communication (including email and Internet or intranet websites) pursuant to procedures approved by the Bank, *provided* that the foregoing shall not apply to notices to the Bank pursuant to Article II. The City may, in its discretion, agree to accept notices and other communications to it hereunder by electronic communication pursuant to procedures approved by it, *provided* that approval of such procedures may be limited to particular notices or communications.

If the Bank has agreed to receive communications by e-mail and unless the Bank otherwise prescribes, (i) notices and other communications sent to an e-mail address shall be deemed received upon the sender's receipt of an acknowledgement from the intended recipient (such as by the "return receipt requested" function, as available, return e-mail or other written acknowledgement), *provided* that if such notice or other communication is not sent during the normal business hours of the recipient, such notice or communication shall be deemed to have been sent at the opening of business on the next business day for the recipient and (ii) notices or communications posted to an Internet or intranet website shall be deemed received upon the deemed receipt by the intended recipient at its e-mail address as described in the foregoing clause (i) of notification that such notice or communication is available and identifying the website address therefor.

- (c) Change of Address, Etc. Each of the City and the Bank may change its address, telecopier or telephone number for notices and other communications hereunder by notice to the other party hereto. In addition, the Bank agrees to notify the City from time to time to ensure that the City has on record (i) an effective address, contact name, telephone number, telecopier number and, if applicable, e-mail address to which notices and other communications may be sent and (ii) accurate wire instructions for the Bank.
- (d) Reliance by the Bank. The Bank shall be entitled to rely and act upon any notices (including telephonic notices with respect to any Drawing) purportedly given by

or on behalf of the City even if (i) such notices were not made in a manner specified herein, were incomplete or were not preceded or followed by any other form of notice specified herein or (ii) the terms thereof, as understood by the Bank, varied from any confirmation thereof. The City shall reimburse the Bank for all losses, costs, expenses and liabilities resulting from the reliance by the Bank on each notice purportedly given by or on behalf of the City. All telephonic notices to and other telephonic communications with the Bank may be recorded by the Bank, and the City hereby consents to such recording.

Section 7.11 Successors and Assigns.

- Successors and Assigns Generally. The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby, except that the City may not assign or otherwise transfer any of its respective rights or obligations hereunder or under any other Financing Document without the prior written consent of the Bank (and the Insurer if the Insurance Policy is still in effect), and the Bank may not assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder or under the Letter of Credit without the prior written consent of the City (and the Insurer if the Insurance Policy is still in effect); provided, however, that the obligations of the Bank under the Letter of Credit may be assigned or otherwise transferred with (A) the prior written consent of the City and (B) confirmation from each Rating Agency then rating the related subseries of Bonds that the long and short-term ratings on such subseries of Bonds will not be withdrawn or reduced as a result of such assignment or transfer. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Bank may assign its right to receive payment of any Obligation of the City hereunder or under the Bank Fee Agreement without the prior written consent of the City or any other party. Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, shall be construed to confer upon any Person (other than the parties hereto, their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby and Participants to the extent provided in Section 7.4 hereof) any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement.
- (b) Certain Pledges. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, the Bank may at any time pledge or assign a security interest in all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement to secure obligations of the Bank, including any pledge or assignment to secure obligations to a Federal Reserve Bank; provided that no such pledge or assignment shall release the Bank from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such pledgee or assignee for the Bank as a party hereto.
- (c) Electronic Execution of Assignments. The words "execution," "signed," "signature," and words of like import in any assignment and assumption shall be deemed to include electronic signatures or the keeping of records in electronic form, each of which shall be of the same legal effect, validity or enforceability as a manually executed signature or the use of a paper-based recordkeeping system, as the case may be, to the extent and as provided for in any applicable law, including the Federal Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, the Texas State Electronic Signatures

and Records Act, or any other similar state laws based on the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act.

Section 7.12 <u>Taxes and Expenses</u>. The City will promptly pay (i) the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel to the Bank incurred in connection with the preparation, negotiation, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Financing Documents as set forth in the Bank Fee Agreement, (ii) the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel to the Bank with respect to advising the Bank as to its rights and responsibilities under this Agreement and the other Financing Documents after the occurrence of a City Event of Default, and (iii) all reasonable costs and expenses, if any, in connection with any amendment to this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement or any other Financing Document which requires the consent of the Bank or the waiver of such provision by the Bank or the enforcement of this Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement and any other documents which may be delivered in connection herewith or therewith, including in each case the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel to the Bank. In addition, the City shall pay any and all stamp and other taxes and fees payable or determined to be payable in connection with the execution, delivery, filing, and recording of this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement and the security contemplated by the Financing Documents and agrees, to the extent permitted by the law of the State, to hold the Bank harmless from and against any and all liabilities with respect to or resulting from any delay in paying or omission to pay such taxes and fees; provided, however, that the City may reasonably contest any such taxes or fees with the prior written consent of the Bank, which consent, if a City Event of Default does not then exist, shall not be unreasonably withheld. In addition, the City agrees to pay, after the occurrence of a City Event of Default, all costs and expenses (including attorneys' fees and costs of settlement) incurred by the Bank in enforcing any obligations or in collecting any payments due from the City hereunder by reason of such City Event of Default or in connection with any refinancing or restructuring of the credit arrangements provided under this Agreement in the nature of a "workout" or of any insolvency or bankruptcy proceedings. The obligations of the City under this Section 7.12 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

Section 7.13 Reserved.

Section 7.14 Payment Obligations of the City hereunder and under the Bank Fee Agreement. Notwithstanding anything set forth to the contrary herein, any provision of this Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement which provides that the City will make payments to the Bank in respect of any Obligations hereunder or under the Bank Fee Agreement shall be an obligation of the City to make such payment to the Bank subject to the limitations contained in this Agreement as to the sources of funds available to the City for such purpose.

Section 7.15 <u>Headings</u>. The captions in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and shall not define or limit the provisions hereof.

Section 7.16 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original but all taken together to constitute one instrument. This Agreement may be delivered by the exchange of signed signature pages by facsimile transmission or by email with a pdf copy or other replicating image attached, and any printed or copied version of any signature page so delivered shall have the same force and effect as an originally signed version of such signature page.

Section 7.17 Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the Bank Fee Agreement constitute the entire understanding of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof and any prior agreements, whether written or oral, with respect thereto are superseded hereby and thereby.

Section 7.18 <u>USA Patriot Act</u> The Bank hereby notifies the City that, pursuant to the requirements of the USA Patriot Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107 56 (signed into law October 26, 2001)) (the "*Patriot Act*"), it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies the City, which information includes the name and address of the City and other information that will allow the Bank to identify the City in accordance with the Patriot Act, and the City hereby agrees to take any action necessary to enable the Bank to comply with the requirements of the Patriot Act. The City shall comply with all applicable Bank Secrecy Act laws and regulations, as amended.

Section 7.19 <u>Insurance Policy Claims</u>. Following payment by the Bank of any Drawing under the Letter of Credit, the Bank shall have sixty (60) Business Days from the date of such payment to direct the Insurer to reimburse the Bank for the amount of the Drawing that was not reimbursed by the City, the Tender Agent or the Paying Agent from amounts in the funds and accounts under the Ordinance. In the event the Bank fails to direct the Insurer to reimburse the Bank within the sixty (60) Business Day period, the Bank shall be deemed to have elected not to receive reimbursement from the Insurer with respect to such payment under the Letter of Credit and to have waived its right to present such a claim to the Insurer for failure of the City to make such reimbursement. In no event shall the Bank be deemed to have waived its right to direct a mandatory tender of the Bonds with respect to any such reimbursement default as a result of the Bank waiving its right to present a claim of reimbursement to the Insurer.

Section 7.20 <u>Insurer's Rights</u>. Except as otherwise provided herein or in the Cancellation Agreement, the existence of all rights given to the Insurer hereunder with respect to the giving of consents, approvals or notices, or the direction of proceedings and its rights pursuant to Section 7.21 hereof is expressly conditioned upon (i) the Insurance Policy being in full force and effect or (ii) no Insurer Event of Default having occurred and being continuing. If either or both of such conditions is not satisfied, then only the Insurer's rights derived through subrogation or assignment shall continue in full force and effect except as expressly provided herein or in the Cancellation Agreement. Any such rights shall not be exercisable by the Insurer (but shall be exercisable by the Bank in accordance with the terms of the Ordinance) if at any time (i) the Insurance Policy is no longer in full force and effect as a result of a termination of the Insurance Policy and the Insurer has been paid all amounts due and payable to it or (ii) an Insurer Event of Default has occurred and is continuing; provided that this Section 7.20 shall not in any way limit or affect the rights of the Insurer as subrogee of the Bank or Owner of a Bond or as assignee of the Bank or Owner of a Bond or to otherwise be reimbursed and indemnified for its costs and expenses and other payments on or in connection with the Reimbursement Obligations or the Insurance Policy either by operation of law or at equity or by contract.

Section 7.21 Third Party Beneficiary. The Bank and the City acknowledge that, unless (i) the Insurance Policy has been terminated pursuant to Section 6.3(a) or 6.4(a) hereof and the Insurer has been paid all amounts due and payable to it (if applicable in accordance with Section 6.3(a) or Section 6.4(a) hereof) or (ii) an Insurer Event of Default has occurred and is continuing,

the Insurer shall be an express third party beneficiary of the provisions of this Agreement relating to the Insurer with the power to enforce the same.

[Balance of this page intentionally blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed and delivered by their respective representatives thereunto authorized as of the date first written above.

CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS

By:		
Name:		
Title:_		

City of Austin, Texas 700 Lavaca, Suite 940 Austin, Texas 78701 Attention: City Treasurer 512 974-7882 phone 512 370-3838 fax Art. Alfaro@ci.austin.tx.us

KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch

By:			
Name:			
Title:			
·			
By:			
By: Name:			
Title:			

Principal Office:

KBC Bank N.V. New York Branch 1177 Avenue of the Americas New York, NY 10036 Attention: Kevin Wood

Wire instructions with respect to Letter of Credit Fees:

Bank Name: Federal Reserve Bank of NY

ABA/Routing No.: 026008248

Account Name: KBC Bank, NY Branch

Account No.: 10000099

Attention: Marcos Tejada, Phone: (212) 541-

0660 Fax: 212 -956-5580 Reference: City of Austin

Wire instructions with respect to reimbursement of Letter of Credit drawings, draw fees, amendment fees and transfer fees:

Bank Name: Federal Reserve Bank of NY

ABA/Routing No.: 026008248

Account Name: KBC Bank, NY Branch

Account No.: 10000099

Attention: Marcos Tejada, Phone: (212) 541-

0660 Fax: 212 -956-5580 Reference: City of Austin

APPENDIX A

FORM OF LETTER OF CREDIT

APPENDIX A TO REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT FOR SUBSERIES 2005-3 BONDS

FORM OF IRREVOCABLE TRANSFERABLE DIRECT PAY LETTER OF CREDIT No. 20522

June 21, 2011

Letter of Credit No. 20522

Beneficiary:

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent/Registrar and Tender Agent (the "*Beneficiary*") 201 Main St., Ste 301 MAC T5441-030 Fort Worth, TX 76102

ph: 817.334.7068 fax: 817.885.8650

email: kathleen.r.wagner@wellsfargo.com

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We (the "Bank") hereby establish in your favor as beneficiary (the "Beneficiary"), for the benefit of the holders of the Bonds (as hereinafter defined), our Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. 20522 for the account of the City of Austin, Texas (the "Applicant"), whereby we hereby irrevocably authorize you to draw on us from time to time, from and after the date hereof to and including the earliest to occur of our close of business on: (i) June 21, 2014 (as extended from time to time, the "Stated Expiration Date"), (ii) the date which is one (1) Business Day following the date on which all of the Bonds (as hereinafter defined) are converted to bear interest at a rate other than a Weekly Rate as defined in Ordinance No. 20050804-039 of the City of Austin, Texas, as amended by Ordinance No. (together, the "Ordinance"), as such date is specified in a certificate in the form of Exhibit A hereto (the "Conversion Date"), (iii) the date which is one (1) Business Day following receipt by the Bank of a certificate in the form set forth as Exhibit B hereto, (iv) the date on which a Stated Maturity Drawing (as hereinafter defined) is honored by us, (v) the date which is sixteen (16) days following receipt by you of a written notice from us in the form of Exhibit A-2 attached to the Cancellation Agreement (as defined herein) (for convenience a copy of such exhibit is also attached here to as Exhibit L) specifying the occurrence of a City Event of Default as defined in the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement dated June 1, 2011 (as amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the "Reimbursement Agreement"), by and between the Applicant and the Bank, and directing you to cause a mandatory tender of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance (the earliest of such dates to occur referred to herein as the "Termination Date"), in each such case a maximum aggregate amount not exceeding Sixty-Three Million One Hundred Eighty-Two Thousand Seventy-Two Dollars (\$63,182,072; the "Original Stated Amount") to pay the unpaid principal amount of, or the portion of the purchase price corresponding to the principal of, and accrued interest on, or the

portion of the purchase price corresponding to accrued interest on, the City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT), Subseries 2005-3 (the "Bonds") (said \$63,182,072 having been calculated to be equal to \$62,100,000 the outstanding principal amount of the Bonds, plus \$1,082,072, which is at least 53 days accrued interest on said principal amount of the Bonds at the rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum (the "Cap Interest Rate") calculated on the basis of a 365/366 day year). This Letter of Credit is available to you against presentation of the following documents (the "Payment Documents") presented to the Bank as described below:

A certificate (with all blanks appropriately completed) (i) in the form attached as Exhibit C hereto to pay accrued interest on the Bonds as provided for in the Ordinance (an "Interest Drawing"), (ii) in the form attached as Exhibit D hereto to pay the principal amount of and accrued interest on the Bonds in respect of any redemption of the Bonds as provided for in Sections A-301 and A-302 of the Ordinance (a "Redemption Drawing"), (iii) in the form attached as Exhibit E hereto, to allow the Beneficiary to pay the purchase price of Bonds tendered for purchase as provided for in Section A-401 of the Ordinance which have not been successfully remarketed or for which the purchase price has not been received by the Beneficiary by 12:00 noon, New York time, on the purchase date (a "Liquidity Drawing") or (iv) in the form attached as Exhibit F hereto to pay the principal amount of Bonds maturing on November 15, 2025 (a "Stated Maturity Drawing" and together with Interest Drawings, Redemption Drawings and Liquidity Drawings collectively referred to herein as "Drawings" and individually as a "Drawing"), each certificate to state therein that it is given by your duly authorized officer and to be dated the date such certificate is presented hereunder. No Drawings shall be made under this Letter of Credit for Ineligible Bonds (as defined in the Reimbursement Agreement).

The term "Cancellation Agreement" shall mean the Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement dated as of June 1, 2011 entered into by and among the City, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent/Register and Tender Agent, the Bank, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, Royal Bank of Canada, acting through its WFC, New York, Branch and the Insurer.

All Drawings shall be made by presentation of each Payment Document at the Bank's office of KBC Bank, New York Branch, 1177 Avenue of Americas, New York, NY 10036 or by facsimile (at facsimile No 212-956-558__), Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Unit, or at such other facsimile number as we may specify to you in writing without need of further documentation, including the original of this Letter of Credit, it being understood that each Payment Document so submitted is to be the sole operative instrument of drawing.

The Bank agrees to honor and pay the amount of any Interest Drawing, Redemption Drawing, Liquidity Drawing or Stated Maturity Drawing if presented in compliance with all of the terms of this Letter of Credit. If such drawing, other than a Liquidity Drawing, is presented prior to 2:00 P.M., New York time, on a Business Day, payment shall be made in immediately available funds, by 11:00 A.M., New York time, on the following Business Day. If any such drawing, other than a Liquidity Drawing, is presented at or after 2:00 P.M., New York time, on a Business Day, payment shall be made in immediately available funds, by 11:00 A.M., New York time, on the second following Business Day. If a Liquidity Drawing is presented to the Bank prior to 12:25 P.M., New York time, on a Business Day, payment shall be made in immediately available funds, by 2:30 P.M., New York time, on the same Business Day. If a Liquidity Drawing is presented at or after 12:25 p.m., New York time, payment shall be made in immediately available funds, by 3:00 P.M., New York time, on the following Business Day. Payments made hereunder shall be made by wire transfer to you in accordance with the instructions specified by the Beneficiary in the drawing certificate relating to a particular drawing hereunder. "Business Day" means any day which is not (i) a Saturday, a Sunday or legal holiday, or (ii) a day on which the payment office of the Bank for Drawings (initially, New York, NY) is located, is required or authorized by law to remain closed.

The Available Amount (as hereinafter defined) will be reduced automatically by the amount of any Drawing hereunder; *provided, however*, that the amount of any Interest Drawing hereunder, shall be automatically reinstated on the fifth (5th) calendar day following the date any Interest Drawing is honored if you shall not have received notice from us in the form of Exhibit A-1 or Exhibit A-2 attached to the Cancellation Agreement (for convenience a copy of such exhibits are also attached hereto as Exhibit L) prior to such time that a City Event of Default has occurred under the Reimbursement Agreement directing the Beneficiary to cause a mandatory tender of the Bonds. After payment by the Bank of a Liquidity Drawing, the obligation of the Bank to honor Drawings under this Letter of Credit will be automatically reduced by an amount equal to the amount of said Drawing. In addition, prior to the Conversion Date, in the event of the remarketing of the Bonds (or portions thereof) previously purchased with the proceeds of a Liquidity Drawing, the Bank's obligations to honor Drawings hereunder will be automatically reinstated concurrently with receipt by the Bank of a certificate in the form of Exhibit H attached hereto and receipt by the Bank or the Beneficiary for the account of the Bank of the amount stated on such Exhibit H.

Upon receipt by the Bank of a certificate of the Beneficiary in the form of Exhibit G hereto, the Available Amount will automatically and permanently be reduced by the amount specified in such certificate. Such reduction shall be effective as of the next Business Day following the date of delivery of such certificate.

Upon any permanent reduction of the Available Amount to be drawn under this Letter of Credit, as provided herein, we will deliver to you an amendment to this Letter of Credit substantially in the form of Exhibit K attached hereto to reflect any such reduction. The "Available Amount" shall mean the Original Stated Amount (i) less the amount of all permanent prior reductions pursuant to Interest Drawings, Redemption Drawings or Liquidity Drawings, (ii) less the amount of any previous reduction thereof pursuant to a reduction certificate in the

form of Exhibit G (to the extent such reduction is not already accounted for by a reduction in the Available Amount pursuant to clause (i) above), and (iii) plus the amount of all reinstatements as above provided.

Prior to the Termination Date, we may extend the Stated Expiration Date from time to time at the request of the Applicant by delivering to you an amendment to this Letter of Credit in the form of Exhibit J hereto designating the date to which the Stated Expiration Date is being extended. All references in this Letter of Credit to the Stated Expiration Date shall be deemed to be references to the date designated as such in the most recent of such notices. Any date to which the Stated Expiration Date has been extended as herein provided may be extended in a like manner.

Upon the Termination Date, this Letter of Credit shall automatically terminate.

This Letter of Credit is transferable only in whole to your successor as Paying Agent/Registrar and Tender Agent under the Ordinance. Any such transfer (including any successive transfer) shall be subject to the Bank's receipt of a transfer request signed by the transferor and by the transferee in the form of Exhibit I hereto and payment of our transfer fee. Upon our endorsement of such transfer, the transferee instead of the transferor shall be entitled to all the benefits of and rights under this Letter of Credit in the transferor's place; *provided* that, in such case, any certificate of the Beneficiary to be provided hereunder shall be signed by one who states therein that he is a duly authorized officer of the transferee.

Communications with respect to this Letter of Credit shall be addressed to us at KBC Bank N.V., New York Branch, 1177 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10036, Attention: Standby Letter of Credit Unit, specifically referring to the number of this Letter of Credit. For telephone assistance, please call 2120541-0660, and have this Letter of Credit number available.

To the extent not inconsistent with the express terms hereof, this Letter of Credit shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the terms of the International Standby Practice 98 ("ISP98"). As to matters not governed by the ISP98, this Letter of Credit shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Article 5 of the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in the State of Texas.

All payments made by us hereunder shall be made from our own funds and not with the funds of any other person.

This Letter of Credit sets forth in full the terms of our undertaking, and such undertaking shall not in any way be modified or amended by reference to any other document whatsoever.

KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch

By:			
Name: _	 	 	
By:			
Name: _	 	 	
Title:			

Ехнівіт А

TO

[Date]

KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch Letter of Credit No. 20522

NOTICE OF CONVERSION DATE

KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch 1177 Avenue of the Americas New York, NY 10036
Ladies and Gentlemen:
Reference is hereby made to that certain Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. 20522, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"), which has been established by the Bank for the account of the Applicant, in favor of the Beneficiary.
The undersigned hereby certifies and confirms that the Conversion Date of all of the Bonds to bear interest at a rate other than a Weekly Rate (as defined in the Ordinance) has occurred on [insert date], and, accordingly, the Letter of Credit shall terminate on, which is one (1) Business Day after such Conversion Date, in accordance with its terms.
All defined terms used herein which are not otherwise defined herein shall have the same meaning as in the Letter of Credit.
,

as Beneficiary

By ______
[Title of Authorized Officer]

EXHIBIT B

TO

KBC BANK, N.V., ACTING THROUGH ITS NEW YORK BRANCH LETTER OF CREDIT NO. 20522

NOTICE OF TERMINATION

[Date]	
--------	--

KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch 1177 Avenue of the Americas New York, NY 10036

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Reference is hereby made to that certain Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. 20522, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"), which has been established by the Bank for the account of the Applicant, in favor of the Beneficiary.

The undersigned hereby certifies and confirms that (i) no Bonds remain Outstanding within the meaning of the Ordinance, (ii) all drawings required to be made under the Ordinance and available under the Letter of Credit have been made and honored and the Available Amount under the Letter of Credit has been reduced to zero and may not be reinstated, or (iii) a substitute credit facility has been issued to replace the Letter of Credit pursuant to the Ordinance and the Letter of Credit Reimbursement Agreement dated June 1, 2011, by and between the Applicant and the Bank, and, accordingly, the Letter of Credit shall terminate in accordance with its terms on the date that is one (1) Business Day after the date of your receipt of this Notice of Termination.

All defined terms used herein which are not otherwise defined herein shall have the same meaning as in the Letter of Credit.

as Beneficiary	,
By	
[Title of Authorized O	fficer]

EXHIBIT C

TO

KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch Letter of Credit No. 20522

INTEREST DRAWING CERTIFICATE

KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch 1177 Avenue of the Americas New York, NY 10036

The undersigned individual, a duly authorized officer of ______ (the "Beneficiary"), hereby CERTIFIES on behalf of the Beneficiary as follows with respect to (i) that certain Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. 20522, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"), issued by KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch, in favor of the Beneficiary; (ii) those certain Bonds (as defined in the Letter of Credit); and (iii) that certain Ordinance (as defined in the Letter of Credit):

- 1. The Beneficiary is the Paying Agent/Registrar under the Ordinance.
- 2. The Beneficiary is entitled to make this Drawing in the amount of \$_____ under the Letter of Credit pursuant to the Ordinance with respect to the payment of interest due on all Bonds outstanding on the Interest Payment Date (as defined in the Ordinance) occurring on [insert applicable date], other than Ineligible Bonds (as defined in the Reimbursement Agreement).
- 3. The amount of this Drawing is equal to the amount required to be drawn by the Paying Agent/Registrar pursuant to the Ordinance.
- 4. The amount of the drawing made by this Certificate was computed in compliance with the terms of the Ordinance and, when added to the amount of any other drawing under the Letter of Credit made simultaneously herewith, does not exceed the Available Amount (as defined in the Letter of Credit).

Exhibit C
To
KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch
Letter of Credit No. 20522
(Continued)

5.	Payment	by the	Bank	pursuant	to	this	drawing	shall	be	made	to
				, ABA N	Jumb	er		, A	ccour	ıt Num	ıber
		, Atte	ntion:								,
	WITNESS		this	Certificate	has	been	executed	l this		day	of
								, as B	Senefic	ciary	
				Ву			e of Author	rized O	fficer	 1	

Ехнівіт D

TO

KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch Letter of Credit No. 20522

REDEMPTION DRAWING

KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch 1177 Avenue of the Americas New York, NY 10036
The undersigned individual, a duly authorized officer of (the "Beneficiary"), hereby CERTIFIES on behalf of the Beneficiary as
follows with respect to (i) that certain Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. 20522, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"), issued by KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch, in favor of the Beneficiary; (ii) those certain Bonds (as defined in the Letter of Credit); and (iii) that certain Ordinance (as defined in the Letter of Credit):
1. The Beneficiary is the Paying Agent/Registrar under the Ordinance.
2. The Beneficiary is entitled to make this Drawing in the amount of \$under the Letter of Credit pursuant to Section [](with respect to Bonds that bear interest at the Weekly Rate) of the Ordinance.
3. (a) The amount of this Drawing is equal to (i) the principal amount of Bonds to be redeemed by the Applicant (as defined in the Letter of Credit) pursuant to Section(with respect to Bonds that bear interest at the Weekly Rate) of the Ordinance on [insert applicable date] (the "Redemption Date") other than Ineligible Bonds (as defined in the Reimbursement Agreement (as defined in the Letter of Credit)0, plus (ii) interest on such Bonds accrued from the immediately preceding Interest Payment Date (as defined in the Ordinance) to the Redemption Date, provided that in the event the Redemption Date coincides with an Interest Payment Date this Drawing does not include any accrued interest on such Bonds.
(b) Of the amount stated in paragraph 2 above:(i) \$ is demanded in respect of the principal amount of the Bonds referred to in subparagraph (a) above; and
(ii) \$ is demanded in respect of accrued interest on such Bonds.
4. Payment by the Bank pursuant to this drawing shall be made to, ABA Number, Account

Exhibit D
To
KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch
Letter of Credit No. 20522

(Continued)

<u> </u>
5. The amount of the Drawing made by this Certificate was computed in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Ordinance and, when added to the amount of any other drawing under the Letter of Credit made simultaneously herewith, does not exceed the Available Amount (as defined in the Letter of Credit).
6. Upon payment of the amount drawn hereunder, the Bank is hereby directed to permanently reduce the Available Amount by \$[insert amount of reduction] and the Available Amount shall thereupon equal \$[insert new Available Amount]. The Available Amount has been reduced by an amount equal to the principal of Bonds paid with this drawing and an amount equal to days' interest thereon at the Cap Interest Rate (as defined in the Letter of Credit).
7. Of the amount of the reduction stated in paragraph 6 above:
(i) \$ is attributable to the principal amount of Bonds redeemed; and
(ii) \$ is attributable to interest on such Bonds (i.e., days' interest thereon at the Cap Interest Rate).
8. The amount of the reduction in the Available Amount has been computed in accordance with the provisions of the Letter of Credit.
9. Following the reduction, the Available Amount shall be at least equal to the

aggregate principal amount of the Bonds outstanding, to the extent such Bonds are not Bonds that bear interest at a rate other than a Weekly Rate, plus __ days' interest thereon at the Cap

Number ______, Attention: ______, Re:

Interest Rate.

Exhibit D
To
KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch
Letter of Credit No. 20522
(Continued)

In	WITNESS	WHEREOF,	this	Certificate	has	been	executed	this		day	of
		·									
									, as		
					Benef	ficiary			,		
				By							
				Бу		[Titl	e of Autho	rized	Officer		

Ехнівіт Е

TO

KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch Letter of Credit No. 20522

LIQUIDITY DRAWING CERTIFICATE

KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch 1177 Avenue of the Americas New York, NY 10036 The undersigned individual, a duly authorized officer of _____ "Beneficiary") hereby CERTIFIES as follows with respect to (i) that certain Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. 20522, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"), issued by KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch, in favor of the Beneficiary; (ii) those certain Bonds (as defined in the Letter of Credit); and (iii) that certain Ordinance (as defined in the Letter of Credit): The Beneficiary is the Tender Agent under the Ordinance. The Beneficiary is entitled to make this Drawing under the Letter of Credit in the amount of \$_____ with respect to the payment of the purchase price of Bonds tendered for purchase in accordance with Section _____ (with respect to Bonds that bear interest at the Weekly Rate] of the Ordinance and to be purchased on [insert applicable date] (the "Purchase Date") which Bonds have not been remarketed as provided in the Ordinance or the purchase price of which has not been received by the Beneficiary by _____ A.M., New York time, on said Purchase Date. (a) The amount of this drawing is equal to (i) the principal amount of Bonds to be purchased pursuant to the Ordinance on the Purchase Date other than Ineligible Bonds (as defined in the Reimbursement Agreement (as defined in the Letter of Credit)) plus (ii) interest on such Bonds accrued from the immediately preceding Interest Payment Date (as defined in the Ordinance) (or, if none, the date of issuance of the Bonds) to the Purchase Date, provided that in the event the Purchase Date coincides with an Interest Payment Date this drawing does not include any accrued interest on such Bonds. Of the amount stated in subparagraph (2) above: (b) (i) \$_____ is demanded in respect of the principal portion of the purchase price of the Bonds referred to in subparagraph (2) above; and (ii) \$_____ is demanded in respect of payment of the interest portion of the purchase price of such Bonds.

- 4. The amount of the Drawing made by this Certificate was computed in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Ordinance and, when added to the amount of any other drawing under the Letter of Credit made simultaneously herewith, does not exceed the Available Amount (as defined in the Letter of Credit).
- 5. The Beneficiary will register or cause to be registered in the name of the Bank upon payment of the amount drawn hereunder, Bonds in the principal amount of the Bonds being purchased with the amounts drawn hereunder, and such Bonds will be held in accordance with the Ordinance.

6.	Payment	by	the	Bank	pursuant	to	this	Drawing	shall	be	made	to
					, ABA	Num	ber				_, Acco	unt
ΙN	WITNESS	WHE	REOF,	this	Certificate	has	been	executed	this		_ day	of
				•							•	
										,	as	
					I	Benef	iciary					
					Bv							
					- 3							
	r	r	r	r	r, A	, ABA r, Attention: IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Certificate,		, ABA Number, Attention: IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Certificate has been Beneficiary	, ABA Number	, ABA Number, Attention: IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Certificate has been executed this Beneficiary		IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Certificate has been executed this day,, as

Ехнівіт F

TO

KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch Letter of Credit No. 20255

STATED MATURITY DRAWING CERTIFICATE

KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch 1177 Avenue of the Americas New York, NY 10036
The undersigned individual, a duly authorized officer of (the "Beneficiary"), hereby CERTIFIES on behalf of the Beneficiary as follows with respect to (i) that certain Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. 20522, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"), issued by KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch, in favor of the Beneficiary; (ii) those certain Bonds (as defined in the Letter of Credit); and (iii) that certain Ordinance (as defined in the Letter of Credit):
1. The Beneficiary is the Paying Agent/Registrar under the Ordinance.
2. The Beneficiary is entitled to make this drawing in the amount of \$under the Letter of Credit pursuant to the Ordinance.
3. The amount of this Drawing is equal to the principal amount of Bonds maturing on,, as specified in the Ordinance, other than Ineligible Bonds (as defined in the Reimbursement Agreement (as defined in the Letter of Credit)).
4. The amount of this Drawing made by this Certificate was computed in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Ordinance and, when added to the amount of any other drawing under the Letter of Credit made simultaneously herewith, does not exceed the Available Amount (as defined in the Letter of Credit).
5. Payment by the Bank pursuant to this Drawing shall be made to, ABA Number, Account Number
, Attention:, Re:

Exhibit F
To
KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch
Letter of Credit No. 20522
(Continued)

In	WITNESS	WHEREOF,	this	Certificate	has	been	executed	this		day	of
	,	·									
									, as		
				I	Benef	iciary			,		
				By							
				Бу		Title	e of Author	ized (Officer]		

EXHIBIT G

TO

KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch Letter of Credit No. 20522

REDUCTION CERTIFICATE

KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch 1177 Avenue of the Americas New York, NY 10036

The undersigned hereby CERTIFIES as follows with respect to (i) that certain Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. 20522, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Letter of Credit"), issued by KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch in favor of the Beneficiary; (ii) those certain Bonds (as defined in the Letter of Credit); and (iii) that certain Ordinance (as defined in the Letter of Credit):

- 1. The Beneficiary is the Paying Agent/Registrar under the Ordinance.
- 2. The Beneficiary shall deliver this Certificate to the Bank at the direction of the Applicant pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance.
- 3. Upon receipt by the Bank of this Certificate, the Available Amount (as defined in the Letter of Credit) shall be reduced by \$_______, and the Available Amount shall thereupon equal \$______. \$_____ of the new Available Amount is attributable to interest.
- 4. The interest amount of the reduction in the Available Amount has been computed in accordance with the provisions of the Letter of Credit.
- 5. Following the reduction, the Available Amount shall be at least equal to the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds outstanding plus __ days' interest thereon at the Cap Interest Rate (as defined in the Letter of Credit).

Exhibit G
To
KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch
Letter of Credit No. 20522
(Continued)

In	WITNESS	WHEREOF,	this	Certificate	has	been	executed	this		day	of
 		·									
											,
				as	Bene	ficiary					
				By	,						
				— J		[Tit]	e of Autho	rized	Officer]		

Ехнівіт Н

TO

KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch Letter of Credit No. 20522

REINSTATEMENT CERTIFICATE

	[Date]
KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch 1177 Avenue of the Americas New York, NY 10036	
The undersigned, a duly authorized officer of	nch, with 21, 2011 have the
1 is the Remarketing Agent under the Ordinal	nce.
2. The Beneficiary has been advised by the Bank that the am has been paid to the Bank or the Beneficiary or the account of the the date hereof by the Applicant or the Remarketing Agent on behalf of the Applicant payment made to reimburse the Bank, pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreement for drawn under the Letter of Credit pursuant to a Liquidity Drawing.	Bank on cant as a
3. Of the amount referred to in paragraph 2, \$ represaggregate principal amount of Bonds resold or to be resold on behalf of the Applicant.	sents the
4. Of the amount referred to in paragraph 2, \$ represents accumpaid interest on such Bonds.	rued and

Exhibit H
To
KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch
Letter of Credit No. 20522
(Continued)

this _	In WITNESS day of		ary has execu	uted and del	livered this C	Certificate as of
					, Benefici	ary
			-			
				:		
			Title:			

Ехнівіт I

TO

KBC BANK, N.V., ACTING THROUGH ITS NEW YORK BRANCH LETTER OF CREDIT NO. 20522

TRANSFER REQUEST

Date

KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch 1177 Avenue of the Americas New York, NY 10036

Re: Irrevocable Transferable Direct-Pay Letter of Credit No. 20522, dated June 21, 2011

We, the undersigned "Transferor", hereby irrevocably transfer all of our rights to draw under the above referenced Letter of Credit (the "Letter of Credit") in its entirety to:

NAME OF TRANSFEREE

(Print Name and complete address of the Transferee) "Transferee" ADDRESS OF TRANSFEREE CITY, STATE/COUNTRY ZIP

In accordance with ISP98 (as defined in the Letter of Credit), Rule 6, regarding transfer of drawing rights, all rights of the undersigned Transferor in the Letter of Credit are transferred to the Transferee, who shall have the sole rights as beneficiary thereof, including sole rights relating to any amendments whether increases or extensions or other amendments and whether now existing or hereafter made. All amendments are to be advised directly to the Transferee without necessity of any consent of or notice to the undersigned Transferor.

The original Letter of Credit, including amendments to this date, is attached and the undersigned Transferor requests that you endorse an acknowledgment of this transfer on the reverse thereof. The undersigned Transferor requests that you notify the Transferee of the transfer of this Letter of Credit in such form and manner as you deem appropriate and of the terms and conditions of the Letter of Credit as transferred.

Exhibit I
To
KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch
Letter of Credit No. 20522
(Continued)

If you agree to these instructions, please advise the Transferee of the terms and conditions of the transferred Letter of Credit and these instructions.

Payment of your transfer fee of \$_____ is for the account of the Applicant (as defined in the Letter of Credit) which, agrees to pay you on demand any expense or cost you may incur in connection with this transfer. Receipt of such transfer fee shall not constitute consent by you to effect the transfer.

The undersigned Transferor represents and warrants that (a) the Transferee is the Transferor's successor Beneficiary as Paying Agent/Registrar and Tender Agent under the Ordinance, (b) the enclosed Letter of Credit is original and complete, and (c) there is no outstanding or pending demand or request for payment, reinstatement or reduction of the Available Amount or transfer under the Letter of Credit affecting the rights to be transferred.

The effective date of the transfer of the Letter of Credit shall be the date hereafter on which you effect the requested transfer by acknowledging this request and giving notice thereof to Transferee.

WE WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY THAT WE MAY HAVE IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING RELATING TO OR ARISING OUT OF THIS TRANSFER.

This Transfer Request is made subject to ISP98 and is subject to and shall be governed by the law of the State of New York, without regard to principles of conflict of laws that might require the application of a different governing law.

(Signature Page Follows)

Sincerely yours,	
(Print Name of Transferor)	SIGNATURE GUARANTEED Signature(s) with title(s) conform(s) with that/those on file with us for this individual, entity or company and signer(s) is/are authorized to execute this agreement.
(Transferor's Authorized Signature)	(Print Name of Bank) (Address of Bank)
(Print Authorized Signers Name and Title)	(City, State, Zip Code) (Print Name and Title of Authorized Signer)
(Telephone Number/Fax Number)	(Authorized Signature)
Acknowledged:	(Telephone Number) (Date)
(Print Name of Transferee)	
(Transferee's Authorized Signature)	
(Print Authorized Signers Name and Title)	
(Telephone Number/Fax Number)	
Acknowledged as of, 20:	
KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York E	3ranch
By:	
Name:	
Title: Authorized Signatory	

Ехнівіт Ј

TO

KBC BANK, N.V., ACTING THROUGH ITS NEW YORK BRANCH LETTER OF CREDIT NO. 20522

NOTICE OF EXTENSION AMENDMENT

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, A	AS BENEFICIARY
201 Main St., Ste 301	
MAC T5441-030 Fort Worth, TX 76102	
ph: 817.334.7068	
fax: 817.885.8650	
email: kathleen.r.wagner@wellsfargo.com	
CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS	
700 Lavaca, Suite 940	
Austin, Texas 78701	
Attention: City Treasurer	
Ladies and Gentlemen:	
Credit No. 20522, dated June 21, 2011 (the "Le	n Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of <i>etter of Credit</i> "), established by us in your favor tated Expiration Date (as defined in the Letter of
All other terms and conditions of the Lett	ter of Credit remain unchanged.
This Notice of Extension Amendment shapart thereof.	all be attached to the Letter of Credit and made a
	KBC BANK, N.V., ACTING THROUGH ITS NEW YORK BRANCH
	By Name: Title:

EXHIBIT K

TO

KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch Letter of Credit No. 20522

NOTICE OF REDUCTION AMENDMENT

[Date]

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Beneficiary 201 Main St., Ste 301 MAC T5441-030 Fort Worth, TX 76102

ph: 817.334.7068 fax: 817.885.8650

email: kathleen.r.wagner@wellsfargo.com

City of Austin, Texas 700 Lavaca, Suite 940 Austin, Texas 78701 Attention: City Treasurer

Ladies and Gentlemen:

	Ol1 (the "Letter of Credit"), established by us in your favor ou that, in accordance with the terms of the Letter of Credit,
	ed in the Letter of Credit) has been reduced to U.S.
\$, of which U.S	. \$ is attributable to principal and U.S.
\$ is attributable to	interest.
All other terms and condition	ns of the Letter of Credit remain unchanged.
This Notice of Reduction Ar	mendment shall be attached to the Letter of Credit and made
a part thereof.	
	KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch
	Ву
	Name:
	Title: Authorized Signatory

Reference is hereby made to that certain Irrevocable Direct Pay Transferable Letter of

EXHIBIT L

TO

KBC BANK, N.V., ACTING THROUGH ITS NEW YORK BRANCH LETTER OF CREDIT NO. 20522

Exhibit A-1 to Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement

Notice of Mandatory Tender and Cancellation of Insurance Policy No. 205494-N

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent/Registrar and Tender Agent 201 Main St., Ste 301 MAC T5441-030 Fort Worth, TX 76102

ph: 817.334.7068 fax: 817.885.8650

email: kathleen.r.wagner@wellsfargo.com

City of Austin, Texas 700 Lavaca, Suite 940 Austin, Texas 78701 Attention: City Treasurer

Assured Guaran	ty Municipal Corp

Re: Municipal Bond Insurance Policy No. 205494-N; City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT)

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned, constituting the Required Banks under the Reimbursement Agreements, hereby advise you that

[Insert one of the following paragraphs as appropriate]

[a City Event of Default has occurred and pursuant to Section 6.3(a) of the Reimbursement Agreements the Required Banks hereby direct the Paying Agent/Registrar (i) to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, whereby the Letters of Credit will terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying

Exhibit L to KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch Letter of Credit No. 20522 (continued)

Agent/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Cancellation of Insurance Policy No. 205494-N (this "Notice"), and (ii) to cause Municipal Bond Insurance Policy No. 205494-N to terminate in accordance with the terms of the Cancellation Agreement.]

[an Insurer Event of Default or an Insurer Downgrade Event has occurred and pursuant to Section 6.4(a) of the Reimbursement Agreements the Required Banks hereby direct the Paying Agent/Registrar (i) to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance and (ii) to cause Municipal Bond Insurance Policy No. 205494-N to terminate in accordance with the terms of the Cancellation Agreement on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent'/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Cancellation of Insurance Policy No. 205494-N (this "Notice").]

All capitalized terms used in this Notice and not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreements dated June 1, 2011, by and between the City of Austin, Texas and, respectively, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, Royal Bank of Canada, acting through its WFC, New York, Branch and KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch, (as in effect on the date hereof, the "Reimbursement Agreements").

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersi day of, 20	gned have executed and delivered this Notice the _
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK,	KBC BANK N.V.
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION	By:
By:	Бу
Name	Name:
Name:	Title:
Title:	
ROYAL BANK OF CANADA	
By:	
Name:	
Title:	

HOU:3116837.3

Exhibit L to KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch Letter of Credit No. 20522 (continued)

Exhibit A-2 to Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement

Notice of Mandatory Tender and Termination of the Letters of Credit (Insurance Policy Not Cancelled)

[Date]

Wells Fargo Bank, I	National Association, as Payin	g Agent/Registrar and Ten	nder Agent
Attention:			

City of Austin, Texas 700 Lavaca, Suite 940 Austin, Texas 78701 Attention: City Treasurer

Re: City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT)

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned, constituting the Required Banks under the Reimbursement Agreements, hereby advise you that:

[Insert one of the following paragraphs as appropriate]

[a City Event of Default and an Insurer Event of Default have occurred and pursuant to Section 6.3(a) of the Reimbursement Agreements the Required Banks hereby direct the Paying Agent/Registrar to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, whereby the Letters of Credit will terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Termination of the Letters of Credit (this "Notice").]

[the City has failed to pay the Letter of Credit Fee and pursuant to Section 6.4(b) of the Reimbursement Agreements the Required Banks hereby direct the Paying Agent/Registrar to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, whereby the Letters of Credit will terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Termination of the Letters of Credit (this "Notice").]

Exhibit L to KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch Letter of Credit No. 20522 (continued)

[an Insurer Event of Default or an Insurer Downgrade Event has occurred and is continuing, and a City Event of Default has also occurred and is continuing and pursuant to Section 6.4(c) of the Reimbursement Agreements the Required Banks hereby direct the Paying Agent/Registrar to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, whereby the Letters of Credit will terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Termination of the Letters of Credit (this "Notice").]

All capitalized terms and used in this Notice and not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreements dated June 1, 2011, by and between the City of Austin, Texas and, respectively, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, Royal Bank of Canada, acting through a New York branch, and KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its WFC, New York, Branch (as in effect on the date hereof, the "Reimbursement Agreements").

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the underday of, 20	signed have executed and delivered this Notice the
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK,	KBC BANK N.V.
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION	Ву:
By:	
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
ROYAL BANK OF CANADA	
By:	
Name:	
Title:	

EXHIBIT A-3 [Royal Bank Reimbursement Agreement]

BANK FEE AGREEMENT

This Bank Fee Agreement dated June 1, 2011, is between the City of Austin, Texas (the "City") and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (the "Bank"). Reference is hereby made to the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement dated June 1, 2011 (the "Reimbursement Agreement") by and between the Bank and the City relating to the City's Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005(AMT), Subseries 2005-1 and Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005(AMT), Subseries 2005-2 (collectively, the "Bonds"). Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Reimbursement Agreement.

The purpose of this Bank Fee Agreement is to set forth the agreement between the Bank and the City with respect to fees payable to the Bank pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreement. This Bank Fee Agreement constitutes the "Bank Fee Agreement" as such term is defined in the Reimbursement Agreement.

Article I. Fees

Section 1.1 Letter of Credit Fee. The City shall pay to the Bank a Letter of Credit Fee (the "Letter of Credit Fee") on each Commitment during the term of each Letter of Credit at the Letter of Credit Fee Rate described in the chart below based on the long-term underlying rating (without giving effect to credit enhancement or bond insurance) (the "Rating") assigned to the Bonds or other bonds issued by the City that are secured by and payable from the Net Revenues on a parity basis with the Bonds. The Letter of Credit Fee will be calculated on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed in a 360-day year and payable quarterly in arrears on first Business Day of each January, April, July and October commencing in July 2011.

<u>LEVEL</u>	<u>S&P RATING</u>	LETTER OF CREDIT FEE RATE
1	A- or above	1.35% per annum
2	BBB+	1.55% per annum
3	BBB	175% per annum
4	BBB- or below	195% per annum

Any change in the Letter of Credit Fee Rate resulting from a change in the Rating shall be and become effective as of and on the date of the announcement of the change in such Rating. References to Ratings above are references to rating categories as determined by S&P at the date hereof, and in the event of the adoption by S&P of any new or changed rating system, including, without limitation, any recalibration or realignment of the long-term unenhanced rating assigned

to any other bonds issued by the City that are secured by and payable from Net Revenues on a parity basis with the Bonds in connection with the adoption of a "global" rating scale, the Rating in question referred to above shall be deemed to refer to the rating category under the new rating system which most closely approximates the applicable rating category as in effect at the date hereof.

In the event the Rating assigned by S&P is withdrawn or suspended, the Letter of Credit Fee Rate shall be increased immediately, without notice to the City, by an additional 100 basis points per annum over the Letter of Credit Fee Rate otherwise in effect. At any time an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing under the Reimbursement Agreement, the Letter of Credit Fee Rate shall be increased immediately, without notice to the City, by an additional 100 basis points per annum above the Letter of Credit Fee Rate in effect prior to the occurrence of such Event of Default for so long as such Event of Default is continuing.

Section 1.2 Drawing Fee. In connection with each Drawing under a Letter of Credit, the City shall pay to the Bank a drawing fee in the amount of \$250 as payment for the Bank's transactional costs related to such Drawing. The drawing fee shall be payable on the same day as the related Drawing.

Section 1.3 Amendment and Transfer Fee. The City agrees to pay, or cause to be paid, to the Bank, on the date of each amendment, supplement or modification to the Reimbursement Agreement, a Letter of Credit or this Bank Fee Agreement, transfer of a Letter of Credit to a successor beneficiary, or execution of any standard waiver or consent, a non-refundable fee equal to \$2,500, plus, in each case, the reasonable fees and expenses of outside counsel to the Bank. Extensions to the term of a Letter of Credit alone will not require the payment of such fee, but will require the payment of related reasonable fees and expenses of outside legal counsel to the Bank.

Section 1.4. Termination/Reduction. The City may voluntarily terminate any Letter of Credit at any time with 30 days prior written notice to the Bank; provided, however, that in the event the City elects to terminate or permanently reduce (excluding in connection with mandatory sinking fund redemptions) the Available Amount of a Letter of Credit prior to its Stated Expiration Date, the City shall pay to the Bank the Letter of Credit Fees that would be due and payable to the Bank through the Stated Expiration Date based on the Available Amount in effect on date of such termination or reduction less the Letter of Credit Fees already paid (the "Make-Whole Fee") up to and including the termination or reduction date. The City will not be required to pay the Make-Whole Fee to the Bank if: (a) a Letter of Credit is terminated due to a downgrade of the short-term rating of the Bank below "P-1" by Moody's, "A-1" by S&P, or "F1" by Fitch; or (b) the related subseries of Bonds is refunded from a source of funds that does not require a credit facility or analogous facility from a bank or financial institution, or the rate of interest on the related subseries of Bonds is converted to a fixed rate or another interest rate mode that does not require a credit facility, a bank direct purchase facility, or an analogous facility from a bank or financial institution.

Section 1.5. Legal Fees. The City shall pay, or caused to be paid, on the Closing Date the legal fees of Andrews Kurth LLP for preparation of the Reimbursement Agreement and this

Bank Fee Agreement. The amount payable by the City with respect to the legal fees of Andrews Kurth LLP incurred in connection with the preparation of the Reimbursement Agreement and this Bank Fee Agreement, and incurred in connection with preparation of similar reimbursement agreements and bank fee agreements for other sub-series of the aforesaid Series 2005 Bonds being negotiated and delivered concurrently with the Reimbursement Agreement and this Bank Fee Agreement, shall not exceed in the aggregate \$75,000.

Section 1.6. Out of Pocket Expenses. As a condition to closing on the Reimbursement Agreement, the City shall pay the Bank's out-of-pocket expenses in an amount not to exceed \$3,000.

Section 1.7. Default Rate. Any amounts due to the Bank hereunder that are past due shall accrue interest at the Default Rate from the date due but excluding the date of payment in full

Article II. Miscellaneous.

- Section 2.1 Amendments. No amendment to this Bank Fee Agreement shall become effective without the prior written consent of the Bank and the City.
- Section 2.2. Governing Law. This Bank Fee Agreement shall be deemed to be a contract under, and for all purposes shall be governed by, and construed and interpreted in accordance with, the law of the State of Texas.
- Section 2.3. Counterparts. This Bank Fee Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument. This Bank Fee Agreement may be delivered by the exchange of signed signature pages by facsimile transmission or by email with a pdf copy or other replicating image attached, and any printed or copied version of any signature page so delivered shall have the same force and effect as an originally signed version of such signature page.
- Section 2.4. Severability. Any provision of this Bank Fee Agreement which is prohibited, unenforceable or not authorized in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition, unenforceability or non-authorization without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof or affecting the validity, enforceability or legality of such provision in any other jurisdiction.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Bank Fee Agreement to be duly executed and delivered by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date first above written.

By:			
Name:			
Title:			

CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS

Signature Page to JPM/City of Austin Bank Fee Agreement

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By:		
Name:		
Title:		

Signature Page to JPM/City of Austin Bank Fee Agreement

	EXHIBIT B-1
	[JPMorgan Fee Agreement]
-	
_	

BANK FEE AGREEMENT

This Bank Fee Agreement dated June 1, 2011, is between the City of Austin, Texas (the "City") and KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch (the "Bank"). Reference is hereby made to the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement dated June 1, 2011 (the "Reimbursement Agreement") by and between the City and the Bank relating to the City's Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT), Subseries 2005-3 (the "Bonds"). Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Reimbursement Agreement.

The purpose of this Bank Fee Agreement is to set forth the agreement between the Bank and the City with respect to fees payable to the Bank pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreement. This Bank Fee Agreement constitutes the "Bank Fee Agreement" as such term is defined in the Reimbursement Agreement.

Article I. Fees

Section 1.1 Letter of Credit Fee. The City shall pay to the Bank a Letter of Credit fee ("Letter of Credit Fee") on the Commitment during the term of the Letter of Credit at the Letter of Credit Fee Rate described in the chart below based on the long term underlying rating (without giving effect to credit enhancement or bond insurance) (the "Rating") assigned to the Bonds or other bonds issued by the City that are secured by and payable from the Net Revenues on a parity basis with the Bonds. The Letter of Credit Fee will be calculated on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed in a 360-day year and payable quarterly in arrears on first Business Day of each January, April, July and October commencing July 2011.

<u>LEVEL</u>	<u>S&P RATING</u>	LETTER OF CREDIT FEE RATE
1	A- or above	135 % per annum
2	BBB+	155 % per annum
3	BBB	175 % per annum
4	BBB- or below	195 % per annum

Any change in the Letter of Credit Fee Rate resulting from a change in the Rating shall be and become effective as of and on the date of the announcement of the change in such Rating. References to Ratings above are references to rating categories as determined by S&P at the date hereof, and in the event of the adoption by S&P of any new or changed rating system, including, without limitation, any recalibration or realignment of the long-term unenhanced rating assigned to any other bonds issued by the City that are secured by and payable from Net Revenues on a

parity basis with the Bonds in connection with the adoption of a "global" rating scale, the Rating in question referred to above shall be deemed to refer to the rating category under the new rating system which most closely approximates the applicable rating category as in effect at the date hereof.

In the event the Rating assigned by S&P is withdrawn or suspended, the Letter of Credit Fee Rate shall be increased immediately, without notice to the City, by an additional 100 basis points per annum over the Letter of Credit Fee Rate otherwise in effect. At any time an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing under the Reimbursement Agreement, the Letter of Credit Fee Rate shall be increased immediately, without notice to the City, by an additional 100 basis points per annum above the Letter of Credit Fee Rate in effect prior to the occurrence of such Event of Default for so long as such Event of Default is continuing.

Section 1.2 Drawing Fee. In connection with each Drawing under the Letter of Credit, the City shall pay to the Bank a drawing fee in the amount of \$250 as payment for the Bank's transactional costs related to such Drawing. The drawing fee shall be payable on the same day as the related Drawing.

Section 1.3 Amendment and Transfer Fee. The City agrees to pay, or cause to be paid, to the Bank, on the date of each amendment, supplement or modification to the Reimbursement Agreement, the Letter of Credit or this Bank Fee Agreement, transfer of the Letter of Credit to a successor beneficiary, or execution of any standard waiver or consent, a non-refundable fee equal to \$2,500, plus, in each case, the reasonable fees and expenses of outside counsel to the Bank. Extensions to the term of the Letter of Credit alone will not require the payment of such fee, but will require the payment of related reasonable fees and expenses of outside legal counsel to the Bank.

Section 1.4. Termination/Reduction. The City may voluntarily terminate the Letter of Credit at any time with 30 days prior written notice to the Bank; provided, however, that in the event the City elects to terminate or permanently reduce (excluding in connection with mandatory sinking fund redemptions) the Available Amount of the Letter of Credit prior to its Stated Expiration Date, the City shall pay to the Bank the Letter of Credit Fees that would be due and payable to the Bank through the Stated Expiration Date based on the Available Amount in effect on date of such termination or reduction less the Letter of Credit Fees already paid (the "Make-Whole Fee") up to and including the termination or reduction date. The City will not be required to pay the Make-Whole Fee to the Bank if: (a) the Letter of Credit is terminated due to a downgrade of the short-term rating of the Bank below "P-1" by Moody's, "A-1" by S&P, or "F1" by Fitch; or (b) the Bonds are refunded from a source of funds that does not require a credit facility or analogous facility from a bank or financial institution, or the rate of interest on the Bonds is converted to a fixed rate or another interest rate mode that does not require a credit facility, a bank direct purchase facility, or an analogous facility from a bank or financial institution.

Section 1.5. Legal Fees. The City shall pay, or caused to be paid, on the Closing Date the legal fees of Andrews Kurth LLP for preparation of the Reimbursement Agreement and this Bank Fee Agreement. The amount payable by the City with respect to the legal fees of Andrews

Kurth LLP incurred in connection with the preparation of the Reimbursement Agreement and this Bank Fee Agreement, and incurred in connection with preparation of similar reimbursement agreements and bank fee agreements for other sub-series of the aforesaid Series 2005 Bonds being negotiated and delivered concurrently with the Reimbursement Agreement and this Bank Fee Agreement, shall not exceed in the aggregate \$75,000. The City shall also pay the legal fees of the Bank's foreign counsel in an amount not to exceed \$3,150.

Section 1.6. Out-of-Pocket Expenses. As a condition to closing on the Reimbursement Agreement, the City shall pay the Bank's out-of-pocket expenses in an amount not to exceed \$3,000.

Section 1.7. Default Rate. Any amounts due to the Bank hereunder that are past due shall accrue interest at the Default Rate from the date due to but excluding the date of payment in full

Article II. Miscellaneous.

- Section 2.1 Amendments. No amendment to this Bank Fee Agreement shall become effective without the prior written consent of the Bank and the City.
- Section 2.2. Governing Law. This Bank Fee Agreement shall be deemed to be a contract under, and for all purposes shall be governed by, and construed and interpreted in accordance with, the law of the State of Texas.
- Section 2.3. Counterparts. This Bank Fee Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument. This Bank Fee Agreement may be delivered by the exchange of signed signature pages by facsimile transmission or by email with a pdf copy or other replicating image attached, and any printed or copied version of any signature page so delivered shall have the same force and effect as an originally signed version of such signature page.
- Section 2.4. Severability. Any provision of this Bank Fee Agreement which is prohibited, unenforceable or not authorized in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition, unenforceability or non-authorization without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof or affecting the validity, enforceability or legality of such provision in any other jurisdiction.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Bank Fee Agreement to be duly executed and delivered by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date first above written.

By:			
Name:			
Title:_			

CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS

Signature Page to KBC/City of Austin Bank Fee Agreement

KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch
By:
Name:
Title:
By:
Name:
Title:

Signature Page to KBC/City of Austin Bank Fee Agreement

EXHIBIT B-2	
[KBC Fee Agreement]	

BANK FEE AGREEMENT

This Bank Fee Agreement dated June 1, 2011, is between the City of Austin, Texas (the "City") and KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch (the "Bank"). Reference is hereby made to the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement dated June 1, 2011 (the "Reimbursement Agreement") by and between the City and the Bank relating to the City's Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT), Subseries 2005-3 (the "Bonds"). Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Reimbursement Agreement.

The purpose of this Bank Fee Agreement is to set forth the agreement between the Bank and the City with respect to fees payable to the Bank pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreement. This Bank Fee Agreement constitutes the "Bank Fee Agreement" as such term is defined in the Reimbursement Agreement.

Article I. Fees

Section 1.1 Letter of Credit Fee. The City shall pay to the Bank a Letter of Credit fee ("Letter of Credit Fee") on the Commitment during the term of the Letter of Credit at the Letter of Credit Fee Rate described in the chart below based on the long term underlying rating (without giving effect to credit enhancement or bond insurance) (the "Rating") assigned to the Bonds or other bonds issued by the City that are secured by and payable from the Net Revenues on a parity basis with the Bonds. The Letter of Credit Fee will be calculated on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed in a 360-day year and payable quarterly in arrears on first Business Day of each January, April, July and October commencing July 2011.

<u>LEVEL</u>	<u>S&P RATING</u>	LETTER OF CREDIT FEE RATE
1	A- or above	135 % per annum
2	BBB+	155 % per annum
3	BBB	175 % per annum
4	BBB- or below	195 % per annum

Any change in the Letter of Credit Fee Rate resulting from a change in the Rating shall be and become effective as of and on the date of the announcement of the change in such Rating. References to Ratings above are references to rating categories as determined by S&P at the date hereof, and in the event of the adoption by S&P of any new or changed rating system, including, without limitation, any recalibration or realignment of the long-term unenhanced rating assigned to any other bonds issued by the City that are secured by and payable from Net Revenues on a

parity basis with the Bonds in connection with the adoption of a "global" rating scale, the Rating in question referred to above shall be deemed to refer to the rating category under the new rating system which most closely approximates the applicable rating category as in effect at the date hereof.

In the event the Rating assigned by S&P is withdrawn or suspended, the Letter of Credit Fee Rate shall be increased immediately, without notice to the City, by an additional 100 basis points per annum over the Letter of Credit Fee Rate otherwise in effect. At any time an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing under the Reimbursement Agreement, the Letter of Credit Fee Rate shall be increased immediately, without notice to the City, by an additional 100 basis points per annum above the Letter of Credit Fee Rate in effect prior to the occurrence of such Event of Default for so long as such Event of Default is continuing.

Section 1.2 Drawing Fee. In connection with each Drawing under the Letter of Credit, the City shall pay to the Bank a drawing fee in the amount of \$250 as payment for the Bank's transactional costs related to such Drawing. The drawing fee shall be payable on the same day as the related Drawing.

Section 1.3 Amendment and Transfer Fee. The City agrees to pay, or cause to be paid, to the Bank, on the date of each amendment, supplement or modification to the Reimbursement Agreement, the Letter of Credit or this Bank Fee Agreement, transfer of the Letter of Credit to a successor beneficiary, or execution of any standard waiver or consent, a non-refundable fee equal to \$2,500, plus, in each case, the reasonable fees and expenses of outside counsel to the Bank. Extensions to the term of the Letter of Credit alone will not require the payment of such fee, but will require the payment of related reasonable fees and expenses of outside legal counsel to the Bank.

Section 1.4. Termination/Reduction. The City may voluntarily terminate the Letter of Credit at any time with 30 days prior written notice to the Bank; provided, however, that in the event the City elects to terminate or permanently reduce (excluding in connection with mandatory sinking fund redemptions) the Available Amount of the Letter of Credit prior to its Stated Expiration Date, the City shall pay to the Bank the Letter of Credit Fees that would be due and payable to the Bank through the Stated Expiration Date based on the Available Amount in effect on date of such termination or reduction less the Letter of Credit Fees already paid (the "Make-Whole Fee") up to and including the termination or reduction date. The City will not be required to pay the Make-Whole Fee to the Bank if: (a) the Letter of Credit is terminated due to a downgrade of the short-term rating of the Bank below "P-1" by Moody's, "A-1" by S&P, or "F1" by Fitch; or (b) the Bonds are refunded from a source of funds that does not require a credit facility or analogous facility from a bank or financial institution, or the rate of interest on the Bonds is converted to a fixed rate or another interest rate mode that does not require a credit facility, a bank direct purchase facility, or an analogous facility from a bank or financial institution.

Section 1.5. Legal Fees. The City shall pay, or caused to be paid, on the Closing Date the legal fees of Andrews Kurth LLP for preparation of the Reimbursement Agreement and this Bank Fee Agreement. The amount payable by the City with respect to the legal fees of Andrews

Kurth LLP incurred in connection with the preparation of the Reimbursement Agreement and this Bank Fee Agreement, and incurred in connection with preparation of similar reimbursement agreements and bank fee agreements for other sub-series of the aforesaid Series 2005 Bonds being negotiated and delivered concurrently with the Reimbursement Agreement and this Bank Fee Agreement, shall not exceed in the aggregate \$75,000. The City shall also pay the legal fees of the Bank's foreign counsel in an amount not to exceed \$3,150.

Section 1.6. Out-of-Pocket Expenses. As a condition to closing on the Reimbursement Agreement, the City shall pay the Bank's out-of-pocket expenses in an amount not to exceed \$3,000.

Section 1.7. Default Rate. Any amounts due to the Bank hereunder that are past due shall accrue interest at the Default Rate from the date due to but excluding the date of payment in full

Article II. Miscellaneous.

- Section 2.1 Amendments. No amendment to this Bank Fee Agreement shall become effective without the prior written consent of the Bank and the City.
- Section 2.2. Governing Law. This Bank Fee Agreement shall be deemed to be a contract under, and for all purposes shall be governed by, and construed and interpreted in accordance with, the law of the State of Texas.
- Section 2.3. Counterparts. This Bank Fee Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument. This Bank Fee Agreement may be delivered by the exchange of signed signature pages by facsimile transmission or by email with a pdf copy or other replicating image attached, and any printed or copied version of any signature page so delivered shall have the same force and effect as an originally signed version of such signature page.
- Section 2.4. Severability. Any provision of this Bank Fee Agreement which is prohibited, unenforceable or not authorized in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition, unenforceability or non-authorization without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof or affecting the validity, enforceability or legality of such provision in any other jurisdiction.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Bank Fee Agreement to be duly executed and delivered by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date first above written.

By:			
Name:			
Title:_			

CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS

Signature Page to KBC/City of Austin Bank Fee Agreement

KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch
By:
Name:
Title:
By:
Name:
Title:

Signature Page to KBC/City of Austin Bank Fee Agreement

EXHIBIT B-3
[Royal Bank Fee Agreement]

BANK FEE AGREEMENT

This Bank Fee Agreement dated June 1, 2011, is between the City of Austin, Texas (the "City") and Royal Bank of Canada (the "Bank"), acting through its WFC, New York, Branch). Reference is hereby made to the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement dated June 1, 2011 (the "Reimbursement Agreement"), by and between the City and the Bank relating to the City's Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT), Subseries 2005-4 (the "Bonds"). Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Reimbursement Agreement.

The purpose of this Bank Fee Agreement is to set forth the agreement between the Bank and the City with respect to fees payable to the Bank pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreement. This Bank Fee Agreement constitutes the "Bank Fee Agreement" as such term is defined in the Reimbursement Agreement.

Article I. Fees

Section 1.1. Letter of Credit Fee. The City shall pay to the Bank a letter of credit fee ("Letter of Credit Fee") on the Commitment during the term of the Letter of Credit at the Letter of Credit Fee Rate described in the chart below based on the long-term underlying rating (without giving effect to credit enhancement or bond insurance) (the "Rating") assigned to the Bonds or other bonds issued by the City that are secured by and payable from the Net Revenues on a parity basis with the Bonds. The Letter of Credit Fee will be calculated on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed in a 360-day year and payable quarterly in arrears on first Business Day of each January, April, July and October, commencing July 1, 2011.

<u>LEVEL</u>	S&P RATING	LETTER OF CREDIT FEE RATE
1	A- or above	1.35% per annum
2	BBB+	1.55% per annum
3	BBB	1.75% per annum
4	BBB- or below	1.95% per annum

Any change in the Letter of Credit Fee Rate resulting from a change in the Rating shall be and become effective as of and on the date of the announcement of the change in such Rating. References to Ratings above are references to rating categories as determined by S&P at the date hereof, and, in the event of the adoption by S&P of any new or changed rating system, including, without limitation, any recalibration or realignment of the long term unenhanced rating assigned to any other bonds issued by the City that are secured by and payable from Net Revenues on a parity basis with the Bonds in connection with the adoption of a "global" rating scale, the Rating in question referred to above shall be deemed to refer to the rating category under the new rating system which most closely approximates the applicable rating category as in effect at the date hereof.

In the event the Rating assigned by S&P is withdrawn or suspended, the Letter of Credit Fee Rate shall be increased immediately, without notice to the City, by an additional 100 basis points per annum over the Letter of Credit Fee Rate otherwise in effect. At any time an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing under the Reimbursement Agreement, the Letter of Credit Fee Rate shall be increased immediately, without notice to the City, by an additional 100 basis points per annum above the Letter of Credit Fee Rate in effect prior to the occurrence of such Event of Default for so long as such Event of Default is continuing.

Section 1.2. Drawing Fee. In connection with each Drawing under the Letter of Credit, the City shall pay to the Bank a drawing fee in the amount of \$250 as payment for the Bank's transactional costs related to such Drawing. The drawing fee shall be payable on the same day as the related Drawing.

Section 1.3. Amendment and Transfer Fee. The City agrees to pay, or cause to be paid, to the Bank, on the date of each amendment, supplement or modification to the Reimbursement Agreement, the Letter of Credit or this Bank Fee Agreement, transfer of the Letter of Credit to a successor beneficiary, or execution of any standard waiver or consent, a non refundable fee equal to \$2,500, plus, in each case, the reasonable fees and expenses of outside counsel to the Bank. Extensions to the term of the Letter of Credit alone will not require the payment of such fee but will require the payment of related reasonable fees and expenses of outside counsel to the Bank.

Termination/Reduction. The City may voluntarily terminate the Letter of Section 1.4. Credit at any time with 30 days prior written notice to the Bank; provided, however, that in the event the City elects to terminate or permanently reduce (excluding in connection with mandatory sinking fund redemptions) the Available Amount of the Letter of Credit prior to its Stated Expiration Date, the City shall pay to the Bank the Letter of Credit Fees that would be due and payable to the Bank through the Stated Expiration Date based on the Available Amount in effect on date of such termination or reduction less the Letter of Credit Fees already paid (the "Make-Whole Fee") up to and including the termination or reduction date. The City will not be required to pay the Make-Whole Fee to the Bank if (a) the Letter of Credit is terminated due to a downgrade of the short-term rating of the Bank below "P-1" by Moody's, "A-1" by S&P, or "F1" by Fitch or (b) the Bonds are refunded from a source of funds that does not require a credit facility or analogous facility from a bank or financial institution or the rate of interest on the Bonds is converted to a fixed rate or another interest rate mode that does not require a credit facility, a bank direct purchase facility, or an analogous facility from a bank or financial institution.

Section 1.5. Legal Fees. The City shall pay, or caused to be paid, on the Closing Date the legal fees of Andrews Kurth LLP for preparation of the Reimbursement Agreement and this Bank Fee Agreement. The amount payable by the City with respect to the legal fees of Andrews Kurth LLP incurred in connection with the preparation of the Reimbursement Agreement and this Bank Fee Agreement, and incurred in connection with preparation of similar reimbursement agreements and bank fee agreements for other sub-series of the aforesaid Series 2005 Bonds being negotiated and delivered concurrently with the Reimbursement Agreement and this Bank Fee Agreement, shall not exceed in the aggregate \$75,000.. The City shall also pay the legal fees of the Bank's foreign counsel in an amount not to exceed \$5,000.

- Section 1.6. Out-of-Pocket Expenses. As a condition to closing on the Reimbursement Agreement, the City shall pay the Bank's out-of-pocket expenses in an amount not to exceed \$3,000.
- Section 1.7. Default Rate. Any amounts due to the Bank hereunder that are past due shall accrue interest at the Default Rate from the date due to but excluding the date of payment in full.

Article II. Miscellaneous.

- Section 2.1. Amendments. No amendment to this Bank Fee Agreement shall become effective without the prior written consent of the Bank and the City.
- Section 2.2. Governing Law. This Bank Fee Agreement shall be deemed to be a contract under, and for all purposes shall be governed by, and construed and interpreted in accordance with, the law of the State of Texas.
- Section 2.3. Counterparts. This Bank Fee Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument. This Bank Fee Agreement may be delivered by the exchange of signed signature pages by facsimile transmission or by e-mail with a pdf copy or other replicating image attached, and any printed or copied version of any signature page so delivered shall have the same force and effect as an originally signed version of such signature page.
- Section 2.4. Severability. Any provision of this Bank Fee Agreement which is prohibited, unenforceable or not authorized in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition, unenforceability or non-authorization without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof or affecting the validity, enforceability or legality of such provision in any other jurisdiction.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Bank Fee Agreement to be duly executed and delivered by their respective representatives thereunto duly authorized as of the date first written above.

CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS

By:	
Name:	
Title:	
ROYAL BANK OF CANADA	
Ву:	
Name:	
Title: Authorized Signatory	

	_
EXHIBIT C	
[Cancellation Agreement]	

INSURANCE POLICY CANCELLATION AGREEMENT

This INSURANCE POLICY CANCELLATION AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") dated as of June 1, 2011 is entered into by and among CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS (the "Issuer"), WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as paying agent and tender agent (the "Agent"), JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. ("JPMC"), KBC BANK, N.V., acting through its New York Branch ("KBC"), ROYAL BANK OF CANADA ("Royal Bank"), acting through its WFC, New York, Branch (JPMC, KBC and Royal Bank, each a "Bank" and collectively the "Banks"), and ASSURED GUARANTY MUNICIPAL CORP. (formerly known as FINANCIAL SECURITY ASSURANCE INC.), a New York stock insurance company ("AGM").

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Issuer issued, in four subseries, its \$281,300,000 Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT) (the "*Bonds*") pursuant to Ordinance No. 20050804-039, as supplemented on May 26, 2011 by Ordinance No. 2011_____ (collectively, the "*Ordinance*"); and

WHEREAS, the Bonds are insured by Municipal Bond Insurance Policy No. 205494-N (the "Bond Policy") issued by AGM; and

WHEREAS, AGM has also issued Municipal Bond Debt Service Reserve Fund Insurance Policy No. 205494-R (the "*Reserve Policy*") for the debt service reserve fund requirement for the Bonds and Financial Guaranty Insurance Policy No. 205494-SWP with respect to the swap transaction relating to the Bonds (the "*Swap Policy*"); and

WHEREAS, the payment of the purchase price of the Bonds is currently supported by a Standby Bond Purchase Agreement issued by Dexia Credit Local, acting through its New York Branch, and the Issuer wishes to replace the Standby Agreement and remarket the Bonds with Letters of Credit ("Letters of Credit"), one for each subseries of Bonds, issued by the Banks, which Letters of Credit will provide liquidity for the payment of the purchase price of the Bonds of a subseries upon a tender thereof and also provide for payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds of a subseries; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the reimbursement agreements under which the Letters of Credit are being issued (the "*Reimbursement Agreements*") and the Ordinance, the Banks have the right under certain circumstances to give direction to the Issuer and the Agent that the Bond Policy is to be terminated and thereby cause the Bonds to become subject to mandatory tender; and

WHEREAS, AGM the Issuer and the Agent have agreed to cancellation of the Bond Policy at the request of the Banks pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreements, subject to the terms of this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the parties hereto have agreed that the Swap Policy and Reserve Policy shall be terminated as provided in Sections 15 and 16 hereof.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual promises set

forth below, the parties hereto agree as follows:

AGREEMENT

- **Section 1.** The Banks hereby request that, effective upon the occurrence of the conditions set forth herein, AGM cancel the Bond Policy, and AGM hereby agrees to comply with such request, subject to the terms of this Agreement.
- **Section 2.** The Banks acknowledge and agree that, pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreements, the exercise by the Banks of certain rights and remedies, and the pursuit of other actions, referred to in Sections 6.3 and 6.4 of the Reimbursement Agreements, without the consent of AGM are subject to satisfaction of the conditions specified in Sections 6.3 and 6.4 of the Reimbursement Agreements, which (except in certain specified circumstances) contemplate termination of the Bond Policy and AGM being paid all amounts due and payable to it.
- The Banks will provide a written notice in the form attached hereto as Section 3. Exhibit A-1 signed by at least two of the Banks (the "Notice") of the exercise by the Banks of their right to request the cancellation of the Bond Policy pursuant to the terms of Sections 6.3 and 6.4 of the Reimbursement Agreements to the Issuer, the Agent and AGM specifying that the date of cancellation of the Bond Policy (the "Cancellation Date"), shall be the sixteenth (16th) day following the Agent's receipt of the Notice, and the Agent shall take the steps required pursuant to Section A-405 of the Ordinance to effect the mandatory tender of all of the Bonds. The Banks agree that they shall not direct the Agent to draw on the Bond Policy, and the Agent agrees that it shall not draw on the Bond Policy, after the Banks have delivered the Notice. Upon delivery of the Notice and the Agent's receipt thereof, the Issuer, the Banks and the Agent hereby irrevocably consent to the cancellation of the Bond Policy in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. The Banks, as Owners of the Bonds, shall confirm such consent in writing to AGM when they own the Bonds following the mandatory tender thereof and prior to the remarketing thereof. The cancellation of the Bond Policy will be effective upon the Cancellation Date specified in the Notice subject to the terms of this Agreement; provided that in no event shall the Cancellation Date occur prior to the Mandatory Purchase Date (as such term is defined in the Ordinance). The Agent agrees to deliver to AGM the original executed Bond Policy for cancellation, provided, however, that if the original Bond Policy cannot be located after diligent search, the Agent shall deliver a copy of the Bond Policy, together with a lost policy affidavit in form and substance satisfactory to AGM stating that the original cannot be located. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the failure to deliver the original Bond Policy or any such affidavit shall not invalidate the cancellation of the Bond Policy pursuant to this Agreement.
- **Section 4.** The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that until the Bond Policy is cancelled pursuant hereto, AGM shall be deemed to be the sole holder of all of the Bonds entitled to control remedies under the Ordinance (subject to the provisions of the Ordinance). Furthermore the Banks agree to cooperate with AGM in the event of a draw on the Bond Policy for the purpose of reimbursing the Banks, including assigning any rights the Banks may have with respect to the related Bonds paid with a draw on a Letter of Credit.
- **Section 5.** The parties hereto agree that as of the Cancellation Date no amounts will be due or payable by AGM with respect to the Bonds pursuant to the Bond Policy, and none of

- **Section 6.** On or prior to the Cancellation Date, the Issuer shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Agent for authentication new Bonds that (a) do not contain the AGM statement of insurance and (b) have new CUSIPs assigned reflecting the absence of insurance, with a list of such new CUSIPs to be provided to AGM.
- **Section 7.** Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Agreement, the Ordinance, the Reimbursement Agreements or the Bonds, the parties hereto acknowledge that to the extent AGM has made any payments under the Bond Policy prior to the Cancellation Date:
 - (a) each recognizes that, to the extent AGM has made payments, directly or indirectly (as by paying through the Agent), on account of principal of or interest on the Bonds to any holder of the Bonds (a "Holder"), AGM will be (i) subrogated to the rights of such Holder to receive the amount of such payment from the Issuer, as provided and from the sources stated in the Ordinance and the Bonds, and (ii) deemed to be the Holder of such Bond or Bonds for all purposes under the Ordinance, including, without limitation, the direction of remedies, the voting or giving of consent with respect to remedies and other actions or inactions of the Agent or the Issuer that may require such voting or consent, and the filing of proofs of claim and other indicia of ownership in any insolvency proceeding; and
 - (b) AGM is entitled to receive the amount of such principal and interest as provided in the Ordinance and the Bonds, and the parties hereto will otherwise treat AGM as the owner of such rights to the amount of such payment.
- **Section 8.** The Issuer agrees that there will be no refund or return of the insurance premium for the Bond Policy or the Reserve Policy in connection with cancellation of the Bond Policy or the Reserve Policy. Furthermore the Issuer agrees to pay all reasonable out of pocket fees and expenses of AGM in connection with the cancellation of the Bond Policy and the Reserve Policy.
- **Section 9.** The Issuer covenants that (a) in connection with any remarketing of the Bonds on or after the Cancellation Date, a disclosure document will be delivered to prospective Bondholders that states prominently that the Bond Policy is no longer in effect with respect to the Bonds and that the purchasers of the remarketed Bonds shall be deemed to have consented to the cancellation of the Bond Policy and (b) it will file with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board ("MSRB") (or any successor repository of disclosure of information relating to the Bonds) on or as of the Cancellation Date a filing that discloses that the Bond Policy is no longer in effect with respect to the Bonds. The Issuer shall make such disclosure documents and MSRB filings available to AGM reasonably in advance of the use and/or filing of such materials.
- **Section 10.** Prior to execution and delivery hereof, each party hereto shall receive opinions dated the date hereof and addressed to it from counsel to each of the other parties hereto to the effect, in each case, that this Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered

- **Section 11.** All notices shall be sent to the addresses and in the manner specified in Section A-702(c) of the Ordinance; *provided* that notices to the Issuer shall be sent to it at 700 Lavaca, Suite 940, Austin, Texas 78701, Attention: City Treasurer.
- **Section 12.** This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Banks, subsequent beneficial owners of the Bonds, the Agent, the Issuer, and AGM and their respective successors and assigns.
- **Section 13.** This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute but one and the same instrument. This Agreement may be delivered by the exchange of executed signature pages by facsimile transmission or by email with a pdf copy or other replicating image attached, and any printed or copied version of any signature page so delivered shall have the same force and effect as the originally signed version of such signature page.
- **Section 14.** Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, all financial obligations of the Issuer under or as a consequence of actions required by this Agreement are limited to the sources provided therefor in the Ordinance and are subject to all limitations on such sources and priorities with respect to payment therefrom as are set forth in the Ordinance.
- **Section 15.** The parties acknowledge and agree that upon the termination of the Bond Policy in accordance herewith, the Series 2005 Swap Agreement entered into in connection with the Bonds or the Swap Policy shall be terminated in accordance with, and to the extent required by, the terms of the Agreement Regarding Insured Swap Transaction (City of Austin), dated the date hereof, between the Issuer and AGM.
- **Section 16.** The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that upon the cancellation of the Bond Policy in accordance herewith (unless an Insurer Event of Default (as defined in the Reimbursement Agreements) has occurred and is continuing), the Reserve Policy shall be cancelled by a date that is not more than three years after the Cancellation Date, and the Issuer shall (i) beginning with the first full calendar month following the Cancellation Date, commence funding on a monthly basis an amount sufficient so that the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement is established (without giving effect to the Reserve Policy) by the date that is three years after the Cancellation Date and (ii) restore any draw on the Debt Service Reserve Fund from over a period of no more than 18 months as required by Section 5.07 of the Ordinance. The Issuer further agrees that, commencing on the date hereof, it shall not issue any Additional Revenue Bonds payable from the Reserve Policy. Following the date the Reserve Policy is cancelled pursuant to the terms hereof or otherwise terminates in accordance with its terms, the Agent agrees to return the original Reserve Policy to AGM.
- **Section 17.** (a) Each Bank irrevocably agrees for the benefit of AGM, the Agent and the City that the only manner in which the Banks may direct the Agent to cause a mandatory tender of the Bonds (in connection with the cancellation of the Bond Policy, the termination of the Letters of Credit, or otherwise) is to provide a written notice in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A-1 or Exhibit A-2, as applicable, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

- (b) Each Bank irrevocably agrees for the benefit of AGM, the Agent and the City that the Notice (and any confirmation of such Bank's consent to the cancellation of the Bond Policy required hereby) may be delivered by any two of the Banks and each Bank (regardless of whether it signed the Notice) shall be deemed to have irrevocably consented to (i) the delivery of the Notice, (ii) the cancellation of the Bond Policy, (iii) the mandatory tender of each Bank's subseries of the Bonds, and (iv) if stated in the Notice, the cancellation of each Bank's Letter of Credit, all pursuant to the appropriate subsection of Section 6.3 or Section 6.4 of the Reimbursement Agreements upon delivery of the Notice by any two of the Banks.
- (c) Each Bank irrevocably agrees for the benefit of the Agent and the City that the notice attached hereto as Exhibit A-2 may be delivered to the Agent by any two of the Banks and each Bank (regardless of whether it has signed the notice attached hereto as Exhibit A-2) shall be deemed to have irrevocably consented to (i) the delivery of the notice attached hereto as Exhibit A-2, (ii) the mandatory tender of each Bank's subseries of the Bonds, and (iii) the cancellation of each Bank's Letter of Credit, all pursuant to the appropriate subsection of Section 6.3 or Section 6.4 of the Reimbursement Agreements upon delivery of the notice attached hereto as ExhibitA-2 by any two of the Banks.

Section 18. This Agreement shall be governed by the law of the State of New York applicable to contracts executed and to be performed in the State of New York by parties domiciled in the State of New York, except that the law of the State of Texas shall govern all matters relating to the powers, authority and obligations of the Issuer. Defined terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Ordinance.

[Signature Page Follows]

-5-

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has caused this Agreement to be executed in its respective name by its duly authorized officer or representative, all as of the date first above written.

CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS, as Issuer

By
Title
WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION, as Agent
n.
By
Title
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.
By
Title
ROYAL BANK OF CANADA
_
By
Title
KBC BANK, N.V., acting through its New York
Branch
By
Title
ASSURED GUARANTY MUNICIPAL CORP.
D
By

Exhibit A-1 to Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement

Notice of Mandatory Tender and Cancellation of Insurance Policy No. 205494-N

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent/Registrar and Tender Agent 201 Main Street, Suite 301

MAC T5441-030 Fort Worth, TX 76102

Ph: 817.334.7068 Fax: 817.885.8650

E-mail: Kathleen.R.Wagner@wellsfargo.com

City of Austin, Texas 700 Lavaca, Suite 940 Austin, TX 78701

Attention: City Treasurer

Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. 31 West 52nd Street New York, NY 10019 Attention: Director, Municipal Surveillance

Re: Municipal Bond Insurance Policy No. 205494-N; City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT)

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned, constituting the Required Banks under the Reimbursement Agreements (as hereinafter defined), hereby advise you that

[Insert one of the following paragraphs as appropriate]

[a City Event of Default has occurred and pursuant to Section 6.3(a) of the Reimbursement Agreements the Required Banks hereby direct the Paying Agent/Registrar (i) to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, whereby the Letters of Credit will terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Cancellation of Insurance Policy No. 205494-N (this "Notice"), and (ii) to cause Municipal Bond Insurance Policy No. 205494-N to terminate in accordance with the terms of the Cancellation Agreement.]

[an Insurer Event of Default or an Insurer Downgrade Event has occurred and pursuant to Section 6.4(a) of the Reimbursement Agreements the Required Banks hereby direct the Paying Agent/Registrar (i) to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance and (ii) to cause Municipal Bond Insurance Policy No. 205494-N to terminate in accordance with the terms of the Cancellation Agreement on the sixteenth (16th) day

following the Paying Agent/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Cancellation of Insurance Policy No. 205494-N (this "Notice")].

All capitalized terms used in this Notice and not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreements dated June 1, 2011, by and between the City of Austin, Texas and, respectively, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, Royal Bank of Canada, acting through its WFC, New York, Branch and KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch (as in effect on the date hereof, the "Reimbursement Agreements").

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the under day of, 20	signed have executed and delivered this Notice the
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION	KBC BANK N.V.
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION	By:
By:	
Name:	Name:
Tume	Title:
Title:	
ROYAL BANK OF CANADA	
By:	
Name:	
TP: 41	

Exhibit A-2 to Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement

Notice of Mandatory Tender and Termination of the Letters of Credit (Insurance Policy Not Cancelled)

[Date]

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent/Registrar and Tender Agent 201 Main Street, Suite 301 MAC T5441-030

Fort Worth, TX 76102

Ph: 817.334.7068 Fax: 817.885.8650

E-mail: Kathleen.R.Wagner@wellsfargo.com

City of Austin, Texas 700 Lavaca, Suite 940 Austin, TX 78701

Attention: City Treasurer

Re: City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT)

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned, constituting the Required Banks under the Reimbursement Agreements (as hereinafter defined), hereby advise you that:

[Insert one of the following paragraphs as appropriate]

[a City Event of Default and an Insurer Event of Default have occurred and pursuant to Section 6.3(a) of the Reimbursement Agreements the Required Banks hereby direct the Paying Agent/Registrar to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, whereby the Letters of Credit will terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Termination of the Letters of Credit (this "Notice").]

[the City has failed to pay the Letter of Credit Fee and pursuant to Section 6.4(b) of the Reimbursement Agreements the Required Banks hereby direct the Paying Agent/Registrar to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, whereby the Letters of Credit will terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Termination of the Letters of Credit (this "Notice").]

[an Insurer Event of Default or an Insurer Downgrade Event has occurred and is continuing, and a City Event of Default has also occurred and is continuing and pursuant to

Section 6.4(c) of the Reimbursement Agreements the Required Banks hereby direct the Paying Agent/Registrar to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with Section A-403 of the Ordinance, whereby the Letters of Credit will terminate on the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent/Registrar's receipt of this Notice of Mandatory Tender and Termination of the Letters of Credit (this "Notice").]

All capitalized terms used in this Notice and not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreements dated June 1, 2011, by and between the City of Austin, Texas and, respectively, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, Royal Bank of Canada, acting through its WFC, New York, Branch and KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch (as in effect on the date hereof, the "Reimbursement Agreements").

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersday of, 20	signed have executed and delivered this Notice the
	KBC BANK N.V.
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION	By:
By:	Name:
Name:	Title:
Title:	
ROYAL BANK OF CANADA	
By:	
Name:	
Title:	

cc: Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp.

EXHIBIT D [Swap Agreement]			

AGREEMENT REGARDING INSURED SWAP TRANSACTION (CITY OF AUSTIN)

THIS AGREEMENT REGARDING INSURED SWAP TRANSACTION (this "Agreement") dated as of June 1, 2011, is entered into by and between ASSURED GUARANTY MUNICIPAL CORP. (formerly known as Financial Security Assurance Inc.), a New York stock insurance company ("AGM"), and the CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS (the "City").

WHEREAS, AGM has previously issued a financial guaranty insurance policy number 205494-SWP (the "Swap Policy"), dated August 17, 2005, relating to a swap transaction (the "Swap Transaction") between the City and Morgan Stanley Capital Services Inc. (the "Counterparty"), evidenced by a Confirmation dated July 2, 2004 with reference number AUCGV (the "Confirmation"), and governed by an ISDA Master Agreement dated as of July 2, 2004, including the Schedule and Credit Support Annex thereto (the "Master Agreement," and together with the Confirmation, the "Swap Agreement"); and

WHEREAS, the Swap Transaction was entered into to hedge interest rate risk associated with the \$306,225,000 original principal amount of City of Austin, Texas Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (the "Bonds"), which were insured by AGM under municipal bond insurance policy no. 205494–N (the "Bond Policy"); and

WHEREAS, the City is delivering one or more letters of credit (the "Letters of Credit") issued by the Banks (as defined below) to further secure the Bonds and in connection therewith certain events may result in the Banks electing at some future date to cause the cancellation of the Bond Policy, and in connection therewith AGM, the City, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as paying and tender agent, and each of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch, and Royal Bank of Canada, acting through its New York Branch (each a "Bank" and collectively, the "Banks") have entered into a Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2011 (the "Cancellation Agreement"); and

WHEREAS, the Letters of Credit are being issued pursuant to respective Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreements entered into between each Bank and the City (the "Reimbursement Agreements"); and

WHEREAS, the City wishes to have the option to keep the Swap Transaction outstanding and insured by the Swap Policy, notwithstanding a cancellation of the Bond Policy; and

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the agreement by AGM not to terminate the Swap Policy following a termination of the Bond Policy pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement and the other agreements set forth herein, the City does hereby agree and covenant with AGM as follows:

Section 1. Reporting. Following a termination of the Bond Policy pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement, the City shall provide the following to AGM: (i) on a monthly basis, a statement of the estimated aggregate mark-to-market value of the Swap Transaction in the form currently being provided to the City by the Counterparty and (ii) notice at such time, if any, as the aggregate mark-to-market value of the Swap Transaction is negative \$100,000 or an amount more favorable to the City within two (2) business days of that being the case (it being understood that such notice, if any, shall be based upon the monthly statement delivered pursuant to clause (i) hereinabove).

Section 2. *Termination*. Subject to Section 5 hereof, unless AGM directs or agrees otherwise, not later than the earlier of (a) ten (10) business days after the first date on which the estimated aggregate mark-to-market value of the Swap Transaction payable by the City is zero or on which such estimated value aggregate mark-to- market value is positive to the City (in each case as set forth in the reports delivered pursuant to Section 1 above), and (b) three (3) years of the date of the cancellation of the Bond Policy pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement, the City shall do one of the following:

(a) designate an Early Termination Date, or other optional termination, with respect to the Swap Transaction in accordance with the provisions of the Swap Agreement; or

(b) deliver to AGM the original Swap Policy together with an instrument from the Counterparty satisfactory to AGM deeming the Swap Transaction to no longer be an Insured Transaction under the Swap Agreement and releasing AGM from all further liability under the Swap Policy.

Section 3. Not an Insurer-Directed Termination. Enforcement of this Agreement by AGM shall not be deemed to constitute designation of an Early Termination Date by AGM for purposes of the Swap Agreement or the Swap Policy. Nothing herein shall otherwise limit or impair the rights granted to AGM under the Swap Agreement (including any right to designate an Early Termination Date as provided therein).

Section 4. Swap Agreement Modification; Notional Amount Adjustment. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Swap Agreement or the transaction documents relating to the Bonds, the City hereby agrees and covenants to AGM that the Notional Amount shall not exceed the outstanding principal amount of the Bonds. In accordance with the foregoing, the City agrees and covenants to AGM that it shall not redeem, defease, refund, prepay or repurchase (other than to satisfy any scheduled mandatory sinking fund requirements that correspond to scheduled reductions in the Notional Amount of the Swap Transaction) any portion of the Bonds unless prior to or at the time of such redemption, defeasance, refunding, prepayment or repurchase, the City terminates all or a portion of the Swap Transaction so that the Notional Amount does not exceed the principal amount of the Bonds immediately following any such redemption, defeasance, refunding, prepayment or repurchase, unless AGM otherwise consents in writing to the Notional Amount not being so reduced. In addition (subject to Section 5 hereof), the City agrees that in the event any reimbursement obligation in respect of the principal amount of any Bonds (including Bank Bonds) owed a Bank under a Reimbursement Agreement is payable within a term of less than five years, the City shall terminate a portion of the Swap Transaction in a like Notional Amount at the time any such payment is made by the City to the Bank.

Section 5. Effectiveness. This Agreement shall not be effective unless and until each party hereto has delivered executed counterparts of this Agreement to the other party and an opinion of counsel to the effect that this Agreement is a legal, valid and binding obligation of such party, enforceable against such party in accordance with its terms (subject to customary qualifications). Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, the parties hereto acknowledge and agree that in the event the Bond Policy is canceled as a result of the occurrence of an Insurer Event of Default (as defined in the Reimbursement Agreements), the City shall not be obligated to perform its obligations set forth in Section 2 or the last sentence of Section 4 of this Agreement.

Section 6. Miscellaneous.

(a) Notices. All notices and other communications provided for under this Agreement shall be delivered to the address set forth below or to such other address as shall be designated by the recipient in a written notice to the other party or parties hereto.

If to AGM: Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp.

31 West 52nd Street New York, NY 10019

Attention: Risk Management Department

(with a copy to the attention of the General Counsel)

Telecopy No.: 212-581-3268

E-mail: munihealth@assuredguaranty.com

If to the City: City of Austin, Texas

700 Lavaca, Suite 940 Austin, Texas 78701 Attention: City Treasurer

- (b) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, except that the laws of the State of Texas shall govern all matters relating to the power, authority and obligations of the City.
 - (c) Definitions. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Agreement shall have the meanings given to them in the Swap Agreement or the Swap Policy.
- (d) Due Authorization, Etc.. Each party to this Agreement represents to the other party that such party has full power and authority to enter into and perform this Agreement, and that this Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by such party and constitutes the valid, binding and enforceable legal agreement of such party.
- (e) Assignments. This Agreement may not be assigned by either party hereto without the express written consent of the other party hereto. Any assignment made in violation of this Agreement shall be null and void.
- (f) Amendments. Amendments of this Agreement shall be in writing signed by each party hereto.
- (g) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts by the parties hereto, and all such counterparts shall constitute one and the same instrument. This Agreement may be delivered by the exchange of executed signature pages by facsimile transmission or by email with a pdf copy or other replicating image attached, and any printed or copied version of any signature page so delivered shall have the same force and effect as the originally signed version of such signature page.

[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed and delivered as of the date first above written.

ASSURED GUARANTY MUNICIPAL CORP.

By	
Name:	
Title:	
CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS	
_	
Ву	
Name:	
Title:	

$\underline{\mathbf{EXHIBIT}\;\mathbf{E}}$ [Amended Tender Agency Agreement]

AMENDED AND RESTATED TENDER AGENCY AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED TENDER AGENCY AGREEMENT (this "Agreement"), dated as of June 1, 2011, between the City of Austin, Texas (the "City") and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as Tender Agent (the "Tender Agent"), amends and restates that certain Tender Agency Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2008, between the City and the Tender Agent.

WHEREAS, pursuant to Ordinance No. 20050804-039 adopted and approved on August 4, 2005, as amended and supplemented by Ordinance No. 2011______ (the "Ordinance"), the City has previously issued and has outstanding its Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005, issued in four subseries designated "Subseries 2005-1," "Subseries 2005-2," "Subseries 2005-3" and "Subseries 2005-4" (collectively, the "Bonds"); and

WHEREAS, the Bonds and the Ordinance provide, among other things, that the registered owners (the "Owners") of the Bonds are required to tender their Bonds to the Tender Agent for purchase at various times and under various conditions, in each case in accordance with the provisions of the Bonds and the Ordinance; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of a Remarketing Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2008, as amended by the First Amendment to Remarketing Agreement, dated as of June 9, 2009 (the "Remarketing Agreement"), each between the City and Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated ("Morgan Stanley"), Morgan Stanley has agreed to use its best efforts to remarket any Bonds tendered for purchase to the Tender Agent by the Owners thereof pursuant to the Ordinance; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of: (1) a Letter of Credit issued by JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association ("JPMorgan"), with respect to the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds (the "Subseries 2005-1 Letter of Credit"), (2) a Letter of Credit issued by JPMorgan, with respect to the Subseries 2005-2 Bonds (the "Subseries 2005-2 Letter of Credit"), (3) a Letter of Credit issued by KBC Bank N.V., acting through its New York Branch ("KBC"), with respect to the Subseries 2005-3 Bonds (the "Subseries 2005-3 Letter of Credit"), and (4) a Letter of Credit issued by Royal Bank of Canada ("Royal Bank" and, together with JPMorgan and KBC, the "Banks"), acting through its WFC, New York, Branch, with respect to the Subseries 2005-4 Bonds (the "Subseries 2005-4 Letter of Credit" and, together with the Subseries 2005-1 Letter of Credit, the Subseries 2005-2 Letter of Credit and the Subseries 2005-3 Letter of Credit, the "Letters of Credit"), the Banks have agreed, subject to certain terms and conditions, to purchase Bonds which have been tendered to the Tender Agent pursuant to the Ordinance and which have not been remarketed by the Remarketing Agent; and

WHEREAS, each Bank constitutes a Liquidity Facility Issuer and each Letter of Credit constitutes a Liquidity Facility pursuant to the Ordinance, as each such term is defined therein;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and to provide for the coordination of said arrangements, the parties hereby agree as follows:

SECTION 1. <u>Defined Terms</u>. Capitalized terms used in this Agreement and not defined herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Ordinance, including Appendix A thereto.

SECTION 2. Appointment of Tender Agent. Subject to the terms and conditions contained herein and in the Ordinance, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., is hereby designated and appointed Tender Agent in the performance of its duties and obligations hereunder and under the Ordinance. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., hereby accepts such appointment and the City consents to such designation and appointment. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., hereby certifies that it has the capacity to, and agrees to, perform the duties and responsibilities of the Tender Agent herein and under the Ordinance. By its execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Tender Agent hereby covenants and agrees to comply with the provisions of the Ordinance applicable to the Tender Agent. To the extent of any conflict between the provision of this Agreement and the Ordinance, the Ordinance shall control.

During the term hereof, the Tender Agent hereby covenants and agrees to maintain an office where Bonds no longer held in the Book-Entry System may be delivered and tendered for purchase to the Tender Agent. The initial designated office of the Tender Agent is: 608 2nd Ave S, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55479, Attention: REORG N9303-121.

Bonds tendered for purchase which are held in Book-Entry System shall be tendered pursuant to such Book-Entry System.

SECTION 3. Creation of Purchase Fund. There has been established in the Ordinance and currently maintained with the Tender Agent, a separate fund known as the "Purchase Fund," which shall be held by the Tender Agent for the exclusive benefit of the Owners of Bonds who are entitled to be paid the Purchase Price of such Bonds from such Fund and, to the extent of any surplus, the Person who deposited the money into the applicable account of the Purchase Fund. The Tender Agent shall further establish and maintain separate accounts within the Purchase Fund known as the "Liquidity Facility Purchase Account" and the "Remarketing Proceeds Account."

Upon receipt from the Remarketing Agent of the proceeds of remarketing of Bonds of a Subseries on a Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, the Tender Agent shall deposit such proceeds in the Remarketing Proceeds Account for application to the Purchase Price of the remarketed Bond. Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon the receipt of the proceeds of remarketing of Bank Bonds, the Tender Agent shall immediately pay such proceeds to or for the account of the related Liquidity Facility Issuer to the extent of any amount owing to such Liquidity Facility Issuer.

Upon receipt by the Tender Agent of immediately available funds to pay the Purchase Price of Bonds pursuant to Section A-411 of the Ordinance, the Tender Agent shall deposit such money in the Liquidity Facility Purchase Account for application to the Purchase Price of the Bonds to the extent that the moneys on deposit in the Remarketing Proceeds Account shall not be sufficient. Any amounts deposited in the Liquidity Facility Purchase Account and not needed with respect to the Purchase Price for any Bonds of such subseries shall be immediately returned to the order of the applicable Liquidity Facility Issuer.

Amounts held in the Liquidity Facility Purchase Account and the Remarketing Proceeds Account by the Tender Agent shall be held uninvested and separate and apart from all other funds and accounts.

SECTION 4. <u>Delivery of Bonds</u>. The Bonds of a subseries shall be delivered in accordance with Section A-409 of the Ordinance.

SECTION 5. <u>Tenders</u>; <u>Remarketing of the Bonds</u>.

- Mandatory Tenders. At the times specified in Section A-405 of the Ordinance, notice of any mandatory tender of Bonds of a subseries shall state that such Bonds are to be purchased pursuant to Sections A-402, A-403 or A-404 of the Ordinance, and shall be provided by the Paying Agent/Registrar or caused to be provided by the Paying Agent/Registrar by mailing a copy of the notice of mandatory tender by first-class mail to each Owner of the Bonds of the subseries at the respective addresses shown on the registry books. Each notice of mandatory tender for purchase shall identify the reason for the mandatory tender for purchase, and specify the CUSIP number, Mandatory Purchase Date, the Purchase Price, the place and manner of payment, that the Owner has no right to retain such Bonds and that no further interest will accrue from and after the Mandatory Purchase Date to such Owner. Each notice of mandatory tender for purchase caused by a change in the Mode applicable to the Bonds of a subseries shall in addition specify the conditions that have to be satisfied pursuant to Section A-207 of the Ordinance in order for the New Mode to become effective and the consequences that the failure to satisfy any of such conditions would have. In the event a mandatory tender of Bonds of a subseries shall occur at or prior to the same date on which an optional tender for purchase is scheduled to occur, the terms and conditions of the applicable mandatory tender for purchase shall control. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall give a copy of any notice of mandatory tender given by it to the other Notice Parties. Any notice mailed as provided in this Section shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether or not the Owner of any Bond receives the notice, and the failure of such Owner to receive any such notice shall not affect the validity of the action described in such notice. Failure by the Paying Agent/Registrar to give a notice as provided in this Section shall not affect the obligation of the Tender Agent to purchase the Bonds of a subseries subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the Mandatory Purchase Date.
- Denominations) in the Daily Rate Mode that is not a Bank Bond is subject to purchase, on the demand of the Owner thereof, at a price equal to the Purchase Price on any Business Day (such purchase to be made on the Business Day upon which such demand is made), upon irrevocable notice submitted by Electronic Means to the Tender Agent and the Remarketing Agent (promptly confirmed in writing by such Owner), delivered to the Tender Agent and the Remarketing Agent by telecopier by 11:00 a.m., New York City time, at their respective Principal Offices, which states the number and principal amount of such Bond being tendered and the Purchase Date. Such tender notice, once transmitted to the Tender Agent, shall be irrevocable with respect to the tender for which such tender notice was delivered and such tender shall occur on the Business Day specified in such Tender Notice. The Tender Agent shall, as soon as practicable, notify the City of the principal amount of Bonds of the Series being tendered. The contents of any such irrevocable telephonic tender notice shall be conclusive and binding on all parties.

The Owners of Bonds of a subseries in a Weekly Rate Mode that are not Bank Bonds may elect to have such Bonds (or portions thereof in Authorized Denominations) purchased at a price equal to the Purchase Price upon delivery of an irrevocable written notice of tender to the

Tender Agent and Remarketing Agent, at their respective Principal Offices, not later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on a Business Day not less than seven (7) days before the Purchase Date specified by the Owner. Such notice shall (i) state the number and the principal amount of such Bond being tendered and (ii) state that such Bond shall be purchased on the Purchase Date so specified by the Owner. The Tender Agent shall notify the City by the close of business on the next succeeding Business Day of the receipt of any notice pursuant to this paragraph.

(c) Remarketing of the Bonds.

- (i) The Remarketing Agent shall notify the Tender Agent by Electronic Means not later than 11:45 a.m. (12:15 p.m. in the case of Bonds of a subseries in the Daily Rate Mode), New York City time, of the registration instructions as may be necessary to re-register the Bonds.
- (ii) Unless otherwise permitted by the Securities Depository and the bookentry-only system applicable to a Series of Bonds, the Tender Agent shall authenticate and have available for delivery to the Remarketing Agent prior to 12:30 p.m., New York City time, on the Purchase Date or Mandatory Tender Date new Bonds of the Series for the respective purchasers thereof.
- (iii) The Remarketing Agent shall at or before 12:00 p.m. (12:20 p.m. in the case of Bonds of a subseries in the Daily Rate Mode), New York City time, on the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, as the case may be, confirm to the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent the transfer of the Purchase Price of remarketed Bonds of the subseries to the Tender Agent in immediately available funds at or before 11:45 a.m. (12:15 p.m. in the case of Bonds of a subseries in the Daily Rate Mode), New York City time, such confirmation to include the pertinent identifying information with respect to such transfer.
- (iv) To the extent a Liquidity Facility is in effect for a subseries of Bonds, the Tender Agent shall draw on the related Liquidity Facility, in accordance with the terms thereof, by 12:25 p.m., New York City time, on the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, as the case may be, in an amount equal to the Purchase Price of all Bonds of the subseries tendered or deemed tendered less the aggregate amount of remarketing proceeds confirmed to the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent by the Remarketing Agent pursuant to clause (1) of Section A-407(c) of the Ordinance and shall cause the proceeds of such draw to be transferred to the Tender Agent by no later than 2:30 p.m., New York City time. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Tender Agent shall draw on the related Liquidity Facility in an amount equal to the Purchase Price of all Bonds of the subseries tendered or deemed tendered for purchase on each Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, as the case may be, if it does not receive a confirmation from the Remarketing Agent pursuant to clause (1) of Section A-407(c) of the Ordinance.
- (v) To the extent a Liquidity Facility is in effect for a subseries of Bonds, the Tender Agent shall confirm to the City by 2:40 p.m., New York City time, on the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, receipt of the proceeds of any draw on such Liquidity Facility.

SECTION 6. Tender of Bonds to Tender Agent. Each Owner who is required to tender its Bond to the Tender Agent must tender such Bond to the Tender Agent in accordance with Section A-410 of the Ordinance. For any Bonds required to be tendered for purchase which are not in fact delivered, the Tender Agent shall hold any funds received for purchase of those Bonds in trust in a separate account and shall pay such funds to the former Owners upon presentation of the Bonds subject to tender, and such Bonds shall be deemed tendered and cease to accrue interest as to the former Owners on the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date pursuant to the Ordinance.

SECTION 7. Source of Funds for Purchase of Bonds of a Subseries. On or before the close of business on the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date with respect to Bonds of a subseries, the Tender Agent shall purchase such Bonds from the Owners at the Purchase Price. Unless otherwise provided in a certificate of an Authorized Officer delivered to the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Insurer, the Tender Agent and the Remarketing Agent on a Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, funds for the payment of such Purchase Price shall be derived solely from the following sources in the order of priority indicated: (1) immediately available funds on deposit in the Remarketing Proceeds Account with respect to Bonds of such subseries; and (2) to the extent a Liquidity Facility is in effect, immediately available funds on deposit in the Liquidity Facility Purchase Account derived from the Liquidity Facility relating to Bonds of such subseries.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless otherwise provided in a certificate of an Authorized Officer delivered to the Tender Agent and the Remarketing Agent on a Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, the City shall have the option, but shall not be obligated, to transfer immediately available funds to the Tender Agent for the payment of the Purchase Price of any Bond that is tendered or deemed tendered for purchase in accordance with the terms of Appendix A of the Ordinance and the Purchase Price of which is not paid on the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date from the source identified above. Any Bonds purchased with such funds from the City shall be cancelled unless otherwise consented to by the Insurer. None of the City, the Tender Agent nor the Remarketing Agent shall have any liability or obligation to pay or advance its own funds or, except from the source identified above, make available such Purchase Price. Any Bonds held by or for the account of the City shall not be entitled to the benefit of a Liquidity Facility or the Bond Insurance Policy. Unless otherwise provided in a certificate of an Authorized Officer delivered to the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent on a Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, the failure to pay any such Purchase Price for Bonds of a subseries that have been tendered or deemed tendered for purchase from the source identified above shall not constitute an Event of Default under the Ordinance and in the case of such failure such Bonds shall not be purchased and shall remain in the Mode in effect immediately preceding such Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, as the case may be, unless such Mode is automatically converted to a Weekly Rate Mode pursuant to Section A-205 of the Ordinance; provided, however, that if such Bonds were in the Auction Rate Mode immediately preceding such Date, such Bonds shall remain in the Auction Rate Mode for an Auction Period and bearing an Auction Period Rate as provided in Section A-207(c)(7) of the Ordinance.

SECTION 8. <u>Purchase of Tendered Bonds by the Liquidity Facility Issuer; Deposits into the Liquidity Facility Purchase Account of the Purchase Fund; Notice to Paying Agent/Registrar and Tender Agent; Release of Bank Bonds</u>. Each Liquidity Facility Issuer, upon receipt of the

appropriate notice pursuant to the respective Liquidity Facility, has agreed in such Liquidity Facility to purchase such unremarketed Bonds of a subseries by causing an amount equal to the aggregate Purchase Price of the unremarketed Bonds to be deposited in immediately available funds in the Liquidity Facility Purchase Account of the Purchase Fund no later than 2:30 p.m., New York City time, on the Purchase Date against delivery of such Bonds at the time and in the manner set forth in such Liquidity Facility.

The Tender Agent agrees to hold Bank Bonds as agent of each Liquidity Facility Issuer and to release any Bank Bonds solely in accordance with Section A-409 of the Ordinance.

SECTION 9. <u>Disbursements from the Purchase Fund</u>. Money in each of the Remarketing Proceeds Account and the Liquidity Facility Purchase Account of the Purchase Fund shall be applied by the Tender Agent by 3:00 p.m., New York City time, on each Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date to purchase Bonds tendered to the Tender Agent at the Purchase Price in accordance with Appendix A of the Ordinance. Such Purchase Price shall be paid by wire transfer in immediately available funds on such Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date; provided, however, for so long as the Bonds are held in the Book-Entry System, such payment will be in accordance with the requirements of the Book-Entry System.

SECTION 10. <u>Transfer and Delivery of Tendered Bonds for Purchase</u>. A principal amount of Bonds equal to the principal amount of Bonds purchased on behalf of the Remarketing Agent pursuant to Sections 5 and 11 hereof or by a Liquidity Facility Issuer pursuant to Section 8 hereof shall be authenticated by the Tender Agent and delivered to, or as instructed by, the Remarketing Agent or the respective Liquidity Facility Issuer, as applicable, and the Tender Agent shall cause the Paying Agent/Registrar to register such Bonds in the name or names provided by the Remarketing Agent or the respective Liquidity Facility Issuer, as applicable. The Remarketing Agent is required to redeliver such Bonds received from the Tender Agent to the respective purchasers not later than 3:30 p.m., New York City time.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing paragraph, for so long as the Bonds are held in the system of book-entry of DTC in accordance with Section 3.09 of the Ordinance, (i) any Bond remarketed by the Remarketing Agent shall be delivered to the new beneficial owner thereof by a transfer in the book-entry system of DTC of such remarketed Bond to the applicable DTC Participant account for such beneficial owner; and (ii) Bank Bonds shall be delivered to the applicable Liquidity Facility Issuer by a transfer in the book-entry system of DTC of such Bank Bonds to the DTC Participant account of the Tender Agent for the benefit of such Liquidity Facility Issuer, as beneficial owner of such Bank Bonds.

SECTION 11. Remarketing of Bank Bonds. The Remarketing Agent has agreed in the Remarketing Agreement that it shall exercise its best efforts to solicit purchases of any Bank Bonds at a price of not less than 100% of the principal amount thereof, and upon receipt of the proceeds of any remarketing of such Bank Bonds the Tender Agent shall immediately pay such proceeds to or for the account of the related Liquidity Facility Issuer to the extent of any amount owing to such Liquidity Facility Issuer. Upon receipt by the Tender Agent of funds representing the proceeds of the remarketing of such Bank Bonds, new Bonds in place of such Bank Bonds so remarketed shall be registered in the names of the buyers thereof by the Paying Agent/Registrar and delivered by the Remarketing Agent to the buyers thereof and the proceeds of such

remarketing shall, prior to or simultaneously with such delivery, be transferred by the Tender Agent to the related Liquidity Facility Issuer by wire transfer.

SECTION 12. <u>Draws on Liquidity Facility</u>. Draws on any Liquidity Facility shall be made in accordance with the provisions of Section A-411 of the Ordinance.

SECTION 13. <u>Maintenance of Books and Records</u>. The Tender Agent agrees to keep such books and records as shall be consistent with prudent industry practice and to make such books and records available for inspection by the City, the related Credit Facility Issuer and the related Liquidity Facility Issuer at all reasonable times.

SECTION 14. <u>Notice</u>. Except as specifically provided in this Agreement and unless otherwise hereafter directed in writing by the applicable Person, all notices, demands and formal actions under this Agreement shall be in writing and mailed, telecommunicated or otherwise delivered to:

The Tender Agent: Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.

608 2nd Ave S

Minneapolis, MN 55479

Attention: REORG N9303-121 Telephone: (612) 316-2148 Telecopy: (612) 667-4927

with a copy to: Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.

201 Main St., Ste. 301 Fort Worth, TX 76102

Attention: Kathleen Wagner Telephone: (817) 334-7068 Telecopy: (817) 885-8650

E-mail: Kathleen.R.Wagner@wellsfargo.com

The City: City of Austin, Texas

700 Lavaca, Suite 940

Austin, TX 78701

Attention: City Treasurer
Telephone: (512) 974-7882
Telecopy: (512) 370-3838
E-mail: Art.Alfaro@ci.austin.tx.us

The Liquidity Facility Issuer:

With respect to the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds and the Subseries 2005-2 Bonds:

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association

Public Finance Credit Origination 383 Madison Avenue, 8th Floor

Mail Code NY1-M076 New York, NY 10179 Attention: David M. Bayer Phone: (212) 270-4186 Fax: (917) 546-2657

E-mail: public.finance.notices@jpmchase.com;

david.m.bayer@jpmchase.com

With a copy to: JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association

Loan and Agency Services 1111 Fannin, 10th Floor Houston, TX 77002 Mail Code: TX2-FO46

Attention: Amanda Brewer/Kimberly Brown Phone: (713) 427-0002 / (713) 750-2502

Fax: (713) 750-2956

and: JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association

Standby Letter of Credit Unit 131 South Dearborn, 5th Floor

Mail Code IL1-0236 Chicago, IL 60603-5506 Facsimile No.: (312) 954-6163

Telephone No.(800) 634-1969, Option 1

Attention: Standby Service Unit

With respect to the Subseries 2005-3

Bonds

KBC Bank N.V. New York Branch

1177 Avenue of the Americas

New York, NY 10036 Attention: Kevin Wood Telephone: (212) 541-0729

Telecopy: (212) 258-9404

With acopy to: KBC Bank N.V.

New York Branch

1177 Avenue of the Americas

New York, NY 10036

Attention: Marcos Tejada Telephone: (212) 541-0660 Telecopy: (212) 956-5580 With respect to the Subseries 2005-4 Royal Bank of Canada

Bonds

WFC Branch

Three World Financial Center

200 Vesey Street

New York, NY 10281-8098

Attention: Credit Transaction Management

(D. Stapleton)

Facsimile No.: (416) 842-4020

With a copy to:

Royal Bank of Canada

Three World Financial Center, 12th Floor

200 Vesey Street

New York, NY 10281-8098 Attention: Laurent Mastey Facsimile No.: (212) 428-6201

and:

Royal Bank of Canada Royal Bank Plaza South Tower, 12th Floor

200 Bay Street

Toronto, ON MSJ 2J5

Canada

Attention: Credit Transaction Management

(D. Stapleton)

Facsimile No.: (416) 842-4020

SECTION 15. General.

- Payment of Tender Agent: Indemnification. The City shall pay the annual Tender Agent fee and all reasonable and actual out of pocket expenses of the Tender Agent for acting under and pursuant to this Agreement as set forth in Annex A hereto. To the extent permitted by law, the City shall indemnify and save harmless the Tender Agent and its officers and employees from and against any and all losses, costs, charges, expenses, judgments and liabilities to third parties arising out of its acting in good faith to carry out the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; provided, however, that such indemnification shall not apply to any losses, costs, charges, expenses, judgments or liabilities caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of the Tender Agent or its officers or employees. The terms of this Section 15(a) shall survive the termination of this Agreement and the payment of the all fees, expenses and amounts due hereunder shall be subject to annual appropriation of available funds by the City for the payment thereof.
- (b) Tender Agent's Performance: Duty of Care. The Tender Agent consents and agrees to (i) hold all sums held by it for the payment of Bonds or Bank Bonds, as applicable, in trust for the benefit of the Owners or the related Liquidity Facility Issuer, as applicable, until such sums shall be paid to the Owners or the related Liquidity Facility Issuer or otherwise disposed of as herein provided, and (ii) perform and comply with all the terms and provisions on its part contained in this Agreement.

The duties and obligations of the Tender Agent shall be determined solely by the express provisions of this Agreement and the Ordinance, and no implied covenants or obligations shall be read into this Agreement against the Tender Agent; and in the absence of negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the Tender Agent, the Tender Agent may conclusively rely, as to the truth of the statements expressed therein, upon any document furnished to the Tender Agent and conforming to the requirements of this Agreement and the Tender Agent may rely and shall be protected in acting upon any document believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties; but in the case of any such document which by any provision hereof is specifically required to be furnished to the Tender Agent, the Tender Agent shall be under a duty to examine the same to determine whether or not it conforms to the requirements of this Agreement.

No provision of this Agreement shall be construed to relieve the Tender Agent from liability for its own negligence or willful misconduct or that of its officers or employees.

- (c) <u>Payments</u>. Any provision of this Agreement or any statute to the contrary notwithstanding, the Tender Agent hereby waives any rights to, or liens for, its fees, charges and expenses for services hereunder from funds or obligations credited to the Purchase Fund. The Tender Agent agrees that it will be reimbursed and compensated for its fees, charges and expenses for acting under and pursuant to this Agreement only from payments to be made by the City pursuant to Section 15(a) hereof.
- (d) <u>Term of this Agreement</u>. This Agreement shall become effective upon the effective date of the Letters of Credit and shall remain in full force and effect until (i) such time as the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on all Bonds under the Ordinance shall have been paid or shall no longer have the right to be tendered for purchase; provided, however, that the City and the Tender Agent shall have fulfilled all their respective obligations hereunder, whereupon this Agreement shall terminate; or (ii) resignation by the Tender Agent or removal of the Tender Agent in accordance with Section 15(e) hereof, it being understood, in each case, that the Tender Agent does not waive or relinquish any rights it may have under Section 15(a) hereof.
- (e) Resignation by or Removal of the Tender Agent. The Tender Agent may at any time resign and be discharged from the duties and obligations hereby created by giving at least sixty (60) days' written notice by first class mail, postage prepaid, to the City, the related Credit Facility Issuer and the related Liquidity Facility Issuer; provided, that resignation or removal (as set out below) shall not be effective until a successor Tender Agent, which shall be a bank or trust company duly qualified to act in the capacity as a successor Tender Agent, shall have been appointed by the City and acting under the Ordinance. The Tender Agent may be removed at any time, at the direction of the City, by an instrument filed with the Tender Agent and the Remarketing Agent.
- (f) <u>Amendments</u>. (i) This Agreement may not be amended so as to adversely affect the right of the Owners or any Liquidity Facility Issuer to effect the purchase of Bonds pursuant to the Ordinance without the prior written approval of each effected Liquidity Facility Issuer and (ii) the City agrees to give to the Tender Agent prompt written notice of any modification or change of or supplement or amendment to the Ordinance which would affect the rights or

obligations of the Tender Agent hereunder. No such modification or change shall be effective against the Tender Agent unless the Tender Agent shall have consented thereto in writing.

- (g) <u>Successors and Assigns</u>. The rights, duties and obligations of the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Remarketing Agent and the Tender Agent hereunder shall inure, without further act, to their respective successors and permitted assigns; provided, however, that the Tender Agent may not assign or delegate its rights and obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the City and, provided further, any successor Tender Agent shall execute a tender agent agreement substantially in the form and substance as this Agreement.
- (h) <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, with the same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument.
- (i) <u>Limited Liability</u>. Any obligation of the City created by or arising out of this Agreement and owing to the Tender Agent shall be a limited unsecured obligation of the City, payable solely from the Net Revenues of the Airport System, in accordance with the customary payment approval procedures, policies and processes of the City.
- (j) <u>Governing Law</u>. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Texas.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed and delivered as of the date first above written by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized.

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. as Tender Agent

By:
Title:
CITY OF AUSTIN, TEXAS
By
Name:
TP'41

ANNEX A

FEES OF THE TENDER AGENT



SCHEDULE OF FEES

City of Austin, Texas Airport System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2005, Subseries 2005-1; 2005-2; 2005-3; 2005-4

TO ACT AS TENDER AGENT

Acceptance Fee: \$0.00

Initial Fees as they relate to Wells Fargo Bank acting in the capacity of Paying Agent/Registrar – includes creation and examination of the Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement; acceptance of the appointment; setting up of Paying Agent/Registrar records and accounting records; and coordination of closing.

Acceptance Fee payable at time of Tender Agency Agreement execution.

Annual Tender Agent Fee:

\$1,000.00

Out of Pocket Expenses and Activity Fees:

We only charge for out of pocket expenses in response to specific tasks assigned by the client. Therefore, we cannot anticipate what specific out-of-pocket items will be needed or what corresponding expenses will be incurred. Possible expenses would be, but are not limited to, express mail and messenger charges, travel expenses to attend closing or other meetings. There are no charges for indirect out-of- pocket expenses. Conversion fees from existing structure to Variable Rate Series will be \$250 for each series and there will be a \$100 charge for each optional tender notice.

This fee schedule is based upon the assumptions listed above which pertain to the responsibilities and risks involved in Wells Fargo undertaking the role of Paying Agent/Registrar. These assumptions are based on information provided to us as of the date of this fee schedule. Our fee schedule is subject to review and acceptance of the final documents. Should any of the assumptions, duties or responsibilities change, we reserve the right to affirm, modify or rescind our fee schedule.

Submitted by: Gregory M. Hasty – April 23, 2008

Vice President/Business Development

Wells Fargo Bank (214) 740-1548

EXHIBIT F			
	[Secondary Market Information Circular]		

SECONDARY MARKET INFORMATION CIRCULAR

relating to

\$248,350,000 City of Austin, Texas Airport System Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 2005

consisting of

<u>Subseries</u> <u>Bank</u>

\$62,075,000 Variable Rate Demand Bonds, Sub-Series 2005-1 \$62,050,000 Variable Rate Demand Bonds, Sub-Series 2005-2 \$62,100,000 Variable Rate Demand Bonds, Sub-Series 2005-3 \$62,125,000 Variable Rate Demand Bonds, Sub-Series 2005-4 JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. KBC Bank, New York Branch Royal Bank of Canada, WFC, New York, Branch

This Secondary Market Information Circular ("Information Circular") has been prepared for use by the Remarketing Agent with respect to the above-referenced bonds (the "Series 2005 Bonds") and supplements the Remarketing Memorandum dated April 24, 2008 (the "2008 Remarketing Memorandum") relating to the Series 2005 Bonds. Subseries 2005-1 of the Series 2005 Bonds was remarketed on May 21, 2008. Sub-Series 2005-2 of the Series 2005 Bonds was remarketed on May 28, 2008. Sub-Series 2005-3 of the Series 2005 Bonds was remarketed on May 7, 2008. Subseries 2005-4 of the Series 2005 Bonds was remarketed on May 14, 2008. All terms not otherwise defined herein have the meanings given such terms in the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum.

The City of Austin, Texas (the "City") intends to substitute four separate direct-pay letters of credit, each constituting a Direct-Pay Credit Facility and a Liquidity Facility, for the existing Liquidity Facility. Such substitution will take place on June 21, 2011 (the "Tender Date"). The Series 2005 Bonds will be subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the Tender Date.

This Information Circular describes the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement dated as of June 1, 2011 between the City and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. ("JPM"), with respect to Sub-Series 2005-1 and Sub-Series 2005-2 of the Series 2005 Bonds, the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement dated as of June 1, 2011 between the City and KBC Bank, N.V., acting through its New York Branch ("KBC"), with respect to Sub-Series 2005-3 of the Series 2005 Bonds, and the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement dated as of June 1, 2011 between the City and Royal Bank of Canada ("Royal Bank"), acting through its WFC, New York, Branch, with respect to Sub-Series 2005-4 of the Series 2005 Bonds (each such agreement a "Reimbursement Agreement" and collectively, the "Reimbursement Agreements"), that will be executed and delivered on or before the Tender Date. JPM, KBC and Royal Bank are individually referred to herein as a "Bank" and collectively referred to herein as the "Banks". The Banks will each issue a letter of credit with respect to the particular Sub-Series of Series 2005 Bonds, as provided in the respective Reimbursement Agreement, in the amount of \$63,156,636.00, in the case of JPM with respect to Sub-Series 2005-1 of the Series 2005 Bonds, in the amount of \$63,131,200.00, in the case of JPM with respect to Sub-Series 2005-2 of the Series 2005 Bonds, in the amount of \$63,182,072.00, in the case of KBC with respect to Sub-Series 2005-3 of the Series 2005 Bonds, and in the amount of \$63,207,507.00, in the case of Royal Bank with respect to Sub-Series 2005-4 of the Series 2005 Bonds (individually, a "Letter of Credit" and collectively, the "Letters of Credit"), that will be delivered on the Tender Date. Each Letter of Credit is calculated on the basis of the currently outstanding principal amount of the Sub-Series of 2005 Bonds for which it is issued, plus fifty-three (53) days accrued interest thereon at the rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum calculated on the basis of a 365/366 day year. Each Letter of Credit will expire on June 21, 2014, unless extended or terminated sooner in accordance with the terms of the respective Reimbursement Agreement. See "REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENTS" herein. The Letters of Credit also are referred to in this Information Circular as the "Credit Facility".

Pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreements, payment of principal of and interest on the Series 2005 Bonds will be effected through draws upon the Letters of Credit. Pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreements, payment of the purchase price of each Series 2005 Bond tendered for purchase pursuant to the Ordinance and not remarketed will be payable, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, from funds drawn under the respective Letters of Credit to be paid by the Banks. Series 2005 Bonds tendered for purchase will be paid first, from the proceeds of remarketing, if any, and second, from a Liquidity Drawing on a Letter of Credit. Each Bank is severally liable solely with respect to the purchase price of the Series 2005 Bonds for which it is obligated and not for any other Series 2005 Bonds, and the Banks are not jointly liable for payment of the purchase price of the Series 2005 Bonds. The City has no obligation to purchase tendered Series 2005 Bonds. See "REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENTS" herein.

This cover page contains certain information for general reference only. It is not intended to be a summary of this transaction. Investors are advised to read the entire Information Circular (including without limitation the information described herein under "THE CITY; DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE") in conjunction with the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum to obtain information essential to making an informed investment decision with respect to the Series 2005 Bonds.

Morgan Stanley & Co Incorporated, as Remarketing Agent

The date of this Information Circular to the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum is June 14, 2011.

The summary information set forth below applies to the Series 2005 Bonds only while the Series 2005 Bonds bear interest at the Weekly Rate. The City has reserved the right in the Ordinance to convert the interest rate mode on the Series 2005 Bonds to permit the interest rate to be determined on a basis other than the Weekly Rate. This information is qualified by reference to the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum, and investors should review the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum, as supplemented by this Information Circular, in its entirety before making any investment decisions with respect to the Series 2005 Bonds.

	Sub-Series 2005-1	Sub-Series 2005-2	Sub-Series 2005-3	Sub-Series 2005-4
Maturity Date:	November 15, 2025	November 15, 2025	November 15, 2025	November 15, 2025
Principal Amount:	\$62,075,000	\$62,050,000	\$62,100,000	\$62,125,000
CUSIP No.:	052398DR2	052398DS0	052398DT8	052398DU5
Initial Interest Period:	Weekly	Weekly	Weekly	Weekly
Interest Payment Dates Generally:	First Business Day of each Month	First Business Day of each Month	First Business Day of each Month	First Business Day of each Month
Initial Credit/Liquidity Provider:	JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.	JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.	KBC Bank, New York Branch	Royal Bank of Canada, WFC, New York, Branch
Expiration Date of Letter of Credit:	June 21, 2014	June 21, 2014	June 21, 2014	June 21, 2014
Initial Short-Term Ratings:	Moody's: P-1 S&P: A-1 + Fitch: F1+	Moody's: P-1 S&P: A-1 + Fitch: F1+	Moody's: P-1 S&P: A-1 Fitch: F1	Moody's: P-1 S&P: A-1 Fitch: F1+
Initial Long-Term Ratings:	Moody's: Aa1 S&P: AA- Fitch: AA-	Moody's: Aa1 S&P: AA- Fitch: AA-	Moody's: Aa3 S&P: A Fitch: A	Moody's: Aa1 S&P: AA- Fitch: AA

REGARDING USE OF THIS INFORMATION CIRCULAR

This Information Circular has been prepared with respect to the Series 2005 Bonds only.

This Information Circular does not constitute a reoffering or a solicitation of a reoffering of the Series 2005 Bonds, nor shall there be any such reoffering, in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to do so. No dealer, salesman or any other person has been authorized to give any information other than that contained in this Information Circular or to make any representations and, if given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the City, the Remarketing Agent, the Banks or any other person.

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., in each of its capacities as Paying Agent/Registrar and Tender Agent, has not participated in the preparation of this Information Circular and assumes no responsibility for its content.

The information contained in Appendix A to this Information Circular pertaining to each Bank has been provided by the applicable Bank. The Remarketing Agent has reviewed the information in this Information Circular in accordance with, and as part of, its responsibilities to investors under federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Remarketing Agent does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.

Neither the City, its Financial Advisor, the Remarketing Agent nor the Banks make any representation or warranty with respect to the information contained in this Information Circular under the caption "BOND INSURANCE" regarding Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. ("AGM") or its policy, as such information has been furnished by AGM.

The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Information Circular nor any remarketing of the Series 2005 Bonds by the Remarketing Agent shall, under any circumstances, create an implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the City, the Banks or any other person or in the other matters described herein.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	<u>Page</u>
PURPOSE OF THIS INFORMATION CIRCULAR	1
REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENTS	2
CANCELLATION AGREEMENT	
SWAP MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT	9
BOND INSURANCE	10
CREDIT AGREEMENT	11
THE REMARKETING AGENT	12
RATINGS	13
THE CITY; DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE	14
MISCELLÁNEOUS	19
APPENDIX A - INFORMATION REGARDING THE BANKS	
APPENDIX B – REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT DEFINED TERMS	B-1
APPENDIX C – 2008 REMARKETING MEMORANDUM	
APPENDIX D – AMENDMENTS TO MULTI-MODAL PROVISIONS	D-1
APPENDIX E – CERTAIN REVISIONS TO 2008 REMARKETING MEMOMARANDUM	

SECONDARY MARKET INFORMATION CIRCULAR

relating to

\$248,350,000 City of Austin, Texas Airport System Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 2005

consisting of

Subseries

\$62,075,000 Variable Rate Demand Bonds, Sub-Series 2005-1 \$62,050,000 Variable Rate Demand Bonds, Sub-Series 2005-2 \$62,100,000 Variable Rate Demand Bonds, Sub-Series 2005-3 \$62,125,000 Variable Rate Demand Bonds, Sub-Series 2005-4

Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum relating to the Series 2005 Bonds described below. Investors are advised to read this Information Circular in conjunction with the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum referenced below to obtain information essential to making an informed investment decision with respect to the Series 2005 Bonds.

PURPOSE OF THIS INFORMATION CIRCULAR

This Information Circular has been prepared for use by the Remarketing Agent with respect to the above-referenced Series 2005 Bonds (the "Series 2005 Bonds") and supplements the Remarketing Memorandum dated May 5, 2008 (the "2008 Remarketing Memorandum") relating to the Series 2005 Bonds. Sub-Series 2005-1 of the Series 2005 Bonds was remarketed on May 21, 2008. Sub-Series 2005-2 of the Series 2005 Bonds was remarketed on May 28, 2008. Sub-Series 2005-3 of the Series 2005 Bonds was remarketed on May 7, 2008. Sub-Series 2005-4 of the Series 2005 Bonds was remarketed on May 14, 2008.

The Series 2005 Bonds were issued by the City of Austin, Texas (the "City" or the "Issuer") pursuant to the ordinance adopted by the City on August 4, 2005, as amended and supplemented on May 26, 2011 (the "Ordinance").

The City intends to substitute four separate direct-pay letters of credit, each constituting a Direct-Pay Credit Facility and a Liquidity Facility, for the existing Liquidity Facility issued in support of the Series 2005 Bonds. Such substitution will take place on June 21, 2011 (the "Tender Date"). The Series 2005 Bonds will be subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the Tender Date.

This Information Circular describes the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement dated as of June 1, 2011 between the City and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. ("JPM"), with respect to Sub-Series 2005-1 and Sub-Series 2005-2 of the Series 2005 Bonds, the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement dated as of June 1, 2011 between the City and KBC Bank, acting through its New York Branch ("KBC"), with respect to Sub-Series 2005-3 of the Series 2005 Bonds, and the Letter of Credit and Reimbursement Agreement dated as of June 1, 2011 between the City and Royal Bank of Canada ("Royal Bank"), acting through its WFC, New York, Branch, with respect to Sub-Series 2005-4 of the Series 2005 Bonds (each such agreement a "Reimbursement Agreement" and collectively, the "Reimbursement Agreements"), that will be executed and delivered on or before the Tender Date. JPM, KBC and Royal Bank are individually referred to herein as a "Bank" and collectively referred to herein as the "Banks". The Banks will each issue a letter of credit with

respect to the particular Sub-Series of Series 2005 Bonds, as provided in the respective Reimbursement Agreement, in the amount of \$63,156,636.00, in the case of JPM with respect to Sub-Series 2005-1 of the Series 2005 Bonds, in the amount of \$63,131,200.00, in the case of JPM with respect to Sub-Series 2005-2 of the Series 2005 Bonds, in the amount of \$63,182,072.00, in the case of KBC with respect to Sub-Series 2005-3 of the Series 2005 Bonds, and in the amount of \$63,207,507.00, in the case of Royal Bank with respect to Sub-Series 2005-4 of the Series 2005 Bonds (individually, a "Letter of Credit" and collectively, the "Letters of Credit"), that will be delivered on the Tender Date. Each Letter of Credit is calculated on the basis of the currently outstanding principal amount of the Sub-Series of Series 2005 Bonds for which it is issued, plus fifty-three (53) days accrued interest thereon at the rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum calculated on the basis of a 365/366 day year. Each Letter of Credit will expire on June 21, 2014, unless extended or terminated sooner in accordance with the terms of the respective Reimbursement Agreement. See "REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENTS" herein. The Letter of Credit also is referred to in this Information Circular as the "Credit Facility".

Pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreements, payment of principal of and interest on the Series 2005 Bonds will be effected through draws upon the Letters of Credit. Pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreements, payment of the purchase price of each Series 2005 Bond tendered for purchase pursuant to the Ordinance and not remarketed will be payable, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, from funds drawn under the respective Letters of Credit to be paid by the Banks. Series 2005 Bonds tendered for purchase will be paid first, from the proceeds of remarketing, if any, and second, from a Liquidity Drawing on a Letter of Credit. Each Bank is severally liable solely with respect to the purchase price of the Series 2005 Bonds for which it is obligated and not for any other Series 2005 Bonds, and the Banks are not jointly liable for payment of the purchase price of the Series 2005 Bonds. The City has no obligation to purchase tendered Series 2005 Bonds. See "REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENTS" herein.

The substitution of the Letters of Credit for the existing Liquidity Facility issued in support of the Series 2005 Bonds resulted in amendments to the Authorizing Ordinance adopted by the City. See "APPENDIX D—AMENDMENTS TO MULTI-MODAL PROVISIONS" to this Information Circular for a description of those amendments. The substitution of the Letters of Credit for the existing Liquidity Facility resulted in certain descriptions in the 2008 Remarketing Agreement being superseded for so long as the Letters of Credit remain in effect. See "APPENDIX E—CERTAIN REVISIONS TO 2008 REMARKETING MEMORANDUM" to this Information Circular for a description of those changes.

REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENTS

The Letters of Credit issued by JPM under the terms of the Reimbursement Agreement relating to Sub-Series 2005-1 and Sub-Series 2005-2 of the Series 2005 Bonds, the Letter of Credit issued by KBC under the terms of the Reimbursement Agreement relating to Sub-Series 2005-3 of the Series 2005 Bonds, and the Letter of Credit issued by Royal Bank under the terms of the Reimbursement Agreement relating to Sub-Series 2005-4 of the Series 2005 Bonds, provide credit and liquidity support only for the Sub-Series of the Series 2005 Bonds covered by each Letter of Credit. The terms and conditions of the Reimbursement Agreement relating to each Letter of Credit issued in respect to a Sub-Series of the Series 2005 Bonds are substantially the same. The following summary of the Reimbursement Agreements does not purport to be comprehensive or definitive and is subject to all the terms and provisions of the Reimbursement Agreements to which reference is made hereby. Investors are urged to obtain and review a copy of the Reimbursement Agreements in order to understand all of the terms of those documents. Copies of the Reimbursement Agreements may be obtained from the City or from the City's Financial Advisor, Public Financial Management, Inc. Austin, Texas. See "APPENDIX A—INFORMATION REGARDING THE BANKS" for certain information regarding the Banks. Certain defined terms used in this section of the Offering Circular have the meanings given said terms in "APPENDIX B—REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT DEFINED TERMS".

General

Upon compliance with the terms and conditions of each Reimbursement Agreement, and subject to the terms and conditions set forth therein, the Banks are each obligated, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions precedent, to provide funds for the purchase of the particular Sub-Series of the Series 2005 Bonds that are tendered for purchase and not remarketed, whether at the option of the owner of such Sub-Series of the Series 2005 Bonds or upon mandatory tender for purchase. The Banks are not jointly liable for payment of the Purchase Price of the Series 2005 Bonds, and neither Bank is liable for payment of the Purchase Price of any of the Series 2005 Bonds in excess of its particular percentage.

The Paying Agent is authorized to make drawings for the scheduled payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds of any Sub-Series (each, a "Credit Drawing"). The Tender Agent is authorized to make a drawing for the payment of the purchase price of the Bonds bearing interest at the Weekly Rate that have been tendered and not remarketed (each, a "Liquidity Drawing"), subject to certain conditions set forth in the Letters of Credit and in the Reimbursement Agreement in respect to the Sub-Series of the Series 2005 Bonds to which the Letter of Credit is applicable.

Each Liquidity Drawing shall constitute an advance (a "Liquidity Advance") under a Letter of Credit. In each Reimbursement Agreement, the City promises to reimburse each Bank for the interest portion of each Liquidity Advance (as a result of a Liquidity Drawing under the applicable Letter of Credit) on the earliest to occur of (A) the next succeeding Interest Payment Date, (B) the date on which the applicable Letter of Credit is replaced by a Substitute Credit Facility pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance, (C) the date on which any Sub-Series of Series 2005 Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the applicable Letter of Credit in connection with such Liquidity Drawing are redeemed, prepaid or canceled pursuant to the Ordinance, (D) the date on which any Sub-Series of Series 2005 Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the applicable Letter of Credit in connection with such Liquidity Drawing are remarketed or deemed remarketed pursuant to the Ordinance, (E) the Conversion Date with respect to all of the Series 2005 Bonds supported by the applicable Letter of Credit, and (F) the termination of the applicable Letter of Credit pursuant to the terms of the applicable Reimbursement Agreement. In each Reimbursement Agreement, the City promises to reimburse each Bank for the principal portion of each Liquidity Advance under its applicable Letter of Credit on the earliest to occur of (A) the date on which the applicable Letter of Credit is replaced by a Substitute Credit Facility pursuant to the terms of the Ordinance, (B) the date on which any Sub-Series of Series 2005 Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the applicable Letter of Credit in connection with such Liquidity Advance are redeemed, prepaid or canceled pursuant to the Ordinance, (C) the date on which any Sub-Series of Series 2005 Bonds purchased with funds disbursed under the applicable Letter of Credit in connection with such Liquidity Advance are remarketed or deemed remarketed pursuant to the Ordinance, (D) the date which is one (1) Business Day following the Conversion Date with respect to all of the Series 2005 Bonds supported by the applicable Letter of Credit, and (E) if on the Amortization Commencement Date the Bond Policy is no longer in effect and the Conditions Precedent are not satisfied, the Amortization Commencement Date.

The Sub-Series of the Series 2005 Bonds purchased by a Bank ("Bank Bonds") shall bear interest at the rates set forth in the Reimbursement Agreement applicable to such Sub-Series and shall be repaid as provided therein. All Liquidity Drawings and Credit Drawings shall be made under the applicable Letter of Credit in accordance with its terms. The City has directed the Banks to make payments under the applicable Letter of Credit in the manner provided therein. The City's obligation to repay the principal portion of each Liquidity Advance and to pay interest thereon shall be evidenced and secured by the Bank Bonds.

Unless otherwise paid in full on one of the dates provided above, the principal portion of each Liquidity Advance shall be payable by the City in semiannual installments ("Semiannual Principal Payments") on each Amortization Payment Date, with the final installment in an amount equal to the entire then outstanding principal amount of such Liquidity Advance due and payable on the Amortization End Date (the period commencing on the Amortization Commencement Date and ending on the Amortization End Date is

herein referred to as the "Amortization Period"). Each Semiannual Principal Payment shall be that amount of principal which will result in equal (as nearly as possible) Semiannual Principal Payments over the applicable Amortization Period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if an Amortization End Date is changed in accordance with the proviso to clause (b) of the definition of "Amortization End Date" (as a result of the Bond Policy being terminated after the related Amortization Commencement Date), the Amortization Period shall be adjusted to reflect the new Amortization End Date and each Semiannual Principal Payment due over the remaining term of the adjusted Amortization Period shall be that amount of principal which will result in equal (as nearly as possible) Semiannual Principal Payments over the remaining term of the adjusted Amortization Period.

If, however, at the time of payment by the Bank of any Liquidity Drawing the Bond Policy is no longer in effect and the Conditions Precedent are not satisfied, then all amounts of such Liquidity Drawing for which a Bank has not been reimbursed at the close of business of the day of the Bank's payment of such Liquidity Drawing shall be immediately due and payable and shall accrue interest at the Default Rate.

A Letter of Credit will terminate on the earliest of (i) the Stated Termination Date; (ii) the date which is one (1) Business Day following the date on which all of the Series 2005 Bonds of a Sub-Series are converted to bear interest at a rate other than a Weekly Rate; (iii) the date which is one (1) Business Day following receipt by the Bank of a certificate stating that the Sub-Series of the Series 2005 Bonds are no longer outstanding, the Available Amount has been reduced to zero and may not be reinstated, or a Substitute Credit Facility has been provided; (iv) the date on which a Stated Maturity Drawing (as defined in each Letter of Credit) is honored; (v) the date which is sixteen (16) days following receipt by the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent of a written notice specifying the occurrence of a City Event of Default and the applicable Bank directing the Tender Agent to cause a mandatory tender of the Bonds in accordance with the Ordinance (but only with the written consent of the Insurer so long as the Bond Policy is in full force and effect and no Insurer Event of Default has occurred).

City Events of Default

The following constitute City Events of Default under each Reimbursement Agreement:

- (a) (i) any principal or interest evidenced by the Series 2005 Bonds or the Bank Bonds is not paid when due or (ii) any Drawing or any Liquidity Advance is not paid when due; or
- (b) any representation or warranty made by the City in the Reimbursement Agreement or any other Financing Document shall prove to be untrue in any material respect on the date as of which it was made; or
- (c) nonpayment of any amounts payable under the Reimbursement Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement when due (other than amounts referred to in (a) above), if such failure to pay when due shall continue for six (6) Business Days; or
- (d) failure of the City to observe or perform the covenants set forth in the Reimbursement Agreement relating to the occurrence of a Default or City Event of Default under a Reimbursement Agreement, any default under any other Financing Document to which the City is a party, or any filing by the City of a petition in bankruptcy; litigation with respect to the City or the Airport System; the City maintaining its corporate existence; the City notifying each Bank within ten (10) Business Days of the filing of any action in a court of competent jurisdiction reasonably likely to lead to the material diminution or reallocation of Net Revenues or funds received by the City under any Swap Contract relating to the Series 2005 Bonds and payable from Net Revenues, or any other event likely to have a material adverse effect on the financial condition or operations of the Airport System or the ability of the City to perform its obligations under the Reimbursement Agreement or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party; the City

maintaining insurance at prescribed levels; conversions and replacements of credit facilities; sovereign immunity; maintaining financial institutions acceptable to the Banks as Tender Agent, Paying Agent/Registrar and Remarketing Agent; replacing or funding the Debt Service Reserve Fund in an amount equal to the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement over an eighteen month period with cash in the event the financial strength rating of the Insurer is reduced below A3 or is withdrawn or suspended for credit related reasons by Moody's and is reduced below A- or is withdrawn or suspended for credit related reasons by S&P; and enumerated negative covenants.

- (e) default in the due observance or performance by the City of any other term, covenant or agreement set forth in the Reimbursement Agreement (not covered in clauses (a), (c) or (d) above) and the continuance of such default for thirty (30) days after the earlier to occur of (i) the City obtaining actual knowledge thereof or (ii) receipt by the City of notice thereof from the Bank; or
- (f) the Ordinance shall terminate or cease to be of full force and effect, other than as a result of any prepayment in full of all of the Bonds or provision for such prepayment in full in accordance with the Ordinance; or any provision of the Ordinance relating to the security for the Series 2005 Bonds or the Obligations, the City's ability to pay the Obligations or perform its obligations hereunder or the rights and remedies of the Bank, or any other material provision of the Ordinance or of any other Financing Document to which the City is a party, shall cease to be in full force or effect, or the City or any Person acting on behalf of the City shall deny or disaffirm the City's obligations under the Ordinance or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party; or
- (g) (i) the City shall commence any case, proceeding or other action (A) under any existing or future law of any jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or relief of debtors, seeking to have an order for relief entered with respect to it, or seeking to adjudicate the City as bankrupt or insolvent, or seeking reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, winding-up, liquidation, dissolution, composition or other relief with respect to the City or its debts, or (B) seeking appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or for all or any substantial part of its assets, or the City shall make a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or (ii) there shall be commenced against the City any case, proceeding or other action of a nature referred to in clause (i) above which (x) results in an order for such relief or in the appointment of a receiver or similar official or (y) remains undismissed, undischarged or unbonded for a period of sixty (60) days; or (iii) there shall be commenced against the City any case, proceeding or other action seeking issuance of a warrant of attachment, execution, distraint or similar process against all or any substantial part of its assets, which results in the entry of an order for any such relief which shall not have been vacated, discharged, or stayed or bonded pending appeal within sixty (60) days from the entry thereof, or (iv) the City shall take any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, approval of, or acquiescence in, any of the acts set forth in clause (i), (ii) or (iii) above; or (v) the City shall generally not, or shall be unable to, or so admit in writing its inability to, pay its debts; or
- (h) the City or a governmental authority of competent jurisdiction shall have declared or announced a moratorium (whether or not in writing) with respect to any debt or Payment Obligation payable from Net Revenues; or
- (i) any final, non-appealable judgment or judgments, writ or writs or warrant or warrants of attachment, or any similar process or processes in an aggregate amount of \$5,000,000 or more, payable from Net Revenues, shall be entered or filed against the City, and shall remain unvacated, unbonded or unstayed for a period of sixty (60) days; or

- (j) any "event of default" shall occur under the Ordinance or under any other Financing Document; or
- (k) the long-term unenhanced rating assigned to any of the City's debt is reduced below "Baa2" by Moody's or below "BBB" by S&P or is suspended or withdrawn by Moody's or S&P; or
- (l) except as otherwise provided in the Reimbursement Agreements, the Bond Policy is canceled or terminated or the Insurer is replaced with another insurer or the terms of the Bond Policy are amended or modified in any respect which, in the sole discretion of the Banks, would have an adverse effect on the rights or security of the Banks, in any case, which was (i) not at the direction of the Banks or (ii) without the prior written consent of the Banks.
- (m) the City shall (i) default in any payment of any principal or premium of or interest on any of the City's long-term indebtedness in the amount of \$5,000,000 or more payable from Net Revenues (other than the Series 2005 Bonds, the Liquidity Drawings and the Liquidity Advances) beyond the period of grace, if any, provided in the instrument or agreement under which such long-term indebtedness was created; or (ii) default in the observance or performance of any agreement or condition relating to any such long-term indebtedness payable from Net Revenues or contained in any instrument or agreement evidencing, securing or relating thereto, or any other event shall occur or condition exist, the effect of which default or other event or condition is to cause, or to permit the holder or holders of such long-term indebtedness (or a trustee or agent on behalf of such holder or holders) to cause (determined without regard to whether any notice is required), any such long-term indebtedness to become due prior to its stated maturity; or
- (n) (i) a court or other governmental authority with jurisdiction to rule on the validity of the Reimbursement Agreement, the Ordinance or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party shall find, announce or rule that any material provision of the Reimbursement Agreement or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party, or any provision of the Ordinance, relating to the security for the Series 2005 Bonds or the Obligations, the City's ability to pay the Obligations or perform its obligations under the Reimbursement Agreements or the rights and remedies of the Banks under the respective Reimbursement Agreement or any other Financing Document, is not a valid and binding agreement of the City; or (ii) the City shall contest the validity or enforceability of the Reimbursement Agreements, any other Financing Document to which the City is a party or any provision of the Ordinance relating to the security for the Series 2005 Bonds or the Obligations, the City's ability to pay the Obligations or perform its obligations under the Reimbursement Agreements or the rights and remedies of the respective Bank under the respective Reimbursement Agreement or any other Financing Document; or (iii) the City or any other Person acting on behalf of the City shall seek an adjudication that the Reimbursement Agreements, any other Financing Document to which the City is a party or any provision of the Ordinance relating to the security for the Series 2005 Bonds or the Obligations, the City's ability to pay the Obligations or perform its obligations under the Reimbursement Agreements or the rights and remedies of the respective Bank under the respective Reimbursement Agreement or any other Financing Document to which the City is a party, is not valid and binding on the City.

Rights and Remedies

If a City Event of Default shall have occurred, the Banks may exercise any one or more of the following rights and remedies in addition to any other remedies provided by law:

(a) give written notice of the occurrence of any City Event of Default to the Paying Agent, with a copy to the City and the Tender Agent, and, with the consent of the Required Banks, direct the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Series 2005 Bonds as provided in the Reimbursement Agreements, thereby causing the Letters of Credit to terminate on the date

specified by the Banks in such notice, which date shall be the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent's receipt of such notice, and the Bond Policy to terminate in accordance with the provisions of the Cancellation Agreement, in which case the City and the Banks shall take such action as shall be necessary to effect such termination pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement; provided, however, if an Insurer Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Banks may direct the City and the Paying Agent that the Bond Policy shall not be terminated;

- (b) pursue any rights and remedies it may have under the Financing Documents subject to the terms thereof, including, instituting suit, actions or proceedings to enforce their rights under the Ordinance; or
- (c) pursue any other action available at law or in equity either for specific performance of any covenant or agreement contained in the Reimbursement Agreements or in aid of execution of any power granted by the Reimbursement Agreements or for the enforcement of any proper legal remedy; or
- (d) declare all Obligations to be immediately due and payable, without any further notice of any kind, notice being waived by the City (unless such automatic acceleration is waived by the Bank in writing);

provided, however, that in the case of the foregoing clauses (b) and (c), a Bank shall not exercise any such rights and remedies or pursue such other actions, including directions or remedies under the Ordinance, without the consent of the Insurer unless the following conditions are met: (i) the Bond Policy is no longer in effect and (ii) unless an Insurer Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Insurer has been paid all amounts due and payable to it in which event, the Insurer's rights derived through subrogation or assignment shall continue in full force and effect; and provided further, notwithstanding the condition set forth in clause (a) of the foregoing proviso, if an Insurer Ordinance Event of Default has occurred, the Banks may, while the Bond Policy is in effect, exercise any such rights and remedies and pursue such other actions, including directions or remedies under the Ordinance. If a Bank, with the consent of the Required Banks, shall have directed the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Series 2005 Bonds pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreements, the Bank will (unless an Insurer Event of Default has occurred and the Bank has directed the City and the Paying Agent that the Bond Policy shall not be terminated) satisfy at the earliest time practicable all applicable conditions to the effectiveness of termination of the Bond Policy pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement and direct the Paying Agent not to draw on the Bond Policy during the period between the Banks directing the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Series 2005 Bonds and the effectiveness of termination of the Bond Policy. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, the Insurer's right to enforce certain of the respective Bank's covenants set forth in each Reimbursement Agreement shall survive any termination of other rights of the Insurer.

In addition, each Bank may pursue any rights and remedies it may have under the Ordinance subject to the terms of the Ordinance, or pursue any other action available at law or in equity either for specific performance of any covenant or agreement contained in the Reimbursement Agreement to which it is a party or in aid of execution of any power granted therein.

Mandatory Tender upon Insurer Event of Default or Insurer Downgrade

In accordance with the terms of each Reimbursement Agreement, if an Insurer Event of Default or an Insurer Downgrade Event shall have occurred each Bank may give written notice to the Paying Agent, with a copy to the City and the Tender Agent, of the occurrence of an Insurer Event of Default or an Insurer Downgrade Event, as applicable, and, with the consent of the Required Banks, direct the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Series 2005 Bonds in accordance with the Ordinance, thereby causing the Bond Policy to terminate in accordance with the terms of the Cancellation Agreement on the date specified in such notice, which date shall be the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent's receipt of

such notice. The City and the Banks shall take such action as may be necessary or required to effect such termination pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement. The Reimbursement Agreement defines "Insurer Downgrade Event" to mean the financial strength or claims-paying rating of the Insurer being (i) reduced below "Aa3" (or its equivalent) or suspended or withdrawn by Moody's and (ii) reduced below "AA-" (or its equivalent) or suspended or withdrawn by S&P.

If an Insurer Event of Default or an Insurer Downgrade Event shall have occurred and be continuing and, in either case, a City Event of Default shall also have occurred, the Bank may give written notice to the Paying Agent, with a copy to the City and the Tender Agent, of the occurrence of such Insurer Event of Default or Insurer Downgrade Event, as applicable, and such a City Event of Default and, with the consent of the Required Banks, direct the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Bonds in accordance with the Ordinance, thereby causing the Letters of Credit to terminate on the date specified by the Bank in such notice, which date shall be the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent's receipt of such notice.

Mandatory Tender upon Failure to Pay Letter of Credit Fee

If the City fails to pay any Letter of Credit Fee, the Banks may give written notice of such failure to pay to the Paying Agent, with a copy to the City and the Tender Agent, and, with the consent of the Required Banks, direct the Paying Agent to cause a mandatory tender of all of the Series 2005 Bonds in accordance with the Ordinance, thereby causing the Letters of Credit to terminate on the date specified in such notice, with date shall be the sixteenth (16th) day following the Paying Agent's receipt of such notice.

The mandatory tenders of the Series 2005 Bonds described above in "REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENTS - Mandatory Tender upon Insurer Event of Default or Insurer Downgrade" and "REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENTS - Mandatory Tender upon Failure to Pay Letter of Credit Fee" are in addition to the mandatory tender provisions described in APPENDIX E under the heading "Mandatory Tenders".

CANCELLATION AGREEMENT

At the time the Letters of Credit are delivered, the Banks, the City, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as paying agent and tender agent (the "Agent"), and AGM will execute and deliver an Insurance Policy Cancellation Agreement, dated as of June ___, 2011 (the "Cancellation Agreement"). Should the conditions occur that are described above in "REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENTS - Mandatory Tender upon Insurer Event of Default or Insurer Downgrade", and a City Event of Default also shall have occurred and be continuing, the Banks may provide written notice signed by at least two (2) of the Banks (the "Notice") of the exercise of their right granted under the Cancellation Agreement to request the cancellation of the Bond Policy, specifying the intended effective date of cancellation (the "Cancellation Date"), which shall be the sixteenth (16th) day following the Agent's receipt of the Notice, to the City, the Agent and AGM, and the Agent shall take steps to effect the mandatory tender of the Series 2005 Bonds. In the Cancellation Agreement, the Banks agree that they will not direct the Agent to draw upon the Bond Policy, and the Agent agrees that it will not draw upon the Bond Policy, after the Banks have delivered the Notice.

Upon the mandatory tender of the Series 2005 Bonds, in connection with any remarketing of the Series 2005 Bonds on and after the Cancellation Date, a disclosure document will be delivered to prospective holders of the Series 2005 Bonds that states prominently that the Bond Policy is no longer in effect with respect to the Series 2005 Bonds and the City will file with the MSRB (as herein defined) on or as of the Cancellation Date disclosing that the Bond Policy is no longer in effect with respect to the Series 2005 Bonds.

Should AGM have made payments, directly or indirectly, on account of principal of or interest on Series 2005 Bonds to any holder of the Series 2005 Bonds (the "Holder") prior to the Cancellation Date, AGM will be (a) subrogated to the rights of the Holder to receive the amount of such payment from the City, as provided and from the sources listed in the Ordinance and the Series 2005 Bonds, and (b) deemed the Holder of such Series 2005 Bonds for all purposes under the Ordinance, including, without limitation, the

direction of remedies, the voting or giving consent with respect to remedies and other actions or inactions of the Agent or the City that may require voting or consent, and the filing of proofs of claim and other indicia of ownership in any insolvency proceeding. AGM also will be entitled to receive the amount of principal and interest as provided in the Ordinance and the Series 2005 Bonds, and the parties to the Cancellation Agreement will otherwise treat AGM as the owner of such rights to the amount of such payment.

In connection with the issuance of the Series 2005 Bonds, a debt service reserve policy (the "Reserve Policy") was issued, and AGM is obligated under the terms of the Reserve Policy to make payments in the event conditions specified in the Ordinance occur which would result in a draw being necessary to pay debt service on the Series 2005 Bonds. The Cancellation Agreement provides that upon the cancellation of the Bond Policy in accordance with the terms of the Cancellation Agreement (unless an Insurer Event of Default has occurred and is continuing), the Reserve Policy shall be cancelled by a date that is not more than three years after the Cancellation Date, and the City shall (i) beginning with the first full calendar month following the Cancellation Date, commence funding on a monthly basis an amount sufficient so that the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement established pursuant to the Ordinance in support of the Series 2005 Bonds is established (without giving effect to the Reserve Policy) by the date that is three years after the Cancellation Date and (ii) restore any draw on the Debt Service Reserve Fund established pursuant to the Ordinance from over a period of no more than eighteen (18) months as required by the Ordinance. The City further agrees in the Cancellation Agreement not to issue any Additional Revenue Bonds payable from the Reserve Policy.

SWAP MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT

In connection with the issuance of the Series 2005 Bonds, the City entered into an interest rate swap agreement with Morgan Stanley Capital Services, Inc., as "Counterparty" (see "CREDIT AGREEMENT"). A financial guaranty insurance policy (the "Swap Policy") was issued relating to the swap transaction entered into by the City with the Counterparty (the "Swap Transaction"), and AGM is obligated to make certain payments under the Swap Policy in relation to certain events occurring with respect to the Swap Transaction. The City and AGM, in connection with the substitution of the Letters of Credit described in this Information Circular, have entered into an Agreement Regarding Insured Swap Transaction (the "Swap Management Agreement"), in which the City shall be required to terminate the Swap Policy if the Bond Policy is cancelled under the terms of the Cancellation Agreement. In the Swap Management Agreement, upon the termination of the Bond Policy pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement, the City shall provide AGM with (i) on a monthly basis, a statement of the estimated aggregate mark-to-market value of the Swap Transaction and (ii) notice at such time, if any, as the aggregate mark-to-market value of the Swap Transaction is negative \$100,000 or an amount more favorable to the City within two (2) Business Days of that being the case. Unless AGM directs or agrees otherwise, not later than the earlier of (a) ten (10) Business Days after the first date on which the estimated aggregate mark-to-market value of the Swap Transaction payable by the City is zero or on which such estimated aggregate mark-to-market value is positive to the City and (b) three (3) years of the date of the cancellation of the Bond Policy pursuant to the Cancellation Agreement, the City shall do one of the following: (1) designate an early termination date, or other optional termination, with respect to the Swap Transaction, or (2) deliver to AGM the original Swap Policy together with an instrument from the Counterparty satisfactory to AGM deeming the Swap Transaction to no longer be insured and releasing AGM from all further liability under the Swap Policy. The Swap Management Agreement does provide, however, that the City and AGM agree that in the event the Bond Policy is cancelled as a result of the occurrence of an Insurer Event of Default, the City shall not be obligated to perform its obligations described in the immediately preceding sentence.

BOND INSURANCE

Introduction

The following information has been supplied by Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. ("Assured Guaranty Municipal", "AGM", or the "Insurer") for inclusion in this Information Circular. The following information is not complete and reference is made to Appendix E of the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum. No representation is made by the City, its Financial Advisor, the Remarketing Agent or the Banks as to the accuracy or completeness of this information.

Bond Insurance Policy

At the time of the issuance of the Series 2005 Bonds, a financial guaranty insurance policy (the "Bond Policy") was issued to guarantee the scheduled payment of principal of and interest on the Series 2005 Bonds when due. AGM is obligated under the terms of the Bond Policy; the form of the Bond Policy is set forth in Appendix E to the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum.

The Bond Policy is not covered by any insurance security or guaranty fund established under New York, California, Connecticut or Florida insurance law.

Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp.

AGM is a New York domiciled financial guaranty insurance company and a wholly owned subsidiary of Assured Guaranty Municipal Holdings Inc. ("Holdings"). Holdings is an indirect subsidiary of Assured Guaranty Ltd. ("AGL"), a Bermuda-based holding company whose shares are publicly traded and are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "AGO". AGL, through its operating subsidiaries, provides credit enhancement products to the U.S. and global public finance, infrastructure and structured finance markets. No shareholder of AGL, Holdings or AGM is liable for the obligations of AGM.

AGM's financial strength is rated "AA+" (stable outlook) by Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, a Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC business ("S&P") and "Aa3" (negative outlook) by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. ("Moody's"). An explanation of the significance of the above ratings may be obtained from the applicable rating agency. The above ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold any security, and such ratings are subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the rating agencies, including withdrawal initiated at the request of AGM in its sole discretion. Any downward revision or withdrawal of any of the above ratings may have an adverse effect on the market price of any security guaranteed by AGM. AGM does not guarantee the market price of the securities it insures, nor does it guarantee that the ratings on such securities will not be revised or withdrawn.

Current Financial Strength Ratings

On January 24, 2011, S&P published a Request for Comment: Bond Insurance Criteria (the "Bond Insurance RFC") in which it requested comments on its proposed changes to its bond insurance ratings criteria. In the Bond Insurance RFC, S&P notes that it could lower its financial strength ratings on existing investment-grade bond insurers (including AGM) by one or more rating categories if the proposed bond insurance ratings criteria are adopted, unless those bond insurers (including AGM) raise additional capital or reduce risk. Reference is made to the Bond Insurance RFC, a copy of which is available at www.standardandpoors.com, for the complete text of S&P's comments.

On October 25, 2010, S&P published a Research Update in which it downgraded AGM's counterparty credit and financial strength rating from "AAA" (negative outlook) to "AA+" (stable outlook). Reference is made to the Research Update, a copy of which is available at www.standardandpoors.com, for the complete text of S&P's comments.

On December 18, 2009, Moody's issued a press release stating that it had confirmed its "Aa3" insurance financial strength rating of AGM, with a negative outlook. Reference is made to the press release, a copy of which is available at www.moodys.com, for the complete text of Moody's comments.

There can be no assurance as to any further ratings action that Moody's or S&P may take with respect to AGM.

For more information regarding AGM's financial strength ratings and the risks relating thereto, see AGL's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010, which was filed by AGL with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") on March 1, 2011.

Capitalization of AGM

At December 31, 2010, AGM's consolidated policyholders' surplus and contingency reserves were approximately \$2,578,146,678 and its total net unearned premium reserve was approximately \$2,298,456,380, in each case, in accordance with statutory accounting principles.

Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference

Portions of the following document filed by AGL with the SEC relating to AGM are hereby incorporated by reference into this Information Circular and shall be deemed to be a part hereof:

• the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 (which was filed by AGL with the SEC on March 1, 2011).

All information relating to AGM included in, or as exhibits to, documents filed by AGL pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, after the filing of the last document referred to above and prior to the date of this Information Circular shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference into this Information Circular and to be a part hereof from the respective dates of filing such documents. Copies of materials incorporated by reference are available over the internet at the SEC's website at http://www.sec.gov, at AGL's website at http://www.assuredguaranty.com, or will be provided upon request to Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp.: 31 West 52nd Street, New York, New York 10019, Attention: Communications Department (telephone (212) 826-0100).

Any information regarding AGM included herein under the heading **"BOND INSURANCE** — Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp." or included in a document incorporated by reference herein (collectively, the "AGM Information") shall be modified or superseded to the extent that any subsequently included AGM Information (either directly or through incorporation by reference) modifies or supersedes such previously included AGM Information. Any AGM Information so modified or superseded shall not constitute a part of this Information Circular, except as so modified or superseded.

AGM makes no representation regarding the Series 2005 Bonds or the advisability of investing in the Series 2005 Bonds. In addition, AGM has not independently verified, makes no representation regarding, and does not accept any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of this Information Circular or any information or disclosure contained herein, or omitted from this Information Circular, other than with respect to the accuracy of the information regarding AGM supplied by AGM and presented under the heading "BOND INSURANCE", and the information set forth in "Appendix E - Specimen Financial Guaranty Insurance Policy", set forth in the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum.

CREDIT AGREEMENT

In addition to the payment obligations of the City under the terms of each Reimbursement Agreement, in conjunction with the original delivery of the Series 2005 Bonds, and pursuant to the

Ordinance, the City entered into an Interest Rate Swap Agreement (the "Interest Rate Swap Agreement") with Morgan Stanley Capital Services, Inc. (the "Counterparty"), pursuant to which the City is obligated to make payments to the Counterparty calculated on a notional amount equal to the scheduled outstanding principal amount of the Series 2005 Bonds and a fixed interest rate of 4.051% per annum, and the Counterparty is obligated to make reciprocal payments to the City calculated on a notional amount equal to the scheduled outstanding principal amount of the Series 2005 Bonds and a variable rate equal to the 71% of the one-month London Interbank Borrowing Rate (LIBOR) for U.S. deposits. Payments under the Interest Rate Swap Agreement will be made on a net basis on the first day of each month, commencing in October 2008 and ending in November 2025. Interest on the Series 2005 Bonds is determined in a manner that differs from the LIBOR index used to calculate amounts payable to the City under the terms of the Interest Rate Swap Agreement. On the effective date of the Interest Rate Swap Agreement, the Counterparty was rated "Aa3" by Moody's, "AA-" by S&P and "AA-" by Fitch. Payments to be made by the City, if any, under the terms of the Interest Rate Swap Agreement (other than a "termination payment" as discussed below) are on a parity with the City's obligation to pay principal and interest on the Series 2005 Bonds. Arrangements made in respect of the Interest Rate Swap Agreement do not alter the City's obligation to pay principal of and interest on the Series 2005 Bonds and the obligations of the City under each Reimbursement Agreement. As of March 15, 2011, the net aggregate monthly payments the City has made under the Interest Rate Swap Agreement equal \$13,761,794.13.

If either party to the Interest Rate Swap Agreement commits an event of default, suffers a reduction in credit worthiness, or merges with a materially weaker entity, or in certain other circumstances, the Interest Rate Swap Agreement may be terminated at the option of the other party. Accordingly, no assurance can be given that the Interest Rate Swap Agreement will continue in existence until November 2025. If the Interest Rate Swap Agreement is terminated, then current market conditions will determine whether the City will owe a termination payment to the Counterparty or be entitled to receive a termination payment from the Counterparty. Such termination payment generally would be based on the market value of the Interest Rate Swap Agreement on the date of termination and could be substantial. In addition, a partial termination of the Interest Rate Swap Agreement could occur to the extent any Series 2005 Bonds are redeemed pursuant to the City exercising its right to effect an optional redemption of the Series 2005 Bonds. If such optional redemption were to occur, termination payments related to the portion of the Interest Rate Swap Agreement to be terminated will be owed by either the City or the Counterparty, depending on the existing market conditions. The obligation of the City to pay a termination payment to the Counterparty could result in the City issuing Additional Revenue Bonds or Subordinate Obligations (each as defined in the Ordinance) to enable the City to make such a termination payment.

The City's obligation to make scheduled payments under the Interest Rate Swap Agreement is insured by AGM under the terms of the Swap Policy issued in 2005. Any termination payment the City may become obligated to pay under the terms of the Interest Rate Swap Agreement is not covered by the Swap Policy. See "SWAP MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT" for a discussion of events that could result in the termination of the Swap Policy.

THE REMARKETING AGENT

Effective June 9, 2009, Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated became the sole Remarketing Agent for the Series 2005 Bonds. The Remarketing Agent's responsibilities include determining the interest rate from time to time and remarketing Series 2005 Bonds that are optionally or mandatorily tendered by the owners thereof (subject, in each case, to the terms of the Remarketing Agreement), all as further described herein. The Remarketing Agent is appointed by the City and is paid by the City for its services. As a result, the interests of the Remarketing Agent may differ from those of existing holders and potential holders of Series 2005 Bonds.

The Remarketing Agent acts a remarketing agent for a variety of variable rate demand obligations and, it its sole discretion, routinely purchases such obligations for its own account. The Remarketing Agent is

permitted, but not obligated, to purchase tendered Series 2005 Bonds (e.g., because there otherwise are not enough buyers to purchase Series 2005 Bonds), or for other reasons. However, the Remarketing Agent is not obligated to purchase Series 2005 Bonds, and may cease doing so at any time without notice. The Remarketing Agent may also make a market in the Series 2005 Bonds by routinely purchasing and selling Series 2005 Bonds other than in connection with an optional or mandatory tender and remarketing. Such purchases and sales may be at or below par. The Remarketing Agent is not required, however, to make a market in the Series 2005 Bonds. The Remarketing Agent may also sell any Series 2005 Bond it has purchased to one or more affiliated investment vehicles for collective ownership or enter into derivative arrangements with affiliates or others in order to reduce its exposure to the Series 2005 Bonds. The purchase of Series 2005 Bonds by the Remarketing Agent may cause the interest rate to be lower than it would be if the Remarketing Agent did not purchase Series 2005 Bonds and may create the appearance that there is greater third party demand for the Series 2005 Bonds in the market than is actually the case. The practices described above also may result in fewer Series 2005 Bonds being tendered in a remarketing.

Pursuant to the Remarketing Agreement, the Remarketing Agent is required to determine the applicable rate of interest that, in its judgment, is the lowest rate that would permit the sale of Series 2005 Bonds bearing interest at the applicable interest rate at par plus accrued interest, if any, on and as of the applicable Rate Determination Date (as defined in the Ordinance). The interest rate will reflect, among other factors, the level of market demand for the Series 2005 Bonds (including whether the Remarketing Agent is willing to purchase Series 2005 Bonds for its own account). The purchase of Series 2005 Bonds by the Remarketing Agent may cause the interest rate to be lower than it would be if the Remarketing Agent did not purchase Series 2005 Bonds. There may or may not be Series 2005 Bonds tendered and remarketed on a Rate Determination Date, the Remarketing Agent may or may not be able to remarket any Series 2005 Bonds tendered for purchase on such date at par and the Remarketing Agent may sell Series 2005 Bonds at varying prices to different investors on such date or any other date. The Remarketing Agent, in its sole discretion, may offer Series 2005 Bonds on any date, including the Rate Determination Date, at a discount to par to some investors.

The Remarketing Agent may buy and sell Series 2005 Bonds other than through the tender process. It is not obligated, however, to do so and may cease doing so at any time without notice and may require holders that wish to tender their Series 2005 Bonds to do so through the Tender Agent with appropriate notice. Thus, investors who purchase the Bonds, whether in a remarketing or otherwise, should not assume that they will be able to sell their Series 2005 Bonds other than by tendering the Series 2005 Bonds in accordance with the tender process.

Under certain circumstances, the Remarketing Agent may be removed or has the ability to resign or cease its remarketing efforts, without a successor having been named, subject to the terms of the Remarketing Agreement. In the event there is no Remarketing Agent, the Paying Agent/Registrar may assume such duties as described in the Ordinance.

RATINGS

The Series 2005 Bonds currently have an underlying rating of "A" from S&P. S&P is expected to assign the Series 2005 Bonds the rating of A-1 based on the Letters of Credit and the Reimbursement Agreements.

The Banks have furnished certain information and material to the rating agencies concerning themselves and the Letters of Credit, which are not included in this Information Circular.

The Series 2005 Bonds are also rated "____" by S&P as a result of the municipal bond insurance policy of the Insurer. See "BOND INSURANCE— Current Financial Ratings" for a description of the current state of the financial guaranty insurance industry and information regarding downgrading and negative changes to the ratings outlook of multiple financial guaranty insurers, including the Insurer.

The ratings described above reflect only the views of S&P, and any explanation of the significance of the ratings may be obtained only from S&P. There is no assurance that any of the ratings will continue for any given period of time or that any rating may not be lowered or withdrawn if, in the judgment of a rating agency, circumstances so warrant. Any such downward change in or withdrawal of the rating may have an adverse effect on the secondary market prices of the Series 2005 Bonds.

THE CITY; DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

General

The 2008 Remarketing Memorandum (other than Appendices A, B, D and G thereto) is attached hereto as Appendix C, and is incorporated herein by reference. Appendix D to this Information Circular supplements the information contained in Appendix C to the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum. Appendix E to this Information Circular supplements the information contained in Appendix F to the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum.

The City files periodic reports and other information regarding the Airport System with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the "MSRB"). These reports and information are available free of charge from the MSRB via the Electronic Municipal Market Access system ("EMMA") at www.emma.msrb.org.

This Information Circular "incorporates by reference" the information regarding the Airport System the City files with the MSRB, which means that important information is disclosed to you by referring you to those documents. The information regarding the Airport System incorporated by reference is an important part of this Information Circular. The information incorporated by reference includes the City's annual report for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2010, including the consolidated financial statements and consolidating schedules and Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations that are a part thereof, as well as any filing made by the City in the future. Certain information relating to the current operations and management of the Airport System is set forth below under " – Airport System".

Any statement incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference will be deemed to be modified or superseded for purposes of this Information Circular to the extent that a statement contained in this Information Circular modifies or supersedes that statement.

Amendments to the Ordinance

On May 26, 2011, the City Council approved amendments to the Ordinance to effect certain changes in respect to the delivery of the Letters of Credit including, without limitation, providing for the mandatory tender of the Series 2005 Bonds in connection with the cancellation of the Bond Policy. See Appendix D to this Information Circular.

Several of the amendments to the Ordinance relate to the Bond Insurer and the Bond Policy. With respect to claims under the Bond Policy and payments by and to the Bond Insurer, if by 12:00 noon, New York City time, on the Business Day prior to the related scheduled interest payment date or principal payment date (each, a "Payment Date"), there is not on deposit with the Paying Agent/Registrar, after making all transfers and deposits required under the Ordinance (including drawing on any Direct-Pay Credit Facility), moneys sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Series 2005 Bonds (other than Bank Bonds and Series 2005 Bonds paid by the Banks, as provided for below) due on a Payment Date, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall make a claim under the Bond Policy and give notice to the Bond Insurer and to its designated agent (if any) (the "Bond Insurer's Fiscal Agent") by telephone or telecopy of the amount of such deficiency, including allocation of such deficiency between the amount required to pay interest on the Series

2005 Bonds and the amount required to pay principal of the Series 2005 Bonds, confirmed in writing to the Bond Insurer and the Bond Insurer's Fiscal Agent by 1:00 p.m., New York City time, on such Business Day by filling in the Notice of Claim and Certificate delivered with the Bond Policy.

In the event the claim to be made is for a mandatory sinking fund redemption installment, upon receipt of the moneys due, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall authenticate and deliver to affected owners of Series 2005 Bonds who surrender their Series 2005 Bonds new Series 2005 Bonds in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of the Series 2005 Bonds surrendered. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall designate any portion of payment of principal on Series 2005 Bonds paid by the Bond Insurer, whether by virtue of mandatory sinking fund redemption, maturity or other advancement of maturity, on its books as a reduction in the principal amount of Series 2005 Bonds registered to the then current owner, whether DTC or its nominee or otherwise, and shall issue a replacement Series 2005 Bond to the Bond Insurer, registered in the name of Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. in a principal amount equal to the amount of principal so paid (without regard to authorized denominations); provided that the Paying Agent/Registrar's failure to so designate any payment or issue any replacement Series 2005 Bond shall have no effect on the amount of principal or interest payable by the City on any Series 2005 Bond or the subrogation rights of the Bond Insurer.

The Paying Agent/Registrar shall keep a complete and accurate record of all funds deposited by the Bond Insurer into the Policy Payments Account (hereinafter defined) and the allocation of such funds to payment of interest on and principal paid in respect of any Series 2005 Bonds. The Bond Insurer shall have the right to inspect such records at reasonable times upon reasonable notice to the Paying Agent/Registrar.

Upon payment of a claim under the Bond Policy the Paying Agent/Registrar shall establish a separate special purpose trust account for the benefit of the Bondholders (the "Policy Payments Account") and over which the Paying Agent/Registrar shall have exclusive control and sole right of withdrawal. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall receive any amount paid under the Bond Policy in trust on behalf of the Bondholders and shall deposit any such amount in the Policy Payments Account and distribute such amount only for the purpose of making payments for which a claim was made. Such amounts shall be disbursed by the Paying Agent/Registrar to Bondholders in the same manner as principal and interest payments are to be made with respect to the Series 2005 Bonds. Amounts held by the Paying Agent/Registrar in the Policy Payments Account shall not constitute Gross Revenues or Net Revenues under the Ordinance. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary otherwise set forth in the Ordinance, and to the extent permitted by law and subject to appropriation thereof by the City from the Debt Service Fund, in the event amounts paid under the Bond Policy are applied to claims for payment of principal of and interest on the Series 2005 Bonds, interest on such principal and interest shall accrue and be payable from the date of such payment at the greater of (i) the per annum rate of interest, publicly announced from time to time by JPMorgan Chase Bank or its successor at its principal office in The City of New York, as its prime or base lending rate plus 3%, and (ii) the then applicable rate of interest on the Series 2005 Bonds provided that in no event shall such rate exceed the maximum rate permissible under applicable usury or similar laws limiting interest rates.

Funds held in the Policy Payments Account shall not be invested and may not be applied to satisfy any costs, expenses or liabilities of the Paying Agent/Registrar. Any funds remaining in the Policy Payments Account following a Payment Date shall promptly be remitted to the Bond Insurer.

Airport System

The 2008 Remarketing Memorandum describes the financial information and statistical data the City has agreed to update on an annual basis, and as noted in "- General" above, that information is incorporated by reference into this Information Circular. The following information relating to the Airport System updates certain narrative information that was contained in the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum.

General

The Airport System is comprised of airport, heliport and aviation facilities or any interest therein owned, operated or controlled in whole or in part by the City and includes Austin Bergstrom International Airport ("ABIA"), but expressly excludes any heliport or heliports operated by City Departments other than the Aviation Department. ABIA is classified by the Federal Aviation Administration ("FAA") as a medium hub airport. According to Airports Council International, ABIA is the 47th largest airport in the United States based on 2009 total passengers.

The Airport's Five Year Capital Improvement Program beginning FY 2012, totaling \$144,985,000, is funded primarily from cash by Capital Fund contributions (85%), and anticipated FAA and Transportation Security Administration grant funding (15%). The projects for the five year program fall into three categories: Airfield/Apron - \$30,841,000; Terminal - \$81,775,000; and Parking and Roadways - \$32,369,000.

The Department of Aviation has entered into use and lease agreements with the eight major airlines serving ABIA. The current agreements were effective October 1, 2009 and extend five years through September 30, 2014. Under current City ordinance, any airline that does not have a written agreement to operate at the Airport must pay landing fees equal to double the rate paid by carriers who do have an agreement.

Transfers from Airport Capital Fund to Airport Operations Fund

The Airport System has supplemented revenues available for the payment of operation and maintenance expenses and debt service through the transfer of funds from other available Airport sources, including specifically from the Airport Capital Fund. For the Fiscal Years ended September 30, 2002 through the Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2010, the Airport System transferred on average \$7.4 million annually to the Airport Operating Fund. As is the case with other airports around the country, Airport management continues to explore opportunities to increase non-airline generated revenues at the Airport (e.g., parking, concessions, real estate and other activities).

Set forth below is a table showing the actual and budgeted transfers to the Airport Operating Fund.

Austin-Bergstrom International Airport Transfer from Airport Capital Fund to Airport Operating Fund

Fiscal Year 2007	Fiscal Year 2008	Fiscal Year 2009	Fiscal Year 2010	Fiscal Year 2011
<u>Actual</u>	<u>Actual</u>	<u>Actual</u>	<u>Actual</u>	Budgeted
\$6,820,511	6,879,187	\$7,146,363	\$7,930,449	\$8,341,513

The transfers to the Airport Operating Fund enable the City to satisfy the rate covenant set forth in the Ordinance as well as satisfying the tests governing the issuance of additional revenue bonds.

Passenger Facility Charges

Application. Under the Aviation Safety and Capacity Act of 1990 (the "PFC Act"), as modified by the Wendell H. Ford Aviation Investment and Reform Act for the 21st Century ("AIR-21"), the FAA may authorize a public agency to impose a Passenger Facility Charge ("PFC") of \$1.00, \$2.00, \$3.00, \$4.00 or \$4.50 on each passenger enplaned at any commercial service airport controlled by the public agency, subject to certain limitations. On December 20, 1994, the Department of Aviation filed with the FAA a PFC application totaling \$337.8 million for funding a portion of the construction and the financing costs related to ABIA. The scope of the application, to impose and use a \$3.00 Passenger Facility Charge, included construction costs of a passenger terminal complex, airfield facilities, and landside facilities on a pay-as-yougo basis and the financing costs associated with these Passenger Facility Charge qualifying scopes of work.

The FAA approved application number 95-03-C00-AUS on February 8, 1995 for a total of \$333,232,479. PFC collections authorized by this application began in August, 1995. Amounts totaling \$27.2 million, collections through September 1998, together with over collections posted on two earlier applications, were used towards the actual construction costs of the PFC qualifying scopes of work. Beginning October 1998, interest earned and Passenger Facility Charges collected were used for the debt costs associated with the Passenger Facility Charge qualifying scope of work. As of September 2010, PFC collections and interest earned on collections totaled \$191.4 million.

The Aviation Department received approval from the FAA in 2004 amending its current outstanding PFC application to an increase in (i) the PFC collection rate from \$3.00 to \$4.50, (ii) the total authorized collections to \$343,074,546, and (iii) the PFC eligibility amount of the debt service related to the original project funding for the construction of ABIA, effective April 1, 2004. In September 2004, the FAA approved the \$4,125,000 application to impose and use PFC revenue for the installation of the EDS machines and the associated baggage handling system. The proceeds of the Passenger Facility Charges currently imposed by the City are not part of the Net Revenues pledged by the City to the payment of revenue bonds, including the Series 2005 Bonds. In the Ordinance, however, the City covenants and agrees, for the benefit of the owners of revenue bonds, that during each Fiscal Year the City will set aside from any passenger facility charges imposed by the City on enplaned passengers the lesser of (i) such passenger facility charges imposed and collected by the City or (ii) \$4.50 derived from each passenger facility charge so imposed and collected by the City for the payment of debt service on the Prior Lien Bonds and the Revenue Bonds (each as defined in the Ordinance) in the following Fiscal Year, unless the City receives a report from an Airport Consultant showing that an alternative use of all or a portion of such passenger facility charges will not reduce the forecast coverage of Debt Service Requirements with respect to the Prior Lien Bonds and the Revenue Bonds by forecast Net Revenues during the following Fiscal Year (or such longer forecast period as may be covered in the Airport Consultant's Report) to less than 125%.

<u>Sufficiency.</u> The Airport System's ability to collect PFC revenues will vary depending on the actual number of passenger enplanements at ABIA. If the number of enplaned passengers at ABIA falls below projections, actual PFC revenues will fall short of projections. Such a shortfall in PFC collections could have an adverse affect on the timely payment of debt service on bonds secured by a pledge of PFC revenues. This adverse impact could be direct or indirect, if the PFC shortfall results in sufficient increases in landing fees as to impact negatively ABIA's desirability to the airline industry and thus ultimately impact the collection of landing fees at ABIA. While passenger traffic fell after September 11, 2001, and during the economic crisis of 2008 and 2009, traffic at the Airport has recovered resulting in enplanements returning to near record levels in 2011. There can be no assurance as to what passenger traffic, and ABIA revenues, will be in the future.

Availability. The authority to impose and use PFCs is subject to the terms and conditions of the PFC Act, AIR-21 and the related regulations thereto. Failure to comply with the requirements of applicable law, such as the failure to use PFCs strictly for approved PFC projects, may cause the FAA to terminate or reduce the Airport System's authority to impose and collect PFCs. In addition, notwithstanding FAA regulations requiring airlines to collect PFCs to account for PFC collections separately and indicating that those PFC collections are to be regarded as funds held in trust by the collecting airline for the beneficial interest of the public agency imposing the PFC, in the event of a bankruptcy proceeding involving a collecting airline, there is the possibility that a bankruptcy court could hold that the PFCs in the airline's custody are not to be treated as trust funds and that ABIA is not entitled to any priority over other creditors of the collecting airline as to such funds. Also, there is no assurance that the PFC Act, AIR-21, or any other relevant legislation or regulation will not be repealed or amended to adversely affect the Airport System's ability to collect PFCs. The occurrence of any of these events could have an adverse impact on the timely payment of debt service on bonds secured in part by the pledge of PFCs.

No assurance can be given that PFCs will actually be received in the amount or at the time contemplated by the City, or that the Airport System will collect such PFC revenues in amounts or at times sufficient to pay debt service. The amount of actual PFC revenues collected, and the rate of collection, will

vary depending on the actual levels of qualified passenger enplanements at ABIA, and will not necessarily correlate in any way to the debt service requirements of the bonds or other obligations issued for the Airport System to which PFC revenues have been pledged. Regardless of the amount of PFC revenues, the City will be able to apply such revenues to pay debt service only to the extent the City applied bond proceeds to pay the costs of PFC approved projects described in the PFC application that was authorized by the FAA. In addition, the FAA may terminate ABIA's ability to impose PFCs, subject to formal and informal procedural safeguards, if (1) ABIA fails to use its PFC revenues for approved projects in accordance with the FAA's approval, the PFC Act or the regulations promulgated thereunder, or (2) ABIA otherwise violates the PFC Act or regulations.

Management

Jim Smith, Executive Director of Aviation. Mr. Smith is responsible for the City's Department of Aviation. He served in executive capacities in Norfolk, Virginia and Dayton, Ohio before joining the City in 1984. Since coming to Austin he has served as Director of Planning and Development, Director of Public Works and Transportation, Assistant City Manager and now Executive Director of the Department of Aviation. He has a Bachelor of Science Degree from the City University of New York and a Master of Public Administration Degree from the University of Dayton.

Patti Edwards, IAP, Director, Operations & Maintenance. Ms. Edwards is responsible for all maintenance, operations, security and IT, which include parking, buildings, grounds, airfield, roadways, motor pool and unimproved areas. She has been employed by the City's Aviation Department for over 14 years. She has been in her current position since November 2005. Ms. Edwards has over 25 years experience in Facilities and Project management. She is an active member of BOMA, ACI and AAAE and has earned the Airport Council International certification as an "International Airport Professional".

Jamy Kazanoff, Assistant Director, Aviation Business Development & Customer Relations. Ms. Kazanoff is responsible for airport marketing, business development and community relations for ABIA. She oversees the areas of marketing, advertising revenue, passenger air service development, passenger assistance programs, media relations and serves as the point of contact with many Austin-area business and community groups. She has been employed by the City's Aviation Department for ten years. Ms. Kazanoff has 25 years of marketing and business development experience, primarily serving in account executive positions with advertising agencies. She is actively involved in the Airports Council International (ACI) Marketing and Communications Committee, serving as Chairwoman in 2008. She is also active in ACI's International Program, Central Texas Regional Partnership, and Austin Hospitality Council. She is a graduate of The University of Texas at Austin with a Bachelor of Journalism degree.

David Arthur, CPA, Assistant Director and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Arthur is responsible for overall financial management of the Airport System, including financial accounting and reporting, day to day fiscal operations, budgeting, grants administration, airport rate setting, and airport property and contracts management. Before joining the City's Aviation Department in July 2009, he served the Houston Airport System in Financial and Management positions, most recently as Assistant Director, Finance and Budget. He is a graduate of Northwest Missouri State University and a Certified Public Accountant.

Shane Harbinson, Assistant Director, Planning & Engineering. Mr. Harbinson is responsible for Airport Planning, Development and Environmental Services. Mr. Harbinson has served in airport positions at Minneapolis St. Paul International, and Midland International in Midland, Texas before joining the City in 1999. Since coming to the City, he has served as Operations Coordinator, Noise Abatement Officer, Airport Planner, Manager of Airport Operations, Assistant Director of Operations and Security, and now Assistant Director of Planning & Engineering and Maintenance. He is a graduate of Saint Cloud State University, Saint Cloud, Minnesota, with a Bachelor of Science in Aviation. He is an active in the American Association of Airport Executives and Airport's Council International.

Donnell January, Assistant Director, Maintenance and Facilities. Mr. January is responsible for all Maintenance and Facility Services at ABIA. He oversees the areas of Airline Maintenance, Building Maintenance, Airside Maintenance, Landside Maintenance, Facility Services, Motor-pool and the Sign Shop. He has been employed by the Department of Aviation for five years, and has over 20 years of management experience. Since joining the Aviation Department, Mr. January has served as Division Manager implementing and maintaining the new in-line baggage handling system. Mr. January has a Bachelor of Science Degree from the College of Engineering Technology at Prairie View A&M University, Prairie View, Texas.

MISCELLANEOUS

This Information Circular has been prepared for use by Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, as Remarketing Agent for the Series 2005 Bonds, for the sole purpose of providing information with respect to the Series 2005 Bonds in connection with the substitution of the Letters of Credit for the existing Liquidity Facility issued in support of the Series 2005 Bonds. Except with respect to such matters as provided for in this Information Circular, the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum has not been updated since its date.

APPENDIX A

INFORMATION REGARDING THE BANKS

The information contained in this Appendix A relates to and has been obtained from the applicable Bank. The delivery of this Secondary Market Information Circular shall not create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of any of the Banks since the date hereof, or that the information contained or referred to in this Appendix A is correct as of any time subsequent to its date.

APPENDIX A-1

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association ("the Bank") is a wholly owned bank subsidiary of JPMorgan Chase & Co., a Delaware corporation whose principal office is located in New York, New York. The Bank offers a wide range of banking services to its customers, both domestically and internationally. It is chartered and its business is subject to examination and regulation by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency.

As of December 31, 2010, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, had total assets of \$1,631.6 billion, total net loans of \$531.9 billion, total deposits of \$1,020.0 billion, and total stockholder's equity of \$123.4 billion. These figures are extracted from the Bank's unaudited Consolidated Reports of Condition and Income (the "Call Report") as of December 31, 2010, prepared in accordance with regulatory instructions that do not in all cases follow U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, which are filed with the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. The Call Report, including any update to the above quarterly figures, can be found at www.fdic.gov.

Additional information, including the most recent annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009, of JPMorgan Chase & Co., the 2009 Annual Report of JPMorgan Chase & Co., and additional annual, quarterly and current reports filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") by JPMorgan Chase & Co., as they become available, may be obtained without charge by each person to whom this Official Statement is delivered upon the written request of any such person to the Office of the Secretary, JPMorgan Chase & Co., 270 Park Avenue, New York, New York 10017 or at the SEC's website at www.sec.gov.

The information contained in this Appendix relates to and has been obtained from the Bank. The delivery of the Official Statement shall not create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Bank since the date hereof, or that the information contained or referred to in this Appendix A-1 is correct as of any time subsequent to its date.

APPENDIX A-2

KBC BANK, N.V.

KBC Bank N.V., New York Branch ("KBC NYB") is an unincorporated branch of KBC Bank N.V., a naamloze vennootschap (public company of limited liability) organized under the laws of Belgium, whose principal office is located in Brussels, Belgium. KBC Bank N.V. conducts operations through additional offices and agencies in the United States and around the world. Created on June 4, 1998 through the combination of two predecessor Belgian banks, Kredietbank N.V. and CERA Bank C.V., KBC Bank N.V. is subject to regulation by the Belgium Banking Commission and to Belgian banking and accounting law. KBC Bank N.V. maintains its records and prepares its financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Belgium. Such records and financial statements are maintained and prepared in Euro currency (EUR).

One of the largest commercial banks in Belgium, KBC Bank N.V. operates as a universal bank, engaged in commercial and investment banking, and offers comprehensive financial services. KBC Bank N.V.'s branches in Belgium are located exclusively in Brussels and the Flanders region of Belgium. KBC Bank N.V. is indirectly represented through CBC Banque S.A., a majority-owned subsidiary with branches in Brussels and the Walloon region of Belgium.

KBC NYB was originally established in 1977 as a New York Branch of Kredietbank N.V., and has been relicensed by the Banking Department of the State of New York as a New York Branch of KBC Bank N.V. to provide a full range of services in New York. In addition to handling foreign exchange transactions, KBC NYB is active in international payment transactions and the clearing of commercial payments and professional transactions in U.S. Dollars. KBC NYB is also involved in providing financial services, particularly credit, for European (including Belgian) companies operating in the United States, as well as for United States corporations.

Selected Consolidated Financial Data of KBC Bank N.V.

Year Ended <u>December 31, 2010</u> (EUR Millions)

Total Assets	320,823
Amounts Owed to Customers	197,870
Loans and Advances to Customers	150,666
Total Equity	18,147
Net Income	1,860

Conversion Rate: As of December 31, 2010, EUR 0.7485 = US\$1.00

KBC NYB will provide, upon written request and without charge, a copy of KBC Bank N.V.'s Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2010. Written requests should be directed to: KBC Bank N.V., New York Branch, 1177 Avenue of the Americas, New York, New York 10036, Attention: Controller.

The delivery of this Information Circular shall not create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of KBC Bank N.V. since December 31, 2010 or that information contained or referred to in this Appendix A-2 is current as of any time subsequent to such date.

APPENDIX A-3

ROYAL BANK OF CANADA

Royal Bank of Canada (referred to in this section as "Royal Bank") is a Schedule I bank under the Bank Act (Canada), which constitutes its charter and governs its operations. Royal Bank's corporate headquarters are located at Royal Bank Plaza, 200 Bay Street, Toronto, Ontario M5J 2J5, Canada, and its head office is located at 1 Place Ville Marie, Montreal, Quebec H3C 3A9, Canada.

Royal Bank and its subsidiaries operate under the master brand name RBC. Royal Bank is Canada's largest bank as measured by assets and market capitalization and among the largest banks in the world based on market capitalization. Royal Bank is one of North America's leading diversified financial services companies and provides personal and commercial banking, wealth management services, insurance, corporate and investment banking and transaction processing services on a global basis. Royal Bank and its subsidiaries employ approximately 79,000 full- and part-time employees who serve close to 18 million personal, business, public sector and institutional clients through offices in Canada, the U.S. and 56 other countries.

Royal Bank had, on a consolidated basis, as at January 31, 2011, total assets of C\$721 billion (approximately US\$720 billion*), shareholders' equity of C\$40 billion (approximately US\$40 billion*), and total deposits of C\$437 billion (approximately US\$436 billion*). The foregoing figures were prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and have been extracted and derived from, and are qualified by reference to, Royal Bank's unaudited Interim Consolidated Financial Statements included in Royal Bank's Report to Shareholders for the fiscal period ended January 31, 2011.

The senior long-term unsecured debt of Royal Bank has been assigned ratings of AA- (positive outlook) by Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, Aa1 (stable outlook) by Moody's Investors Service and AA (stable outlook) by Fitch Ratings. Royal Bank's common shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange, the New York Stock Exchange and the Swiss Exchange under the trading symbol "RY." Its preferred shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange.

Upon written request, and without charge, Royal Bank will provide a copy of its most recent publicly filed Annual Report on Form 40-F, which includes audited Consolidated Financial Statements, to any person to whom this Official Statement is delivered. Requests for such copies should be directed to Investor Relations, Royal Bank of Canada, by writing to 200 Bay Street, 4th Floor, North Tower, Toronto, Ontario M5J 2W7, Canada, or by calling (416) 955-7802, or by visiting rbc.com/investorrelations/.

The delivery of this Official Statement shall not create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of Royal Bank since the date hereof or that the information contained or referred to herein is correct as at any time subsequent to its date.

^{*}As at January 31, 2011: C\$1.00 = US\$0.9985

APPENDIX B

REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT DEFINED TERMS

This Appendix B includes definitions of certain terms used in this Offering Circular and the Reimbursement Agreement.

"Affiliate" of a specified Person means any other Person which "controls", or is "controlled" by, or is under common "control" with such specified Person. For purposes of this definition, a Person "controls" another Person when the first Person possesses or exercises directly, or indirectly through one or more other affiliates or related entities, the power to direct the management and policies of the other Person, whether through the ownership of voting rights, membership, the power to appoint members, trustees or directors, by contract or otherwise.

"Amortization Commencement Date" means, with respect to each Bank Bond, the earlier to occur of (a) 90 days after the date of the related Liquidity Advance and (b) the Termination Date.

"Amortization End Date" means (a) if the Bond Policy has been terminated prior to the related Amortization Commencement Date, the earliest to occur of (i) the fifth (5th) anniversary of the date the related Liquidity Advance was made, (ii) the Conversion Date, and (iii) the Substitution Date, or (b) if the Bond Policy is in effect on the related Amortization Commencement Date, the earliest to occur of (i) the seventh (7th) anniversary of the date the related Liquidity Advance was made, (ii) the Conversion Date, and (iii) the Substitution Date; provided, however, that if the Bond Policy is terminated after the related Amortization Commencement Date, the Amortization End Date shall be the earliest to occur of (i) the seventh (7th) anniversary of the date of the related Liquidity Advance, (ii) the fifth (5th) anniversary of the effective date of the termination of the Bond Policy, (iii) the Conversion Date, and (iv) the Substitution Date.

"Amortization Payment Date" means (a) the first Business Day of the sixth calendar month immediately succeeding date of the related Liquidity Advance, (b) the first Business Day of each sixth calendar month occurring thereafter prior to the Amortization End Date and (c) the Amortization End Date.

"Available Amount" means the amount so designated in each respective Letter of Credit.

"Bank Bond" means each Series 2005 Bond purchased for the account of a Bank with the proceeds of a Liquidity Drawing under a Letter of Credit.

"Bank Fee Agreement" means each Bank Fee Agreement dated June 1, 2011, between the City and the respective Banks.

"Business Day" means any day which is not (a) a Saturday, a Sunday or legal holiday, or (b) a day on which the payment office of the Bank for draws on its Letter of Credit is located is required or authorized by law to remain closed.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.

"Conditions Precedent" means (a) the representations and warranties of the City contained in the Reimbursement Agreement are true and correct in all material respects as of the date of a Liquidity Drawing (except to the extent that such representations and warranties specifically refer to an earlier date, in which case, the representations and warranties are true and correct as of such earlier date) and (b) no event has occurred and is continuing, or would result from the making of such Liquidity Drawing, which constitutes a Default or a City Event of Default under the Reimbursement Agreement.

"Custody Agreement" means each Custody Agreement for the Bank Bonds between the respective Banks and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association dated as of June 1, 2011.

"Default" means with any circumstance, condition or event which, with the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both, could reasonably be expected to, unless cured or waived, become a City Event of Default.

"Drawing" means, with respect to any Letter of Credit, any drawing honored under such Letter of Credit.

"Financing Documents" means the Ordinance, the Series 2005 Bonds, the Bond Policy, the Remarketing Agreement, the Reimbursement Agreement, the Letters of Credit, the Custody Agreement, the Bank Fee Agreement, any Swap Contract related to the Series 2005 Bonds and payable from Net Revenues and the ordinance of the City authorizing such Swap Contracts, the Tender Agent Agreement and the Surety Policy.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles for governmental entities in the United States set forth in the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Financial Accounting Standards Board or such other principles as may be approved by a significant segment of the accounting profession in the United States, that are applicable to governmental entities and the circumstances as of the date of determination, consistently applied.

"Governmental Authority" means any nation or government, any state, department, agency or other political subdivision thereof, and any entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to any government, and any corporation or other entity owned or controlled (through ownership of common stock or capital) by any of the foregoing.

"Guarantee" by any Person means any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of such Person directly or indirectly guaranteeing any Payment Obligation of any other Person and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any obligation, direct or indirect, contingent or otherwise, of such Person (a) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Debt or other obligation or to purchase (or to advance or supply funds for the purchase of) such Payment Obligation (whether arising by virtue of partnership arrangements, by agreement to keep-well, to purchase assets, goods, securities or services, to take-or-pay, or to maintain financial statement conditions or otherwise), (b) entered into for the purpose of assuring in any other manner the oblige of such Payment Obligation of the payment thereof or to protect such oblige against loss in respect thereof (in whole or in part) or (c) with respect of any letter of credit issued for the account of such Person or as to which such other Person is otherwise liable for reimbursement for drawings, provided that the term Guarantee shall not include (i) endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business or (ii) performance or completion guarantees.

"Insurance Policy" or "Bond Policy" or "Policy" means the financial guaranty insurance policy described in the Information Circular under the heading "BOND INSURANCE".

"Insurer" or "Bond Insurer" or "AGM" means Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp., a stock insurance company organized under the laws of the State of New York, or any successor thereto or assignee thereof.

"Insurer Downgrade Event" means the financial strength or claims-paying rating of the Insurer shall be (i) reduced below "Aa3" (or its equivalent) or suspended or withdrawn by Moody's and (ii) reduced below "AA-" (or its equivalent) or suspended or withdrawn by S&P.

"Insurer Event of Default" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events:

- (i) any principal or interest evidenced by the Series 2005 Bonds (including Bank Bonds) is not paid by the Insurer when, as, and in the amounts required to be paid pursuant to the terms of the Bond Policy; or
- (ii) (a) any material provision of the Bond Policy relating to the obligation of the Insurer to make payments of principal and interest thereunder at any time for any reason ceases to be valid and binding on the Insurer in accordance with the terms of the Bond Policy or the New York Department of Insurance, or a court or other Governmental Authority of appropriate jurisdiction shall find or rule or shall enter an order, judgment or decree that the

Bond Policy is not valid and binding on the Insurer or (b) the Insurer shall (1) claim in writing that the Bond Policy is not valid and binding on the Insurer, (2) repudiate the Insurer's obligations under the Bond Policy or (3) initiate legal proceedings seeking an adjudication that the Bond Policy, or any material provision thereof regarding the payment of principal or interest on Series 2005 Bonds (including Bank Bonds) is not valid and binding on the Insurer; or

- a proceeding is instituted in a court having jurisdiction in the premises seeking an order for relief, rehabilitation, reorganization, conservation, liquidation or dissolution in respect to the Insurer or for any substantial part of its property under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, or for the appointment of a receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, trustee or sequestrator (or other similar official) and such proceeding shall not have been dismissed within ninety (90) days or such court enters an order granting the relief sought in such proceeding; or the New York Department of Insurance shall declare a moratorium on the payment of the Insurer's debts, or the Insurer shall commence a voluntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, shall consent to the entry of an order for relief in an involuntary case under any such law or shall consent to the appointment of or taking possession by a receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, custodian or sequestrator (or other similar official) of the Insurer or for any substantial part of its property, or shall make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or shall fail generally to pay its Payment Obligations (provided for purposes of this definition, "Payment Obligation" shall not include any obligation of the Insurer under any insurance policy or surety bond) as they become due, or an order for rehabilitation, liquidation or dissolution of the Insurer shall be issued; or
- (iv) the Insurer fails to make any payment related to principal or interest when due under any insurance policy (other than the Insurance Policy) or surety bond issued by it insuring or supporting the payment of municipal obligations rated by any Rating Agency, and such failure continues for a period of thirty (30) days (it being understood by the Bank that default for purposes of this clause (iv) shall not mean a situation wherein the Insurer contests in good faith its liability under any such policy or policies in light of the claims made thereunder).

"Insurer Ordinance Event of Default" means that one or more of the circumstances described in the Ordinance as an Insurer Ordinance Event of Default has occurred as a result of which all references in the Ordinance to the Insurer and all provisions in the Ordinance for the benefit of the Insurer are of no effect (other than rights of the Insurer derived through subrogation and assignment).

"Interest Payment Date" with respect to any Series 2005 Bond which is not a Bank Bond, has the meaning set forth in the Ordinance and, with respect to Bank Bonds and Liquidity Advances, means the first Business Day of each calendar month.

"Letters of Credit" means the Subseries 2005-1 Letter of Credit, the Subseries 2005-2 Letter of Credit, the Subseries 2005-3 Letter of Credit or the Subseries 2005-4 Letter of Credit, as applicable.

"Liquidity Advance" means a Liquidity Drawing which constitutes an advance under a Letter of Credit.

"Liquidity Drawing" means a drawing under a Letter of Credit resulting from a failed remarketing of Series 2005 Bonds.

"Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service, Inc. and any successor thereto.

"Obligations" means all obligations of the City to pay or reimburse each Bank arising under or in relation to the applicable Reimbursement Agreement or the Bank Fee Agreement, including, without limitation, the Reimbursement Obligations, the Letter of Credit Fees (as defined in the Bank Fee Agreement)

and the obligations of the City as provided in the applicable Reimbursement Agreement and including, in each instance, accrued interest thereon.

"Paying Agent" or "Paying Agent/Registrar" means Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, acting in the capacity of paying agent and registrar for the Series 2005 Bonds, together with any successor thereto named or appointed in accordance with the terms of the Ordinance.

"Payment Obligation" of any Person means at any date, without duplication, (i) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money and reimbursement obligations which are not contingent, (ii) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or other similar instruments, (iii) all obligations of such Person to pay the deferred purchase price of property or services which purchase price is due twelve (12) months or more from the date of incurrence of the obligation in respect thereof, (iv) all obligations of such Person as lessee under capital leases, (v) all Payment Obligations of others Guaranteed by such Person, and (vi) all payment obligations of such Person, in addition to any obligations set forth in clauses (i) through (v) above, arising under any Swap Contract; provided that it is understood that any Payment Obligation does not include contingent obligations of such Person to reimburse any other Person in respect of surety bonds or letters of credit to the extent that such surety bonds or letters of credit support any Payment Obligation of such Person.

"Person" means any individual, partnership, firm, corporation, association, joint venture, trust or other entity, or any government (or political subdivision or agency, department or instrumentality thereof).

"Reimbursement Obligations" means, without duplication, any and all obligations of the City to reimburse the Bank for any Drawings under the Letters of Credit, including, without limitation, any outstanding Liquidity Drawing and outstanding Bank Bonds.

"Remarketing Memorandum" means this Information Circular relating the Series 2005 Bonds, including any supplement or amendment thereto, and any other offering document from time to time distributed relating to the Series 2005 Bonds.

"Required Banks" means any two (2) of the three (3) Banks.

"S&P" means Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, a Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC business, and any successor thereto.

"Series 2005 Bonds" means the City of Austin, Texas, Airport System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2005 (AMT), consisting of the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds, the Subseries 2005-2 Bonds, the Subseries 2005-3 Bonds and the Subseries 2005-4 Bonds.

"Stated Expiration Date" means June 21, 2014, as such Stated Expiration Date may be extended with respect to a Letter of Credit in accordance with the terms of such Letter of Credit.

"Subseries 2005-1 Bonds" means the \$62,075,000 Subseries 2005-1 Bonds.

"Subseries 2005-1 Letter of Credit" means the irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit issued by JPM for the Subseries 2005-1 Bonds.

"Subseries 2005-2 Bonds" means the \$62,050,000 Subseries 2005-2 Bonds.

"Subseries 2005-2 Letter of Credit" means the irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit issued by JPM for the Subseries 2005-2 Bonds.

"Subseries 2005-3 Bonds" means the \$62,100,000 Subseries 2005-3 Bonds.

"Subseries 2005-3 Letter of Credit" means the irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit issued by KBC for the Subseries 2005-3 Bonds.

"Subseries 2005-4 Bonds" means the \$62,125,000 Subseries 2005-4 Bonds.

"Subseries 2005-4 Letter of Credit" means the irrevocable transferable direct-pay letter of credit issued by Royal Bank for the Subseries 2005-4 Bonds.

"Substitute Credit Facility" means any credit facility or liquidity facility supporting the Bonds issued in substitution for any Letter of Credit in accordance with the terms of the Ordinance.

"Surety Policy" or "Reserve Policy" means the municipal bond debt service reserve insurance policy effective August 17, 2005, provided by the Insurer for the debt service reserve fund requirement for the Series 2005 Bonds.

"Swap Contract" means (a) any and all rate swap transactions, basis swaps, credit derivative transactions, forward rate transactions, commodity swaps, commodity options, forward commodity contracts, equity or equity index swaps or options, bond or bond price or bond index swaps or options or forward bond or forward bond price or forward bond index transactions, interest rate options, forward foreign exchange transactions, cap transactions, floor transactions, collar transactions, currency swap transactions, cross currency rate swap transactions, currency options, spot contracts, or any other similar transactions or any combination of any of the foregoing (including any options to enter into any of the foregoing), whether or not any such transaction is governed by or subject to any master agreement, and (b) any and all transactions of any kind, and the related confirmations, which are subject to the terms and conditions of, or governed by, any form of master agreement published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., any International Foreign Exchange Master Agreement, or any other master agreement (any such master agreement, together with any related schedules, a "Master Agreement"), including any such obligations or liabilities under any Master Agreement.

"Tender Agent" means Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, acting in the capacity of tender agent for the Series 2005 Bonds, together with any successor thereto named or appointed in accordance with the terms of the Ordinance.

"Tender Agent Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Tender Agency Agreement between Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, in its capacity as tender agent, and the City, dated as of June 1, 2011, relating to the Series 2005 Bonds.

APPENDIX C

2008 REMARKETING MEMORANDUM

The information contained in this Appendix C reflects the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum dated April 24, 2008, delivered in connection with the remarketing of the Series 2005 Bonds, other than Appendices A, B, D and G thereto.

APPENDIX D

AMENDMENTS TO THE MULTI-MODAL PROVISIONS

The ordinance adopted by the City Council on May 26, 2011 made several changes to the multi-modal provisions of the Authorizing Ordinance. The changes described below should be read in conjunction with Appendix F to the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum.

Section A-101 was amended as provided below to add, delete and revise definitions contained in such Section:

The definition of "BMA Index" was deleted in its entirety.

The definition of "Alternate Rate" was amended to read:

Alternate Rate means, on any Rate Determination Date, the SIFMA Swap Index or if the SIFMA Swap Index is no longer published, an index or a rate selected or determined by the City with the consent of the Insurer and the Credit Facility Issuer, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.

The definition of "Credit Facility" was amended to read:

Credit Facility means any letter of credit, standby bond purchase agreement, line of credit, policy of bond insurance, surety bond, guarantee or similar instrument, or any agreement relating to the reimbursement of any payment thereunder (or any combination of the foregoing), which is obtained by the City and is issued by a financial institution, insurance provider or other Person and which provides security or liquidity in respect of any Bond (but excluding, for purposes of this Appendix A, any Liquidity Facility as defined below) which is obtained by the City pursuant to Section A-501 hereof and that provides (to the extent, and subject to the terms and conditions, set forth therein) for the payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds of a subseries becoming due and payable during the term thereof, as the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time.

The definition of "Liquidity and Credit Amount" was amended to read:

Liquidity and Credit Amount means at any time:

- (i) in the case of a Credit Facility and/or a Liquidity Facility that is not also a Direct-Pay Credit Facility and with respect to (a) the Bonds of a subseries bearing interest at the Daily Rate or Weekly Rate, an amount to pay the Purchase Price equal to the principal amount (and, with respect to a Credit Facility, Redemption Price) of the Bonds of the Series then Outstanding plus an interest amount equal to 35 days' interest thereon calculated at the Maximum Rate on the basis of a 365 day year for the actual number of days elapsed; and (b) the Bonds of a subseries in the Term Rate Mode, an amount equal to the principal amount (and, with respect to a Credit Facility, Redemption Price) of such Bonds then Outstanding plus an interest amount equal to 187 days' interest thereon calculated at the then applicable Term Rate, and with respect to both clauses (a) and (b), such other interest amount as may be required by any Rating Agency at the time of delivery of such Credit Facility and/or Liquidity Facility; and
- (ii) in the case of a Credit Facility and/or a Liquidity Facility that is also a Direct-Pay Credit Facility and with respect to (a) the Bonds of a subseries bearing interest at the Daily Rate or Weekly Rate, an amount to pay the Purchase Price equal to the principal amount (and, with respect to a Credit Facility, Redemption Price) of the Bonds of the Series then Outstanding plus an interest amount equal to 45 days' interest thereon calculated at the Maximum Rate on the basis of a 365 day year for the actual number of days elapsed; and (b) the Bonds of a subseries in the Term Rate Mode, an amount equal to the principal amount (and, with respect to a Credit Facility, Redemption Price) of such Bonds then Outstanding plus an interest amount equal to 197 days' interest thereon

calculated at the then applicable Term Rate, and with respect to both clauses (a) and (b), such other interest amount as may be required by any Rating Agency at the time of delivery of such Credit Facility and/or Liquidity Facility.

The definition of "Purchase Price" was amended to read:

Purchase Price means an amount equal to the principal amount of any Bond of a subseries purchased on any Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, plus, unless the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date for such Bond is also an Interest Payment Date, accrued interest to the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, as the case may be.

The definition of "Rating Agencies" was amended to read:

Rating Agencies means Fitch, Moody's and S&P, or such other nationally recognized securities rating agencies selected by the City and then rating the Bonds at the request of the City.

The definition of "Remarketing Agreement" was amended to read:

Remarketing Agreement means the remarketing agreement entered into between the City and the Remarketing Agent with respect to the Bonds of a subseries pursuant to which the Remarketing Agent has agreed to use its best efforts to remarket the Bonds of such subseries on any Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date at a price of not less than 100% of the principal amount thereof.

The definition of "Termination Date" was amended to read:

Termination Date means, with respect to a Credit Facility or a Liquidity Facility, (i) the date on which such Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility shall terminate pursuant to its terms or otherwise be terminated prior to its Expiration Date, (ii) the date on which the obligation of the Credit Facility Issuer or the Liquidity Facility Issuer to provide a loan shall terminate, or (iii) the date on which the Bond Insurance Policy shall terminate or be cancelled; provided, however, that "Termination Date" is no longer effective by reason of its Expiration Date.

The following definitions were added:

Redemption Price means, when used with respect to a Bond and if not specified in the Ordinance, the principal amount of such Bond plus the applicable premium specified in a Pricing Certificate, if any, payable upon redemption thereof, plus interest accrued to the Redemption Date.

SIFMA Swap Index means, on any date, a rate determined on the basis of the seven-day high grade market index of tax-exempt variable rate demand obligations, as produced by Municipal Market Data and published or made available by the Securities Industry & Financial Markets Association (formerly the Bond Market Association) ("SIFMA") or any Person acting in cooperation with or under the sponsorship of SIFMA and acceptable to the Paying Agent/Registrar and effective from such date.

Section A-304 was deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

Section A-304 Redemption of Bank Bonds.

(a) The Bank Bonds of a subseries shall be subject to redemption at the option of the City, in whole or in part, on any Business Day, at the Redemption Price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest to the Redemption Date.

(b) The Bank Bonds of a subseries also shall be subject to mandatory redemption as provided in a Liquidity Facility.

Subsection (b) of Section A-401 was deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

(b) The Owners of Bonds of a subseries in a Weekly Rate Mode that are not Bank Bonds may elect to have such Bonds (or portions thereof in Authorized Denominations) purchased at a price equal to the Purchase Price upon delivery of an irrevocable written notice of tender to the Tender Agent and Remarketing Agent, at their respective Principal Offices, not later than 5:00 p.m. on a Business Day not less than seven (7) days before the Purchase Date specified by the Owner. Such notice shall (i) state the number and the principal amount of such Bond being tendered and (ii) state that such Bond shall be purchased on the Purchase Date so specified by the Owner. The Tender Agent shall notify the City by the close of business on the next succeeding Business Day of the receipt of any notice pursuant to this paragraph.

Subsection (b) of Section A-403 was deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

(b) the fifth calendar day (or if such day is not a Business Day, the preceding Business Day) preceding the Termination Date of a Credit Facility, a Liquidity Facility or the Bond Insurance Policy, which fifth calendar day is hereinafter referred to as a "Termination Tender Date", if the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility permits a draw thereon on the Termination Tender Date;

Subsection (b) of Section A-405 was deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

(b) Upon receipt of a written notice from the Credit Facility Issuer, the Liquidity Facility Issuer or the City that the Credit Facility or the Liquidity Facility, as the case may be, will terminate, that the obligation of the Credit Facility Issuer or the Liquidity Facility Issuer, as the case may be, to provide a loan thereunder will terminate prior to its Expiration Date, or that the Bond Insurance Policy will be cancelled or terminated, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall within one (1) Business Day give notice of the mandatory tender of the Bonds of such subseries that is to occur on such Termination Tender Date if it has not theretofore received from the Credit Facility Issuer, the Liquidity Facility Issuer or the City, as the case may be, a notice stating that the event which resulted in the Credit Facility Issuer, the Liquidity Facility Issuer or the City giving a notice of the Termination Date has been cured and that the Credit Facility Issuer, the Liquidity Facility Issuer or the City has rescinded its election to terminate the Credit Facility, the Liquidity Facility of the Bond Insurance Policy, as the case may be. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in subsection (f) below, such notice shall be given by Electronic Means capable of creating a written notice. Any notice given substantially as provided by this subsection (b) shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether or not received by each Owner.

Subsection (d) of Section A-406 was deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

(d) No Investment; Amounts Applied Solely to Related Series. Amounts held by the Tender Agent in the Liquidity Facility Purchase Account or the Remarketing Proceeds Account relating to the Bonds of a subseries shall not constitute Gross Revenues or Net Revenues under the Ordinance and shall be held uninvested and separate and apart from all other funds and accounts. Amounts so held or available to be drawn under a Liquidity Facility for deposit in a Liquidity Facility Purchase Account shall not be available to pay the Purchase Price of Bonds of any subseries other than Bonds of a subseries that are supported by such Liquidity Facility.

Subsection (c) of Section A-407 was deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

- (c) Transfer of Funds; Draw on Liquidity Facility.
- (1) The Remarketing Agent shall at or before 12:00 noon (12:20 p.m. in the case of Bonds of a subseries in the Daily Rate Mode) on the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, as the case may be, confirm to the

City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent the transfer of the Purchase Price of remarketed Bonds of the Series to the Tender Agent in immediately available funds at or before 11:45 a.m. (12:15 p.m. in the case of Bonds of a subseries in a Daily Rate Mode), such confirmation to included the pertinent identifying information with respect to such transfer.

- (2) To the extent a Liquidity Facility is in effect, the Tender Agent shall draw on the Liquidity Facility, in accordance with the terms thereof, by 12:25 p.m. on the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, as the case may be, in an amount equal to the Purchase Price of all Bonds of the Series tendered or deemed tendered less the aggregate amount of remarketing proceeds confirmed to the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent by the Remarketing Agent pursuant to clause (1) of this Section A-407(c) and shall cause the proceeds of such draw to be transferred to the Tender Agent by no later than 2:30 p.m. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Tender Agent shall draw on the Liquidity Facility, if any, in an amount equal to the Purchase Price of all of Bonds of the Series tendered or deemed tendered for purchase on each Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, as the case may be, if it does not receive a confirmation from the Remarketing Agent pursuant to clause (1) above of this Section A-407(c).
- (3) To the extent a Liquidity Facility is in effect, the Tender Agent shall confirm to the City by 2:40 p.m. on the Purchase Date or Mandatory Purchase Date, receipt of proceeds of any draw on the Liquidity Facility.

Article A-V was deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

ARTICLE A-V

LIQUIDITY FACILITIES AND CREDIT FACILITIES

Section A-501 <u>Liquidity Facility and Credit Facility</u>.

- (a) At any time, the City may provide for the delivery of (i) an initial Liquidity Facility and an Alternate Liquidity Facility with respect to the Bonds of any subseries, and/or (ii) an initial Credit Facility and an Alternate Credit Facility with respect to the Bonds of any subseries. The City shall not obtain a Liquidity Facility for the Bonds of a subseries of provide for the delivery of a Liquidity Facility for the Bonds of a subseries without the prior consent of any Credit Facility Issuer for the Bonds of such subseries. Any such Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility shall provide that a Termination Date which permits the City to make on the Termination Tender Date a draw under the Liquidity Facility or the Credit Facility, as the case may be, shall not occur unless written notice thereof is given to the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent at least sixteen (16) days prior to the Termination Date. To the extent that any Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility permits the issuer thereof to assign its obligation thereunder, such Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility, as the case may be, shall provide that such assignment shall not be effective unless a written notice of such assignment is given to the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent at least sixteen (16) days prior to the effective date of such assignment. On or prior to the date on which a Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility is obtained or delivered to the City, the City shall obtain a Favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel. As provided in Section A-403 hereof, all Outstanding Bonds of the Series to which such Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility relates will become subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the Substitution Date.
- (b) The City may execute and deliver any instrument that, upon such execution and delivery by the City, would constitute a "Credit Facility," a "Liquidity Facility" or both.
- (c) The City shall deliver to the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Tender Agent, the Credit Facility Issuer, the Insurer and the Remarketing Agent a copy of each Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility obtained pursuant to this article on the effective date of such Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility. If at any time there shall have been delivered (i) an Alternate Credit Facility or Alternate Liquidity Facility in substitution for the Credit Facility or

Liquidity Facility with respect to Bonds of a subseries then in effect and (ii) a Favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel, then, providing that any condition to substitution contained in the existing Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility shall have been satisfied, the Paying Agent/Registrar and/or the Tender Agent, as applicable, shall accept such Alternate Credit Facility or Alternate Liquidity Facility and, subject to subsection (d) of this Section A-501, shall surrender the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility then in effect to the Credit Facility Issuer or Liquidity Facility Issuer on the effective date of the Alternate Credit Facility or Alternate Liquidity Facility. In the event of an extension of the Expiration Date, the City shall give the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Tender Agent, the Credit Facility Issuer, the Insurer and the Remarketing Agent a written notice of the new Expiration Date at least sixteen (16) days prior to the Expiration Tender Date. In the event of a substitution of a Liquidity Facility with an Alternate Liquidity Facility or of a Credit Facility with an Alternate Credit Facility, the City shall give the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Tender Agent, the Insurer and the Remarketing Agent a written notice of the Substitution Date at least sixteen (16) days prior to such Substitution Date. The City shall give the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Tender Agent, the Insurer and the Remarketing Agent a written notice of its election to terminate the Credit Facility or the Liquidity Facility at least sixteen (16) days prior to the Termination Tender Date resulting from its election to terminate such Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility.

- (d) In no event shall the City surrender or cancel a Liquidity Facility relating to the Bonds of any subseries unless it has received funds, either from proceeds of remarketing or a draw under the Liquidity Facility to be surrendered or cancelled, sufficient to pay the Purchase Price of such Bonds to the applicable Mandatory Purchase Date. In no event shall the City surrender or cancel a Credit Facility relating to the Bonds of any subseries unless it has received funds sufficient to pay the Purchase Price of such Bonds to the applicable Mandatory Purchase Date.
- (e) The City shall not sell, assign or otherwise transfer the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility, except in accordance with the terms of the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility and the Ordinance.
- (f) Prior to the Substitution Date, no drawing under an Alternate Liquidity Facility shall be made by the City if the predecessor Liquidity Facility shall be effective and available to make drawings on the date of such drawing. On and after the Substitution Date, no drawing under a predecessor Liquidity Facility shall be made by the City if the Alternate Liquidity Facility shall be effective and available to make drawings on the date of such drawing.

Section A-502 <u>Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account.</u>

- (a) If a Direct-Pay Credit Facility is in effect with respect to the Bonds of any subseries, there shall be created and established and maintained with the Paying Agent/Registrar a separate account for the Bonds of such subseries to be known as the "[Name of Bonds of a subseries that are secured by such Credit Facility] Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account" (the "Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account"). The establishment of such Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account shall be evidenced in a certificate of an authorized representative of the Paying Agent/Registrar.
- (b) The City shall make payments of principal and Redemption Price of and interest on the Bond of a subseries in accordance with the Ordinance into the Debt Service Fund as and when the same shall become due and payable regardless of whether the Direct-Pay Credit Facility is in effect with respect to the Bonds of such subseries.
- (c) If a Direct-Pay Credit Facility is in effect with respect to the Bonds of a subseries, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall take all action necessary to draw or make a claim on the related Direct-Pay Credit Facility in such amounts, at such times, and in such manner as shall be necessary to pay the principal and Redemption Price (including, to the extent amounts are available therefor under the Direct-Pay Credit Facility, Sinking Fund Installments) of and interest on all Bonds payable therefrom as and when the same shall become due and payable; provided, however, in the event the Bond Insurance Policy is in effect, any such draw or claim on a Direct-Pay

Credit Facility shall be made at such times in order to receive payment in immediately available funds by 11:30 a.m. on the Business Day immediately preceding the date on which payment is due on the Bonds. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall promptly deposit into the related Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account all moneys so drawn by the Paying Agent/Registrar under the related Direct-Pay Credit Facility, which shall not be commingled with any other moneys held by the Paying Agent/Registrar and which shall be applied to the payment of such principal, Redemption Price and interest.

(d) Subject to the immediately succeeding paragraph, on each Principal Installment due date or Redemption Date, as the case may be, and Interest Payment Date, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall make payments of principal or Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds of each Series to their Owners in accordance with the Ordinance.

If a Direct-Pay Credit Facility is in effect with respect to the Bonds of any subseries, notwithstanding the immediately preceding paragraph, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall make payments of principal or Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds of such subseries to their Owners in the manner provided for in the Ordinance from the moneys deposited in the related Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account pursuant to subsection (c) of this Section A-502. If sufficient funds are not available in the related Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account, the City shall apply other moneys, if available in the Debt Service Fund to the extent necessary to make such payment. If the principal or Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds of a subseries has been paid in full when due and all payments required to be made under the Direct-Pay Credit Facility have been made, the City shall apply remaining moneys, if any, available in the Debt Service Fund in an amount not to exceed the amount of the draw or borrowing under the Direct-Pay Credit Facility to reimburse the Credit Facility Issuer of the Direct-Pay Credit Facility for such draw or borrowing after such draw or borrowing has been honored by the Credit Facility Issuer of the Direct-Pay Credit Facility. In the event the Credit Facility Issuer of the related Direct-Pay Credit Facility for such draw or borrowing is not reimbursed by the City within five (5) Business Days of such draw or borrowing and the Bond Insurance Policy is in effect, the Paying Agent/Registrar may make a claim under the Bond Insurance Policy on behalf of the Credit Facility Issuer, if instructed to do so in writing by such Credit Facility Issuer, to the extent provided for in the Bond Insurance Policy and Section 12.02(d) of the Ordinance.

- (e) Any amount held by the Paying Agent/Registrar in each Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account shall not constitute Gross Revenues or Net Revenues under the Ordinance and shall be held uninvested and separate and apart from all other funds and accounts. Amounts so held or available to be drawn under a Direct-Pay Credit Facility for deposit in a Direct-Pay Credit Facility Drawing Account shall not be available to pay the principal or Redemption Price of or interest on any subseries other than the Bonds of a subseries that are supported by such Direct-Pay Credit Facility.
- (f) So long as the Bond Insurance Policy is in effect and a Direct-Pay Credit Facility is in effect with respect to the Bonds of any subseries, the Paying Agent/Registrar first shall take all action necessary to draw or make a claim on the related Direct-Pay Credit Facility in such amounts, at such times, and in such manner as prescribed by subsection (c) of this Section A-502.
- (g) To the extent that any payment on the Bonds has been made to an Owner with funds provided by a draw under a Direct-Pay Credit Facility for which the related Credit Facility Issuer has not been reimbursed by the City, such Bonds shall be deemed to be unpaid and shall be deemed to remain outstanding for all purposes of this Ordinance and such Credit Facility Issuer shall be subrogated to the rights of the Owner of such Bond. In the event the related Credit Facility Issuer of the Direct-Pay Credit Facility is reimbursed for such draw by a payment under the Bond Insurance Policy or another Credit Facility, such Bond shall be deemed to remain outstanding for all purposes of this Ordinance and the Bond Insurer or the Credit Facility Issuer of such other Credit Facility, as applicable, shall be subrogated to the rights of the Owner of such Bond until such Bond is paid in full by the City.

Section A-503 <u>Amendments Relating to Credit Facilities and Liquidity Facilities.</u>

In addition to any amendments permitted pursuant to Article Nine of the Ordinance, the City, with the consent of the Insurer, may amend any provisions of the Ordinance, including without limitation any provisions of this Appendix A, as the City deems necessary or appropriate in connection with the conversion to a Daily Rate Mode or a Weekly Rate Mode or with the delivery of any Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility.

The third paragraph of Section A-602 was deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

The Tender Agent shall be selected by the City and shall be a bank or other financial institution that satisfies the qualifications determined by the City and set forth in any applicable provisions of law. The City's execution of a Certificate setting forth the effective date of the appointment of a Tender Agent and the name, address and telephone number of such Tender Agent shall be conclusive evidence that (i) such Tender Agent has been appointed and is qualified to act as Tender Agent under the terms hereof and (ii) if applicable, the predecessor Tender Agent has been removed in accordance with the provisions hereof. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section A-602 to the contrary, so long as a Credit Agreement is in effect with respect to the Bonds and such Credit Agreement constitutes both a Credit Facility and a Liquidity Facility, the entity serving as Tender Agent for the Bonds shall also serve as Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds.

* * * * * * *

Except as reflected in the amendments described above, all other terms and provisions of the Authorizing Ordinance remain in full force and effect. To the extent of any conflict or inconsistency between the terms and provisions contained in the Authorizing Ordinance and the terms and provisions reflected in this Appendix E, the terms and provisions reflected in this Appendix E shall govern and prevail to the extent necessary to resolve such conflict or inconsistency.

APPENDIX E

CERTAIN REVISIONS TO 2008 REMARKETING MEMORANDUM

Certain summaries in the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum under the heading DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS shall be superseded by the descriptions provided below.

The summary in the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum under the caption "DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS – Mandatory Tenders" is replaced in its entirety by the following:

Mandatory Tenders

Except for Bank Bonds, the Bonds of a subseries to be changed to any Mode from any other Mode are subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the Mode Change Date at the amount equal to the principal amount of any Bonds of a subseries purchased on the Mandatory Purchase Date plus accrued interest (the "Purchase Price"). Except for Bank Bonds, the Bonds of a subseries shall be subject to mandatory tender for purchase on: (a) the second Business Day preceding the Expiration Date of a Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility, which second Business Day is hereinafter referred to as an "Expiration Tender Date"; (b) the fifth calendar day (or if such day is not a Business Day, the preceding Business Day) preceding the Termination Date of a Credit Facility, a Liquidity Facility or the Bond Insurance Policy which fifth calendar day is hereinafter referred to as a "Termination Tender Date", if the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility permits a draw thereon on the Termination Tender Date; (c) the fifth calendar day (or if such day is not a Business Day, the preceding Business Day) following the receipt by the City of a written notice from the issuer of a Credit Facility that such Credit Facility will not be reinstated (in respect of interest) to an amount equal to the interest component of the Liquidity and Credit Amount required with respect to the Bonds of such subseries, which fifth calendar day is hereinafter referred to as an "Interest Non-Reinstatement Tender Date"; and (d) the Substitution Date for a Credit Facility or a Liquidity Facility. Except for Bank Bonds, the Bonds of a subseries in the Term Rate Mode are subject to mandatory tender for purchase on each Purchase Date at the Purchase Price. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in connection with the 2011 substitution of the Letters of Credit for the existing Liquidity Facility, for so long as a Letter of Credit remains in effect, clause (c) does not apply to such Letter of Credit.

Notice. The Paying Agent/Registrar shall, at least fifteen (15) days prior to the Expiration Tender Date with respect to Bonds of a subseries, give notice of the mandatory tender of the Bonds of such subseries on such Expiration Tender Date if it has not therefore received confirmation that the Expiration Date has been extended.

Upon receipt of a written notice from the Credit Facility Issuer, the Liquidity Facility Issuer or the City that the Credit Facility or the Liquidity Facility, as the case may be, will terminate or, that the obligation of the Credit Facility Issuer or Liquidity Facility Issuer, as the case may be, to provide a loan thereunder will terminate prior to its Expiration Date, or the Bond Insurance Policy will be cancelled or terminated, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall within one (1) Business Day give notice of the mandatory tender of the Bonds of such subseries that is to occur on such Termination Tender Date if it has not theretofore received from the Credit Facility Issuer, the Liquidity Facility Issuer or the City, as the case may be, a notice stating that the event which resulted in the Credit Facility Issuer, the Liquidity Facility Issuer or the City giving a notice of the Termination Date has been cured and that the Credit Facility Issuer, the Liquidity Facility Issuer or the City has rescinded its election to terminate the Credit Facility, the Liquidity Facility or the Bond Insurance Policy, as the case may be. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary below, such notice shall be given by Electronic Means capable of creating a written notice. Any notice given substantially as provided herein shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether or not actually received by each Owner.

Upon receipt of a written notice from the issuer of a Credit Facility that such Credit Facility will not be reinstated (in respect of interest) to an amount equal to the interest component of the Liquidity and Credit Amount

required with respect to the Bonds of such subseries, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall within one (1) Business Day give notice of the mandatory tender of the Bonds of such subseries on such Interest Non-Reinstatement Tender Date if it has not theretofore received from the issuer of the Credit Facility a notice stating that the Direct-Pay Credit Facility has been reinstated to an amount equal to the interest component of the Liquidity and Credit Amount. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein below, such notice shall be given by Electronic Means capable of creating a written notice. Any notice given substantially as provided herein shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether or not actually received by each Owner. In connection with the 2011 substitution of the Letters of Credit for the existing Liquidity Facility, this provision is not applicable for so long as the Letters of Credit remain in effect.

The Paying Agent/Registrar shall, at least fifteen (15) days prior to any Substitution Date with respect to a Liquidity Facility relating to any Bonds, give notice of the mandatory tender of such Bonds that is to occur on such Substitution Date.

The Paying Agent/Registrar shall, at least fifteen (15) days prior to (i) any Mode Change Date or (ii) the end of an Interest Period with respect to Bonds of a subseries in the Term Rate Mode, give notice of the mandatory tender for purchase of such Bonds that is to occur on such date.

Notice of any mandatory tender of Bonds of a subseries shall state that such Bonds are to be purchased pursuant to the Ordinance, and shall be provided by the Paying Agent/Registrar or caused to be provided by the Paying Agent/Registrar by mailing a copy of the notice of the mandatory tender by first-class mail to each Owner of Bonds of the Series at the respective addresses shown on the registry books. Each notice of mandatory tender for purchase shall identify the reason for the mandatory tender for purchase, and specify the CUSIP number, Mandatory Purchase Date, the Purchase Price, the place and manner of payment, that the Owner has no right to retain such Bonds and that no further interest will accrue from and after the Mandatory Purchase Date to such Owner. Each notice of mandatory tender for purchase caused by a change in the Mode applicable to the Bonds of a subseries shall in addition specify the conditions that have to be satisfied pursuant to the Ordinance in order for the new Mode to become effective and the consequences that the failure to satisfy any of such conditions would have. In the event a mandatory tender of Bonds of a subseries shall occur at or prior to the same date on which an optional tender for purchase is scheduled to occur, the terms and conditions of the applicable mandatory tender for purchase shall control. Any notice mailed as provided in this Section shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given, whether or not the Owner of any Bond receives the notice, and the failure of such Owner to receive any such notice shall not affect the validity of the action described in such notice. Failure by the Paying Agent/Registrar to give such notice shall not affect the obligation of the Tender Agent to purchase the Bonds of a subseries subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the Mandatory Purchase Date.

The summary in the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum under the caption "DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS – Optional Tender of Bonds in Weekly Rate Mode" is replaced in its entirety by the following:

Optional Tender of Bonds in Weekly Rate Mode

The Owners of Bonds of a subseries in a Weekly Rate Mode that are not Bank Bonds may elect to have such Bonds (or portions thereof in Authorized Denominations) purchased at a price equal to the Purchase Price upon delivery of an irrevocable written notice of tender to the Tender Agent and the Remarketing Agent, at their respective principal offices, not later than 5:00 p.m. on a Business Day not less than seven (7) days before the Purchase Date specified by the Owner. Such notice shall (i) state the number and the principal amount of such Bond being tendered and (ii) state that such Bond shall be purchased on the Purchase Date so specified by the Owner. The Tender Agent shall notify the City by the close of business on the next succeeding Business Day of the receipt of any notice pursuant to this paragraph.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, during any period that the Bonds of a subseries are issued registered in the name of DTC or a nominee thereof pursuant to the Ordinance, (i) any notice of tender delivered

shall identify the DTC participant through whom the beneficial owner will direct transfer, (ii) on or before the Purchase Date, the beneficial owner must direct (or if the beneficial owner is not a DTC participant, cause its DTC participant to direct) the transfer of said Bond on the records of DTC and (iii) it shall not be necessary for Bonds of a subseries to be physically delivered on the date specified for purchase thereof, but such purchase shall be made as if such Bonds had been so delivered, and the Purchase Price thereof shall be paid to DTC. In accepting a notice of tender of any Bond of a subseries, the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent may conclusively assume that the Person providing the notice of tender is the beneficial owner of the Bonds being tendered and therefore entitled to tender them. The City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent assume no liability to anyone in accepting a notice of tender from a Person whom it reasonably believes to be such a beneficial owner of the Bonds of the subseries.

The summary in the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum under the caption "DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS – Substitute Liquidity Facility" is replaced in its entirety by the following:

Substitute Liquidity Facility

At any time, the City may provide for the delivery of (i) an initial Liquidity Facility and an Alternate Liquidity Facility with respect to the Bonds of any subseries, and/or (ii) an initial Credit Facility and an Alternate Credit Facility with respect to the Bonds of any subseries. The City shall not obtain a Liquidity Facility for the Bonds of a subseries or provide for the delivery of a Liquidity Facility for the Bonds of a subseries without the prior consent of any Credit Facility Issuer for the Bonds of such subseries. Any such Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility shall provide that a Termination Date which permits the City to make on the Termination Tender Date a draw under the Liquidity Facility or the Credit Facility, as the case may be, shall not occur unless written notice thereof is given to the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Tender Agent at least sixteen (16) days prior to the Termination Date. To the extent that any Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility permits the issuer thereof to assign its obligation thereunder, such Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility, as the case may be, shall provide that such assignment shall not be effective unless a written notice of such assignment is given to the City, the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Remarketing Agent and the Tender Agent at least sixteen (16) days prior to the effective date of such assignment. On or prior to the date on which a Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility is obtained or delivered to the City, the City shall obtain a Favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel. The Ordinance provides that all Outstanding Bonds of the Series to which such Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility relates will become subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the Substitution Date.

The City may execute and deliver any instrument that, upon such execution and delivery by the City, would constitute a "Credit Facility" or "Liquidity Facility", or both.

The City shall deliver to the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Tender Agent, the Credit Facility Issuer, the Bond Insurer and the Remarketing Agent a copy of each Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility obtained pursuant to the Ordinance on the effective date of such Liquidity Facility or Credit Facility. If at any time there shall have been delivered (i) an Alternate Credit Facility or Alternate Liquidity Facility in substitution for the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility with respect to Bonds of a subseries then in effect and (ii) a Favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel, then, providing that any condition to substitution contained in the existing Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility shall have been satisfied, the Paying Agent/Registrar and/or the Tender Agent, as applicable, shall accept such Alternate Credit Facility or Alternate Liquidity Facility and, subject to certain provisions of the Ordinance relating to the receipt of sufficient funds to pay the Purchase Price of Bonds then subject of mandatory tender, shall surrender the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility then in effect to the Credit Facility Issuer or Liquidity Facility Issuer on the effective date of the Alternate Credit Facility or Alternate Liquidity Facility. In the event of an extension of the Expiration Date, the City shall give the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Tender Agent, the Credit Facility Issuer, the Liquidity Facility Issuer and the Remarketing Agent a written notice of the new Expiration Date at least sixteen (16) days prior to the Expiration Tender Date. In the event of a substitution of a Liquidity Facility with an Alternate Liquidity Facility or of a Credit Facility with an Alternate Credit Facility, the City shall give the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Tender Agent, the Bond Insurer, and the Remarketing Agent a written

notice of the Substitution Date at least sixteen (16) days prior to such Substitution Date. The City shall give the Paying Agent/Registrar, the Tender Agent, the Bond Insurer, and the Remarketing Agent a written notice of its election to terminate the Credit Facility or the Liquidity Facility at least sixteen (16) days prior to the Termination Tender Date resulting from its election to terminate such Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility.

In no event shall the City surrender or cancel a Liquidity Facility relating to the Bonds of any subseries unless it has received funds, either from proceeds of remarketing or a draw under the Liquidity Facility to be surrendered or cancelled, sufficient to pay the Purchase Price of such Bonds to the applicable Mandatory Purchase Date. In no event shall the City surrender or cancel a Credit Facility relating to the Bonds of any subseries unless it has received funds sufficient to pay the Purchase Price of such Bonds to the applicable Mandatory Purchase Date.

The City shall not sell, assign or otherwise transfer the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility, except in accordance with the terms of the Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility and the Ordinance.

Prior to the Substitution Date, no drawing under an Alternate Liquidity Facility shall be made by the City if the predecessor Liquidity Facility shall be effective and available to make drawings thereunder on the date of such drawing. On or after the Substitution Date, no drawing under a predecessor Liquidity Facility shall be made by the City if the Alternate Liquidity Facility shall be effective and available to make drawings thereunder on the date of such drawing.

The summary in the 2008 Remarketing Memorandum under the caption "DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS – Paying Agent/Registrar" is replaced in its entirety by the following:

Paying Agent/Registrar

Interest on and principal of the Bonds will be payable, and transfer functions will be performed at the Designated Payment/Transfer Office of the Paying Agent/Registrar; currently, its corporate trust office is in Minneapolis, Minnesota. In the Ordinance, the City retains the right to replace the Paying Agent/Registrar. The City covenants to maintain and provide a Paying Agent/Registrar at all times while the Bonds are outstanding and any successor Paying Agent/Registrar shall be a commercial bank, trust company organized under the laws of the State of Texas or the United States of America, or other entity duly qualified and legally authorized to serve as and perform the duties and services of Paying Agent/Registrar. Upon any change in the Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds, the City agrees to promptly cause of written notice thereof to be sent to each registered owner of the Bonds by United States mail, first-class postage prepaid, which notice shall also give the address of the new Paying Agent/Registrar. So long as a Credit Agreement is in effect with respect to the Bonds and such Credit Agreement constitutes both a Credit Facility and a Liquidity Facility, the entity serving as Paying Agent/Registrar also shall serve as Tender Agent for the Bonds.